Spatial decay and spectral properties of rotating waves in parabolic systems

Der Fakultät für Mathematik der Universität Bielefeld eingereichte

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

Doktor-Mathematik (Dr.-Math.)

vorgelegt von Dipl. Math. Denny Otten

Bielefeld, im Dezember 2013

- 1. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Wolf-Jürgen Beyn
- 2. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Giorgio Metafune

Dissertation eingereicht am: 17. Dezember 2013 Datum der mündlichen Prüfung: 07. Februar 2014

Im Zuge der Veröffentlichung wurde die vorliegende Dissertation redaktionell korrigiert.

Bielefeld, 20. Februar 2014

Contents

1	Introduction and main result				
	1.1	Introduction	1		
	1.2	Assumptions and main result	6		
	1.3	Decomposition of linear differential operators	12		
	1.4	Detailed outline of the thesis	14		
	1.5	A guide through the present work	17		
	1.6	Extensions and further results	17		
	1.7	Acknowledgments	21		
2	App	plications and origin of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator	23		
	2.1	Rotating waves in reaction diffusion systems	23		
	2.2	The origin of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck from stochastic ODEs	30		
		2.2.1 From ODE to first-order PDE	31		
		2.2.2 From SODE to second-order PDE	32		
	2.3	The real-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator in function spaces	36		
3	Notations and definitions				
	3.1	Special Euclidean group $SE(d)$	39		
	3.2	Exponentially weighted function spaces	42		
4	Heat kernel for operators of Ornstein-Uhlenbeck type in complex				
	\mathbf{syst}	ems	45		
	4.1	Complex-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck kernel	46		
	4.2	Some properties of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck kernel	54		
	4.3	Some useful integrals	63		
5	The complex Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$				
	5.1	Application of semigroup theory	70		
	5.2	Exponential decay	78		
	5.3	A core for the infinitesimal generator	80		
	5.4	Resolvent estimates	90		
	5.5	The L^p -dissipativity condition	102		
	5.6	The maximal domain (Part 1) \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	112		
	5.7	Cauchy problems and exponential decay	115		
	5.8	The maximal domain (Part 2)	119		
6	Constant coefficient perturbations in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$				
	6.1	Application of semigroup theory	124		
	6.2	Exponential decay	130		

7	Vari	able coefficient perturbations in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$	131		
	7.1	Application of semigroup theory	133		
	7.2	Exponential decay for small perturbations	136		
	7.3	Exponential decay for compactly supported perturbations	138		
	7.4	Essential spectrum and analyticity	140		
8	Nonlinear problems and complex Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operators 153				
	8.1	Proof of main theorem	153		
	8.2	Application to complex-valued systems	156		
9	Eige	envalue problems for the linearized differential operator	159		
	9.1	Classical solutions and spectral stability	160		
	9.2	Point spectrum and the shape of eigenfunctions	161		
	9.3	Exponential decay of eigenfunctions and of the rotational term	172		
	9.4	Essential spectrum and dispersion relation of localized rotating waves	3 175		
	9.5	Essential spectrum and dispersion relation of nonlocalized rotating			
		waves	176		
10	Free	ezing approach and numerical results	185		
	10.1	Equivariant evolution equations	188		
	10.2	Freezing method for single-structures	196		
	10.3	Numerical examples of single-structures	205		
	10.4	Numerical computations of the essential and the point spectrum	216		
	10.5	Decompose and freeze method for multi-structures	231		
	10.6	Numerical examples of multi-solitons	236		
Bibliography 25					
Lis	List of Symbols				
Index					

1 Introduction and main result

1.1 Introduction

The field of nonlinear waves has been extended over the last decades. Nonlinear waves are solutions of time dependent partial differential equations that are posed on an unbounded domain, [35, Chapter 18]. In many cases these equations possess symmetry properties which, depending on their type, allow traveling waves, rotating waves or phase-rotating waves. A common feature to all these solutions is that they are completely characterized by a time independent profile which travels, rotates or oscillates at constant velocity. Such solutions arise in different applications from physical, chemical and biological sciences. Equations that exhibit these types of solutions are for instance the complex Ginzburg-Landau equation (see: [64], [76]), the λ - ω system (see: [61], [80]), the Barkley model (see: [10], [11]), the Schrödinger equation (see: [33], [112]) and the Gross-Pitaevskii equation (see: [44]). One important focus of research is to study nonlinear stability of such solutions and relate it to spectral properties of the linearization at the nonlinear wave. For the numerical approximation it is crucial to study truncations to bounded domains. Proving exponential decay of waves is an important issue in this field, since it implies exponentially small truncation errors. This is one major step before investigating further errors caused by spatial and temporal discretizations.

In the present thesis we deal with systems of reaction-diffusion equations

(1.1)
$$u_t(x,t) = A \triangle u(x,t) + f(u(x,t)), \ t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 2, \\ u(x,0) = u_0(x) , \ t = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

where $A \in \mathbb{R}^{N,N}$ is a diffusion matrix, $f : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^N$ is a sufficiently smooth nonlinearity, $u_0 : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^N$ are the initial data and $u : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R}^N \text{ denotes a} vector-valued solution which is sought for.$

We are mainly interested in rotating wave solutions of (1.1) which are of the form

(1.2)
$$u_{\star}(x,t) = v_{\star}(e^{-tS}x), t \ge 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^d, d \ge 2$$

with space-dependent profile $v_{\star} : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^N$ and skew-symmetric matrix $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$.

As an example we discuss in this work the cubic-quintic complex Ginzburg-Landau equation (QCGL), cf. (2.1), where such solutions occur and are called spinning solitons. For more information on spinning solitons see [28]. Figure 1.1(a) shows the real part of a spinning soliton v_{\star} in two space dimensions. The range of colorbar reaches from -1.6 (blue) to 1.6 (red). Figure 1.1(b) shows the isosurfaces of the real part of a spinning soliton in three space dimensions. The isosurfaces have the values -0.5 (blue) and 0.5 (red).



Figure 1.1: Spinning soliton of QCGL (2.1) for d = 2 (a) and d = 3 (b)

Rotating waves from (1.2) are completely characterized by their time invariant profile v_{\star} and a skew-symmetric matrix $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$. The skew-symmetry of S implies that e^{-tS} is a rotation matrix. Therefore, such a solution u_{\star} rotates at constant velocity while it maintains its shape. Note that rotating waves always come in families: If u_{\star} from (1.2) solves (1.1), then so does the function $v_{\star}(e^{-tS}(R^{-1}(x - \tau)))$ for every $(R, \tau) \in SE(d)$, where SE(d) denotes the special Euclidean group. Furthermore, the profile v_{\star} is called localized, if it tends to some constant vector $v_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}^{N}$ as $|x| \to \infty$, and nonlocalized otherwise. Transforming (1.1) via $u(x,t) = v(e^{-tS}x,t)$ into a co-rotating frame we obtain

Transforming (1.1) via $u(x,t) = v(e^{-tS}x,t)$ into a co-rotating frame we obtain the evolution equation

(1.3)
$$\begin{aligned} v_t(x,t) = A \triangle v(x,t) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x,t) \rangle + f(v(x,t)), t > 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^d, d \ge 2, \\ v(x,0) = u_0(x) , t = 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^d. \end{aligned}$$

with drift term

(1.4)
$$\langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle := \sum_{i=1}^{d} (Sx)_i D_i v(x).$$

Now, the pattern v_{\star} itself is a stationary solution of (1.3), meaning that v_{\star} solves the steady state problem

(1.5)
$$A \triangle v_{\star}(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle + f(v_{\star}(x)) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \ d \ge 2,$$

that involves the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator

(1.6)
$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{0}v\right](x) := A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}.$$

An important issue is to investigate the nonlinear stability (also called stability with asymptotic phase) of rotating waves, i.e. to show that for any initial data u_0 sufficiently close to v_{\star} there exists $(R_{\infty}, \tau_{\infty}), (R(t), \tau(t)) \in SE(d)$ such that the solution $u(t), t \ge 0$, of (1.1) satisfies $u(t) - v_{\star}(e^{-tS}(R(t)^{-1}(x - \tau(t)))) \to 0$ in a suitable topology and $(R(t), \tau(t)) \to (R_{\infty}, \tau_{\infty})$ as $t \to \infty$. A well known task is to derive nonlinear stability from linear stability of the linearized operator

(1.7)
$$[\mathcal{L}v](x) := [\mathcal{L}_0 v](x) + Df(v_\star(x))v(x), x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

By Linear stability (this will be called strong spectral stability in Chapter 9) we mean that the essential spectrum and the isolated eigenvalues of \mathcal{L} lie strictly to the left of the imaginary axis except those that are caused by the SE(d)-group action (see Chapter 9 for these eigenvalues). A nonlinear stability result for two dimensional localized rotating patterns was proved by Beyn and Lorenz in [15]. Their proof requires three essential assumptions: The profile v_{\star} of the rotating wave and their partial derivatives up to order 2 are localized in the above sense. Furthermore, the matrix $Df(v_{\infty})$ is stable, meaning that all its eigenvalues have a negative real part. And finally, strong spectral stability in the sense above is assumed. Their result shows that the decay of the rotating wave itself and the spectrum of the linearization are both crucial for investigating nonlinear stability of localized rotating waves, such as spiral waves and scroll waves, is still an open problem. However, the spectrum of the linearization at a spiral wave is well-known and has been extensively studied by Sandstede, Scheel and Fiedler in [92], [38] and [93].

For numerical computations it is essential to truncate equation (1.1) and (1.3) to bounded domains, see Section 1.6. This is motivated by the fact that numerical approximations, e.g. with finite elements, require that the original equation is posed on a bounded domain. The truncation error, that arises by the truncation process, depends on the boundary conditions. Assuming that a rotating wave is (exponentially) localized, we can expect the truncation error to be (exponentially) small as well. For this reason, the exponential decay of rotating waves plays a fundamental role in the field of truncations and approximations of rotating waves on bounded domains.

The basic step before investigating truncations is to study the rotating waves of (1.1) on the whole \mathbb{R}^d . This is the topic of the present thesis. For the behavior on bounded domains there are a lot of numerical simulations but the analysis of the limit as $R \to \infty$ is an open problem, see Section 1.6.

The main theme of this work is to derive suitable conditions guaranteeing that every localized rotating wave of (1.1) is already exponentially localized. To be more precise, the main theorem states that every rotating wave that falls below a certain threshold at infinity and that satisfies in addition $v_{\star} \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$ for some $1 , decays exponentially in space, in the sense that <math>v_{\star}$ belongs to some exponentially weighted Sobolev space $W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$. Afterward, we extend this result to complex-valued systems. This is motivated by the exponentially localized spinning solitons arising in the complex Ginzburg-Landau equation, see Figure 1.1.

We follow Mielke and Zelik, [114], and define the exponentially weighted Sobolev spaces $W^{k,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ for some weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate. The main suggestion for our result comes from [15]. In [15, Remark 5], the authors conjecture that the stability of the matrix $Df(v_{\infty})$, i.e. $\operatorname{Re} \sigma (Df(v_{\infty})) < 0$, implies the exponential decay of the rotating wave as $|x| \to \infty$. Assuming in addition that v_* is localized, they believe that one can also deduce that its partial derivatives up to order 2 are localized. For traveling waves in dimension d = 1such results are well known. There one usually considers x as the time variable, transforms the steady state problem to a first order ODE and applies the theory of exponential dichotomies. But the procedure does not carry over directly to $d \ge 2$. Therefore, we develop in this thesis a new approach that allows to prove exponential decay in higher space dimensions.

Our approach works as follows: In the first step we compute a (complex-valued) heat kernel H_0 for the differential operator \mathcal{L}_0 . Using this kernel, we introduce the associated semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ on an appropriate state space X, e.g. $X = L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, $X = C_b(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ or $X = C^\alpha(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. We verify that the semigroup is strongly continuous on X (or possibly on a certain subspace of X), which justifies to introduce the infinitesimal generator and to apply semigroup theory, see e.g. Engel and Nagel, [34]. The generator itself can be considered as the abstract version of the formal differential operator \mathcal{L}_0 . To investigate their relation we must solve the identification problem, which on the one hand yields an explicit representation for the maximal domain and on the other hand shows that the abstract and the formal differential operator coincide on this domain. The identification problem was solved for the scalar real-valued case by Metafune, Pallara and Vespri in [73] for $X = L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ and by Da Prato and Lunardi in [29] for $X = C_b(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ and $X = C^\alpha(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$.

For investigating the asymptotic behavior of solutions of (1.5) we decompose $Df(v_{\star}(x))$ as follows

(1.8)
$$Df(v_{\star}(x)) = Df(v_{\infty}) + Q_{\varepsilon}(x) + Q_{c}(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d},$$

for some small perturbation $Q_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^{N,N})$ and for some perturbation $Q_c \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^{N,N})$ with compact support. Then we show that it suffices to analyze solutions of the linear operator

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_0 v\right](x) + \left(Df(v_\infty) + Q_\varepsilon(x) + Q_c(x)\right)v(x) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

For this reason, we apply semigroup theory to study constant coefficient perturbations as well as small and compactly supported variable coefficient perturbations of \mathcal{L}_0 .

We are faced with different problems in this work: The main problem is that the rotational term $\langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle$ has unbounded coefficients. Therefore, this term cannot be treated as a lower order term on unbounded domains. Moreover, since we consider complex-valued systems, we have to transfer many results, that are only known for the scalar real-valued case, to complex systems. Furthermore, due to the unbounded coefficients of $\langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle$ it turns out to be hard to solve the identification problem for \mathcal{L}_0 . And finally, there is the question about a suitable state space X.

Furthermore, we investigate the eigenvalue problem for the linearization (1.7) at a localized rotating wave v_{\star} . We determine the eigenvalues located on the imaginary axis and caused by the SE(d)-group action as follows

(1.9)
$$\sigma(S) \cup \{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \mid \lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \sigma(S), \lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2\} \subseteq \sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L}).$$

And we derive the shape of the corresponding eigenfunctions $v : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}^N$, which are of the form

$$v(x) = \left\langle C^{\text{rot}}x + C^{\text{tra}}, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \right\rangle, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

for some explicitly given skew-symmetric $C^{\text{rot}} \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d}$ and $C^{\text{tra}} \in \mathbb{C}^d$, where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is defined as in (1.4). In particular, the result shows that for every space dimension $d \ge 2$ the eigenvalue $\lambda = 0$ belongs to $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ with associated eigenfunction $v(x) = \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle$. Another application of our main theorem shows that eigenfunctions of the linearized operator decay exponentially in space, provided the corresponding eigenvalues are sufficiently close to the imaginary axis. In addition to eigenvalues, we identify a certain part of the essential spectrum,

(1.10)

$$\left\{ -\lambda(\omega) - i \sum_{l=1}^{k} n_l \sigma_l \mid n_l \in \mathbb{Z}, \ \lambda(\omega) \in \sigma(\omega^2 A - Df(v_\infty)), \ \omega \in \mathbb{R} \right\} \subseteq \sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L}),$$

where $\pm i\sigma_1, \ldots, \pm i\sigma_k$ denote the nonzero eigenvalues of S. For this purpose we derive a dispersion relation for localized rotating patterns. All these studies are motivated by [15] and [71] and are necessary to investigate nonlinear stability of rotating waves in higher space dimensions.



Figure 1.2: Essential and point spectrum (a), numerical spectrum (b) and two isofurfaces of eigenfunction corresponding to the eigenvalue 0 (c) for the three-dimensional spinning soliton of QCGL (2.1) from Figure 1.1(b)

Figure 1.2(a)-1.2(b) illustrates the spectral behavior of the QCGL when linearized at the spinning soliton from Figure 1.1(b). The red lines in Figure 1.2(a) correspond to the part of the essential spectrum from (1.10). They form a zig-zag structure that is parallel to the imaginary axis. The distance of two neighboring tips of the cones equals the rotational velocity $\sigma_1 = 0.68576$. The blue circles correspond to the part of the point spectrum from (1.9), that is caused by the SE(3)-group action. Each of these isolated eigenvalues has multiplicity 2. Figure 1.2(b) shows a numerical approximation of the full spectrum. Red dots approximate the essential spectrum, blue circles the known eigenvalues on the imaginary axis, and blue crosses the remaining point spectrum. Figure 1.2(c) illustrates an approximation of the eigenfunction $\langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle$ that corresponds to the zero eigenvalue. The isosurfaces have values -1.5 (blue) and 1.5 (red). Note that the eigenfunction coincides with our drift term and decays exponentially in space. Finally, we numerically investigate the interaction of several spinning solitons in the cubic-quintic complex Ginzburg-Landau equation in two space dimensions. We are mainly interested in the fate of the single shapes and velocities when solitons collide or repel each other. In order to analyze the interaction of multi-solitons we extend the decompose and freeze method from Beyn, Thümmler and Selle, [17], to higher space dimensions. It writes the solution of (1.1) as a superposition of finite number of solutions (given by the number of patterns) which solve a system of coupled nonlinear partial differential algebraic equations.



Figure 1.3: Interaction of three spinning solitons in the QCGL (2.1) with d = 2 and their positions of centers

Figure 1.3(a) shows the real part of the sum of three spinning solitons of the QCGL for d = 2, cf. Figure 1.1(a). Each of these solitons is located on a different vertex of an equilateral triangle and rotates at constant velocity. After some time they collide into a single spinning soliton that rotates at their common velocity. Figure 1.3(b) shows the time evolution for the positions of the 3 spinning solitons, that are obtained from the decompose and freeze method for multi-solitons. Each of the colors represent the motion of a single soliton with a pointer at the end which indicates the current phase position. For a detailed description we refer to Section 10.6.

1.2 Assumptions and main result

Below we give a more technical outline of the basic assumptions and the main result of this thesis:

Consider the steady state problem of the form

(1.11)
$$A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle + f(v(x)) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 2,$$

with **diffusion matrix** $A \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$ and a function $f : \mathbb{K}^N \to \mathbb{K}^N$ for $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$. The **drift term** is defined by a matrix $0 \neq S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ as

(1.12)
$$\langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle := \sum_{i=1}^{d} \sum_{j=1}^{d} S_{ij} x_j D_i v(x),$$

where $D_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$. The operator $A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle$ is usually called the **complex** Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator, [107].

Our interest is in skew-symmetric matrices $S = -S^T$, in which case (1.12) is a rotational term containing angular derivatives

(1.13)
$$\langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{d} S_{ij} \left(x_j D_i - x_i D_j \right) v(x).$$

We look for different types of solutions, which satisfy at least $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ for some $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$.

Under appropriate conditions our main result states that a solution v_* of (1.11) and its first order derivatives decay exponentially in space as the radius |x| goes to infinity.

Investigating steady state problems of this type is motivated by the stability theory of rotating patterns in several spatial dimensions, [15]. There one considers reaction diffusion equations

(1.14)
$$u_t(x,t) = A \triangle u(x,t) + f(u(x,t)), t > 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^d, d \ge 2, \\ u(x,0) = u_0(x) , t = 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

where $A \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$ is a diffusion matrix, $f : \mathbb{K}^N \to \mathbb{K}^N$ a nonlinearity and u a solution that maps $\mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty]$ into \mathbb{K}^N .

We define a rotating wave solution u_{\star} of (1.14) in the following sense:

Definition 1.1. A function $u_* : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{K}^N \text{ is called a rotating wave (or rotating pattern) if it has the form$

(1.15)
$$u_{\star}(x,t) = v_{\star}(e^{-tS}(x-x_{\star})), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \ t \in [0,\infty[,$$

with **profile** (or **pattern**) $v_{\star} : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{K}^N$, a skew-symmetric matrix $0 \neq S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ and $x_{\star} \in \mathbb{R}^d$. A rotating wave u_{\star} satisfying

$$\lim_{|x|\to\infty} e^{\eta|x|} |v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}| = 0 \text{ for some } v_{\infty} \in \mathbb{K}^{N} \text{ and } \eta \ge 0$$

for $\eta = 0$ is called **localized** and **nonlocalized**, otherwise. Moreover, a localized rotating wave u_{\star} is called **exponentially localized** (with decay rate η) if $\eta > 0$.

The vector $x_{\star} \in \mathbb{R}^d$ can be considered as the center of rotation for d = 2 and as the support vector of the axis of rotation for d = 3. In case $d \in \{2, 3\}$, S can be considered as the angular velocity tensor associated to the angular velocity vector $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^{\frac{d(d-1)}{2}}$ containing S_{ij} , $i = 1, \ldots, d-1$, $j = i + 1, \ldots, d$.

A transformation into a **co-rotating frame** shows that if u(x,t) solves (1.14) then $v(x,t) = u(e^{tS}x + x_{\star},t)$ solves

(1.16)
$$\begin{aligned} v_t(x,t) = A \triangle v(x,t) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x,t) \rangle + f(v(x,t)), \ t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 2, \\ v(x,0) = u_0(x) , \ t = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \end{aligned}$$

where the drift term is given by (1.13). Conversely, if v(x,t) solves (1.16) then $u(x,t) = v(e^{-tS}(x-x_*),t)$ solves (1.14).

Note that v_{\star} is a stationary solution of (1.16), meaning that v_{\star} solves the nonlinear problem (1.11). In Section 2.1 we illustrate such rotating patterns by a series of examples.

In order to investigate exponential decay of the profile v_{\star} , we list a series of assumptions that will be important in the sequel. Throughout, let $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$:

Assumption 1.2. For $A \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$ consider the following conditions:

- (A1) A is diagonalizable (over \mathbb{C}), (system condition)
- (A2) $\operatorname{Re} \sigma(A) > 0$ (ellipticity condition) where $\sigma(A)$ denotes the spectrum of A,
- (A3) $\exists \beta_A > 0$: Re $\langle w, Aw \rangle \geq \beta_A \forall w \in \mathbb{K}^N$, |w| = 1, (accretivity condition) where $\langle u, v \rangle := \overline{u}^T v$ denotes the standard inner product on \mathbb{K}^N ,
- (A4) case $(N = 1, \mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R})$: A = a > 0, cases $(N \ge 2, \mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R})$ and $(N \ge 1, \mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C})$: $\mu_1(A) > \frac{|p-2|}{p}$ for some fixed 1 (L^p-antieigenvalue condition) $where <math>\mu_1(A)$ is the first antieigenvalue of A.

The assumptions (A1)–(A4) satisfy the obvious relations:

$$(A4) \Rightarrow (A3) \Rightarrow (A2).$$

Condition (A1) ensures that all results for scalar equations can be extended to system cases. It is completely independent of (A2)–(A4). Assumption (A2) guarantees that the diffusion part $A \triangle$ is an elliptic operator and requires that all eigenvalues λ of A are contained in the open right half-plane $\mathbb{C}_+ := \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Re} \lambda > 0\}$, where $\sigma(A)$ denotes the spectrum of A. A matrix $C \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$ that satisfies $\operatorname{Re} \sigma(C) < 0$ is called a **stable matrix**. Thus, (A2) states that the matrix -A is stable. In particular, (A2) implies that the matrix A is invertible. Condition (A3), states that A is an **strongly accretive matrix**, which is more restrictive than (A2). Assumption (A4) postulates that the **first antieigenvalue of** A, defined by, [48],

$$\mu_1(A) := \inf_{\substack{w \in \mathbb{K}^N \\ w \neq 0 \\ Aw \neq 0}} \frac{\operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle}{|w||Aw|} = \inf_{\substack{w \in \mathbb{K}^N \\ |w|=1 \\ Aw \neq 0}} \frac{\operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle}{|Aw|},$$

is bounded from below by a non-negative p-dependent constant. This is equivalent to the following p-dependent upper bound for the (real) angle of A, [47],

$$\Phi_{\mathbb{R}}(A) := \cos^{-1}\left(\mu_1(A)\right) < \cos^{-1}\left(\frac{|p-2|}{p}\right) \in]0, \frac{\pi}{2}], \quad 1 < p < \infty.$$

Condition (A4) imposes additional requirements on the spectrum of A and is more restrictive than (A3). For some special cases, the constant $\mu_1(A)$ can be given explicitly in terms of the eigenvalues of A. In the scalar complex case $A = \alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, assumption (A4) leads to a cone condition which requires α to lie in a *p*-dependent sector in the right half-plane. In the scalar case condition (A4) coincides with the L^p -dissipativity condition from [26]. Assumption 1.3. The matrix $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ satisfies

(A5) S is skew-symmetric, i.e. $S = -S^T$, $S \in \mathfrak{so}(d, \mathbb{R})$ (rotational condition).

Assumption (A5) guarantees that the drift term (1.12) contains only angular derivatives, see (1.13). Our main result will be formulated for the real-valued case.

Assumption 1.4. The function $f : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^N$ satisfies

(A6)
$$f \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}^N)$$
 (smoothness condition).

Later on we apply our results also to complex-valued nonlinearities of the form

$$f: \mathbb{C}^N \to \mathbb{C}^N, \quad f(u) = g\left(|u|^2\right) u,$$

where $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$ is a sufficiently smooth function. Such nonlinearities arise for example in Ginzburg-Landau equations, Schrödinger equations, $\lambda - \omega$ systems and many other equations from physical sciences, see Section 2.1. Note, that in this case, the function f is not holomorphic in \mathbb{C} , but its real-valued version in \mathbb{R}^2 satisfies (A6) if g is in C^2 . For differentiable functions $f : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^N$, Df denotes the Jacobian matrix in the real sense, see the following conditions (A8) and (A9).

Assumption 1.5. For $v_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}^N$ consider the following conditions:

- (A7) $f(v_{\infty}) = 0$ (constant asymptotic state),
- (A8) $A, Df(v_{\infty}) \in \mathbb{R}^{N,N}$ are simultaneously diagonalizable (over \mathbb{C}) (system condition),

(A9)
$$\sigma(Df(v_{\infty})) \subset \mathbb{C}_{-} := \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Re} \lambda < 0\}$$
 (spectral condition).

Condition (A7) states that v_{∞} is a zero of the nonlinearity f. Note, that by (A8) assumption (A1) is automatically satisfied. Condition (A9) states that the matrix $Df(v_{\infty})$ is stable.

Definition 1.6. A function $v_{\star} : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{K}^N$ is called a **classical solution of** (1.11) if

(1.17)
$$v_{\star} \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \cap C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$$

and v_{\star} solves (1.11) pointwise.

Equation (1.17) requires v_{\star} to be C^2 -smooth and bounded, see Section 3.2 for general function spaces. For a matrix $C \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$ we denote by $\sigma(C)$ the **spectrum of** C, by $\rho(C) := \max_{\lambda \in \sigma(C)} |\lambda|$ the **spectral radius of** C and by $s(C) := \max_{\lambda \in \sigma(C)} \operatorname{Re} \lambda$ the **spectral abscissa** (or **spectral bound**) of C. Using this notation, we define the constants

(1.18)
$$a_{\min} := \left(\rho\left(A^{-1}\right)\right)^{-1}, \quad a_0 := -s(-A), \\ a_{\max} := \rho(A), \qquad b_0 := -s(Df(v_{\infty})).$$

Our main tool for investigating exponential decay in space are exponentially weighted function spaces, which we introduce in Section 3 in detail. An essential ingredient for these function spaces is the choice of the weight function, which follows [114, Def. 3.1]: **Definition 1.7.** (1) A function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ is called a weight function of exponential growth rate $\eta \ge 0$ provided that

(W1)
$$\theta(x) > 0 \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

(W2)
$$\exists C_{\theta} > 0 : \ \theta(x+y) \leq C_{\theta}\theta(x)e^{\eta|y|} \ \forall x, y \in \mathbb{R}^{d}.$$

(2) A weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \ge 0$ is called radial provided that

(W3)
$$\exists \phi : [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R} : \theta(x) = \phi(|x|) \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

(3) A radial weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \ge 0$ is called **non-decreasing** (or **monotonically increasing**) provided that

(W4)
$$\theta(x) \leq \theta(y) \ \forall x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d \text{ with } |x| \leq |y|.$$

Note, that radial weight functions satisfy $\theta(x) = \theta(y)$ for every $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ with |x| = |y|. Standard examples are

$$\theta_1(x) = \exp(-\mu|x|)$$
 and $\theta_2(x) = \cosh(\mu|x|)$

as well as their smooth analogs

$$\theta_3(x) = \exp\left(-\mu\sqrt{|x|^2+1}\right) \quad \text{and} \quad \theta_4(x) = \cosh\left(\mu\sqrt{|x|^2+1}\right),$$

for $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Obviously, all these functions are radial weight functions of exponential growth rate $\eta = |\mu|$ with $C_{\theta} = 1$. Moreover, θ_1 , θ_3 are non-decreasing and θ_2 , θ_4 are non-decreasing if $\mu \leq 0$. Note, that for $\mu = 0$ the examples include the weight function $\theta(x) = 1$. Furthermore, Definition 1.7 includes (radial) tableau functions, e.g.

$$\theta_5(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & , |x| \leq R, \\ \exp(-\mu(|x| - R)) & , |x| \geq R, \end{cases}$$

for some R > 0, where the constant C_{θ} depends on the size of the support, but not on the growth rate η .

Associated with weight functions of exponential growth rate are **exponentially** weighted Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces

$$L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) := \{ u \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \mid \|\theta u\|_{L^p} < \infty \}, \\ W^{k,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) := \{ u \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \mid D^{\beta} u \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \; \forall \; |\beta| \leqslant k \}.$$

for every $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Our main result is the following:

Theorem 1.8 (Exponential decay of v_*). Let the assumptions (A4)–(A9) be satisfied for some $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$. Then for every $0 < \vartheta < 1$ and for every radially nondecreasing weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \ge 0$ with

$$0 \leqslant \eta^2 \leqslant \vartheta \frac{2}{3} \frac{a_0 b_0}{a_{\max}^2 p^2}$$

and a_{\max} , a_0 , b_0 from (1.18), there exists a constant $K_1 = K_1(A, f, v_{\infty}, d, p, \theta, \vartheta) > 0$ with the following property: Every classical solution v_* of

(1.19)
$$A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle + f(v(x)) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

such that $v_{\star} - v_{\infty} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ and

(1.20)
$$\sup_{|x| \ge R_0} |v_\star(x) - v_\infty| \le K_1 \text{ for some } R_0 > 0$$

satisfies

$$v_{\star} - v_{\infty} \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N).$$

Roughly speaking, Theorem 1.8 states that every classical solution v_{\star} which satisfies $v_{\star} - v_{\infty} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ and which is sufficiently close to the steady state v_{∞} at infinity, see (1.20), must already decay exponentially in space. The exponential decay is expressed by the fact, that $v_{\star} - v_{\infty}$ belongs to an exponentially weighted Sobolev space. Moreover, the theorem gives an explicit bound for the exponential growth rate, that depends only on p, the spectral radius of A and the spectral abscissas of -A and $Df(v_{\infty})$.

In the following we outline several implications and extensions of this result.

Complex valued equations. Later on we apply Theorem 1.8 to complex systems with nonlinearities of the form

$$f: \mathbb{C}^N \to \mathbb{C}^N, \quad f(u) = g\left(|u|^2\right) u,$$

where $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$ is a sufficiently smooth function. For this purpose, we transform the N-dimensional complex-valued system into a 2N-dimensional real-valued system and show how assumptions on the real-valued version of f translate into the complex case.

Relation to the one-dimensional case. As we will see in Section 1.3, the proof of Theorem 1.8 is fundamentally different from the proofs of exponential decay towards limits at $\pm \infty$ for traveling waves in one space dimension. Consider the one-dimensional reaction-diffusion equation

$$u_t(x,t) = u_{xx}(x,t) + f(u(x,t)), \ x \in \mathbb{R}, \ t \ge 0,$$

where $f : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^N$ is a given nonlinearity and $u : \mathbb{R} \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R}^N$ denotes the solution we seek for. Assume a traveling wave solution $u_\star(x,t) = v_\star(x-ct)$ for some $0 \neq c \in \mathbb{R}$, then the profile $v_\star : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^N$ is a stationary solution of the co-moving frame, i.e. v_\star solves

(1.21)
$$0 = v_{xx}(x) + cv_x(x) + f(v(x)), x \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Note that in the one-dimensional case the steady-state equation is an ordinary differential equation. An essential tool for investigating exponential decay and nonlinear stability of traveling waves are exponential dichotomies, [35, Chapter 18]

(Sandstede)]. This requires to cast the second-order ODE into a first-order system: Defining $V_1(x) := v(x)$ and $V_2(x) := v_x(x)$, then $V(x) = (V_1(x), V_2(x))^T$ satisfies

$$V_x(x) = \begin{pmatrix} v_x(x) \\ v_{xx}(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} v_x(x) \\ -cv_x(x) - f(v(x)) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} V_2(x) \\ -cV_2(x) - f(V_1(x)) \end{pmatrix} =: F(V(x)),$$

for every $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Let $f \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}^N)$ and $v_{\infty}^{\pm} \in \mathbb{R}^N$ be such that $f(v_{\infty}^{\pm}) = 0$ and $\operatorname{Re} \sigma(Df(v_{\infty}^{\pm})) < 0$, then $F \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^{2N}, \mathbb{R}^{2N})$ and $V_{\infty}^{\pm} := (v_{\infty}^{\pm}, 0)^T \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ are hyperbolic fixed points, i.e. $F(V_{\infty}^{\pm}) = 0$ and $\sigma(DF(V_{\infty}^{\pm})) \cap i\mathbb{R} = \emptyset$. Now, the theory of exponential dichotomies yields some constants $K^{\pm} = K^{\pm}(f, v_{\infty}^{\pm}) > 0$ such that every solution $v_{\star} \in C^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^N) \cap C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^N)$ of (1.21) with

$$|v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}^{\pm}| + |v_{\star,x}(x)| \leq K^{\pm}$$
 for every $x \geq x_{+}$ $(x \leq x_{-})$

satisfies $v_{\star}(x) \to v_{\infty}^{\pm}$ and $v_{\star,x}(x) \to 0$ exponentially fast as $x \to \pm \infty$, cf. [100, Theorem III.7 (2)] for a time-discrete version.

To explicate the analogy, let us consider the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator $\mathcal{L}_0 v$ instead of $v_{xx} + cv_x$. The smoothness assumption for f now corresponds to assumption (A6). If we consider v_{∞} instead of v_{∞}^{\pm} , we see that $f(v_{\infty}^{\pm}) = 0$ and $\operatorname{Re} \sigma(Df(v_{\infty}^{\pm})) < 0$ is expressed by assumption (A7) and (A9), respectively. The threshold condition now corresponds to (1.20). Finally, we emphasize that in the general case with Av_{xx} instead of v_{xx} , compare (1.21), the assumptions (A2), (A8) and (A9) imply the hyperbolicity condition $\sigma(DF(V_{\infty}^{\pm})) \cap i\mathbb{R} = \emptyset$.

A common feature of the one- and multi-dimensional case is that one considers small and compactly supported perturbations in both situations.

1.3 Decomposition of linear differential operators

In the following we explain the decomposition of the linear differential operators that leads to the proof of Theorem 1.8.

Far-Field Linearization. Consider the nonlinear problem

$$A \triangle v_{\star}(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle + f(v_{\star}(x)) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \ d \ge 2.$$

Let $v_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}^N$ be the constant asymptotic state satisfying (A7). Assume that $f \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}^N)$ as in (A6), then Taylor's theorem yields

$$f(v_{\star}(x)) = \underbrace{f(v_{\infty})}_{=0} + \underbrace{\int_{0}^{1} Df(v_{\infty} + t(v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty})) dt(v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}), x \in \mathbb{R}^{d},}_{=:a(x)}$$

where $a \in C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^{N,N})$ since $v_{\star} \in C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ and v_{\star} is a classical solution. Since $v_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}^N$ is constant, the difference $w(x) := v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}$ satisfies the linearized equation

$$A \triangle w(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla w(x) \rangle + a(x)w(x) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 2.$$

In order to study the behavior of solutions as $|x| \to \infty$ we decompose the variable coefficient. In the following we decompose a rather than $Df(v_{\star}(x))$ in a fashion similar to (1.8). For a direct application of (1.8) see Chapter 9.

Decomposition of a. Let $a(x) = Df(v_{\infty}) + Q(x)$ with Q defined by

$$Q(x) = \int_0^1 Df\left(v_\infty + tw(x)\right) - Df\left(v_\infty\right) dt, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

This yields $Q \in C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^{N,N})$ and

$$A \triangle w(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla w(x) \rangle + (Df(v_{\infty}) + Q(x)) w(x) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 2.$$

Decomposition of Q. Let $Q(x) = Q_{\varepsilon}(x) + Q_{c}(x)$, where $Q_{\varepsilon} \in C_{b}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N,N})$ is small w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{C_{b}}$ and $Q_{c} \in C_{b}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N,N})$ is compactly supported on \mathbb{R}^{d} , see Figure 1.4. Then we arrive at

(1.22) $A \triangle w(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla w(x) \rangle + (Df(v_{\infty}) + Q_{\varepsilon}(x) + Q_{\varepsilon}(x)) w(x) = 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}.$

If we omit the term $Q_{\varepsilon} + Q_c$ in (1.22), the equation (1.22) is called the **far-field** linearization.



Figure 1.4: Decomposition of Q with data R_0 and K_1 from Theorem 1.8

Perturbations of Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator. In order to show exponential decay for the solution v_{\star} of the nonlinear steady state problem (1.11), it is sufficient to analyze the solutions of the linear system (1.22). Abbreviating $B := -Df(v_{\infty})$, we will study the following linear differential operators:

$$\begin{aligned} \left[\mathcal{L}_{Q} v \right](x) &= A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - Bv(x) + Q_{\varepsilon}(x)v(x) + Q_{c}(x)v(x), \\ \left[\mathcal{L}_{Q_{\varepsilon}} v \right](x) &= A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - Bv(x) + Q_{\varepsilon}(x)v(x), \\ \left[\mathcal{L}_{\infty} v \right](x) &= A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - Bv(x), \\ \left[\mathcal{L}_{0} v \right](x) &= A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle. \end{aligned}$$

The **Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator** \mathcal{L}_0 , is the sum of the **diffusion term** $[\mathcal{L}_0^{\text{diff}}v](x) = A \triangle v(x)$ and the **drift term** $[\mathcal{L}_0^{\text{drift}}v](x) = \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle$. The drift term has unbounded (in fact linearly increasing) coefficients. Later on, it will be convenient to allow complex coefficients for the operators \mathcal{L}_0 , \mathcal{L}_∞ , $\mathcal{L}_{Q_{\varepsilon}}$ and \mathcal{L}_Q . Therefore, we rewrite the assumptions (A8) and (A9) as follows:

Assumption 1.9. Let $B \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$ be such that

$$\begin{array}{ll} (A8_B) & A, B \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N} \ are \ simultaneously \ diagonalizable \ (over \ \mathbb{C}), \ i.e. \\ & \exists Y \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N} \ invertible : \ Y^{-1}AY = \Lambda_A \ and \ Y^{-1}BY = \Lambda_B \\ & where \ \Lambda_A = \operatorname{diag} \left(\lambda_1^A, \ldots, \lambda_N^A\right), \Lambda_B = \operatorname{diag} \left(\lambda_1^B, \ldots, \lambda_N^B\right) \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N} \\ & (system \ condition), \\ & \operatorname{Re} \sigma(B) > 0 \quad (spectral \ condition). \end{array}$$

In this context b_0 is defined by $b_0 := -s(-B)$, cf. (1.18). Note that in case of B = 0 assumption (A8_B) coincides with (A1).

1.4 Detailed outline of the thesis

In Chapter 2 we recall the derivation of the real scalar Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator from an underlying stochastic ordinary differential equation (SODE). After that we motivate the complex Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator in scalar and system cases. In the second part of Chapter 2 we give a series of examples from physical and biological sciences, where the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator appears in the theory of rotating patterns. Further, we give a short summary of known results concerning the real-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator.

In Chapter 3 we discuss the special Euclidean group, [37], and the exponentially weighted Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces, [114], as well as some general notation that will be used throughout this work.

Complex-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck kernel. In Chapter 4 we extend the approach from [14], [4] and [22] and use assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) to determine a heat kernel of the complex-valued operator \mathcal{L}_{∞} for the case, where A and B are complex simultaneously diagonalizable matrices. This leads to the following heat kernel matrix

$$H(x,\xi,t) = (4\pi tA)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-Bt - (4tA)^{-1} \left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^2\right)$$

of \mathcal{L}_{∞} , which we will denote later by H_{∞} . The choice B = 0 provides us with a heat kernel, denoted by H_0 , for the complex Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_0 . Further, we show that H satisfies a Chapman-Kolmogorov formula, needed for the subsequent semigroup theory. In the remaining section we prove some integral properties for the modified kernel $K(\psi, t) = H(x, e^{tS}x - \psi, t)$, which will be needed in the sequel for the exponential decay and the application of semigroup theory.

Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup. Assuming (A1), (A2) and (A5) we will study in Chapter 5 the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ defined by the heat kernel of \mathcal{L}_0 as

$$[T_0(t)v_0](x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_0(x,\xi,t)v_0(\xi)d\xi, \ t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Here we show that the semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ (also known as the transition semigroup) is strongly continuous in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$. Hence, we can define the infinitesimal generator A_p of $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$. Using abstract semigroup theory, [34], we derive solvability and uniqueness results for the resolvent equation and resolvent estimates. Moreover, we show that the Schwartz space S is dense in the domain of A_p with respect to the graph norm of A_p for every $1 \leq p < \infty$. This shows that A_p and \mathcal{L}_0 coincide on S. To prove that A_p is indeed the maximal realization (extension) of \mathcal{L}_0 in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for 1 , we must restrict <math>p to $1 and require in addition (A3) and the <math>L^p$ -antieigenvalue condition (A4) for \mathcal{L}_0 . Then, we derive some resolvent estimates for \mathcal{L}_0 in

$$\mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0) := \left\{ v \in W^{2,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \mid \mathcal{L}_0 v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \right\}$$

for $1 , [73]. This enables us to conclude that the maximal domain <math>\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ of A_p is equal to $\mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and that A_p and \mathcal{L}_0 coincide on $D_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$ for every 1 .

Using exponentially weighted Sobolev spaces with radial weight functions of exponential growth, we then obtain exponential decay of the solutions for the resolvent equation and its derivatives up to order 1, even if (A3) and (A4) are not satisfied. In order to show that the maximal domain of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator $\mathcal{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_0^{\text{diff}} + \mathcal{L}_0^{\text{drift}}$ coincides with the intersection of the domains of its diffusion and drift term, i.e.

$$\mathcal{D}\left(\mathcal{L}_{0}^{\mathrm{diff}} + \mathcal{L}_{0}^{\mathrm{drift}}\right) = \mathcal{D}\left(\mathcal{L}_{0}^{\mathrm{diff}}\right) \cap \mathcal{D}\left(\mathcal{L}_{0}^{\mathrm{drift}}\right),$$

we analyze the homogeneous and inhomogeneous Cauchy problem for \mathcal{L}_0 , following the approach in [73] for the scalar real-valued case, and show for 1 that $the domain <math>\mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ coincides with

$$\mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) := \left\{ v \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \mid \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \right\}.$$

Constant coefficient perturbations. In Chapter 6 we perturb the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_0 by adding the term Bv(x) with constant coefficients, that leads us to the operator \mathcal{L}_∞ . To find a realization of \mathcal{L}_∞ , we assume (A1), (A2), (A5) and perturb the generator A_p by adding the operator $E_p v := -Bv$. Then the bounded perturbation $B_p := A_p + E_p$, equipped with the same domain as A_p , generates a C^0 -semigroup $(T_\infty(t))_{t\geq 0}$ on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$. If we require in addition the assumptions (A3) and (A4), then the infinitesimal generator B_p is indeed the maximal realization of \mathcal{L}_∞ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for 1 and the domain $equals <math>\mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$. Note, that in general we do not have an explicit formula for the semigroup $(T_\infty(t))_{t\geq 0}$ any more. But if A and B satisfy in addition to (A1), (A2), (A5) the assumption (A8_B), we are able to derive an explicit representation for the new semigroup $(T_\infty(t))_{t\geq 0}$, given by

$$\left[T_{\infty}(t)v\right](x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_{\infty}(x,\xi,t)v_0(\xi)d\xi, \ t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Here, the function H_{∞} coincides with the heat kernel for \mathcal{L}_{∞} computed in Section 4. Again, under the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) we are able to derive solvability and uniqueness results for the resolvent equation and resolvent estimates.

In particular, assuming $(A9_B)$, we can derive an explicit representation of Green's function for B_p , as the time-integral over the heat kernel,

$$G(x,\xi) = -\int_0^\infty H_\infty(x,\xi,s)ds,$$

cf. [4] for such a representation. If in addition (A3) and (A4) are satisfied, this turns out to be also a Green's function for \mathcal{L}_{∞} . Again, we can prove exponential decay of solutions of the resolvent equation for B_p and its derivatives up to order 1.

Small and compactly supported variable coefficient perturbations. Perturbing the operator \mathcal{L}_{∞} by adding the term Q(x)v(x) with variable coefficients $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$, leads us in Chapter 7 to the operator \mathcal{L}_Q . In order to find a realization of \mathcal{L}_Q , we assume (A1), (A2), (A5), (A8_B) and perturb this time the generator B_p and obtain the new generator $C_p := B_p + F_p$, $F_pv := Qv$, for the full C^0 -semigroup $(T_Q(t))_{t\geq 0}$ on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$. Again, if we require in addition assumptions (A3) and (A4), then the infinitesimal generator C_p is the maximal realization of \mathcal{L}_Q in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 and its domain equals <math>\mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$. Under the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5), (A8_B) and arbitrary $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$, we derive solvability and uniqueness results for the resolvent equation and resolvent estimates in weighted spaces. We then apply this theory to perturbations $Q = Q_{\varepsilon}$, where Q_{ε} is assumed to be small with respect to $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}}$, and to perturbations of the form $Q = Q_{\varepsilon} + Q_c$, where Q_c is compactly supported. Finally, assuming in addition (A3), (A4) as well as

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{|x| \ge R} |Q(x)|_2 \to 0 \text{ as } R \to \infty,$$

and following [15] and [71], we compute the essential spectrum of the operator \mathcal{L}_Q in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 . This shows that neither <math>\mathcal{L}_Q$ nor C_p is sectorial in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $(T_Q(t))_{t \ge 0}$ does not generate an analytic semigroup in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for 1 .

Spatial decay of rotating waves. In Chapter 8 we analyze the steady state problem (1.11) and prove the main result from Theorem 1.8, stating that $v_{\star} - v_{\infty}$ and its derivatives up to order 1 decay exponentially in space at a certain rate, whenever v_{\star} is a classical solution of (1.11). Afterward, we extend Theorem 1.8 to complex systems.

Spectral properties of linearization at rotating waves. Generalizing [15] from d = 2 to $d \ge 2$, we investigate in Chapter 9 the linearization of the nonlinear problem (1.11) of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator on \mathbb{R}^d . We analyze the point spectrum and determine the eigenvalues on the imaginary axis, that are caused by the SE(d)-action, as well as an explicit expression for their associated eigenfunctions. Further, we prove that, whenever an isolated eigenvalue is sufficiently close to the imaginary axis, the corresponding eigenfunction and its first order derivatives decay exponentially in space. As a byproduct we conclude that also

the rotational term has an exponential decay in space. Moreover, we compute the essential spectrum for exponentially localized rotating patterns.

Freezing method and numerical results. In Chapter 10 we introduce some general theory about equivariant evolution equations following [25], [39] and [43]. Afterward, we introduce the well known freezing method, see [18] and [16]. The main idea of this method is to approximate relative equilibria such as rotating waves in reaction-diffusion systems. We then apply this method numerically to compute the profiles and the velocities of rotating waves for a series of examples. Moreover, we also investigate numerically the spectra of linearizations at rotating waves. Finally, we introduce the decompose and freeze approach, see [17] and [16]. The main idea of this approach is to approximate profiles and velocities of multi-structures, such as multi-solitons. At the end of the chapter, we apply this method to investigate numerically interaction processes of several spinning solitons in the two-dimensional cubic-quintic complex Ginzburg-Landau equation, see [78].

1.5 A guide through the present work

The three main results of this work are classified into spatial decay of rotating waves, spectral properties of rotating waves and numerical results. These issues can be found in the following sections:

Spatial decay:	Chapter 3, Chapter 4, Section 5.1-5.6, Chapter 6,
	Section 7.1-7.3, Chapter 8,
Spectral properties:	Section 7.4, Chapter 9,
Numerical results:	Section 2.1, Chapter 10.

Of course, these topics are closely related, but the material in the corresponding sections can be read more or less independently. The Sections 2.2 and 2.3 serve as background material for the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator. The Sections 5.7 and 5.8 provide a useful preparation for the theoretical part of Sections 10.1, 10.2 and 10.5.

1.6 Extensions and further results

Next we summarize some extensions of our theory, which so far have only partially be completed. Details of these results have been left out in order to keep the size of the present thesis within reasonable bounds.

Extension to the space of bounded continuous functions. A reasonable state space, suggested by the work [29], is the following, cf. Section 3.2,

$$C_{\rm rub}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N) = \{ u \in C_{\rm ub}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N) \mid \lim_{t\to 0} \left\| u(e^{tS}\cdot) - u(\cdot) \right\|_{C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)} = 0 \},$$

where $C_{ub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ denotes the space of bounded uniformly continuous functions. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A5) be satisfied and consider the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ on the function spaces

$$C_{\mathrm{rub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \subseteq C_{\mathrm{ub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \subseteq C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N),$$

that are introduced in Section 3.2. Then $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ generates a semigroup on every of these function spaces. The semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is discontinuous on $C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, weakly continuous on $C_{\rm ub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and strongly continuous on $C_{\rm rub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, in fact $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is neither strongly continuous on $C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ nor on $C_{\rm ub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Therefore, we consider the semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ only on the closed subspace $C_{\rm rub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Introducing its infinitesimal generator $A_\infty : C_{\rm rub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \supseteq \mathcal{D}(A_\infty) \to C_{\rm rub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, we obtain the unique solvability of the resolvent equation for A_∞ in $C_{\rm rub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ by application of semigroup theory. Moreover, the semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is not analytic in $C_{\rm rub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. All these facts were observed in [29] for the first time, but only for the scalar real-valued case. In order to investigate the relation between the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_0 and the infinitesimal generator A_∞ , we must solve the identification problem in $C_{\rm rub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$: Defining

$$\mathcal{D}^{\infty}(\mathcal{L}_0) := \left\{ v \in C_{\mathrm{rub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap W^{2,p}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \; \forall \, p \ge 1 \mid \mathcal{L}_0 v \in C_{\mathrm{rub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \right\},\$$

we believe that $\mathcal{D}(A_{\infty}) = \mathcal{D}^{\infty}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ holds with $A_{\infty}v = \mathcal{L}_0 v$ for every $v \in \mathcal{D}(A_{\infty})$, i.e. A_{∞} is the maximal realization of \mathcal{L}_0 in $C_{\mathrm{rub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. This result is proved in [29, Proposition 3.5] for the scalar real-valued case, where the authors use local elliptic regularity to verify $\mathcal{D}(A_{\infty}) \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{\infty}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and a maximum principle to show $\mathcal{D}(A_{\infty}) \supseteq \mathcal{D}^{\infty}(\mathcal{L}_0)$. The perturbation theory for A_{∞} is straightforward and works in a way similar to the L^p -case. We think that Theorem 1.8 extends to $C_{\mathrm{rub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ if $v_{\star} - v_{\infty} \in C_{\mathrm{rub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and without assumptions (A3) and (A4). The result will then be

$$v_{\star} - v_{\infty} \in C_{\mathrm{rub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap C^1_{\mathrm{ub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap C^1_{\mathrm{b},\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N),$$

but the details have not been fully worked out yet.

Fourier-Bessel method on unbounded domains. We next present a further possibility to determine a heat kernel and a Green's function of the complex Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator for skew-symmetric matrices S. Consider the steady state problem

(1.23)
$$[\mathcal{L}_{\infty}v](x) := \alpha \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - \beta v(x) = g(x), x \in \mathbb{R}^2,$$

where $A = \alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, $B = \beta \in \mathbb{C}$, $g : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$ is continuous, N = 1 and d = 2. The matrix $0 \neq S \in \mathbb{R}^{2,2}$ is assumed to be skew-symmetric and thus we have $\pm i\sigma_1 \in \sigma(S)$ for some $\sigma_1 \in \mathbb{R}$. Equation (1.23) reads in polar coordinates

(1.24)
$$\alpha \left[\partial_{rr} + \frac{1}{r}\partial_r + \frac{1}{r^2}\partial_{\phi\phi}\right]\hat{v}(r,\phi) - \sigma_1\partial_{\phi}\hat{v}(r,\phi) - \beta\hat{v}(r,\phi) = \hat{g}(r,\phi),$$

for r > 0 and $\phi \in [-\pi, \pi[$, where $\pm i\sigma_1 \in \sigma(S)$. Representing \hat{v} and \hat{g} by a complex Fourier series w.r.t. ϕ

(1.25)
$$\hat{v}(r,\phi) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} v_n(r)e^{in\phi}, \quad \hat{g}(r,\phi) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} g_n(r)e^{in\phi}$$

and inserting (1.25) into (1.24), a comparison of the Fourier coefficients yields

(1.26)
$$\alpha \left(v_n''(r) + \frac{1}{r} v_n'(r) - \frac{n^2}{r^2} v_n(r) \right) - (\beta + in\sigma_1) v_n(r) = g_n(r), r > 0, n \in \mathbb{Z}$$

This can easily be transformed into a modified Bessel equation. Let us define the left hand side in (1.26) as $[\mathcal{L}_{\infty,n}v_n](r)$ and let $w_n \in \mathbb{C}$ be the square root of $\alpha^{-1}(\beta + in\sigma_1)$ with Re $w_n > 0$ (using assumptions (A2), (A5) and (A9_B)), then one can show that the Green's function for $\mathcal{L}_{\infty,n}$ is given by

$$G_n(r,s) = -s \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{2\alpha t} \exp\left(-(\beta + in\sigma_1)t - \frac{r^2 + s^2}{4\alpha t}\right) I_n\left(\frac{rs}{2\alpha t}\right) dt$$

for $0 < r, s \in \mathbb{R}$ with $r \neq s$, where $I_n(z)$ denotes the modified Bessel function of the first kind, [111]. The Green's function for \mathcal{L}_{∞} in polar coordinates turns out to be

$$\hat{G}((r,\phi),(s,\varphi)) = -s \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha t} \exp\left(-\beta t - \frac{r^2 + s^2}{4\alpha t} + \frac{rs}{2\alpha t}\cos(-\sigma_1 t + \phi - \varphi)\right) dt$$

which in Cartesian coordinates corresponds to

$$G(x,\xi) = -\int_0^\infty \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha t} \exp\left(-\beta t - \frac{1}{4\alpha t} \left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^2\right) dt.$$

Therefore, the solution of (1.23) can be represented by

$$v(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} G(x,\xi)g(\xi)d\xi, \, x \in \mathbb{R}^2.$$

In particular, we observe that the Green's function of \mathcal{L}_{∞} coincides with the timeintegral of the heat kernel of \mathcal{L}_{∞} , [4],

(1.27)
$$G(x,\xi) = -\int_0^\infty H(x,\xi,t)dt$$

Moreover, using an orthogonal transformation for the skew-symmetric matrix S into several planar polar coordinates, we expect that this approach extends to d > 2 and N > 1.

Fourier-Bessel method on circular domains. An essential advantage of the Fourier-Bessel approach is that it can be applied to bounded domains, which is an important issue when investigating truncations. Consider the boundary value problem

(1.28a)
$$[\mathcal{L}_{\infty,R}v_R](x) := \alpha \triangle v_R(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v_R(x) \rangle - \beta v_R(x) = g_R(x), \ x \in \mathring{B}_R(0),$$
(1.28b)
$$\lim_{|x| \to 0} \nabla v_R(x) \cdot x = 0,$$

(1.28c)
$$av_R(x) + b\frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{n}}v_R(x) = b_R(x), \ x \in \partial B_R(0),$$

where $B_R(0) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid |x| < R\}$ and $B_R(0) = B_R(0) \setminus \{0\}$ for some R > 0, $A = \alpha \in \mathbb{C}, B = \beta \in \mathbb{C}, S \in \mathbb{R}^{2,2}$ skew-symmetric, $g_R : B_R(0) \to \mathbb{C}$ continuous, $b_R : \partial B_R(0) \to \mathbb{C}$ continuous and $a, b \in \mathbb{C}$ with $|a|^2 + |b|^2 > 0$. The condition (1.28b) guarantees that the solution is bounded as $|x| \to 0$. Moreover, the Robin boundary condition from (1.28c) contains Dirichlet (a = 1, b = 0) and Neumann (a = 0, b = 1) boundary conditions. Using (A5), equation (1.28) reads in polar coordinates

(1.29a)
$$\alpha \left[\partial_{rr} + \frac{1}{r} \partial_r + \frac{1}{r^2} \partial_{\phi\phi} \right] \hat{v}_R(r,\phi) - \sigma_1 \partial_\phi \hat{v}_R(r,\phi) - \beta \hat{v}_R(r,\phi) = \hat{g}_R(r,\phi),$$

(1.29b)
$$\lim_{r \to 0} \partial_r \hat{v}_R(r,\phi) = 0,$$

(1.29c)
$$a\hat{v}_R(R,\phi) + b\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{n}}\hat{v}_R(r,\phi)\right]_{r=R} = \hat{b}_R(\phi),$$

for 0 < r < R and $\phi \in [-\pi, \pi[$, where $\pm i\sigma_1 \in \sigma(S)$. Representing \hat{v}_R , \hat{g}_R and \hat{b}_R by complex Fourier series w.r.t. ϕ

(1.30)
$$\hat{v}_R(r,\phi) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} v_{R,n}(r)e^{in\phi}, \quad \hat{g}_R(r,\phi) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} g_{R,n}(r)e^{in\phi},$$
$$\hat{b}_R(\phi) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} b_{R,n}e^{in\phi}$$

and inserting (1.30) into (1.29), a comparison of Fourier coefficients yields

(1.31a)
$$\alpha \left(v_{R,n}''(r) + \frac{1}{r} v_{R,n}'(r) - \frac{n^2}{r^2} v_n(r) \right) - \left(\beta + in\sigma_1\right) v_{R,n}(r) = g_{R,n}(r),$$

(1.31b)
$$\lim_{r \to 0} rv'_{R,n}(r) = 0,$$

(1.31c)
$$av_{R,n}(R) + bv'_{R,n}(R) = b_{R,n},$$

for every $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, where (1.31a) holds for 0 < r < R. Similar as above, (1.31a) can be transformed into a modified Bessel equation. For the general theory of Bessel functions and related material see [111] and [81]. Once more, we define the right hand side of (1.31a) by $[\mathcal{L}_{\infty,R,n}v_{R,n}](r)$ and requiring (A2), (A5) and (A9_B) we choose $w_n \in \mathbb{C}$ with Re $w_n > 0$ as above, then one can show that the Green's function $G_{R,n}$ and the Poisson kernel $P_{R,n}$ for $\mathcal{L}_{\infty,R,n}$ are given by

$$\begin{aligned} G_{R,n}(r,s) =& G_n(r,s) + \frac{s}{\alpha} F_{R,n} I_n(w_n r) I_n(w_n s), \ 0 < r \neq s < R, \\ F_{R,n} :=& \frac{aRK_n(w_n R) - bw_n RK_{n+1}(w_n R) + bnK_n(w_n R)}{aRI_n(w_n R) + bw_n RI_{n+1}(w_n R) + bnI_n(w_n R)}, \\ P_{R,n}(r) =& \frac{I_n(w_n r)}{aI_n(w_n R) + \frac{bw_n}{2} \left(I_{n+1}(w_n R) + I_{n+1}(w_n R)\right)}, \ 0 < r < R, \end{aligned}$$

where $I_n(z)$ and $K_n(z)$ denote the modified Bessel function of the first and second kind, respectively, and $G_n(r,s)$ denotes Green's function of $\mathcal{L}_{\infty,n}$ from above on the whole domain $[0, \infty[$. The solution of (1.31) is now given by

$$v_{R,n}(r) = \int_0^R G_{R,n}(r,s)g_{R,n}(s)ds + P_{R,n}(r)b_{R,n}, \ 0 < r < R.$$

Thus, the Green's function and the Poisson kernel for $\mathcal{L}_{\infty,R}$ in polar coordinates are

(1.32)
$$\hat{G}_{R}((r,\phi),(s,\varphi)) = \hat{G}((r,\phi),(s,\varphi)) + \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{s}{\alpha} F_{R,n} I_{n}(w_{n}r) I_{n}(w_{n}s) e^{-in\varphi} e^{-in\phi},$$
(1.33)
$$\hat{P}_{R}((r,\phi),\varphi) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} P_{R,n}(r) e^{-in\varphi} e^{-in\phi}.$$

Therefore, the solution of (1.29) can be represented by

$$\hat{v}_R(r,\phi) = \int_0^R \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \hat{G}_R((r,\phi),(s,\varphi)) \hat{g}_R(s,\varphi) d\varphi ds + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \hat{P}_R((r,\phi),\varphi) \hat{b}_R(\varphi) d\varphi.$$

In contrast to the Fourier-Bessel method on the whole \mathbb{R}^2 , it is not possible to find closed expressions for the Fourier series from (1.32) and (1.33). It remains as an open problem to derive suitable estimates of \hat{G}_R and \hat{P}_R which hold uniformly in R. A relation, similar to (1.27), between the heat kernel and the Green's function as well as the Poisson kernel for $\mathcal{L}_{\infty,R}$, seems not to be known in this case.

Phase-rotating waves and space-state-dependent nonlinearities. We currently extend the theory to include **phase-rotating** (or **oscillating**) **waves**

$$u_{\star}(x,t) = e^{-i\omega t} v_{\star}(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ t \in [0,\infty[,$$

with phase velocity $0 \neq \omega \in \mathbb{R}$.

Such phase-rotating waves arise for instance in cubic-quintic complex Ginzburg Landau equations, but also in Schrödinger equations (see: [44], [45], [33], [112]) and Gross-Pitaevskii equations (see: [44]). Note that in the latter equations x-dependent potentials occur. This suggest still another extension to state dependent nonlinearities f(x, u).

1.7 Acknowledgments

This thesis would not have been possible without the support of many people to whom I would like to express my gratitude.

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Dr. Wolf-Jürgen Beyn (Universität Bielefeld) for his support and guidance. He advised me at any time with a big portion of calmness and patience. Additionally, I am deeply grateful that he shared a lot of his extensive expertise that has broadened also my mind. Thanks to his inspiring advice and helpful comments I produced many new ideas for my work.

Furthermore, I am greatly indebted to Prof. Dr. Alessandra Lunardi (Università degli studi di Parma), Prof. Dr. Giorgio Metafune (Università del Salento), Prof. Dr. Diego Pallara (Università del Salento) and Prof. Dr. Michael Röckner (Universität Bielefeld) for inspiring discussions about semigroup theory, the core and the

identification problem for the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator in Chapter 5. Beyond that, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Giorgio Metafune for his willingness to act as a referee.

I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Jens Lorenz (University of New Mexico), who acquainted me with basic ideas of the Fourier-Bessel method on \mathbb{R}^2 in Section 1.6.

Moreover, I wish to express my gratitude to Prof. Dr. Alexander Mielke (Weierstraß-Institut Berlin) and Prof. Dr. Sergey Zelik (University of Surrey) for helpful discussions about the exponential decay of rotating waves. I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Arnd Scheel (University of Minnesota) and Prof. Dr. Björn Sandstede (Brown University) for their feedback and their suggestions on the characterization of the maximal domain of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator. Moreover, I am grateful to Prof. Dr. Bernhold Fiedler (Freie Universität Berlin) for suggesting the idea of the phase shift interaction of multi-solitons in Section 10.6.

A special thank goes to the whole dynamical system group at Bielefeld University. Particularly, I would like to thank Dr. Vera Thümmler and Dr. Sabrina Selle, who introduced me to Comsol Multiphysics and to an implementation of the freezing techniques, that was helpful to develop the numerical results in Section 2.1, 10.3, 10.4 and 10.6. I would also like to express my gratitude to Dr. Raphael Kruse (ETH, Eidgenössische Technische Hochschule Zürich), who explained to me the connections between the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process and the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator from Section 2.2. Moreover, I would like to thank JProf. Dr. Jens Rottmann-Matthes (KIT, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology) for helpful discussions about the freezing method and many further questions from semigroup theory. Finally, I would like to thank PD Dr. Thorsten Hüls (Universität Bielefeld), who helped me in many fields during the whole time when I was writing my thesis.

My special thanks go to my wife Gianfranca and my son Matteo not only for their backing and encourage over the whole long time but also for their understanding when I often worked on the weekend and late into the night. I would also like to thank my parents for their support and for making it possible for me to study mathematics.

My position as Ph.D. student was partially funded by the Bielefeld University and by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG). I was employed at the Collaborative Research Center (CRC 701) 'Spectral Structures and Topological Methods in Mathematics' where I was a member of the project B3 'Numerical analysis of equivariant evolution equations' which was managed by Prof. Dr. Wolf-Jürgen Beyn. For this reason, I finally would like to express my gratitude to Bielefeld University and the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft for financial support.

2 Applications and origin of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator

2.1 Rotating waves in reaction diffusion systems

In Section 1.2 we have already motivated the nonlinear steady state problem (1.11) for the complex Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator by the existence of rotating wave solutions. Such rotating waves arise in many applications from physical, chemical and biological sciences. In the following, we list a set of examples, where such rotating wave solutions exist. All the computations where done with Comsol MultiphysicsTM, [1].

Example 2.1 (Ginzburg-Landau equation). Consider the cubic-quintic complex Ginzburg-Landau equation (QCGL), [64],

(2.1)
$$u_t = \alpha \Delta u + u \left(\mu + \beta \left| u \right|^2 + \gamma \left| u \right|^4 \right)$$

with $u : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{C}, d \in \{2, 3\}, \alpha, \beta, \gamma, \mu \in \mathbb{C} \text{ and } \operatorname{Re} \alpha > 0$. The real-valued version of this equation reads as

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_1 \\ u_2 \end{pmatrix}_t = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 & -\alpha_2 \\ \alpha_2 & \alpha_1 \end{pmatrix} \bigtriangleup \begin{pmatrix} u_1 \\ u_2 \end{pmatrix} + f \begin{pmatrix} u_1 \\ u_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

with

$$f\begin{pmatrix}u_1\\u_2\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}(u_1\mu_1 - u_2\mu_2) + (u_1\beta_1 - u_2\beta_2)(u_1^2 + u_2^2) + (u_1\gamma_1 - u_2\gamma_2)(u_1^2 + u_2^2)^2\\(u_1\mu_2 + u_2\mu_1) + (u_1\beta_2 + u_2\beta_1)(u_1^2 + u_2^2) + (u_1\gamma_2 + u_2\gamma_1)(u_1^2 + u_2^2)^2\end{pmatrix},$$

 $u = u_1 + iu_2, \alpha = \alpha_1 + i\alpha_2, \beta = \beta_1 + i\beta_2, \gamma = \gamma_1 + i\gamma_2$ and $u_i, \alpha_i, \beta_i, \gamma_i \in \mathbb{R}$ for i = 1, 2. This equation describes different aspects of signal propagation in heart tissue, superconductivity, superfluidity, nonlinear optical systems, see [79], photonics, plasmas, physics of lasers, Bose-Einstein condensation, liquid crystals, fluid dynamics, chemical waves, quantum field theory, granular media and is used in the study of hydrodynamic instabilities, see [76]. It shows a variety of coherent structures like stable and unstable pulses, fronts, sources and sinks in 1D, see [109], [102], [6] and [106], vortex solitons, see [27], spinning solitons, see [28], rotating spiral waves, propagating clusters, see [84], and exploding dissipative solitons, see [101] in 2D as well as scroll waves and spinning solitons in 3D, see [77].

Let us discuss the assumptions (A1)–(A9): Assumption (A1) is satisfied for every $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, assumptions (A2) and (A3) if $\operatorname{Re} \alpha = a_1 > 0$ and (A4) if

$$|\arg \alpha| < \arctan\left(\frac{2\sqrt{p-1}}{|p-2|}\right)$$
, for some $1 .$

The condition (A5) is satisfied with

(2.2)
$$S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & S_{12} \\ -S_{12} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & S_{12} & S_{13} \\ -S_{12} & 0 & S_{23} \\ -S_{13} & -S_{23} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$

for d = 2 and d = 3, respectively. In the examples below we specify the entries S_{12} , S_{13} , $S_{23} \in \mathbb{R}$ and the point $x_{\star} \in \mathbb{R}^d$, that will be the center of rotation if d = 2and the support vector of the axis of rotation if d = 3. All these informations come actually from a simulation. First we simulate the original system for some time then we switch to the freezing method, which then yields the profile v_{\star} as well as the values for the rotational and translational velocities. This will be done in Example 10.9, 10.10 and 10.11. For general theory about the freezing method we refer to [16], [18], [20], [19] and [103]. The specific values of these variables will be given in the examples below. Note that in case d = 2 we have a clockwise rotation, if $S_{12} > 0$, and a counter clockwise rotation, if $S_{12} < 0$. Assumption (A6) is obviously satisfied. Using, for instance, $v_{\infty} = (0,0)^T$ then assumption (A7) is satisfied. Then, we have

$$Df(v_{\infty}) = \begin{pmatrix} \mu_1 & -\mu_2 \\ \mu_2 & \mu_1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and assumption (A8) is also satisfied. Assumption (A9) is only satisfied if $\operatorname{Re} \mu < 0$. The bound for the rate of the exponential decay from Theorem 1.8 reads

(2.3)
$$0 \leqslant \eta^2 \leqslant \vartheta \frac{2}{3} \frac{\operatorname{Re} \alpha \left(-\operatorname{Re} \mu \right)}{|\alpha|^2 p^2}$$

for some $0 < \vartheta < 1$. Let us now consider some specific examples:

(1): For the parameter values

(2.4)
$$\alpha = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}i, \quad \beta = \frac{5}{2} + i, \quad \gamma = -1 - \frac{1}{10}i, \quad \mu = -\frac{1}{2}$$

this equation exhibits so called **spinning soliton** solutions for space dimensions d = 2 and d = 3, see Figure 2.1.

Figure 2.1(a)–2.1(c) shows the spinning soliton in \mathbb{R}^2 as the solution of (2.1) on a circular disk of radius R = 20 centered in the origin at time t = 150. For the computation we used continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.25$, the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance atol = 10^{-5} , relative tolerance rtol = 10^{-4} and maximal stepsize $\Delta t = 0.1$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions and initial data

$$u_0^{2D}(x_1, x_2) = \frac{1}{5} \left(x_1 + ix_2 \right) \exp\left(-\frac{x_1^2 + x_2^2}{49} \right).$$

Figure 2.1(d)-2.1(f) shows the spinning soliton in \mathbb{R}^3 as the solution of (2.1) on a cube with edge length L = 20 centered in the origin at time t = 100. For the computation we used continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.8$, the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance

atol = 10^{-4} , relative tolerance rtol = 10^{-2} and maximal stepsize $\Delta t = 0.1$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions and (discontinuous) initial data

$$u_0^{3D}(x_1, x_2, x_3) = u_0^{2D}(x_1, x_2)$$

for $|x_3| < 9$ and 0 otherwise.



Figure 2.1: Spinning soliton of QCGL for d = 2 (above) and d = 3 (bottom)

The parameter values (2.4) satisfy our assumptions (A1)–(A9) for every p with

$$1.1716 \approx \frac{4}{2+\sqrt{2}}$$

e.g. p = 2, 3, 4, 5, 6. At time t = 400 we have the rotational velocity S_{12} with center of rotation x_{\star} given by

$$S_{12} = 1.027, \quad x_{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} -0.016465 \\ -0.002849 \end{pmatrix}$$

in case d = 2 and the rotational velocities S_{12}, S_{13}, S_{23} with support vector x_{\star} given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} S_{12} \\ S_{13} \\ S_{23} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0.6855 \\ -0.01558 \\ 0.01086 \end{pmatrix}, \quad x_{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} 0.179489 \\ 0.191649 \\ -0.007199 \end{pmatrix}$$

at time t = 500 in case d = 3, compare Example 10.9. The solitons are localized in the sense of Theorem 1.8 with the bound

$$0 \leq \eta^2 \leq \vartheta \frac{1}{3p^2} < \frac{1}{3p^2}$$
 for $p \in]4 - 2\sqrt{2}, 4 + 2\sqrt{2}[.$

(2): For the parameter values

(2.5)
$$\alpha = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}i, \quad \beta = \frac{13}{5} + i, \quad \gamma = -1 - \frac{1}{10}i, \quad \mu = -\frac{1}{2}i$$

this equation exhibits so called **rotating spiral wave** solutions, see Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2: Rotating spiral wave of QCGL for d = 2

Figure 2.2(a)–2.2(c) shows the spiral wave in \mathbb{R}^2 as the solution of (2.1) on a circular disk of radius R = 20 centered in the origin at time t = 150. For the computation we used continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.25$, the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance atol = 10^{-5} , relative tolerance rtol = 10^{-4} and maximal stepsize $\Delta t = 0.1$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions and initial data u_0^{2D} from above.

The only difference in the choice of parameters in (2.5) when compared to (2.4), is the real part of β , which is now slightly larger. The parameter values satisfy our assumptions (A1)–(A9) also for $p \in]4 - 2\sqrt{2}, 4 + 2\sqrt{2}[$. At time t = 400 we have the rotational velocity S_{12} with center of rotation x_* given by

$$S_{12} = 1.323, \quad x_{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} -0.007763 \\ -0.019773 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The spiral wave seems not to be localized in the sense of Theorem 1.8 since condition (1.20) is not satisfied. We observe that enlarging β from $\frac{5}{2}$ to $\frac{13}{5}$ generates a pattern with a higher rotational velocity.

(3): For the parameter values

(2.6)
$$\alpha = 1, \quad \beta = -(1+i), \quad \gamma = 0, \quad \mu = 1$$

this equation exhibits so called **twisted** and **untwisted scroll wave** as well as **scroll ring** solutions, see Figure 2.3.

Figure 2.3(a)-2.3(c) shows the untwisted scroll ring in \mathbb{R}^3 as the solution of (2.1) and (2.7), respectively, on a cube with edge length L = 40 centered in the origin at time t = 150. For the computation we used continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 1.6$, the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance atol = 10^{-3} , relative tolerance rtol = 10^{-2} and maximal stepsize

 $\Delta t = 0.5$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions on the lateral surfaces, periodic boundary conditions on the faces for $x_3 = \pm 20$ and (discontinuous) initial data

$$u_0^{3D}(x_1, x_2, x_3) = \frac{1}{5} \left(x_1 + ix_2 \right) \exp\left(-\frac{x_1^2 + x_2^2}{49} + iK\frac{2\pi z}{L_{x_3}} \right)$$

for $|x_3| \leq 16$ with winding number K = 1 and edge length in x_3 -direction $L_{x_3} = L = 40$ and 0 otherwise. Due to the periodic boundary conditions on the x_3 -slices the untwisted scroll wave can be considered as an untwisted scroll ring on a torus.



Figure 2.3: Untwisted scroll ring of QCGL and of the λ - ω system for d = 3

The parameter values (2.6) satisfy only the assumptions (A1)–(A8) for every $1 but not condition (A9), since the real part of <math>\mu$ is not negative. In this case the pattern is not localized in the sense of Theorem 1.8. At time t = 850 we have the rotational velocities S_{12}, S_{13}, S_{23} with support vector x_{\star} given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} S_{12} \\ S_{13} \\ S_{23} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -0.8934 \\ 0.002114 \\ -0.001088 \end{pmatrix}, \quad x_{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Example 2.2 (λ - ω system). Consider the λ - ω system, [61], [80],

(2.7)
$$u_t = \alpha \Delta u + u \left(\lambda \left(|u|^2 \right) + i\omega \left(|u|^2 \right) \right)$$

with $u : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{C}, d \in \{2, 3\}, \alpha \in \mathbb{C}, \lambda : [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R} \text{ and } \omega : [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R}. \text{ The real-valued version of this equation reads as}]$

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_1 \\ u_2 \end{pmatrix}_t = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 & -\alpha_2 \\ \alpha_2 & \alpha_1 \end{pmatrix} \bigtriangleup \begin{pmatrix} u_1 \\ u_2 \end{pmatrix} + f \begin{pmatrix} u_1 \\ u_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

with

$$f\begin{pmatrix}u_1\\u_2\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}u_1\lambda (u_1^2 + u_2^2) - u_2\omega (u_1^2 + u_2^2)\\u_1\omega (u_1^2 + u_2^2) + u_2\lambda (u_1^2 + u_2^2)\end{pmatrix},$$

 $u = u_1 + iu_2$, $\alpha = \alpha_1 + i\alpha_2$ and $u_i, \alpha_i \in \mathbb{R}$ for i = 1, 2. This equation describes chemical reaction processes, see [61] and [60], physiological processes in the study of cardiac arrhythmias, time evolution of biological systems, see [80], and is often used to analyze the mechanism of pattern formation as well as to study the onset of turbulent behavior. An example of an emerging technological application based on pattern forming systems is given by memory devices using magnetic domain patterns. This model exhibits rotating spirals as well as scroll wave and scroll ring solutions, see [32] and [36].

Let us again discuss the assumptions (A1)–(A9): Assumption (A1) is satisfied for every $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, assumptions (A2) and (A3) if $\operatorname{Re} \alpha = a_1 > 0$ and (A4) for some 1 if

$$|\arg \alpha| \leqslant \arctan\left(\frac{2\sqrt{p-1}}{|p-2|}\right).$$

The condition (A5) is satisfied with S from (2.2). Assumption (A6) is satisfied if $\lambda, \omega \in C^2([0, \infty[, \mathbb{R})])$. Since the assumptions (A7)–(A9) depends on the choice of λ and ω , we explain these conditions in the following example.

(1): For the parameter settings

(2.8)
$$\alpha = 1, \quad \lambda \left(|u|^2 \right) = 1 - |u|^2, \quad \omega \left(|u|^2 \right) = -|u|^2$$

this equation exhibits so called **rigidly rotating spiral wave** solutions, see Figure 2.4, as well as **twisted** and **untwisted scroll wave** and **scroll ring** solutions, see Figure 2.3 for an untwisted scroll ring.



Figure 2.4: Rigidly rotating spiral wave of λ - ω system for d = 2

Figure 2.4(a)–2.4(c) shows the spiral wave in \mathbb{R}^2 as the solution of (2.7) on a circular disk of radius R = 50 centered in the origin at time t = 150. For the computation we used continuous piecewise linear finite elements with stepsize $\Delta x = 0.5$, the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance atol = 10⁻⁴, relative tolerance rtol = 10⁻³ and stepsize $\Delta t = 0.1$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions and initial data

$$u_0(x,y) = \frac{1}{20} (x_1, x_2)^T$$

For a discussion about the scroll ring from Figure 2.3(a)-2.3(c) we refer to Example 2.1(3).

The parameter values (2.8) satisfy only the assumptions (A1)–(A8) for every $1 and with <math>v_{\infty} = (0, 0)^T$ but not condition (A9), since Df(0, 0) has the eigenvalue 1 with algebraic multiplicity 2. In this case the pattern is not localized in the sense of Theorem 1.8. The rotational velocity S_{12} and the center of rotation x_* of the spiral are

$$S_{12} = -0.9091, \quad x_{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} -0.001770\\ 0.000650 \end{pmatrix}$$

at time t = 550. Since the λ - ω system (2.7) equipped with the parameter-values (2.8) is indeed a special case of the cubic-quintic complex Ginzburg-Landau equation (2.1), namely for $\beta = -(1+i)$, $\gamma = 0$ and $\mu = 1$, compare (2.6), we refer for a discussion about the assumptions also to Example 2.1(3).

Example 2.3 (Barkley model). Consider the Barkley model, [10], [11], [12]

(2.9)
$$\begin{pmatrix} u_1 \\ u_2 \end{pmatrix}_t = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & D \end{pmatrix} \bigtriangleup \begin{pmatrix} u_1 \\ u_2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} u_1 \left(1 - u_1\right) \left(u_1 - \frac{u_2 + b}{a}\right) \\ g(u_1) - u_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

with $u = (u_1, u_2)^T$, $u : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R}^2, d \in \{2, 3\}, 0 \leq D << 1, 0 < \varepsilon << 1, 0 < a, b \in \mathbb{R}, g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$. This equation describes excitable media, oscillatory media, see[10], catalytic surface reactions, see [9], the interaction of a fast activator u and a slow inhibitor v (in this case g(u) describes a delayed production of the inhibitor) and is often used as a qualitative model in pattern forming systems (e.g. Belousov-Zhabotinsky reaction). This model exhibits rotating spiral wave and scroll wave solutions, see [11], [18] and [103].

Let us discuss the assumptions (A1)–(A9): Assumption (A1) is satisfied for every $D \in \mathbb{R}$, assumption (A2) and (A3) if D > 0 and (A4) for every

$$\frac{2(D+1)}{2\sqrt{D}+D+1}$$

Condition (A4) doesn't hold for D = 0. The condition (A5) is satisfied with $S \in \mathbb{R}^{2,2}$ from (2.2). Specific values for S_{12} will be given in the example below. Assumption (A6) is satisfied if $g \in C^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$. The zeros of the nonlinearity are (0, g(0)), (1, g(1)) and another one. Using, for instance, $v_{\infty} = (0, g(0))^T$ then assumption (A7) is satisfied and (A8) holds for D = 1. Since the eigenvalues of $Df(v_{\infty})$ are $\frac{g(0)+b}{a^2}$ and -1, condition (A9) is equivalent to $\frac{g(0)+b}{a^2} < 0$, i.e. g(0) < -b. Analogously, using $v_{\infty} = (1, g(1))^T$ then assumption (A7) is satisfied and (A8) holds for D = 1. Since the eigenvalues of $Df(v_{\infty})$ are $\frac{g(1)+b-a}{a^2} < 0$, i.e. g(1) < a - b. Let us now consider some specific examples:

(1): For the parameter values

(2.10)
$$D = 0, \quad \varepsilon = \frac{1}{50}, \quad a = \frac{7}{10}, \quad b = \frac{1}{100}, \quad g(u_1) = u_1$$

this equation exhibits so called **rigidly rotating spiral wave** solutions, see Figure 2.5.



Figure 2.5: Rigidly rotating spiral wave of Barkley model for d = 2

Figure 2.5(a)–2.5(c) shows the rotating spiral wave in \mathbb{R}^2 as the solution of (2.9) on a circular disk of radius R = 40 centered in the origin at time t = 150. For the computation we used continuous piecewise linear finite elements with stepsize $\Delta x = 0.5$, the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance atol = 10^{-5} , relative tolerance rtol = 10^{-2} and stepsize $\Delta t = 0.1$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions and initial data

$$u_0^{(1)}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1 & , x > 0 \\ 0 & , x \le 0 \end{cases}, \quad u_0^{(2)}(x,y) = \begin{cases} \frac{a}{2} & , y > 0 \\ 0 & , y \le 0 \end{cases}.$$

The parameter values (2.10) satisfy the assumptions (A1), (A6) since g is twice continuously differentiable, (A7) for $v_{\infty} = (0, 0)^T$, $(1, 1)^T$ and $\left(\frac{b}{a-1}, \frac{b}{a-1}\right)^T$. At time t = 650 we found the rotational velocity S_{12} for the matrix S from (A5) and the center of rotation x_* given by

$$S_{12} = 2.067, \quad x_{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} -1.1717\\ 0.6628 \end{pmatrix}.$$

All other assumptions are not satisfied. D = 0 violates assumption (A2), (A3), (A4) and (A8). For $v_{\infty} = (0,0)^T$ condition (A9) needs $\frac{b}{a^2} < 0$, which is not satisfied, and for $v_{\infty} = (1,1)^T$ assumption (A9) needs $\frac{1+b-a}{a^2} < 0$, which is not true in this case. Assumption (A9) is also not satisfied for $v_{\infty} = \left(\frac{b}{a-1}, \frac{b}{a-1}\right)^T$ with the parameters above.

2.2 The origin of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck from stochastic ODEs

In this section we recall the origin of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator from stochastic differential equations. For this purpose we consider a stochastic ordinary differential equation (SODE) and derive a second-order partial differential equation (PDE), that is called the Kolmogorov equation. For a detailed treatment about the transformation of a single SODE to a second-order PDE we refer to [55, Chapter 24], [56, Section 5.7], [57, Section 4.8] and [70, Section 2.8]. The corresponding differential operator of the Kolmogorov equation is called the Kolmogorov operator, which comes originally from [58]. Different types of Kolmogorov operators were treated in [3], [23] and [58]. Applications of Kolmogorov operators in physics and finance can be found in [63] and [82]. The Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator, which is an elliptic operator with unbounded linearly growing coefficients, is a special type of a Kolmogorov operator. For a motivation of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator from SODE's we refer to [66, Chapter 9]. Note that Section 2.2 and Section 2.3 are not relevant to understand the following theory concerning the exponential decay and thus they can also be skipped.

2.2.1 From ODE to first-order PDE

Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$ and let $\mu \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^d)$ be a function, which is at most linearly growing, i.e.

$$\exists C > 0: \ |\mu(x)| \leqslant C \left(1 + |x|\right) \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Then there exists a family

$$\Phi(\cdot; x) : [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R}^d, x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

of unique smooth functions, satisfying the ordinary differential equation

(ODE)
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \Phi(t; x) = \mu \left(\Phi(t; x) \right), \ t \in [0, \infty[, x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \Phi(0; x) = x.$$

The mapping $\Phi(\cdot; x)$ is known as the solution flow of (ODE) satisfying the flow properties. These functions are ∞ -times continuously differentiable with respect to x for every fixed $t \in [0, \infty[$, i.e.

$$\Phi(t; \cdot) : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d, \quad x \longmapsto \Phi(t; x) \text{ is smooth } \forall t \in [0, \infty[.$$

For a similar result we refer to [73, Lemma 3.1] and for its proof to [69, Section 2.1]. The family $T(t): C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}) \to C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}), t \in [0, \infty[$, of linear operators defined by

$$[T(t)u_0](x) := u_0(\Phi(t;x)), x \in \mathbb{R}^d, t \in [0,\infty[, u_0 \in C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R}),$$

is called the **transition semigroup of the** (ODE). $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ satisfies the semigroup properties

$$T(0) = I$$
 and $T(t_1)T(t_2) = T(t_1 + t_2) \ \forall t_1, t_2 \in [0, \infty[,$

which follow immediately by the flow properties of Φ , and it satisfies

$$T(t)C_{\mathbf{b}}^{k}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{R}) \subseteq C_{\mathbf{b}}^{k}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{R}) \ \forall t \in [0,\infty[\ \forall k \in \mathbb{N}_{0} \cup \{\infty\}]$$

Let us fix $u_0 \in C^1_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ and consider $u : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R} \text{ given by}]$

$$u(x,t) := [T(t)u_0](x) = u_0(\Phi(t;x)), \ t \in [0,\infty[,\ x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

then u is the classical solution of the first-order linear PDE

(PDE_{1st})
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u(x,t) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \mu_i(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} u(x,t) =: \langle \mu(x), \nabla u(x,t) \rangle, x \in \mathbb{R}^d, t \in [0,\infty[, u(x,0) = u_0(x).$$

As we will see in Section 2.2.2, the **forward advection equation** (PDE_{1st}) is a special case of a Kolmogorov equation. In particular, the solution preserves the smoothness of the initial data, i.e. for every $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ with $k \leq r$

$$u(\cdot,0) = u_0(\cdot) \in C^k_{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R}) \quad \Rightarrow \quad u(\cdot,t) \in C^k_{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R}) \; \forall t \in [0,\infty[$$

Example 2.4 (Drift term of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator). Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\mu : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ with $\mu(x) = Sx$ for some $0 \neq S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$, then $\Phi(\cdot; x) : [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R}^d$ with $\Phi(t; x) = e^{tS}x, x \in \mathbb{R}^d, t \in [0, \infty[$, is the unique smooth solution of

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Phi(t;x) = S\Phi(t;x), \ t \in [0,\infty[,\ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \Phi(0;x) = x.$$

The corresponding transition semigroup is given by $T(t) : C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}) \to C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}), t \in [0, \infty[$, with

$$[T(t)u_0](x) := u_0(e^{tS}x), x \in \mathbb{R}^d, t \in [0, \infty[, u_0 \in C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}).$$

If we fix $u_0 \in C^1_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$, then $u : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty] \to \mathbb{R}$ given by

$$u(x,t) := [T(t)u_0](x) = u_0(e^{tS}x), t \in [0,\infty[, x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

is a classical solution of the first-order linear PDE

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u(x,t) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} (Sx)_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} u(x,t) =: \langle Sx, \nabla u(x,t) \rangle, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ t \in [0,\infty[, u(x,0) = u_0(x).$$

Later we consider skew-symmetric matrices S, in which case e^{tS} describes rigid rotations. We will denote the semigroup $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$, that generates even a group, by $(R(t))_{t\geq 0}$ and call $(R(t))_{t\geq 0}$ the **rotation group**.

2.2.2 From SODE to second-order PDE

Let us consider $d, m \in \mathbb{N}$ and two globally Lipschitz continuous functions $\mu \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\sigma \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^{d,m})$, which are at most linearly growing, i.e.

$$\exists C > 0 : |\mu(x)| \leq C (1+|x|) \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \\ \exists C > 0 : |\sigma(x)| \leq C (1+|x|) \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Furthermore, let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ denote a probability space with a standard Brownian motion

$$W: [0, \infty[\times\Omega \to \mathbb{R}^m, (t, \omega) \mapsto W(t, \omega)].$$
Then there exists a family

$$\Phi(\cdot,\cdot;x):[0,\infty[\times\Omega\to\mathbb{R}^d,\quad(t,\omega)\mapsto\Phi(t,\omega;x),\quad x\in\mathbb{R}^d,$$

of solution processes of the stochastic ordinary differential equation

(SODE)
$$d\Phi(t;x) = \mu\left(\Phi(t;x)\right)dt + \sigma\left(\Phi(t;x)\right)dW(t), t \in [0,\infty[, x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \Phi(0;x) = x.$$

This is an abbreviating notation for the integral equation

$$\Phi(t;x) = x + \int_0^t \mu\left(\Phi(s;x)\right) ds + \int_0^t \sigma\left(\Phi(s;x)\right) dW(s).$$

It is well known from [70, Section 2.3], that the solution processes are unique up to indistinguishability. As usual, we suppress the dependency on $\omega \in \Omega$ and write $\Phi(t; x)$ instead of $\Phi(t, \omega; x)$. Note, that the (SODE) describes for instance the random motion of a particle in a fluid, [107]. The family $T(t) : C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}) \to$ $C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}), t \in [0, \infty[$, of linear operators defined by

$$[T(t)u_0](x) := \mathbb{E}[u_0(\Phi(t;x))], x \in \mathbb{R}^d, t \in [0,\infty[, u_0 \in C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R}),$$

is called the **transition semigroup of the** (SODE). $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ satisfies the semigroup properties

$$T(0) = I$$
 and $T(t_1)T(t_2) = T(t_1 + t_2) \ \forall t_1, t_2 \in [0, \infty[$

and

$$T(t)C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})\subseteq C_{\rm b}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})\;\forall t\in]0,\infty[$$

Such smoothing properties were established by Hörmander in 1967 under the Hörmander condition, [54]. This condition is for example satisfied, if

span
$$\{\sigma_1(x), \ldots, \sigma_m(x)\} = \mathbb{R}^d \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

Let us fix $u_0 \in C^2_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ and consider $u : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R} \text{ given by}]$

$$u(x,t) := [T(t)u_0](x) = \mathbb{E}[u_0(\Phi(t;x))], t \in [0,\infty[, x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

If $u(\cdot, t)$ is smooth for all $t \in]0, \infty[$, then u is the classical solution of the second-order linear PDE

$$(PDE_{2nd})$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u(x,t) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \mu_i(x)\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}u(x,t) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{d}\sum_{j=1}^{d} \left(\sigma(x)\sigma^T(x)\right)_{ij}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i\partial x_j}u(x,t),$$

$$=: \langle \mu(x), \nabla u(x,t) \rangle + \frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}\left(\sigma(x)\sigma^T(x)D^2u(x,t)\right)$$

$$u(x,0) = u_0(x),$$

for $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $t \in]0, \infty[$. The smoothness of u is guaranteed for instance by [57, Theorem 4.8.6] assuming further properties on μ , σ and u_0 , or alternatively by [66, Theorem 14.2.7] in case of a linear drift. (PDE_{2nd}) is called the **forward Kolmogorov equation**. The second-order differential operator

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{\text{Kol}}u\right](x,t) := \frac{1}{2} \text{tr}\left(\sigma(x)\sigma^{T}(x)D^{2}u(x,t)\right) + \left\langle\mu(x),\nabla u(x,t)\right\rangle, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \ t \in]0, \infty[$$

is called Kolmogorov operator with diffusion term $\frac{1}{2}$ tr $(\sigma(x)\sigma^T(x)D^2u(x,t))$ and drift term $\langle \mu(x), \nabla u(x,t) \rangle$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $t \in]0, \infty[$. Note that the Kolmogorov operator \mathcal{L}_{Kol} can be considered as the infinitesimal generator of the transition semigroup of (SODE).

Example 2.5 (Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator). Let $m = d \in \mathbb{N}$, $\mu : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ with $\mu(x) = Sx$ for some $0 \neq S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ and $\sigma : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ with $\sigma(x) = \sqrt{Q}$ for some symmetric and positive definite matrix $Q \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$, where \sqrt{Q} denotes the unique symmetric and positive definite square root of Q. Then σ satisfies $\sigma(x)\sigma^T(x) = Q$ for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Furthermore, let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ be a probability space with a standard Brownian motion $W : [0, \infty[\times\Omega \to \mathbb{R}^d$. Then the family $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot; x) : [0, \infty[\times\Omega \to \mathbb{R}^d$ given by

$$\Phi(t;x) = e^{tS}x + \int_0^t e^{(t-\tau)S} dW(\tau), \ t \in [0,\infty[, x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

are the 'up to indistinguishability' unique solution processes of

$$d\Phi(t;x) = S\Phi(t;x)dt + \sqrt{Q}dW(t), t \in [0,\infty[, x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \Phi(0;x) = x.$$

The solution process $\Phi(\cdot, x)$ is called the **Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process on** \mathbb{R}^d and the corresponding SODE is also known as the **Langevin equation**. A prototype of this equation, $u_t = u + xu_x + u_{xx}$, was considered by Ornstein and Uhlenbeck in 1930, [107]. The corresponding transition semigroup, or sometimes called the **Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup**, is given by $T(t) : C_b(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}) \to C_b(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}),$ $t \in [0, \infty[$, with

$$[T(t)u_0](x) := \mathbb{E} \left[u_0 \left(\Phi(t; x) \right) \right]$$

$$= \begin{cases} (4\pi)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \left(\det Q_t \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-\frac{1}{4} \langle Q_t^{-1}\psi,\psi \rangle} v_0(e^{tS}x - \psi) d\psi &, t > 0 \\ u_0(x) &, t = 0 \end{cases}$$

$$= \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H(x,\xi,t) v_0(\xi) d\xi &, t > 0, \\ u_0(x) &, t = 0, \end{cases}$$

for $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $t \in [0, \infty)$ and $u_0 \in C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ where

$$H(x,\xi,t) = (4\pi)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \left(\det Q_t\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{4}\left\langle Q_t^{-1}(e^{tS}x-\xi), (e^{tS}x-\xi)\right\rangle\right),$$

for $x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d, t \in]0, \infty[$ and

$$Q_t = \int_0^t e^{\tau S} Q\left(e^{\tau S}\right)^T d\tau$$

for $t \in]0, \infty[$. The explicit representation of $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is due to Kolmogorov, [58]. The function $H : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times]0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R}$ denotes the heat kernel of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator and is called the **Kolmogorov kernel**, or sometimes the **Ornstein-Uhlenbeck kernel**. Since $Q \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ is symmetric and positive definite, the following relation holds between the heat kernel and the *d*-dimensional Gaussian measure \mathcal{N}_d , see [66, Chapter 9.1] and [13, Satz 30.4],

$$\mathcal{N}_d\left(e^{tS}x, 2Q_t\right)(d\xi) = H(x, \xi, t)d\xi, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ t > 0,$$

i.e. $H(x, \cdot, t)$ is the density function of the normal distribution $\mathcal{N}_d(e^{tS}x, 2Q_t)$ with respect to the Lebesgue measure. $2Q_t$ denotes the covariance matrix and $e^{tS}x$ the mean value vector. Let us fix $u_0 \in C^2_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ and let us define $u : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$u(x,t) := [T(t)u_0](x) = \mathbb{E}[u_0(\Phi(t;x))], t \in [0,\infty[, x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

then, if $u(\cdot, t)$ is smooth for all $t \in]0, \infty[$, u is the classical solution of the Kolmogorov equation

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}u(x,t) &= \sum_{i=1}^d \left(Sx\right)_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} u(x,t) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^d \sum_{j=1}^d Q_{ij} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} u(x,t) \\ &= \left\langle Sx, \nabla u(x,t) \right\rangle + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left(QD^2 u(x,t)\right), \, x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \, t \in]0, \infty[, u(x,0) &= u_0(x). \end{aligned}$$

The smoothness of u follows for instance directly from [66, Theorem 9.1.1] even if $u_0 \in C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$. The second-order differential operator

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{\rm OU}u\right](x,t) := \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr}\left(QD^2u(x,t)\right) + \langle Sx, \nabla u(x,t)\rangle$$

is called the **Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator** with **diffusion term** $\frac{1}{2}$ tr $(QD^2u(x,t))$ and **drift term** $\langle Sx, \nabla u(x,t) \rangle$. This operator can be considered as the infinitesimal generator of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$. In addition, if Q is only assumed to be symmetric and positive semidefinite, \mathcal{L}_{OU} is called the **degenerate Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator**. Several interpretations in physics and finance of this operator or its evolutionary counterpart - the **Kolmogorov-Fokker-Planck operator** $\mathcal{L}_{OU} - \partial_t$ - are explained in the survey by Pascucci [82]. Finally, we observe that for $Q = 2I_d$ we have $\frac{1}{2}$ tr $(QD^2u(x,t)) = \Delta u(x,t)$, where Δ denotes the Laplacian on \mathbb{R}^d .

2.3 The real-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator in function spaces

Before we start to investigate nonlinear Ornstein-Uhlenbeck problems in complex systems, let us present some well-known results about the scalar Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{\rm OU}u\right](x) := \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr}\left(QD^2 u(x)\right) + \langle Sx, \nabla u(x)\rangle$$

considered in real-valued function spaces, where $Q \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ with $Q = Q^T$, Q > 0 and $0 \neq S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$. Note, that the properties of the matrix S play a fundamental role in the study of this operator.

The space $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$. The Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ related to the Lebesgue measure is indeed a semigroup for every $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. A general problem is to show that $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is strongly continuous. On $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ one can verify that $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is a C^0 -semigroup for every $1 \leq p < \infty$. A further problem that occurs, caused by the unbounded coefficients in the drift term, is to give an explicit representation for the domain of the infinitesimal generator A_p , which can be considered as the maximal realization of \mathcal{L}_{OU} in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ for 1 . Inthis context it was proved that the maximal domain is given by

$$\mathcal{D}^p_{\max}(\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{OU}}) = \{ v \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}) \mid \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}) \}$$

for every 1 , which can be shown directly, [73], or with the aid of theDore-Venni theorem, [83]. In case of <math>p = 1 no such representation is available, but it was proved that $\mathcal{D}^1(\mathcal{L}_{OU})$ is the closure of $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ with respect to the graph norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{L}_{OU}} := \|\cdot\|_{L^1} + \|\mathcal{L}_{OU}\cdot\|_{L^1}$, i.e. $\mathcal{D}^1(\mathcal{L}_{OU}) = \overline{C_c^{\infty}}^{\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{L}_{OU}}}$. Moreover, it was established that the semigroup $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is not analytic on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$, if $S \neq 0$, which can be verified by analyzing the L^p -spectrum of \mathcal{L}_{OU} , [71]. It was shown that the spectrum of the infinitesimal generator A_p of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ considered on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ is given by

$$\sigma(A_p) = \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Re} z \leqslant -\frac{\operatorname{tr}(S)}{p} \right\}$$

for every $1 , if <math>\sigma(S) \subset \mathbb{C}_+$, $\sigma(S) \subset \mathbb{C}_-$ or S symmetric and Q and S commute, [71]. Thus, since $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is not analytic for every $1 , the parabolic equation <math>v_t = \mathcal{L}_{OU}v$ does not satisfy the standard parabolic regularity properties on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$.

The space $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}, \mu)$. Under the additional assumption that $\sigma(S) \subset \mathbb{C}_-$, which is very interesting from the point of view of diffusion processes, the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ considered on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}, \mu)$ with uniquely determined invariant probability measure

$$\mu(x) = (4\pi)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \left(\det Q_{\infty} \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{4} \langle Q_{\infty}^{-1} x, x \rangle}$$

is a semigroup of positive contractions on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}, \mu)$ for every $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and a C^0 -semigroup for every $1 \leq p < \infty$. The maximal domain is given by

$$\mathcal{D}_{\max,\mu}^{p}(\mathcal{L}_{OU}) = W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}, \mu)$$
$$= \{ v \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}, \mu) \mid D_{i}v, D_{j}D_{i}v \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}, \mu), i, j = 1, \dots, d \}$$

for every 1 , [75], [68]. In case of <math>p = 1 no such representation is available. A major difference to the usual L^p -cases is that $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is compact and analytic on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}, \mu)$ for every 1 , [41]. In [72], it was shown for <math>1 that $the spectrum of the infinitesimal generator <math>A_p$ of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ considered on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}, \mu)$ is a discrete set, independent of p and given by

$$\sigma(A_p) = \left\{ \lambda = \sum_{i=1}^r n_i \lambda_i \mid n_i \in \mathbb{N}_0, \ i = 1, \dots, r \right\},\$$

where $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_r$ denote the distinct eigenvalues of S. This is in strong contrast to the L^p -case. The eigenvalues are semisimple if and only if S is diagonalizable over \mathbb{C} . Moreover, the eigenfunctions of A_p are polynomials of degree at most $\frac{\text{Re}\lambda}{s(S)}$. In case p = 1 the situation changes drastically and the spectrum is given by $\sigma(A_1) = \mathbb{C}_- \cup i\mathbb{R}$.

The space $C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})$. The Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is a semigroup on $C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})$. To guarantee the strong continuity of $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ one usually considers the semigroup on the closed subspace $C_{\rm ub}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})$ if the operator has constant or smooth bounded coefficients. But in case of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator this space leads only to a weakly continuous semigroup, since the rotational term $\langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle$ has smooth but unbounded coefficients, and hence, the space $C_{\rm ub}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})$ is too large in order to guarantee strong continuity of $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$. One can show that $T(t)v_0$ tends to v_0 in $C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})$ as t tends to 0^+ , if and only if $v_0 \in C_{\rm ub}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})$ and $v_0(e^{tS}\cdot)$ tends to v_0 uniformly in \mathbb{R}^d as t tends to 0^+ . Hence, $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is a C^0 -semigroup on the much smaller subspace

$$C_{\rm rub}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R}) := \left\{ f \in C_{\rm ub}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R}) \mid f(e^{tS}\cdot) \to f(\cdot) \text{ as } t \to 0^+ \text{ uniformly in } \mathbb{R}^d \right\},\$$

[29], [30, see I.6]. The domain is completely characterized by

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L}_{\rm OU}) = \{ v \in C_{\rm rub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}) \cap W^{2,p}_{\rm loc}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}) \ \forall \ p \ge 1 \mid \mathcal{L}_{\rm OU}v \in C_{\rm rub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}) \},\$$

[29]. Therein, it was also observed that $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ in not analytic on $C_{\rm rub}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})$ and hence not analytic on $C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})$ and $C_{\rm ub}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})$. Further investigations of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator in spaces of Hölder-continuous functions can also be found in [29].

In Table 2.1, we summarize these facts. For a detailed treatment of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator we refer the reader e.g. to [66, Chapter 9].

T(t)	semigroup	C^0 -semigroup	analytic semigroup
$L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})$	$1\leqslant p\leqslant\infty$	$1 \leqslant p < \infty$	no
$L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R},\mu)$	$1\leqslant p\leqslant\infty$	$1\leqslant p<\infty$	$1 , if \sigma(S) \subset \mathbb{C}_{-}$
$C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})$	yes	no	no
$C_{\mathrm{ub}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})$	yes	no	no
$C_{\mathrm{rub}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R})$	yes	yes	no

Table 2.1: Properties of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup

3 Notations and definitions

In this chapter we introduce the basic definitions and notations that we use throughout the present thesis.

In Section 3.1 we summarize general facts about the special Euclidean group. Details about the special Euclidean group can also be found in [37]. For general theory about matrix analysis and matrix computations we refer to [53] and [42], respectively.

In Section 3.2 we introduce the exponentially weighted Sobolev spaces, which we will use for all estimates in the sequel. For the weight functions of exponential growth rate, see Definition 1.7, and we follow [114, Section 3] for the exponentially weighted Sobolev spaces.

3.1 Special Euclidean group SE(d)

We denote by \mathbb{N} the set of positive integers, by \mathbb{Z} the set of integers, by \mathbb{Q} the set of rational numbers, by \mathbb{R} the set of real numbers and by \mathbb{C} the set of complex numbers. For an element $z \in \mathbb{C}$ we denote by Re z the real part of z, by Im z the imaginary part of z and by arg z the argument of z.

Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$ with $d \ge 2$ and let

$$\operatorname{SE}(d) = \operatorname{SO}(d) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^d$$

denote the **special Euclidean group** consisting of all pairs

$$g = (R, \tau) \in SE(d), R \in SO(d), \tau \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

with the group operation

$$g_2 \circ g_1 = (R_2, \tau_2) \circ (R_1, \tau_1) = (R_2 R_1, \tau_2 + R_2 \tau_1),$$

the unit element $(I_d, 0)$ and inverse element $(R, \tau)^{-1} = (R^{-1}, -R^{-1}\tau)$. Here

$$SO(d) = \{ R \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d} \mid R^T = R^{-1} \text{ and } det(R) = 1 \}$$

denotes the **special orthogonal group**. SE(d) is a Lie group of dimension $\frac{d(d+1)}{2}$, which is the sum of dim $(SO(d)) = \frac{d(d-1)}{2}$ and dim $(\mathbb{R}^d) = d$. The associated Lie **algebra of** SE(d), given by

$$\mathfrak{se}(d) = \mathfrak{so}(d) \times \mathbb{R}^d,$$

is the product of \mathbb{R}^d and the space

$$\mathfrak{so}(d) = \{ S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d} \mid S^T = -S \}$$

of skew-symmetric matrices, which generate rotations by the exponential mapping. The exponential mapping

$$\exp: (\mathfrak{so}(d), +) \to (\mathrm{SO}(d), \cdot), \ S \mapsto \exp(S) := \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{j!} S^j$$

is onto, i.e.

$$\forall R \in SO(d) \exists S \in \mathfrak{so}(d) : \exp(S) = R$$

Thus, the inverse of the matrix R satisfies

$$R^{-1} = (\exp(S))^{-1} = \exp(-S) = \exp(S^{T}) = (\exp(S))^{T},$$

and the determinant

$$\det\left(\exp(S)\right) = \det(R) = 1.$$

Since multiplication with orthogonal matrices preserve the vector lengths we have

$$|\exp(S)x| = |Rx| = |x| \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

where $|\cdot| = \|\cdot\|_2$ denotes the Euclidean norm. Moreover, note that the matrix exponential maps the unit element $0 \in \mathfrak{so}(d)$ to the unit element $I_d \in \mathrm{SO}(d)$, i.e. $\exp(S + S^T) = \exp(0) = I_d$. Let $e_l \in \mathbb{R}^d$ denote the *l*-th unit vector in \mathbb{R}^d for $l = 1, \ldots, d$. Defining the matrices $I_{ij} := e_i e_j^T \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ for every $i = 1, \ldots, d-1$ and $j = i + 1, \ldots, d$ with entry 1 in the *i*-th row and *j*-th column and 0 otherwise, the matrices $I_{ij} - I_{ji}$ form a basis of $\mathfrak{so}(d)$ from which we deduce the unique representation

$$\forall S \in \mathfrak{so}(d) \exists (S_{ij})_{\substack{i=1,\dots,d-1\\j=i+1,\dots,d}} \in \mathbb{R} : S = \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{d} S_{ij} (I_{ij} - I_{ji}).$$

This yields

$$\forall R \in SO(d) \exists (S_{ij})_{\substack{i=1,\dots,d-1\\j=i+1,\dots,d}} \in \mathbb{R} : R = \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{d} S_{ij} (I_{ij} - I_{ji})\right)$$

and we conclude

$$R^{-1} = \exp\bigg(-\sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}S_{ij}\left(I_{ij}-I_{ji}\right)\bigg).$$

Later on, we also need the derivative of the matrix exponential in the following form

(3.1)
$$\frac{d}{dt}e^{X(t)} = \int_0^1 e^{(1-\alpha)X(t)} \left[\frac{d}{dt}X(t)\right] e^{\alpha X(t)} d\alpha.$$

Note that for every real skew-symmetric matrix $S \in \mathfrak{so}(d)$ the eigenvalues lie on the imaginary axis, i.e. $\sigma(S) \subset i\mathbb{R}$, and they appear in complex conjugate pairs. Thus, for odd space dimensions d we have $0 \in \sigma(S)$. Let $\pm i\sigma_1, \ldots, \pm i\sigma_k$ denote the nonzero eigenvalues of S, i.e. $0 \neq \sigma_j \in \mathbb{R}$ for every $j = 1, \ldots, k$ and $1 \leq k \leq \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$. Since every real skew-symmetric matrix is a normal matrix, an application of the spectral theorem yields that S is unitarily diagonalizable (over \mathbb{C}), i.e.

(3.2)
$$\exists U \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d} \text{ unitary (i.e. } \bar{U}^T U = U\bar{U}^T = I_d): \Lambda_S = \bar{U}^T SU,$$

with $\Lambda_S = \text{diag}(\lambda_1^S, \ldots, \lambda_d^S) \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d}$ and $\lambda_1^S, \ldots, \lambda_d^S \in \sigma(S)$. Because of $\sigma(S) \subset i\mathbb{R}$, it is in general not possible to diagonalize S by a real-valued matrix U. However, we can transform every $S \in \mathfrak{so}(d)$ into a block diagonal form by an orthogonal transformation, i.e.

$$\exists P \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$$
 orthogonal matrix : $S = P\Lambda^S_{\text{block}}P^T$,

where $\pm i\sigma_1, \ldots, \pm i\sigma_k$ denote the nonzero eigenvalues of S with $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k \in \mathbb{R}$, $1 \leq k \leq \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$,

$$\Lambda_{\text{block}}^{S} = \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda_{1}^{S} & & & 0 \\ & \ddots & & & \\ & & \Lambda_{k}^{S} & & \\ & & & 0 & \\ & & & & \ddots & \\ 0 & & & & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}, \quad \Lambda_{j}^{S} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_{j} \\ -\sigma_{j} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2,2},$$

for every j = 1, ..., k. The singular value decomposition (SVD) of Λ_j^S is given by

$$\Lambda_j^S = L_j \Sigma_j R_j^T, \ \Sigma_j = |\sigma_j| I_2, \ L_j := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ R_j := \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_j) \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and thus, the SVD for Λ^S_{block} is

$$\Lambda^{S}_{\text{block}} = L\Sigma R^{T}, \ \Sigma := \begin{pmatrix} \Sigma_{1} & & & 0 \\ & \ddots & & & \\ & & \Sigma_{k} & & \\ & & & 0 & \\ & & & & \ddots & \\ 0 & & & & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$$

with orthogonal matrices

$$L := \begin{pmatrix} L_1 & & & & 0 \\ & \ddots & & & & \\ & & L_k & & & \\ & & & 1 & & \\ & & & & \ddots & \\ 0 & & & & & 1 \end{pmatrix}, R := \begin{pmatrix} R_1 & & & & 0 \\ & \ddots & & & & \\ & & R_k & & & \\ & & & 1 & & \\ & & & & 1 & \\ 0 & & & & & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

This yields the singular value decomposition for any real skew-symmetric matrix $S \in \mathfrak{so}(d)$

$$(3.3) S = U\Sigma V^T, U := PL, V := PR.$$

3.2 Exponentially weighted function spaces

Sobolev Spaces. Let $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$, $N \in \mathbb{N}$, $p \in \mathbb{R}$ with $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and let $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ be a weight function of exponential growth rate $\eta \geq 0$ in the sense of Definition 1.7. We define the **exponentially weighted** L^p -spaces and their associated norms by

$$L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) := \{ u \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \mid \|u\|_{L^p_{\theta}} < \infty \},$$
$$\|u\|_{L^p_{\theta}} := \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \theta^p(x) \, |u(x)|^p \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}, \, 1 \leq p < \infty,$$
$$\|u\|_{L^\infty_{\theta}} := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \theta(x) \, |u(x)|, \, p = \infty.$$

By definition $(L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N), \|\cdot\|_{L^p_{\theta}})$ is a Banach space.

Let $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, then we define the **exponentially weighted** Sobolev spaces of order k with exponent p and their associated norms by

$$\begin{split} W^{k,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N}) &:= \{ u \in L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N}) \mid D^{\beta}u \in L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N}) \; \forall \; |\beta| \leqslant k \}, \\ \|u\|_{W^{k,p}_{\theta}} &:= \left(\sum_{|\beta| \leqslant k} \left\| D^{\beta}u \right\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}}^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}, \; 1 \leqslant p < \infty, \\ \|u\|_{W^{k,\infty}_{\theta}} &:= \max_{|\beta| \leqslant k} \left\| D^{\beta}u \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{\theta}}, \; p = \infty. \end{split}$$

Let $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $1 \leq p < \infty$, T > 0, $\Omega_T = \mathbb{R}^d \times]0, T[$, then we define the **space-time** Sobolev space of order (2l, l) with exponent p and their associated norms by

$$W^{(2l,l),p}(\Omega_T, \mathbb{K}^N) := \{ u \in L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{K}^N) \mid ||u||_{W^{(2l,l),p}} < \infty \}, \\ ||u||_{W^{(2l,l),p}(\Omega_T, \mathbb{K}^N)} := \left(\sum_{0 \leq 2r + |\beta| \leq 2l} ||D_t^r D_x^\beta u||_{L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{K}^N)}^p \right)^{\frac{1}{p}},$$

[62, p. 5, (1.4)]. The summation $\sum_{0 \leq 2r+|\beta| \leq 2l}$ is taken over all nonnegative integers $r \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and all multiindices $\beta \in \mathbb{N}^d$ satisfying the condition $0 \leq 2r + |\beta| \leq 2l$. In the special case l = 1 we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{W^{(2,1),p}(\Omega_T,\mathbb{K}^N)} &= \left(\|u\|_{L^p(\Omega_T,\mathbb{K}^N)}^p + \|D_t u\|_{L^p(\Omega_T,\mathbb{K}^N)}^p + \sum_{|\beta|=1} \|D_x^\beta u\|_{L^p(\Omega_T,\mathbb{K}^N)}^p \\ &+ \sum_{|\beta|=2} \|D_x^\beta u\|_{L^p(\Omega_T,\mathbb{K}^N)}^p \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}, \ 1 \le p < \infty. \end{aligned}$$

Let $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ or $\Omega = \Omega_T$ and $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, then we define the **local** L^p -spaces by

$$L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega, \mathbb{K}^N) := \{ u : \Omega \to \mathbb{K}^N \text{ measurable } | \ \|u\|_{L^p(A, \mathbb{K}^N)} < \infty \ \forall A \subset \Omega \text{ compact} \}$$

The local Sobolev space $W^{k,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ can be defined in the same way.

Spaces of continuous functions. Let $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$, $N \in \mathbb{N}$. We define the space of bounded continuous functions and its associated norm by

$$C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N}) := \{ u \in C(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N}) \mid ||u||_{C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N})} < \infty \}, \\ ||u||_{C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N})} := ||u||_{\infty} := \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}} |u(x)|.$$

By definition $(C_{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N), \|\cdot\|_{C_{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)})$ is a Banach space.

Let $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, then we define the space of k-times continuously-differentiable functions, that are bounded up to order k, and its associated norm by

$$C_{\mathbf{b}}^{k}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N}) := \{ u \in C_{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N}) \mid D^{\beta}u \in C_{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N}) \;\forall \; |\beta| \leqslant k \}, \\ \|u\|_{C_{\mathbf{b}}^{k}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N})} := \|u\|_{k,\infty} := \max_{|\beta| \leqslant k} \|D^{\beta}u\|_{C_{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N})}.$$

Further, we define the space of bounded uniformly continuous functions and the space of k-times continuously-differentiable functions, that are bounded and uniformly continuous up to order k, by

$$C_{\rm ub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) := \{ u \in C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \mid u \text{ is uniformly continuous on } \mathbb{R}^d \}, C_{\rm ub}^k(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) := \{ u \in C_{\rm ub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \mid D^\beta u \in C_{\rm ub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \; \forall \; |\beta| \leq k \}.$$

Then, $(C_{ub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N), \|\cdot\|_{C_b(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)})$, $(C_{ub}^k(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N), \|\cdot\|_{C_b^k(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)})$ are Banach spaces. Let $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ be skew-symmetric, then we define the spaces

$$C_{\mathrm{rub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) := \{ u \in C_{\mathrm{ub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \mid \lim_{t \to 0} \left\| u(e^{tS} \cdot) - u(\cdot) \right\|_{C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)} = 0 \},\$$

$$C_{\mathrm{rub}}^k(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) := \{ u \in C_{\mathrm{rub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \mid D^{\beta}u \in C_{\mathrm{rub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \; \forall \; |\beta| \leqslant k \}.$$

Then, $(C_{\text{rub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N), \|\cdot\|_{C_{\text{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)}), (C_{\text{rub}}^k(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N), \|\cdot\|_{C_{\text{b}}^k(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)})$ are Banach spaces.

Let $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ be a weight function of exponential growth rate $\eta \ge 0$. We define the **exponentially weighted space of bounded continuous functions** and its associated norm by

$$C_{\mathbf{b},\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N) := \{ u \in C_{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N) \mid \|u\|_{C_{\mathbf{b},\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)} < \infty \}, \\ \|u\|_{C_{\mathbf{b},\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)} := \|u\|_{\infty,\theta} := \|\theta u\|_{C_{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)}.$$

and the exponentially weighted space of k-times continuously-differentiable functions, that are exponentially bounded up to order k, by

$$\begin{split} C_{\mathbf{b},\theta}^{k}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N}) &:= \{ u \in C_{\mathbf{b}}^{k}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N}) \mid \theta D^{\beta} u \in C_{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N}) \; \forall \; |\beta| \leqslant k \}, \\ \| u \|_{C_{\mathbf{b},\theta}^{k}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N})} &:= \| u \|_{k,\infty,\theta} := \max_{|\beta| \leqslant k} \left\| \theta D^{\beta} u \right\|_{C_{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N})}. \end{split}$$

We define the **space of smooth functions** $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$, i.e. it contains functions that are continuously differentiable of arbitrary order. Finally, we define the **space of bump functions** $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$, i.e. of all smooth functions having a compact support. The **support** of a function $u : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{K}^N$ is defined by $\operatorname{supp}(u) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid u(x) \neq 0\}.$

Schwartz space. Let $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$. A function $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{K}^N$ is said to be rapidly decreasing if it is infinitely many times differentiable, i.e. $\phi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ and

(3.4)
$$\lim_{|x|\to\infty} x^{\alpha} D^{\beta} \phi(x) = 0 \in \mathbb{K}^N \quad \forall \, \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^d.$$

The space

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) := \left\{ \phi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \mid \phi \text{ is rapidly decreasing} \right\}$$

is called the **Schwartz space**, [34, VI.5.1 Definition]. When endowed with the family of seminorms

$$|\phi|_{\alpha,\beta} := \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left| x^{\alpha} D^{\beta} \phi(x) \right|$$

the space $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ becomes a Fréchet space containing $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ as a dense subspace.

4 Heat kernel for operators of Ornstein-Uhlenbeck type in complex systems

In this chapter we derive a complex-valued heat kernel matrix for the operator

(4.1)
$$[\mathcal{L}_{\infty}v](x) := A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - Bv(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 2,$$

with $v : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}^N$, $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$, skew-symmetric $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$.

In Section 4.1 we extend the approach from [14], [4] and [22, Chapter 13] to determine a heat kernel of \mathcal{L}_{∞} , where A and B are assumed to be simultaneously diagonalizable matrices. Assuming (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, Theorem 4.4 states that the heat kernel matrix of \mathcal{L}_{∞} is given by

$$H(x,\xi,t) = (4\pi tA)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-Bt - (4tA)^{-1} \left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^{2}\right), \ x,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \ t > 0.$$

To clarify the connection with the differential operator \mathcal{L}_{∞} , we denote the kernel in the following chapters by H_{∞} . For the choice B = 0, we denote the kernel by H_0 and the differential operator by \mathcal{L}_0 . In this context, H_0 is called the **complex-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck kernel** and \mathcal{L}_0 the **Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator**. In general, having an explicit expression for the heat kernel of a differential operator, one can introduce the corresponding semigroup of the underlying differential operator in a simple way. This will be the starting point in the next chapter.

In Section 4.2 we collect some necessary information about the heat kernel H that are relevant to apply the semigroup theory to the associated semigroup. For this purpose, we first show in Lemma 4.5 that H satisfies the Chapman-Kolmogorov formula

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H(x, \tilde{\xi}, t_1) H(\tilde{\xi}, \xi, t_2) d\tilde{\xi} = H(x, \xi, t_1 + t_2), \ x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ t_1, t_2 > 0,$$

that is used in the next chapter to verify the semigroup properties. In Lemma 4.6 we derive exponentially weighted integral estimates involving the spectral norm of the modified kernel $K(\psi, t) = H(x, e^{tS}x - \psi, t)$, that are used later on to prove boundedness as well as strong continuity of the associated semigroup. The three integrals calculated in Lemma 4.7 are used to verify that the Schwartz space is a core for the infinitesimal generator of the semigroup.

In Section 4.3, we show in Lemma 4.8 some integral estimates, that are necessary to prove exponential decay for solutions of the resolvent equation.

4.1 Complex-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck kernel

We introduce the definition for a heat kernel of \mathcal{L}_{∞} , [22, Section 1.2]:

Definition 4.1. A heat kernel (or a fundamental solution) of \mathcal{L}_{∞} given by (4.1) is a function

$$H: \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^*_+ \to \mathbb{C}^{N,N}, \, (x,\xi,t) \mapsto H(x,\xi,t)$$

with $\mathbb{R}^*_+ :=]0, \infty[$ such that

(H1)
$$H \in C^{2,2,1}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^*_+, \mathbb{C}^{N,N}),$$

(H2)
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}H(x,\xi,t) = \mathcal{L}_{\infty}H(x,\xi,t) \qquad \forall x,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d, t > 0,$$

(H3)
$$\lim_{t\downarrow 0} H(x,\xi,t) = \delta_x(\xi)I_N \qquad \forall x,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

where the convergence in (H3) is meant in the sense of distributions and $\delta_x(\xi) = \delta(x - \xi)$ denotes the Dirac delta function. A heat kernel H with N > 1 is called a **heat kernel matrix** (or **matrix fundamental solution**) of \mathcal{L}_{∞} .

The next theorem provides an explicit representation for the heat kernel of \mathcal{L}_{∞} in the scalar complex-valued case. The proof contains a formal derivation of this heat kernel, which could also be of interest for the computation of heat kernels for more general complex-valued heat operators. For the scalar real-valued case a formal derivation of this kernel can be found in [14], [4] and [22, Section 13.2].

Theorem 4.2 (Scalar case). Let the assumptions (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ and N = 1, then the function $H : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^+_+ \to \mathbb{C}$ defined by

(4.2)
$$H(x,\xi,t) = (4\pi\alpha t)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-\delta t - (4\alpha t)^{-1} \left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^2\right)$$

is a heat kernel of \mathcal{L}_{∞} given by

(4.3)
$$[\mathcal{L}_{\infty}v](x) := \alpha \Delta v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - \delta v(x).$$

Remark. In the scalar case N = 1 we write α and δ instead of A and B, respectively.

Proof. Before we verify that the heat kernel from (4.2) satisfies the properties (H1)-(H3) we discuss a formal derivation of this kernel. To compute the heat kernel (4.2) of (4.3) we generalize the approach from [14], [4] to the complex case and use the complexified ansatz

(4.4)
$$H(x,\xi,t) = \varphi(t) \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\left\langle M(t)\left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi\end{array}\right), \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi\end{array}\right)\right\rangle\right)$$

where

$$\begin{split} \varphi &: \mathbb{R}^*_+ \to \mathbb{C}, \, t \mapsto \varphi(t), \\ M &: \mathbb{R}^*_+ \to \mathbb{C}^{2d, 2d}, \, t \mapsto M(t) \end{split}$$

have to be determined and $\langle u, v \rangle := \overline{u}^T v$ denotes the Euclidean inner product on \mathbb{C}^{2d} . Note at this point that it is sufficient to determine the symmetric part of the complex-valued matrix M which we denote by N, i.e.

$$\begin{split} N: \mathbb{R}^*_+ \to \mathbb{C}^{2d \times 2d}, \ t \mapsto N(t) &:= \frac{1}{2} \left(M(t) + M^T(t) \right) = \left(\begin{array}{cc} A(t) & B(t) \\ C(t) & D(t) \end{array} \right), \\ A, B, C, D: \mathbb{R}^*_+ \to \mathbb{C}^{d \times d}, \ t \mapsto A(t), B(t), C(t), D(t). \end{split}$$

Note that N is a symmetric but in general not a Hermitian matrix. In particular A and D are symmetric and $B^T = C$. Since $x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we have

$$H(x,\xi,t) = \varphi(t) \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\left\langle M(t)\begin{pmatrix}x\\\xi\end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix}x\\\xi\end{pmatrix}\right\rangle\right)$$
$$= \varphi(t) \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\left\langle \frac{1}{2}\left(M(t) + M^{T}(t)\right)\begin{pmatrix}x\\\xi\end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix}x\\\xi\end{pmatrix}\right\rangle\right)$$
$$= \varphi(t) \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\left\langle N(t)\begin{pmatrix}x\\\xi\end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix}x\\\xi\end{pmatrix}\right\rangle\right).$$

Since the heat kernel must satisfy (H2) we introduce the extended matrices

$$\tilde{P} = \begin{pmatrix} I_d & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{S} = \begin{pmatrix} S & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2d, 2d}$$

and obtain from the general Leibniz rule, the chain rule and the symmetry of N

$$\begin{split} H_t(x,\xi,t) &= H(x,\xi,t) \left[\frac{\varphi_t(t)}{\varphi(t)} - \frac{1}{2} \left\langle N_t(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right) \right\rangle \right], \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} H(x,\xi,t) &= H(x,\xi,t) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left[-\frac{1}{2} \left\langle N(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right) \right\rangle \right] \\ &= H(x,\xi,t) \left[-\frac{1}{2} \left(\overline{\left\langle \overline{N}^T(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), e_i \right\rangle} + \left\langle N(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), e_i \right\rangle \right) \right] \\ &= -H(x,\xi,t) \left\langle N(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), e_i \right\rangle, \\ \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} H(x,\xi,t) &= H(x,\xi,t) \left[\left\langle N(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), e_i \right\rangle^2 - \left\langle N(t)e_i, e_i \right\rangle \right], \end{split}$$

$$\alpha \triangle H(x,\xi,t) = \alpha H(x,\xi,t) \left[\sum_{i=1}^{d} \left\langle N(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), e_i \right\rangle^2 - \sum_{i=1}^{d} \left\langle N(t)e_i, e_i \right\rangle \right]$$

$$= \alpha H(x,\xi,t) \left[\sum_{i=1}^{d} \left\langle N(t) \begin{pmatrix} x \\ \xi \end{pmatrix}, e_i \right\rangle \overline{\left\langle e_i, N(t) \begin{pmatrix} x \\ \xi \end{pmatrix} \right\rangle} - \operatorname{tr} \left(\overline{A}^T(t) \right) \right]$$

$$\begin{split} &= \alpha H(x,\xi,t) \left[\left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right)^T \overline{N}^T(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} \sum\\ i=1 \end{array}^d e_i e_i^T \right) \overline{N}(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right) - \operatorname{tr}\left(\overline{A}(t)\right) \right] \\ &= \alpha H(x,\xi,t) \left[\left\langle N(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), \left(\begin{array}{c} I_d & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{array} \right) \overline{N}(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right) \right\rangle - \operatorname{tr}\left(\overline{A}(t)\right) \right] \\ &= H(x,\xi,t) \left[\left\langle \overline{\alpha} N(t) \widetilde{P} N(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right) \right\rangle - \alpha \operatorname{tr}\left(\overline{A}(t)\right) \right] \\ &, \\ &\langle Sx, \nabla H(x,\xi,t) \rangle = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} H(x,\xi,t), \dots, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_d} H(x,\xi,t) \right) Sx \\ &= -H(x,\xi,t) \left(\left\langle N(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), e_1 \right\rangle, \dots, \left\langle N(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), e_d \right\rangle \right) Sx \\ &= -H(x,\xi,t) \left\langle N(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), \left(\begin{array}{c} S & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right) \right\rangle \\ &= -H(x,\xi,t) \left\langle \widetilde{S}^T N(t) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right) \right\rangle \\ &+ \left\langle \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), \overline{N}^T(t) \widetilde{S} \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right) \right\rangle \right] \\ &= -H(x,\xi,t) \left\langle \frac{1}{2} \left(\widetilde{S}^T N(t) + N(t) \widetilde{S} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right), \left(\begin{array}{c} x\\ \xi \end{array} \right) \right\rangle \\ &, \end{split}$$

for every $i = 1, \ldots, d$. Therefore, we end up with

$$0 = H(x,\xi,t) \left[\frac{\varphi_t(t)}{\varphi(t)} + \alpha \operatorname{tr} \left(\overline{A}(t) \right) + \delta + \left\langle \left(-\frac{1}{2} N_t(t) - \overline{\alpha} N(t) \tilde{P} N(t) + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{S}^T N(t) + \frac{1}{2} N(t) \tilde{S} \right) \begin{pmatrix} x \\ \xi \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} x \\ \xi \end{pmatrix} \right\rangle \right].$$

Thus, the kernel satisfies (H2) if the following differential equations hold

(4.5)
$$\varphi_t(t) = -\left(\alpha \operatorname{tr}\left(\overline{A}(t)\right) + \delta\right)\varphi(t) \qquad , t > 0,$$

(4.6)
$$N_t(t) = -2\overline{\alpha}N(t)\widetilde{P}N(t) + \widetilde{S}^TN(t) + N(t)\widetilde{S} \qquad , t > 0.$$

Since (4.5) depends on the solution of (4.6), we will first solve the matrix-Riccati equation (4.6), see [5, sec. 3.1]. It is obvious that the solutions of (4.5) and (4.6) are not unique but one can select appropriate initial values, see [14] and [4].

Let us first eliminate linear terms in (4.6) by the following transformation

$$\hat{N}(t) = \exp\left(-t\tilde{S}^{T}\right)N(t)\exp\left(-t\tilde{S}\right) \\
= \begin{pmatrix} \exp\left(-tS^{T}\right) & 0\\ 0 & I_{d} \end{pmatrix}\begin{pmatrix} A(t) & B(t)\\ C(t) & D(t) \end{pmatrix}\begin{pmatrix} \exp\left(-tS\right) & 0\\ 0 & I_{d} \end{pmatrix} \\
= \begin{pmatrix} \exp(-tS^{T})A(t)\exp(-tS) & \exp(-tS^{T})B(t)\\ C(t)\exp(-tS) & D(t) \end{pmatrix} \\
=: \begin{pmatrix} \hat{A}(t) & \hat{B}(t)\\ \hat{C}(t) & \hat{D}(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.7)

Differentiating \hat{N} with respect to t and using (A5), $N = N^T$ and (4.6) we obtain

$$\hat{N}_{t}(t) = -\tilde{S}^{T} \exp\left(-t\tilde{S}^{T}\right) N(t) \exp\left(-t\tilde{S}\right) + \exp\left(-t\tilde{S}^{T}\right) N_{t}(t) \exp\left(-t\tilde{S}\right) - \exp\left(-t\tilde{S}^{T}\right) N(t)\tilde{S} \exp\left(-t\tilde{S}\right) = -2\overline{\alpha}\hat{N}(t) \exp\left(t\tilde{S}\right) \tilde{P} \exp\left(t\tilde{S}^{T}\right) \hat{N}(t)$$

and hence

(4.8)
$$\hat{N}_t(t) = -2\overline{\alpha}\hat{N}(t)\exp\left(t\tilde{S}\right)\tilde{P}\exp\left(t\tilde{S}^T\right)\hat{N}(t)$$
, $t > 0$.

Writing this equation blockwise

$$\begin{split} \hat{N}_t(t) &= -2\overline{\alpha}\hat{N}(t)\exp\left(t\tilde{S}\right)\tilde{P}\exp\left(t\tilde{S}^T\right)\hat{N}(t) \\ &= -2\overline{\alpha}\left(\begin{array}{cc} \hat{A}(t)\exp\left(t\left(S+S^T\right)\right)\hat{A}(t) & \hat{A}(t)\exp\left(t\left(S+S^T\right)\right)\hat{B}(t) \\ \hat{C}(t)\exp\left(t\left(S+S^T\right)\right)\hat{A}(t) & \hat{C}(t)\exp\left(t\left(S+S^T\right)\right)\hat{B}(t) \end{array}\right) \\ &= \left(\begin{array}{cc} -2\overline{\alpha}\hat{A}^2(t) & -2\overline{\alpha}\hat{A}(t)\hat{B}(t) \\ -2\overline{\alpha}\hat{C}(t)\hat{A}(t) & -2\overline{\alpha}\hat{C}(t)\hat{B}(t) \end{array}\right) =: \left(\begin{array}{cc} \hat{A}_t(t) & \hat{B}_t(t) \\ \hat{C}_t(t) & \hat{D}_t(t) \end{array}\right) \end{split}$$

we arrive at the matrix ODE systems

(4.9)
$$\hat{A}_t(t) = -2\overline{\alpha}\hat{A}^2(t) \qquad , t > 0,$$

(4.10)
$$\hat{B}_t(t) = -2\overline{\alpha}\hat{A}(t)\hat{B}(t) \qquad , t > 0,$$

(4.11)
$$\hat{C}_t(t) = -2\overline{\alpha}\hat{C}(t)\hat{A}(t) \qquad , t > 0,$$

(4.12)
$$\hat{D}_t(t) = -2\overline{\alpha}\hat{C}(t)\hat{B}(t) \qquad , t > 0.$$

Note that $\hat{A} = \hat{A}^T$, $\hat{D} = \hat{D}^T$ and $\hat{B}^T = \hat{C}$ due to the corresponding properties of A, B, C and D. Therefore, solving (4.10) gives us automatically a solution of (4.11). Now we will successively solve the equations (4.9)–(4.12):

(4.9): Using the transformation $\tilde{A}(t) = \left(\hat{A}(t)\right)^{-1}$ we obtain

$$\tilde{A}_t(t) = \frac{d}{dt} \left(\hat{A}(t) \right)^{-1} = -\left(\hat{A}(t) \right)^{-1} \hat{A}_t(t) \left(\hat{A}(t) \right)^{-1}$$
$$= 2\overline{\alpha} \left(\hat{A}(t) \right)^{-1} \left(\hat{A}(t) \right)^2 \left(\hat{A}(t) \right)^{-1} = 2\overline{\alpha} I_d.$$

Componentwise integration of both sides from 0 to t w.r.t. t yields

$$\tilde{A}(t) - A_0 = \tilde{A}(t) - \tilde{A}(0) = \int_0^t \tilde{A}_s(s) ds = \int_0^t 2\overline{\alpha} I_d ds = 2\overline{\alpha} t I_d.$$

Using the transformation once more yields the solution of (4.9)

$$\hat{A}(t) = (2\overline{\alpha}tI_d + A_0)^{-1}, t > 0.$$

Note that the initial data $A_0 \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d}$ must fulfill the relation $A_0 = A_0^T$ due to the symmetry of $\hat{A}(t)$ for t > 0.

(4.10): Obviously, the general solution of (4.10) is of the form $\hat{B} = \hat{A}B_0$ for some constant matrix $B_0 \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d}$ and hence

$$\hat{B}(t) = (2\overline{\alpha}tI_d + A_0)^{-1}B_0, t > 0.$$

(4.11): Thanks to the condition that $\hat{B}^T = \hat{C}$ we easily obtain the general solution of (4.11) by transposing \hat{B} and using the symmetry of A_0

$$\hat{C}(t) = B_0^T \left(2\overline{\alpha} t I_d + A_0 \right)^{-1}, t > 0.$$

(4.12): Finally, the general solution of equation (4.12) has the form $B_0^T \hat{A} B_0 + D_0$ for some constant matrix $D_0 \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d}$ with $D_0 = D_0^T$ due to the symmetry of \hat{D} . This can be easily seen by rewriting the system as follows

$$\hat{D}_t(t) = -2\overline{\alpha}\hat{C}(t)\hat{B}(t) = -2\overline{\alpha}B_0^T\hat{A}^2(t)B_0.$$

Hence, we obtain

$$\hat{D}(t) = B_0^T \left(2\overline{\alpha}tI_d + A_0\right)^{-1} B_0 + D_0, \ t > 0.$$

As in [14] and [4], we now choose $A_0 = 0$, $B_0 = -I_d$ and $D_0 = 0$ which will guarantee (H3). Inserting the solutions into (4.7) yields

$$\hat{N}(t) = \frac{1}{2\overline{\alpha}t} \begin{pmatrix} I_d & -I_d \\ -I_d & I_d \end{pmatrix}$$

Transforming \hat{N} to N, cf. (4.7), we obtain by (A5)

(4.13)

$$N(t) = \exp\left(t\tilde{S}^{T}\right)\hat{N}(t)\exp\left(t\tilde{S}\right)$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} \exp(tS^{T})\hat{A}(t)\exp(tS) & \exp(tS^{T})\hat{B}(t) \\ \hat{C}(t)\exp(tS) & \hat{D}(t) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\overline{\alpha}t}\begin{pmatrix} I_{d} & -\exp(tS^{T}) \\ -\exp(tS) & I_{d} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus, tr $(\overline{A}(t)) = \frac{d}{2\alpha t}$ and (4.5) can be written as

$$\varphi_t(t) = -\left(\alpha \operatorname{tr}\left(\overline{A}(t)\right) + \delta\right)\varphi(t) = -\left(\frac{d}{2t} + \delta\right)\varphi(t)$$

Hence, the general solution of (4.5) is given by

(4.14)
$$\varphi(t) = C \exp\left(-\int \left(\frac{d}{2t} + \delta\right) dt\right) = C \exp\left(-\frac{d}{2}\ln(t) - \delta t\right) = Ct^{-\frac{d}{2}}e^{-\delta t}$$

where $C \in \mathbb{C}$. Below we choose $C \in \mathbb{C}$ such that the normalization condition

(4.15)
$$\lim_{t \downarrow 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H(x,\xi,t) d\xi = 1 \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

holds. First note that from

$$\left\langle \frac{1}{2\overline{\alpha}t} \begin{pmatrix} I_d & -\exp(tS^T) \\ -\exp(tS) & I_d \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ \xi \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} x \\ \xi \end{pmatrix} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{2\alpha t} \left| e^{tS}x - \xi \right|^2$$

we obtain

$$H(x,\xi,t) = Ct^{-\frac{d}{2}}e^{-\delta t - \frac{1}{4\alpha t} |e^{tS}x - \xi|^2}.$$

Now, integrating over \mathbb{R}^d w.r.t. ξ , we obtain from the transformation theorem and assumption (A2)

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H(x,\xi,t)d\xi = Ct^{-\frac{d}{2}}e^{-\delta t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{-\frac{1}{4\alpha t}\left|e^{tS}x-\xi\right|^{2}}d\xi$$
$$=Ct^{-\frac{d}{2}}e^{-\delta t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{-\frac{1}{4\alpha t}|x-\psi|^{2}}d\psi = Ct^{-\frac{d}{2}}e^{-\delta t} \prod_{j=1}^{d} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{1}{4\alpha t}x_{j}^{2}}dx_{j}$$
$$=Ct^{-\frac{d}{2}}e^{-\delta t} (4\pi\alpha t)^{\frac{d}{2}} = C (4\pi\alpha)^{\frac{d}{2}} e^{-\delta t} \xrightarrow{t\to 0} C (4\pi\alpha)^{\frac{d}{2}} \stackrel{!}{=} 1.$$

Hence, we choose $C = (4\pi\alpha)^{-\frac{d}{2}}$ such that (4.15) is satisfied. Here $\alpha^{-\frac{d}{2}}$ denotes the principal root (main branch) of α^{-d} . Finally, we obtain the heat kernel (4.2) from (4.13) and (4.14). The properties (H1) and (H2) follow directly from the construction of the heat kernel. It remains to verify property (H3). For this we use the integral

(4.16)
$$\int_0^\infty r^{n-1} e^{-zr^2} dr = \frac{z^{-\frac{n}{2}}}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{n}{2}\right)},$$

which holds for $n \in \mathbb{R}$ with n > 0 and $z \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} z > 0$, [2]. Using the transformation theorem (with transformations for *d*-dimensional polar coordinates and $\Phi(\xi) = 2^{-1}t^{-\frac{1}{2}} (e^{tS}x - \xi)$) and formula (4.16) (with n = d and $z = \alpha^{-1}$) we obtain, similarly to the proof of [22, Prop. 3.4.1], for every $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C})$

$$\begin{split} \lim_{t \downarrow 0} H(x,\xi,t)(\phi) &= \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H(x,\xi,t)\phi(\xi)d\xi \\ &= \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (4\pi\alpha t)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-\delta t - (4\alpha t)^{-1} \left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^2\right)\phi(\xi)d\xi \\ &= \lim_{t \downarrow 0} (4\pi\alpha t)^{-\frac{d}{2}} (4t)^{\frac{d}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \exp\left(-\delta t - \alpha^{-1} \left|\psi\right|^2\right)\phi(e^{tS}x - 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\psi)d\psi \\ &= (\pi\alpha)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \exp\left(-\alpha^{-1} \left|\psi\right|^2\right)d\psi\phi(x) \\ &= (\pi\alpha)^{-\frac{d}{2}} 2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right) \int_0^\infty r^{d-1}e^{-\alpha^{-1}r^2}dr\phi(x) \\ &= (\pi\alpha)^{-\frac{d}{2}} 2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right) \frac{\alpha^{\frac{d}{2}}}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}\phi(x) = \phi(x) = \delta_x(\xi)(\phi). \end{split}$$

Note that $\operatorname{Re} z = \operatorname{Re} (\alpha^{-1}) = \frac{\operatorname{Re} \overline{\alpha}}{|\alpha|^2} = \frac{\operatorname{Re} \alpha}{|\alpha|^2} > 0$ is true by assumption (A2).

The next statement yields a heat kernel representation of \mathcal{L}_{∞} for complex-valued diagonal matrices A and B. This follows from an application of Theorem 4.2.

Theorem 4.3 (Case of diagonal matrices). Let $\Lambda_A, \Lambda_B \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$ be two diagonal matrices and let the assumptions (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, then the function $H : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^*_+ \to \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$ defined by

(4.17)
$$H(x,\xi,t) = (4\pi t\Lambda_A)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-\Lambda_B t - (4t\Lambda_A)^{-1} \left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^2\right)$$

is a heat kernel of \mathcal{L}_{∞} given by

(4.18)
$$[\mathcal{L}_{\infty}v](x) := \Lambda_A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - \Lambda_B v(x).$$

Remark. In case of diagonal matrices we write Λ_A and Λ_B instead of A and B, respectively.

Proof. Let $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_N) \in \mathbb{C}^N$, $\Lambda_A = \text{diag}(\lambda_1^A, \ldots, \lambda_N^A) \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$ and $\Lambda_B = \text{diag}(\lambda_1^B, \ldots, \lambda_N^B) \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$. Since the matrices Λ_A and Λ_B are diagonal, the components of the operator \mathcal{L}_{∞} from (4.18) are decoupled, i.e.

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{\infty}v\right]_{k}(x) = \lambda_{k}^{A} \triangle v_{k}(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v_{k}(x) \rangle - \lambda_{k}^{B}v_{k}(x), \ k = 1, \dots, N.$$

Using (A2) and (A5) we infer from Theorem 4.2 that

$$H_k(x,\xi,t) := (4\pi t\lambda_k^A)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-\lambda_k^B t - (4t\lambda_k^A)^{-1} \left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^2\right)$$

is a heat kernel for the k-th component of \mathcal{L}_{∞} . Indeed, an easy computation shows that $H(x,\xi,t) := \text{diag}(H_1(x,\xi,t),\ldots,H_N(x,\xi,t))$ is a heat kernel of \mathcal{L}_{∞} from (4.18) that coincides with H from (4.17). The properties (H1)–(H3) for the heat kernel H of \mathcal{L}_{∞} follow directly from those of H_k for $k = 1, \ldots, N$.

The following theorem is an extension of Theorem 4.3 and provides a heat kernel of \mathcal{L}_{∞} for complex-valued simultaneously diagonalizable matrices A and B. Note that assumption (A8_B) implies (A1) and that they coincide for B = 0.

Theorem 4.4 (Case of simultaneously diagonalizable matrices). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) be satisfied for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, then the function $H : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^*_+ \to \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$ defined by

(4.19)
$$H(x,\xi,t) = (4\pi tA)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-Bt - (4tA)^{-1} \left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^2\right)$$

is a heat kernel of \mathcal{L}_{∞} given by

(4.20)
$$[\mathcal{L}_{\infty}v](x) := A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - Bv(x) .$$

Proof. Let us define the diagonalized operator $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{\infty} := Y^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{\infty}Y$ with Y from (A8_B). Multiplying (4.20) from left by Y^{-1} and using the transformations $A = Y\Lambda_AY^{-1}$ and $B = Y\Lambda_BY^{-1}$, the substitution $u(x) := Y^{-1}v(x)$, the property $Y^{-1}\langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle = \langle Sx, \nabla Y^{-1}v(x) \rangle$ we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left[\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{\infty} u \right] (x) &= \left[Y^{-1} \mathcal{L}_{\infty} Y u \right] (x) = Y^{-1} \left[\mathcal{L}_{\infty} v \right] (x) \\ &= Y^{-1} \left(A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - Bv(x) \right) \\ &= \Lambda_A Y^{-1} \triangle v(x) + Y^{-1} \left\langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \right\rangle - \Lambda_B Y^{-1} v(x) \\ &= \Lambda_A \triangle u(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla u(x) \rangle - \Lambda_B u(x) \end{aligned}$$

In this way we have decoupled the operator \mathcal{L}_{∞} from (4.20). Since $\Lambda_A, \Lambda_B \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$ are diagonal matrices, $\sigma(\Lambda_A) = \sigma(A) \subset \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re } \lambda > 0\}$ by (A1) and (A2) hold, we deduce from Theorem 4.3 that

$$\tilde{H}(x,\xi,t) = (4\pi t\Lambda_A)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-\Lambda_B t - (4t\Lambda_A)^{-1} \left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^2\right)$$

is a heat kernel of $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{\infty}$. Again, an easy computation shows that $H(x,\xi,t) := Y\tilde{H}(x,\xi,t)Y^{-1}$ is a heat kernel of \mathcal{L}_{∞} from (4.20) that coincides with H from (4.19):

$$\begin{aligned} H(x,\xi,t) &= Y\dot{H}(x,\xi,t)Y^{-1} \\ &= Y(4\pi t\Lambda_A)^{-\frac{d}{2}}Y^{-1}Y\exp\left(-\Lambda_B t - (4t\Lambda_A)^{-1}\left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^2\right)Y^{-1} \\ &= (4\pi t)^{-\frac{d}{2}}Y\Lambda_A^{-\frac{d}{2}}Y^{-1}\exp\left(-Y\left(\Lambda_B t - (4t\Lambda_A)^{-1}\left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^2\right)Y^{-1}\right) \\ &= (4\pi t)^{-\frac{d}{2}}Y\Lambda_A^{-\frac{d}{2}}Y^{-1}\exp\left(-Y\Lambda_B Y^{-1}t - (4t)^{-1}Y\Lambda_A^{-1}Y^{-1}\left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^2\right) \\ &= (4\pi tA)^{-\frac{d}{2}}\exp\left(-Bt - (4tA)^{-1}\left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^2\right). \end{aligned}$$

The properties (H1)–(H3) for the heat kernel H of \mathcal{L}_{∞} follow again directly from those of \tilde{H} .

Simultaneous diagonalization of A and B. Note that the condition $(A8_B)$ in Theorem 4.4 is crucial. For arbitrary matrices $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$ satisfying only (A1) and (A2) the heat kernel of (4.20) is in general not given by (4.19), as we will see later in Theorem 6.1 and Theorem 6.2. To extend Theorem 4.4 for arbitrary matrices $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$, one can try to use the Hadamard lemma or the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula. But in this case one can expect at most a series representation for the heat kernel. This seems to be an open problem.

Ellipticity assumption. As mentioned above, the assumption (A2) in Theorem 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4 states that \mathcal{L}_{∞} is an elliptic differential operator. Using the weaker assumption $\operatorname{Re} \sigma(A) \ge 0$, which includes coupled parabolic-hyperbolic differential operators as for instance the Barkley model from Example 2.3, no heat kernel representation seems to be known.

Generalized heat kernel ansatz. For the computation of heat kernels with more general operators, Beals used in [14, (2)] - instead of (4.4) - the generalized ansatz

$$H(x,\xi,t) = \varphi(t) \exp\left(-Q_t(x,\xi)\right), \ t > 0, \ x,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

where Q_t is a quadratic form of 2*d* variables. This formula is motivated by the Trotter product formula and the Feynman-Kac formula, [70, section 2.8]. Such a general ansatz was also used in [22, (13.2.14)] for the construction of heat kernels for degenerate elliptic operators.

Generalized Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A8_B), $Q \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$, Q > 0, $Q = Q^T$ and $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ be satisfied for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ and consider the generalized N-dimensional complex-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator

$$\begin{aligned} \left[\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{OU}}v\right](x) &= A\mathrm{tr}\left(QD^{2}v(x)\right) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - Bv(x) \\ &= A\sum_{i=1}^{d}\sum_{j=1}^{d}Q_{ij}D_{i}D_{j}v(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{d}\sum_{j=1}^{d}S_{ij}x_{j}D_{i}v(x) - Bv(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \end{aligned}$$

Then one can show that

$$H(x,\xi,t) = (4\pi A)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \left(\det Q_t\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \exp\left(-Bt - (4A)^{-1} \left\langle Q_t^{-1}(e^{tS}x - \psi), (e^{tS}x - \psi) \right\rangle\right)$$

with

$$Q_t = \int_0^t \exp\left(\tau S\right) Q \exp\left(\tau S^T\right) d\tau$$

is a heat kernel of \mathcal{L}_{OU} . This is true, even if (A5) is not satisfied.

Heat kernel via Fourier-Bessel method. The Fourier-Bessel method, [15], which is summarized in Section 1.6, provides a further possibility to determine a heat kernel for \mathcal{L}_{∞} on \mathbb{R}^2 . There one computes Green's function of \mathcal{L}_{∞} and discovers that Green's function equals the time integral over the heat kernel. This method can easily be extended to circular disks (bounded domains) with Dirichlet, Neumann and Robin boundary conditions, see Section 1.6.

Heat kernel for the diffusion operator. Let us emphasize that all results are also valid for S = 0 and B = 0, which provides us a heat kernel for the diffusion operator $\left[\mathcal{L}_{0}^{\text{diff}}v\right](x) = A \Delta v(x)$.

4.2 Some properties of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck kernel

The heat kernel satisfies the following Chapman-Kolmogorov formula, which plays an important role for the generation of semigroups, [66, Proposition C.3.2]. This formula can be understood as the semigroup property on the basis of heat kernels.

Lemma 4.5 (Chapman-Kolmogorov formula). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) be satisfied for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H(x,\tilde{\xi},t_1)H(\tilde{\xi},\xi,t_2)d\tilde{\xi} = H(x,\xi,t_1+t_2) \quad \forall x,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d, \,\forall t_1,t_2 > 0.$$

Remark. For the proof we need the following integral

(4.21)
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(-c_1 \left(a - \psi\right)^2 - c_2 \left(\psi - b\right)^2\right) d\psi \\ = \left(\frac{\pi}{c_1 + c_2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{c_1 c_2}{c_1 + c_2} \left(a - b\right)^2\right)$$

for $a, b, c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} c_1 > 0$, $\operatorname{Re} c_2 > 0$.

Proof. First let us prove the assertion for the diagonalized kernel

$$\tilde{H}(x,\xi,t) = (4\pi t\Lambda_A)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-\Lambda_B t - (4t\Lambda_A)^{-1} \left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^2\right).$$

Because of (A5) we have $|e^{tS}x| = |x|$ and hence

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \tilde{H}(x,\tilde{\xi},t_{1})\tilde{H}(\tilde{\xi},\xi,t_{2})d\tilde{\xi}$$

$$= (4\pi t_{1}\Lambda_{A})^{-\frac{d}{2}} (4\pi t_{2}\Lambda_{A})^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-\Lambda_{B}(t_{1}+t_{2})\right)$$

$$\cdot \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \exp\left(-(4t_{1}\Lambda_{A})^{-1} \left|e^{t_{1}S}x-\tilde{\xi}\right|^{2} - (4t_{2}\Lambda_{A})^{-1} \left|\tilde{\xi}-e^{-t_{2}S}\xi\right|^{2}\right) d\tilde{\xi}$$

From (A2) we deduce that $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_j^A > 0$ and hence $\operatorname{Re} \left(\lambda_j^A\right)^{-1} = \operatorname{Re} \frac{\overline{\lambda_j^A}}{|\lambda_j^A|^2} > 0$ for every $j = 1, \ldots, N$. Using formula (4.21) componentwise with $c_1 = \left(4t_1\lambda_j^A\right)^{-1}$, $c_2 = \left(4t_2\lambda_j^A\right)^{-1}$, $\psi = \tilde{\xi}_i$, $a = \left(e^{t_1S}x\right)_i$, $b = \left(e^{-t_2S}\xi\right)_i$, $i = 1, \ldots, d$ we obtain

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\left(4t_{1}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-1}\left(\left(e^{t_{1}S}x\right)_{i}-\tilde{\xi}_{i}\right)^{2}-\left(4t_{2}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-1}\left(\tilde{\xi}_{i}-\left(e^{-t_{2}S}\xi\right)_{i}\right)^{2}\right)d\tilde{\xi}_{i}$$
$$=\left(4\pi t_{1}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(4\pi t_{2}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(4\pi \left(t_{1}+t_{2}\right)\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
$$\cdot \exp\left(-\left(4\left(t_{1}+t_{2}\right)\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-1}\left(\left(e^{t_{1}S}x\right)_{i}-\left(e^{-t_{2}S}\xi\right)_{i}\right)^{2}\right)$$

Using this integral and again $|e^{tS}x| = |x|$ we are able to compute the latter integral in (4.22)

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \exp\left(-\left(4t_{1}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-1}\left|e^{t_{1}S}x-\tilde{\xi}\right|^{2}-\left(4t_{2}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-1}\left|\tilde{\xi}-e^{-t_{2}S}\xi\right|^{2}\right)d\tilde{\xi}$$

$$=\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\cdots\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{d}\left[-\left(4t_{1}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-1}\left((e^{t_{1}S}x)_{i}-\tilde{\xi}_{i}\right)^{2}\right.\right.\right.\right.$$

$$\left.-\left(4t_{2}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-1}\left(\tilde{\xi}_{i}-\left(e^{-t_{2}S}\xi\right)_{i}\right)^{2}\right]\right)d\tilde{\xi}_{1}\cdots d\tilde{\xi}_{d}$$

$$=\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\cdots\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\prod_{i=1}^{d}\exp\left(-\left(4t_{1}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-1}\left((e^{t_{1}S}x)_{i}-\tilde{\xi}_{i}\right)^{2}\right.\right.$$

$$\left.-\left(4t_{2}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-1}\left(\tilde{\xi}_{i}-\left(e^{-t_{2}S}\xi\right)_{i}\right)^{2}\right)d\tilde{\xi}_{1}\cdots d\tilde{\xi}_{d}$$

$$= \prod_{i=1}^{d} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\left(4t_{1}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-1} \left(\left(e^{t_{1}S}x\right)_{i} - \tilde{\xi}_{i}\right)^{2} - \left(4t_{2}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-1} \left(\tilde{\xi}_{i} - \left(e^{-t_{2}S}\xi\right)_{i}\right)^{2}\right) d\tilde{\xi}_{i}$$

$$= \left(4\pi t_{1}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}} \left(4\pi t_{2}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}} \left(4\pi \left(t_{1} + t_{2}\right)\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-\frac{d}{2}}$$

$$\cdot \exp\left(-\left(4\left(t_{1} + t_{2}\right)\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-1}\sum_{i=1}^{d} \left(\left(e^{t_{1}S}x\right)_{i} - \left(e^{-t_{2}S}\xi\right)_{i}\right)^{2}\right)$$

$$= \left(4\pi t_{1}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}} \left(4\pi t_{2}\Lambda_{A}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}} \left(4\pi \left(t_{1} + t_{2}\right)\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-\frac{d}{2}}$$

$$\cdot \exp\left(-\left(4\left(t_{1} + t_{2}\right)\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-1} \left|e^{(t_{1} + t_{2})S}x - \xi\right|^{2}\right)$$

Using this in (4.22) we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \tilde{H}(x,\tilde{\xi},t_1)\tilde{H}(\tilde{\xi},\xi,t_2)d\tilde{\xi}$$

= $(4\pi (t_1+t_2)\Lambda_A)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp(-\Lambda_B(t_1+t_2)) \exp\left(-(4(t_1+t_2)\Lambda_A)^{-1} |e^{(t_1+t_2)S}x-\xi|^2\right)$
= $\tilde{H}(x,\xi,t_1+t_2) \quad \forall x,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d, \,\forall t_1,t_2 > 0.$

Let us now consider the general case: Since $H(x,\xi,t) = Y\tilde{H}(x,\xi,t)Y^{-1}$ with Y from $(A8_B)$ we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H(x,\tilde{\xi},t_1)H(\tilde{\xi},\xi,t_2)d\tilde{\xi} \\ =& Y \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \tilde{H}(x,\tilde{\xi},t_1)\tilde{H}(\tilde{\xi},\xi,t_2)d\tilde{\xi}Y^{-1} \\ =& Y\tilde{H}(x,\xi,t_1+t_2)Y^{-1} = H(x,\xi,t_1+t_2) \quad \forall \, x,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d, \,\forall \, t_1,t_2 > 0. \end{split}$$

The first two partial derivatives of H with respect to x are given by

$$D_{i}H(x,\xi,t) = -(2tA)^{-1} \left\langle e^{tS}x - \xi, e^{tS}e_{i} \right\rangle H(x,\xi,t),$$

$$D_{j}D_{i}H(x,\xi,t) = \left(-(2tA)^{-1} \delta_{ij} + (2tA)^{-2} \left\langle e^{tS}x - \xi, e^{tS}e_{i} \right\rangle \left\langle e^{tS}x - \xi, e^{tS}e_{j} \right\rangle \right)$$

$$\cdot H(x,\xi,t)$$

for i, j = 1, ..., d, where we used (A8_B) once more. Let us define the kernels

(4.23)
$$\tilde{K}(\psi,t) := (4\pi t \Lambda_A)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-\Lambda_B t - (4t\Lambda_A)^{-1} |\psi|^2\right),$$

(4.24)
$$K(\psi, t) := H(x, e^{tS}x - \psi, t) = Y\tilde{K}(\psi, t)Y^{-1}$$

$$= (4\pi tA)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-Bt - (4tA)^{-1} |\psi|^2\right),$$

(4.25) $\tilde{K}^{i}(\psi,t) := -\left(2t\Lambda_{A}\right)^{-1} \left\langle \psi, e^{tS}e_{i} \right\rangle \tilde{K}(\psi,t),$

(4.26)
$$K^{i}(\psi, t) := [D_{i}H(x, \xi, t)]_{\xi = e^{tS}x - \psi} = Y\tilde{K}^{i}(\psi, t)Y^{-1}$$
$$= -(2tA)^{-1} \langle \psi, e^{tS}e_{i} \rangle K(\psi, t),$$

(4.27)
$$\tilde{K}^{ji}(\psi,t) := \left(\left(2t\Lambda_A \right)^{-2} \left\langle \psi, e^{tS} e_i \right\rangle \left\langle \psi, e^{tS} e_j \right\rangle - \left(2t\Lambda_A \right)^{-1} \delta_{ij} \right) \tilde{K}(\psi,t),$$

(4.28)
$$K^{ji}(\psi, t) := [D_j D_i H(x, \xi, t)]_{\xi = e^{tS} x - \psi} = Y \tilde{K}^{ji}(\psi, t) Y^{-1}$$
$$= \left((2tA)^{-2} \langle \psi, e^{tS} e_i \rangle \langle \psi, e^{tS} e_j \rangle - (2tA)^{-1} \delta_{ij} \right) K(\psi, t).$$

To prove boundedness of the associated semigroup in exponentially weighted function spaces, that we will both perform in the next chapter, we need some upper bounds of the exponentially weighted integrals over the kernels K, K^i and K^{ji} .

Lemma 4.6. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) be satisfied for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, $p, \eta \in \mathbb{R}$ and let K, K^i , K^{ji} be given by (4.24), (4.26), (4.28) for every $i, j = 1, \ldots, d$, then

(1)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{\eta p |\psi|} |K(\psi, t)|_{2} d\psi \leq C_{1}(t) , t > 0,$$

(2)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{\eta p |\psi|} |K^{i}(\psi, t)|_{2} d\psi \leq C_{2}(t) , t > 0,$$

(3)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{\eta p |\psi|} |K^{ji}(\psi, t)|_{2} d\psi \leq C_{3}(t) , t > 0,$$

where $\left|\cdot\right|_{2}$ denotes the spectral norm and the functions are given by

$$\begin{split} C_{1}(t) &= M^{\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_{0}t} \bigg[{}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{d}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) + 2\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\kappa t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{d+1}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) \bigg], \\ C_{2}(t) &= M^{\frac{d+1}{2}} e^{-b_{0}t} \left(ta_{\min}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \bigg[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{d+1}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) \\ &+ 2\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\kappa t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{d+2}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) \bigg], \\ C_{3}(t) &= M^{\frac{d+2}{2}} e^{-b_{0}t} \left(ta_{\min}\right)^{-1} \bigg[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{d+2}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) \\ &+ 2\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\kappa t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{d+3}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) + \frac{\delta_{ij}}{2} M^{-1} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{d}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) \\ &+ \delta_{ij} M^{-1} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\kappa t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{d+1}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) \bigg], \end{split}$$

with $M := \frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min}a_0} \ge 1$ and $\kappa := \frac{a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2}{a_0} \ge 0$. Note that $C_{1+|\beta|}(t) \sim t^{\frac{d-1}{2}} e^{-(b_0 - \kappa)t}$ as $t \to \infty$ and $C_{1+|\beta|}(t) \sim t^{-\frac{|\beta|}{2}}$ as $t \to 0$ for every $|\beta| = 0, 1, 2$.

Remark. The function ${}_{1}F_{1}(a;b;z)$ denotes the Kummer confluent hypergeometric function M(a,b,z) and satisfies the formula

(4.29)
$$\int_0^\infty s^n e^{-s^2 + rs} ds = \frac{1}{2} \Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right) {}_1F_1\left(\frac{n+1}{2}; \frac{1}{2}; \frac{r^2}{4}\right) + \frac{B}{2} \Gamma\left(\frac{n}{2} + 1\right) {}_1F_1\left(\frac{n}{2} + 1; \frac{3}{2}; \frac{r^2}{4}\right)$$

for $r \in \mathbb{R}$ with $r \ge 0$ and $n \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} n > -1$, see [2], that we need to prove Lemma 4.6. Moreover, in Lemma 4.8 we will need the connection formula

(4.30)
$${}_{1}F_{1}(a;b;x) = e^{x}{}_{1}F_{1}(b-a;b;-x)$$

for $a, b, x \in \mathbb{C}$ with $b \neq 0, -1, -2, \dots$ (see [81] 13.2.39) and the integral

(4.31)
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} t^{\alpha-1} e^{-ct} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(a;b;-t\right) dt = c^{-\alpha} \Gamma\left(\alpha\right) {}_{2}F_{1}\left(a,\alpha;b;-\frac{1}{c}\right)$$

for $a, b, c, \alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ with $b \neq 0, -1, -2, \ldots$, $\operatorname{Re} \alpha > 0$ and $\operatorname{Re} c > 0$ (see [81] 16.5.3) where $_2F_1(a_1, a_2; b_1; z)$ denotes the generalized hypergeometric function. To verify the asymptotic behavior of the function $_1F_1(a, b, z)$ at infinity we need the limiting form

(4.32)
$${}_1F_1(a,b,z) \sim \frac{\Gamma(b)}{\Gamma(a)} z^{a-b} e^z, \text{ as } z \to \infty, |\arg z| < \frac{\pi}{2}$$

for $z \in \mathbb{C}$ and $a, b \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0, -1, -2, \ldots\}$ (see [81] 13.2.4 and 13.2.23). Observe that $_1F_1(a; b; 0) = 1$ and $_2F_1(a_1, a_2; b_1; 0) = 1$ which induce a simplification of the constants in Lemma 4.6 in case of $\eta = 0$.

Proof. First note that by $(A8_B)$, (4.24), (4.26), (4.28) it hold

(4.33)
$$|K^{\beta}(\psi,t)|_{2} = |Y\tilde{K}^{\beta}(\psi,t)Y^{-1}|_{2} = |\tilde{K}^{\beta}(\psi,t)|_{2} = \max_{k=1,\dots,N} |\tilde{K}^{\beta}_{kk}(\psi,t)|,$$

for every multi-index $\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$ with $|\beta| \leq 2$. Note that $\tilde{K}^{\beta}(\psi, t) \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$ is diagonal. (1): Using (4.23) a simple computation shows that

(4.34)
$$\max_{k=1,\dots,N} \left| \tilde{K}_{kk}(\psi,t) \right| \leq (4\pi t a_{\min})^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_0 t - \frac{a_0}{4t a_{\max}^2} |\psi|^2}$$

for every $\psi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and t > 0. From (4.33) with $|\beta| = 0$, (4.34), the transformation theorem (with transformations for *d*-dimensional polar coordinates and $\Phi(r) = \left(\frac{a_0}{4ta_{\max}^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}r$) and formula (4.29) (since (A2) is satisfied) we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{\eta p |\psi|} |K(\psi, t)|_2 \, d\psi \\ \leqslant &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{\eta p |\psi|} \left(4\pi t a_{\min}\right)^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_0 t - \frac{a_0}{4t a_{\max}^2} |\psi|^2} d\psi \\ &= \left(4\pi t a_{\min}\right)^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_0 t} \frac{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \int_0^\infty r^{d-1} e^{-\frac{a_0}{4t a_{\max}^2} r^2 + \eta p r} dr \\ &= \left(\frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min} a_0}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_0 t} \frac{2}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \int_0^\infty s^{d-1} e^{-s^2 + \left(\frac{4a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2 t}{a_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} s} ds = C_1(t). \end{split}$$

(2): Using (4.25) for every $i = 1, ..., d, \psi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and t > 0 we obtain

(4.35)
$$\max_{k=1,\dots,N} \left| \tilde{K}_{kk}^{i}(\psi,t) \right| \leq \left(2ta_{\min} \right)^{-1} \left| \left\langle \psi, e^{tS} e_{i} \right\rangle \right| \max_{k=1,\dots,N} \left| \tilde{K}_{kk}(\psi,t) \right|$$

From (4.33) with $|\beta| = 1$, (4.35) with (4.34), Cauchy-Schwarz inequality with assumption (A5) $(|\langle \psi, e^{tS}e_i \rangle| \leq |\psi||e^{tS}e_i| = |\psi|)$, the transformation theorem (with transformations from (1)) and formula (4.29) we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{\eta p |\psi|} \left| K^{i}(\psi, t) \right|_{2} d\psi \\ &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{\eta p |\psi|} \left(2ta_{\min} \right)^{-1} \left| \left\langle \psi, e^{tS} e_{i} \right\rangle \right| \max_{k=1,\dots,N} \left| \tilde{K}_{kk}(\psi, t) \right| d\psi \\ &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{\eta p |\psi|} (2ta_{\min})^{-1} |\psi| \left(4\pi ta_{\min} \right)^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_{0}t - \frac{a_{0}}{4ta_{\max}^{2}} |\psi|^{2}} d\psi \\ &= (2ta_{\min})^{-1} (4\pi ta_{\min})^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_{0}t} \frac{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \int_{0}^{\infty} r^{d} e^{-\frac{a_{0}}{4ta_{\max}^{2}} r^{2} + \eta p r} dr \\ &= \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2}}{a_{\min}a_{0}} \right)^{\frac{d+1}{2}} e^{-b_{0}t} \frac{2}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(ta_{\min} \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} s^{d} e^{-s^{2} + \left(\frac{4a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2} t}{a_{0}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} s} ds = C_{2}(t). \end{split}$$

(3): Using (4.27), the triangle inequality and Cauchy-Schwarz inequality with assumption (A5) (see (2)) yield for every $i, j = 1, ..., d, \psi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and t > 0

(4.36)
$$\max_{k=1,\dots,N} \left| \tilde{K}_{kk}^{ji}(\psi,t) \right| \leq \left((2ta_{\min})^{-2} |\psi|^2 + (2ta_{\min})^{-1} \delta_{ij} \right) \max_{k=1,\dots,N} \left| \tilde{K}_{kk}(\psi,t) \right|.$$

From (4.33) with $|\beta| = 2$, (4.36) with (4.34), the transformation theorem (with transformations from (1)) and formula (4.29) we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{\eta p |\psi|} \left| K^{ji}(\psi, t) \right|_2 d\psi \\ \leqslant &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{\eta p |\psi|} \left((2ta_{\min})^{-2} |\psi|^2 + (2ta_{\min})^{-1} \delta_{ij} \right) \max_{k=1,\dots,N} \left| \tilde{K}_{kk}(\psi, t) \right| d\psi \\ \leqslant &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{\eta p |\psi|} \left((2ta_{\min})^{-2} |\psi|^2 + (2ta_{\min})^{-1} \delta_{ij} \right) (4\pi t a_{\min})^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_0 t - \frac{a_0}{4ta_{\max}^2} |\psi|} d\psi \\ = &(4\pi t a_{\min})^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_0 t} \frac{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \int_0^\infty \left((2ta_{\min})^{-2} r^2 + (2ta_{\min})^{-1} \delta_{ij} \right) r^{d-1} e^{-\frac{a_0}{4ta_{\max}^2} r^2 + \eta p r} dr \\ = &\left(\frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min} a_0} \right)^{\frac{d+2}{2}} e^{-b_0 t} \frac{2}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} (ta_{\min})^{-1} \int_0^\infty s^{d+1} e^{-s^2 + \left(\frac{4a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2 t}{a_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} s} ds \\ &+ \delta_{ij} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min} a_0} \right)^{\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_0 t} \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} (ta_{\min})^{-1} \int_0^\infty s^{d-1} e^{-s^2 + \left(\frac{4a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2 t}{a_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} s} ds = C_3(t). \end{split}$$

To show that the Schwartz space is a core for the infinitesimal generator of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup we need the following lemma.

Lemma 4.7. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A8_B) be satisfied for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ and let K be given by (4.24), then for every $i, j = 1, \ldots, d$ and t > 0 we have

(1)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi, t) d\psi = e^{-Bt},$$

(2)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi, t) \psi_i d\psi = 0,$$

(3)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi, t) \psi_i \psi_j d\psi = \begin{cases} 2te^{-Bt}A & , i = j\\ 0 & , i \neq j \end{cases}.$$

Remark. Throughout this proof we will use *d*-dimensional polar coordinates: Let $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $\Omega :=]0, \infty[\times[0, 2\pi[\times[0, \pi]^d \text{ and } (r, \phi, \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{d-2}) \in \Omega]$, then we define

(4.37)
$$\begin{aligned} x_1 = \Phi_1(r, \phi, \theta_1, \dots, \theta_{d-2}) &:= r \cos \phi \prod_{k=1}^{d-2} \sin \theta_k, \\ x_2 = \Phi_2(r, \phi, \theta_1, \dots, \theta_{d-2}) &:= r \sin \phi \prod_{k=1}^{d-2} \sin \theta_k, \\ x_i = \Phi_i(r, \phi, \theta_1, \dots, \theta_{d-2}) &:= r \cos \theta_{i-2} \prod_{k=i-1}^{d-2} \sin \theta_k, \quad 3 \leq i \leq d. \end{aligned}$$

The transformation $\Phi: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^d$ is a C^{∞} -diffeomorphism, [8, X.8.8 Lemma], satisfying $\Phi(\overline{\Omega}) = \mathbb{R}^d$ and

$$\det D\Phi(r,\phi,\theta_1,\ldots,\theta_{d-2}) = (-1)^d r^{d-1} \prod_{k=1}^{d-2} (\sin\theta_k)^k.$$

Proof. First note that (A2), (A8_B) and componentwise integration yields for every n > -1

(4.38)
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} r^{n} e^{-(4tA)^{-1}r^{2}} dr = \int_{0}^{\infty} r^{n} e^{-Y(4t\Lambda_{A})^{-1}Y^{-1}r^{2}} dr$$
$$= Y \int_{0}^{\infty} r^{n} e^{-(4t\Lambda_{A})^{-1}r^{2}} dr Y^{-1} = \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right)}{2} Y(4t\Lambda_{A})^{\frac{n+1}{2}} Y^{-1}$$
$$= \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right)}{2} (4tA)^{\frac{n+1}{2}}.$$

(1): From (4.24), (4.38) (with n = d - 1), the transformation theorem (with *d*-dimensional polar coordinates) and (A8_B) we directly obtain for t > 0

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi, t) d\psi = (4\pi tA)^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-Bt} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-(4tA)^{-1}|\psi|^2} d\psi$$
$$= (4\pi tA)^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-Bt} \frac{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \int_0^\infty r^{d-1} e^{-(4tA)^{-1}r^2} dr$$

$$= (4\pi tA)^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-Bt} \frac{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}{2} (4tA)^{\frac{d}{2}} = e^{-Bt}.$$

(2): Now we must use *d*-dimensional polar coordinates. From the transformation theorem we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{-(4tA)^{-1}|\psi|^{2}} \psi_{i} d\psi \\ = &\int_{\Omega} e^{-(4tA)^{-1}r^{2}} \cdot \left\{ \begin{array}{c} r\cos\phi \prod_{k=1}^{d-2}\sin\theta_{k} &, i=1\\ r\sin\phi \prod_{k=1}^{d-2}\sin\theta_{k} &, i=2\\ r\cos\theta_{i-2} \prod_{k=i-1}^{d-2}\sin\theta_{k} &, 3\leqslant i\leqslant d-2 \end{array} \right\} \\ &\cdot |\det D\Phi(r,\phi,\theta_{1},\ldots,\theta_{d-2})| \, dr d\phi d\theta_{1}\cdots d\theta_{d-2} \\ = &\int_{\Omega} e^{-(4tA)^{-1}r^{2}} \cdot \left\{ \begin{array}{c} r\cos\phi \prod_{k=1}^{d-2}\sin\theta_{k} &, i=1\\ r\sin\phi \prod_{k=1}^{d-2}\sin\theta_{k} &, i=2\\ r\cos\theta_{i-2} \prod_{k=i-1}^{d-2}\sin\theta_{k} &, 3\leqslant i\leqslant d-2 \end{array} \right\} \\ &\cdot r^{d-1} \prod_{k=1}^{d-2} |\sin\theta_{k}|^{k} \, dr d\phi d\theta_{1}\cdots d\theta_{d-2} \\ = &\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} r^{d} e^{-(4tA)^{-1}r^{2}} dr \right) \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\pi} \cdots \int_{0}^{\pi} \\ &\left\{ \begin{array}{c} \cos\phi \prod_{k=1}^{d-2}\sin\theta_{k} \prod_{k=1}^{d-2} |\sin\theta_{k}|^{k} &, i=1\\ \sin\phi \prod_{k=1}^{d-2}\sin\theta_{k} \prod_{k=1}^{d-2} |\sin\theta_{k}|^{k} &, i=2\\ \sin\phi \prod_{k=1}^{d-2}\sin\theta_{k} \prod_{k=1}^{d-2} |\sin\theta_{k}|^{k} &, i=2\\ \cos\theta_{i-2} \prod_{k=i-1}^{d-2}\sin\theta_{k} \prod_{k=1}^{d-2} |\sin\theta_{k}|^{k} &, 3\leqslant i\leqslant d-2 \end{array} \right\} d\phi d\theta_{1}\cdots d\theta_{d-2} \end{split}$$

In case of i = 1 and i = 2 the ϕ -integrals vanishes and in case of $3 \leq i \leq d - 2$ the θ_{i-2} -integral vanishes, since using for example

$$\left(\sin a\right)^{n} = \frac{1}{2^{n}} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \cos\left(\left(n-2k\right)\left(a-\frac{\pi}{2}\right)\right), \ n \in \mathbb{N},$$

we obtain

(4.39)
$$\int_0^{\pi} \cos \theta_{i-2} \left| \sin \theta_{i-2} \right|^{i-2} d\theta_{i-2} = \int_0^{\pi} \cos \theta_{i-2} \left(\sin \theta_{i-2} \right)^{i-2} d\theta_{i-2} = 0.$$

Hence, we have for every $i = 1, \ldots, d$ and t > 0

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi, t) \psi_i d\psi = (4\pi t A)^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-Bt} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-(4tA)^{-1}|\psi|^2} \psi_i d\psi = 0.$$

(3): Finally, let us use d-dimensional polar coordinates once more. Similar to (2) from the transformation theorem we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-(4tA)^{-1}|\psi|^2} \psi_i \psi_j d\psi$$
$$= \left(\int_0^\infty r^{d+1} e^{-(4tA)^{-1}r^2} dr\right) \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^\pi \cdots \int_0^\pi$$

$$\begin{cases} \cos \phi \prod_{k=1}^{d-2} \sin \theta_k &, i = 1\\ \sin \phi \prod_{k=1}^{d-2} \sin \theta_k &, i = 2\\ \cos \theta_{i-2} \prod_{k=i-1}^{d-2} \sin \theta_k &, 3 \leqslant i \leqslant d-2 \end{cases} \prod_{k=1}^{d-2} |\sin \theta_k|^k \\ \begin{cases} \cos \phi \prod_{k=1}^{d-2} \sin \theta_k &, j = 1\\ \sin \phi \prod_{k=1}^{d-2} \sin \theta_k &, j = 2\\ \cos \theta_{j-2} \prod_{k=j-1}^{d-2} \sin \theta_k &, 3 \leqslant j \leqslant d-2 \end{cases} d\phi d\theta_1 \cdots d\theta_{d-2} \\ = \begin{cases} \frac{\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}{2} (4tA)^{\frac{d}{2}+1} &, i = j\\ 0 &, i \neq j \end{cases}$$

Accept the last equality, we first deduce from (4.38) with n = d + 1

(4.40)
$$\int_0^\infty r^{d+1} e^{-(4tA)^{-1}r^2} dr = \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{2} (4tA)^{\frac{d}{2}+1}.$$

Moreover, for $\operatorname{Re} l > -1$, $a, b \in \mathbb{N}_0$ with $a \leq b$ it holds

(4.41)
$$\prod_{l=a}^{b} \int_{0}^{\pi} \left(\sin\theta\right)^{l} d\theta = \prod_{l=a}^{b} \pi^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{l+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{l+2}{2}\right)} = \pi^{\frac{b-a+1}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{a+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{b+2}{2}\right)}.$$

Let is first consider the cases i = j = 1 and i = j = 2. Here we must use

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} (\cos \phi)^2 \, d\phi = \pi, \quad \int_{0}^{2\pi} (\sin \phi)^2 \, d\phi = \pi$$

and (4.41) with a = 3 and b = d

$$\prod_{k=1}^{d-2} \int_0^\pi (\sin \theta_k)^2 |\sin \theta_k|^k \, d\theta_k = \prod_{k=1}^{d-2} \int_0^\pi (\sin \theta)^{k+2} \, d\theta = \prod_{l=3}^d \int_0^\pi (\sin \theta)^l \, d\theta$$
$$= \pi^{\frac{d}{2}-1} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{4}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)} = \frac{\pi^{\frac{d}{2}-1}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}.$$

Now, let us consider the case $3 \le i = j \le d$. Here we can deduce from (4.41) (with a = 1 and b = i - 3, a = b = i - 2, a = b = i as well as a = i + 1 and b = d)

$$\begin{split} \prod_{k=1}^{i-3} \int_0^\pi |\sin\theta_k|^k \, d\theta_k &= \prod_{k=1}^{i-3} \int_0^\pi (\sin\theta)^k \, d\theta = \pi^{\frac{i-3}{2}} \frac{\Gamma(1)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{i-1}{2}\right)} = \frac{\pi^{\frac{i-3}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{i-1}{2}\right)}, \\ \int_0^\pi (\cos\theta_{i-2})^2 |\sin\theta_{i-2}|^{i-2} \, d\theta_{i-2} &= \int_0^\pi \left(1 - (\sin\theta_{i-2})^2\right) (\sin\theta_{i-2})^{i-2} \, d\theta_{i-2} \\ &= \int_0^\pi (\sin\theta)^{i-2} \, d\theta - \int_0^\pi (\sin\theta)^i \, d\theta = \pi^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{i-1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{i}{2}\right)} - \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{i+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{i+2}{2}\right)}\right), \\ \prod_{k=i-1}^{d-2} \int_0^\pi (\sin\theta_k)^2 |\sin\theta_k|^k \, d\theta_k = \prod_{k=i-1}^{d-2} \int_0^\pi (\sin\theta)^{k+2} \, d\theta \\ &= \prod_{l=i+1}^d \int_0^\pi (\sin\theta)^l \, d\theta = \pi^{\frac{d-i}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{i+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}, \end{split}$$

$$\int_0^{2\pi} 1d\phi = 2\pi.$$

Multiplying these four terms with (4.40) and using $\Gamma(x+1) = x\Gamma(x)$ we obtain $\frac{\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}{2}(4tA)^{\frac{d}{2}+1}$. Next, we consider the cases $3 \leq i < j \leq d$ and $3 \leq j < i \leq d$. Let w.l.o.g. i < j, then the term from (4.39) vanishes. For all the other cases exactly one term vanishes, namely

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{2\pi} \sin \phi \cos \phi d\phi = 0, & \text{if } (i = 1, j = 2) \text{ or } (i = 2, j = 1), \\ &\int_{0}^{2\pi} \cos \phi d\phi = 0, & \text{if } (i = 1, 3 \leqslant j \leqslant d) \text{ or } (3 \leqslant i \leqslant d, j = 1), \\ &\int_{0}^{2\pi} \sin \phi d\phi = 0, & \text{if } (i = 2, 3 \leqslant j \leqslant d) \text{ or } (3 \leqslant i \leqslant d, j = 2). \end{split}$$

4.3 Some useful integrals

Using the notation from Section 1.2 and assuming (A2) we define

$$\begin{split} C_4(t) = & C_{\theta} M^{\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_0 t} \left[{}_1F_1\left(\frac{d}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) + 2\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\kappa t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{d+1}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ C_5(t) = & C_{\theta} M^{\frac{d+1}{2}} e^{-b_0 t} \left(ta_{\min}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{d+1}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) \right] \\ & + 2\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\kappa t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{d+2}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}}, \\ C_6(t) = & C_{\theta} M^{\frac{d+2}{2}} e^{-b_0 t} \left(ta_{\min}\right)^{-1} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{d+2}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) \right] \\ & + 2\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\kappa t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{d+3}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) + \frac{\delta_{ij}}{2} M^{-1} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{d}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) \\ & + \delta_{ij} M^{-1} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\kappa t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{d+1}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}}, \end{split}$$

with $M := \frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min}a_0} \ge 1$, $\kappa := \frac{a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2}{a_0} \ge 0$, $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $\eta \ge 0$. In case of $p = \infty$ the constants are given by $C_{4+|\beta|}(t)$ with p = 1 for every $|\beta| = 0, 1, 2$. Moreover, in case of p = 1 it holds $C_{4+|\beta|}(t) = C_{\theta}C_{1+|\beta|}(t)$.

In order to show that the solutions of the steady state problem for the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator decay exponentially, see Theorem 5.8, we need the following lemma. The upper bound for η^2 can be considered as the maximal decay rate. **Lemma 4.8.** Let the assumption (A2) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Moreover, let $0 < \vartheta < 1$, $\tilde{\omega} \in \mathbb{R}$, $\omega := \tilde{\omega} - b_0$, $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega$ and $0 \leq \eta^2 \leq \vartheta \frac{a_0(\operatorname{Re} \lambda - \omega)}{a_{\max}^2 p^2}$, then we have

(1)
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} C_{4}(t) dt \leqslant \frac{C_{7}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda - \omega},$$

(2)
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} C_{5}(t) dt \leqslant \frac{C_{8}}{(\operatorname{Re}\lambda - \omega)^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$

with $M := \frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min}a_0} \ge 1$ and

$$C_{7} = C_{\theta} M^{\frac{d}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{1-\vartheta} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left({}_{2}F_{1} \left(-\frac{d-1}{2}, 1; \frac{1}{2}; -\frac{\vartheta}{1-\vartheta} \right) \right) \\ + \pi^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{\vartheta}{1-\vartheta} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_{2}F_{1} \left(-\frac{d-2}{2}, \frac{3}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; -\frac{\vartheta}{1-\vartheta} \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}, \\ C_{8} = C_{\theta} M^{\frac{d+1}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}{a_{\min}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left(\frac{1}{1-\vartheta} \right)^{\frac{1}{2p}} \left(\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} {}_{2}F_{1} \left(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{1}{2}; \frac{1}{2}; -\frac{\vartheta}{1-\vartheta} \right) \right) \\ + 2 \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)} \Gamma\left(\frac{\vartheta}{2}\right) \left(\frac{\vartheta}{1-\vartheta} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_{2}F_{1} \left(-\frac{d-1}{2}, 1; \frac{3}{2}; -\frac{\vartheta}{1-\vartheta} \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Proof. (1): From $c_0 := \operatorname{Re} \lambda - \omega$, Hölder's inequality (with $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$ and $1 \leq p < \infty$), the transformation theorem (with transformation $\Phi(t) = \frac{a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2 t}{a_0}$), formula (4.30) (with $a = \frac{d}{2}$, $b = \frac{1}{2}$, x = s and $a = \frac{d+1}{2}$, $b = \frac{3}{2}$, x = s) and formula (4.31) (with $\alpha = 1$, $c = \frac{a_{0}c_0 - a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2}{a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2}$, $a = -\frac{d-1}{2}$, $b = \frac{1}{2}$ and $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$, $c = \frac{a_{0}c_0 - a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2}{a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2}$, $a = -\frac{d-1}{2}$, $b = \frac{1}{2}$ and $\eta^2 < \frac{a_{0}c_0}{a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2}$ we have $\operatorname{Re} c > 0$) we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} C_{4}(t) dt \\ = &\int_{0}^{\infty} C_{\theta} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2}}{a_{\min}a_{0}} \right)^{\frac{d}{2}} e^{-c_{0}t} \bigg[{}_{1}F_{1} \left(\frac{d}{2}; \frac{1}{2}; \frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}t}{a_{0}} \right) \\ &+ 2 \frac{\Gamma \left(\frac{d+1}{2} \right)}{\Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2} \right)} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}t}{a_{0}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_{1}F_{1} \left(\frac{d+1}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; \frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}t}{a_{0}} \right) \bigg]^{\frac{1}{p}} dt \\ \leqslant C_{\theta} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2}}{a_{\min}a_{0}} \right)^{\frac{d}{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-c_{0}t} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-c_{0}t} {}_{1}F_{1} \left(\frac{d}{2}; \frac{1}{2}; \frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}t}{a_{0}} \right) dt \\ &+ 2 \frac{\Gamma \left(\frac{d+1}{2} \right)}{\Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2} \right)} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}t}{a_{0}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-c_{0}t} {}_{1}F_{1} \left(\frac{d+1}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; \frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}t}{a_{0}} \right) dt \bigg)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ = & C_{\theta} M^{\frac{d}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{c_{0}} \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \left(\left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}}{a_{0}} \right)^{-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{a_{0}c_{0}}{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}}} {}_{1}F_{1} \left(\frac{d+1}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; s \right) ds \\ &+ 2 \frac{\Gamma \left(\frac{d+1}{2} \right)}{\Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2} \right)} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}}{a_{0}} \right)^{-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} s^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-\frac{a_{0}c_{0}}{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}}} {}_{1}F_{1} \left(\frac{d+1}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; s \right) ds \bigg)^{\frac{1}{p}} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &= C_{\theta} M^{\frac{d}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{c_{0}} \right) \left(\left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}{a_{0} c_{0}} \right)^{-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\left(\frac{a_{0} c_{0}}{a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}} - 1 \right)^{s}} {}_{1} F_{1} \left(-\frac{d-1}{2}; \frac{1}{2}; -s \right) ds \\ &+ 2 \frac{\Gamma \left(\frac{d+1}{2} \right)}{\Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2} \right)} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}{a_{0} c_{0}} \right)^{-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} s^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-\left(\frac{a_{0} c_{0}}{a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}} - 1 \right)^{s}} {}_{1} F_{1} \left(-\frac{d-2}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; -s \right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= C_{\theta} M^{\frac{d}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{c_{0}} \right) \left(\frac{a_{0} c_{0}}{a_{0} c_{0} - a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left({}_{2} F_{1} \left(-\frac{d-1}{2}, 1; \frac{1}{2}; -\frac{a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}{a_{0} c_{0} - a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}} \right) \\ &+ \pi^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\Gamma \left(\frac{d+1}{2} \right)}{\Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2} \right)} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}{a_{0} c_{0} - a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_{2} F_{1} \left(-\frac{d-2}{2}, \frac{3}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; -\frac{a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}{a_{0} c_{0} - a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}} \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}. \end{split}$$

Finally, to obtain C_7 we must use that $_2F_1$ is strictly monotonically decreasing in $] - \infty, 0]$ as well as the inequalities

(4.42)
$$\frac{a_0 c_0}{a_0 c_0 - a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2} \leqslant \frac{1}{1 - \vartheta} \text{ and } \frac{a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2}{a_0 c_0 - a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2} \leqslant \frac{\vartheta}{1 - \vartheta}$$

(2): From $c_0 := \operatorname{Re} \lambda - \omega$, Hölder's inequality (with $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$ and $1 \leq p < \infty$), the transformation theorem (with transformation $\Phi(t) = \frac{a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2 t}{a_0}$), formula (4.30) (with $a = \frac{d+1}{2}$, $b = \frac{1}{2}$, x = s and $a = \frac{d+2}{2}$, $b = \frac{3}{2}$, x = s) and formula (4.31) (with $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$, $c = \frac{a_0c_0 - a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2}{a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2}$, $a = -\frac{d}{2}$, $b = \frac{1}{2}$ and $\alpha = 1$, $c = \frac{a_0c_0 - a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2}{a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2}$, $a = -\frac{d-1}{2}$, $b = \frac{3}{2}$ – note that because of (A2), $c_0 > 0$ and $\eta^2 < \frac{a_0c_0}{a_{\max}^2 p^2}$ we have $\operatorname{Re} c > 0$) we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} C_{5}(t) dt \\ = &\int_{0}^{\infty} C_{\theta} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2}}{a_{\min}a_{0}} \right)^{\frac{d+1}{2}} e^{-c_{0}t} \left(ta_{\min} \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{d+1}{2}; \frac{1}{2}; \frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}t}{a_{0}} \right) \\ &+ 2 \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}t}{a_{0}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{d+2}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; \frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}t}{a_{0}} \right) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} dt \\ \leqslant C_{\theta} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2}}{a_{\min}a_{0}} \right)^{\frac{d+1}{2}} a_{\min}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} t^{-\frac{1}{2}} e^{-c_{0}t} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\cdot \left(\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{-\frac{1}{2}} e^{-c_{0}t} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{d+1}{2}; \frac{1}{2}; \frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}t}{a_{0}} \right) dt \\ &+ 2 \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}}{a_{0}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-c_{0}t} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{d+2}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; \frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}t}{a_{0}} \right) dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ = C_{\theta} M^{\frac{d+1}{2}} \left(\left(\frac{1}{c_{0}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} a_{\min}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\cdot \left(\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}}{a_{0}} \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{a_{0}c_{0}}{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}}} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{d+1}{2}; \frac{1}{2}; s\right) ds \\ &+ 2 \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}}{a_{0}} \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{a_{0}c_{0}}{a_{\max}^{2}\eta^{2}p^{2}}} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(\frac{d+2}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; s\right) ds \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &= C_{\theta} M^{\frac{d+1}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{c_{0}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}{a_{\min}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \\ &\quad \cdot \left(\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}{a_{0} c_{0}}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} s^{-\frac{1}{2}} e^{-\left(\frac{a_{0} c_{0}}{a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}-1\right)s} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(-\frac{d}{2};\frac{1}{2};-s\right) ds \\ &\quad + 2 \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}{a_{0} c_{0}}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\left(\frac{a_{0} c_{0}}{a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}-1\right)s} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(-\frac{d-1}{2};\frac{3}{2};-s\right) ds\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= C_{\theta} M^{\frac{d+1}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{c_{0}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}{a_{\min}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left(\frac{a_{0} c_{0}}{a_{0} c_{0}-a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2p}} \\ &\quad \cdot \left(\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} {}_{2}F_{1}\left(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{1}{2};\frac{1}{2};-\frac{a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}{a_{0} c_{0}-a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}\right) \\ &\quad + 2 \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}{a_{0} c_{0}-a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_{2}F_{1}\left(-\frac{d-1}{2},1;\frac{3}{2};-\frac{a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}{a_{0} c_{0}-a_{\max}^{2} \eta^{2} p^{2}}\right)\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}. \end{split}$$

Finally, to obtain C_8 we use again that ${}_2F_1$ is strictly monotonically decreasing in $] - \infty, 0]$ and the inequalities (4.42).

5 The complex Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$

In this chapter we apply semigroup theory to the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{0}v\right](x) := A \triangle v(x) + \left\langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \right\rangle, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \ d \ge 2,$$

in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, where $v : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}^N$, $A \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$, $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ skew-symmetric and $N \in \mathbb{N}$.

In Section 5.1 we introduce the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ by the heat kernel of \mathcal{L}_0 as

$$[T_0(t)v](x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_0(x,\xi,t)v(\xi)d\xi, \, t > 0, \, x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Assuming (A1), (A2) and (A5) for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we show in Theorem 5.1–5.3 that $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is a strongly continuous semigroup in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$. Hence, we can define $A_p : \mathcal{D}(A_p) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, the infinitesimal generator of $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$. Assuming (A1), (A2) and (A5) for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we prove in Corollary 5.7 that the resolvent equation for A_p , which is

$$(\lambda I - A_p) v = g,$$

admits a unique solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ for every $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > 0$. This follows from some applications of abstract semigroup theory, [34, II.1].

In Section 5.2 we derive a-priori estimates for the resolvent equation for A_p in exponentially weighted L^p -spaces. Assuming (A1), (A2) and (A5) for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we prove in Theorem 5.8 that the solution v_{\star} belongs to $W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $g \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > 0$. In particular, we conclude that $\mathcal{D}(A_p) \subseteq W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$.

In Section 5.3–5.6 we analyze the relation between the abstract Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator A_p and the formal Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_0 and derive a precise characterization of the maximal domain $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$, which means that we solve the identification problem for the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for 1 . This approach comes originally from [71] and [73], where such a resultwas proved for the scalar real-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator. The procedureis structured as follows:

In Section 5.3, assuming (A1), (A2) and (A5) for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we prove in Theorem 5.10 that the Schwartz space $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is a core for the infinitesimal generator $(A_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$. The main idea of the proof comes from [71, Proposition 2.2 and 3.2] and partially from [34, II.2.13].

In Section 5.4 we consider the formal complex-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator $\mathcal{L}_0: \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ on its domain

$$\mathcal{D}_{\rm loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) := \left\{ v \in W_{\rm loc}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \mid \mathcal{L}_0 v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \right\}, \quad 1$$

Assuming (A3), (A4) and (A5) for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we prove in Theorem 5.13 that the resolvent equation for \mathcal{L}_0 , which is given by

$$(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_0) v = g,$$

admits a unique solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}_{loc}^{p}(\mathcal{L}_{0})$ for every $g \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > 0$. The main idea of the proof comes from [73, Theorem 2.2 and Remark 2.3] for the scalar real-valued case. But we refer also to [15, Theorem 3.1] for the special case d = 2 with $A \in \mathbb{R}^{N,N}$. In contrast to [73] and [15], our proof requires an additional L^{p} -dissipativity condition stating that for fixed $1 there exists some positive constant <math>\gamma_{A} > 0$ such that

(5.1)
$$|z|^2 \operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle + (p-2) \operatorname{Re} \langle w, z \rangle \operatorname{Re} \langle z, Aw \rangle \ge \gamma_A |z|^2 |w|^2 \,\forall z, w \in \mathbb{C}^N$$

This condition seems to be new in the literature and guarantees that the operator \mathcal{L}_0 is a dissipative operator in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

In Section 5.5 we derive a complete characterization of the L^p -dissipativity condition (5.1) in terms of the antieigenvalues of the diffusion matrix A. Assuming $A \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$ for $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$, we prove in Theorem 5.18 that (5.1) is satisfied if and only if

(5.2)
$$\mu_1(A) := \inf_{\substack{w \in \mathbb{K}^N \\ w \neq 0 \\ Aw \neq 0}} \frac{\operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle}{|w||Aw|} > \frac{|p-2|}{p}, \quad 1$$

for $N \ge 2$ (if $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$) and $N \ge 1$ (if $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$), where $\mu_1(A)$ denotes the first antieigenvalue of A, see [47]. The antieigenvalue condition (5.2) for the matrix Ais nothing but a p-dependent lower bound for the first antieigenvalue of A. In case of N = 1 and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$, condition (5.1) is equivalent to A > 0. The main idea of the proof is to apply the Lagrange multiplier method twice, first in the z component and afterwards in the w component. Concluding, for normal matrices A and for Hermitian positive-definite matrices A we specify well known explicit expressions for $\mu_1(A)$ in terms of the eigenvalues of A. These representations come originally from [49, Theorem 5.1] for normal matrices A and from [53, 7.4.P4] for Hermitian positive-definite matrices A.

In Section 5.6, assuming (A1)–(A5) for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we prove that the abstract and the formal Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator A_p and \mathcal{L}_0 , respectively, coincide on $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ and that the maximal domain $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ equals $\mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$. The main idea for the first part of the proof comes from [71, Proposition 2.2 and 3.2], where such a result was proved for the scalar real-valued case.

In Section 5.7–5.8 we derive a second characterization of the maximal domain $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$, which even contains second order derivatives. We stress that this additional characterization is not necessary to prove the main result from Theorem 1.8, but
later in Section 10.1 we will apply the result for equivariant evolution equations. The approach is based on the results from Section 5.3–5.6 and comes originally from [73]. The procedure is structured as follows:

In Section 5.7 we investigate abstract Cauchy problems

$$v_t(t) = A_p v(t) + f(t), \ t \in]0, T],$$

 $v(0) = v_0, \qquad t = 0,$

in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, $1 \leq p < \infty$, for the infinitesimal generator A_p . Recall that A_p coincides with \mathcal{L}_0 if we require the assumptions (A1)–(A5) for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Assuming (A1), (A2) and (A5) for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ and considering $v_0 \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and a time-independent inhomogeneity $f \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, we prove in Theorem 5.22 and Theorem 5.23 spatial L^p_{θ} -regularity results for the mild solution of the homogeneous and inhomogeneous Cauchy problem. Their proofs follow directly from Theorem 5.1. Assuming (A1)–(A5) for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we prove in Theorem 5.24 a time-space L^p -regularity result for the mild solution of the inhomogeneous problem. The main idea of the proof comes from [73, Theorem 3.4] for the scalar real-valued case and is based on an application of [67, Proposition 6.1.3] and [62, IV. Theorem 9.1].

In Section 5.8 we derive a further and even stronger characterization of the maximal domain $\mathcal{D}(A_p) = \mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$. Recall the decomposition $\mathcal{L}_0 v = \mathcal{L}_0^{\text{diff}} v + \mathcal{L}_0^{\text{drift}} v$ of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator into diffusion and drift term

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{0}^{\text{diff}}v\right](x) := A \triangle v(x), \qquad \left[\mathcal{L}_{0}^{\text{drift}}v\right](x) := \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle$$

with domains

$$\mathcal{D}_{\max}^{p}(\mathcal{L}_{0}^{\operatorname{diff}}) := W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N}),$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{\max}^{p}(\mathcal{L}_{0}^{\operatorname{drift}}) := \left\{ v \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N}) \mid \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N}) \right\}$$

for $1 , where <math>\langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle$ is meant in the sense of distributions. Assuming (A1)–(A5) for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we prove in Theorem 5.25 that the maximal domain $\mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator coincides with the intersection of the domains of its diffusion and drift part

$$\mathcal{D}_{\rm loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) = \mathcal{D}_{\rm max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) := \mathcal{D}_{\rm max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0^{\rm diff}) \cap \mathcal{D}_{\rm max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0^{\rm drift})$$

i.e. $\mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$ coincides with

$$\mathcal{D}_{\max}^{p}(\mathcal{L}_{0}) := \left\{ v \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N}) \mid \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N}) \right\}.$$

The main idea of this result comes from [73, Theorem 1] for the scalar real-valued case. Assuming (A1)–(A5) for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ and considering the norms

$$\begin{aligned} \|v\|_{A_p} &:= \|A_p v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} + \|v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} = \|\mathcal{L}_0 v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} + \|v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}, \\ \|v\|_{\mathcal{L}_0} &:= \|v\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} + \|\langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}, \end{aligned}$$

for $v \in \mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$, we prove in Corollary 5.26 that these norms are equivalent, i.e. there exist $C_1, C_2 \ge 1$ such that

$$C_1 \|v\|_{\mathcal{L}_0} \leqslant \|v\|_{A_p} \leqslant C_2 \|v\|_{\mathcal{L}_0} \quad \forall v \in \mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0).$$

Requiring the same assumptions, we prove in Corollary 5.27 that the unique solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}_{\max}^{p}(\mathcal{L}_{0})$ of the resolvent equation for \mathcal{L}_{0} with $g \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ satisfies

$$\|v_{\star}\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \leqslant C \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}, \quad \|\langle S\cdot,\nabla v_{\star}\rangle\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \leqslant C \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}.$$

For the sake of completeness note that, assuming (A1)–(A5) for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ of the form

$$\lambda = -\lambda(\omega) - i \sum_{l=1}^{k} n_l \sigma_l, \quad n_l \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad \omega \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \lambda(\omega) \in \sigma(\omega^2 A),$$

belongs to the essential spectrum $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ of \mathcal{L}_0 in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Hence, \mathcal{L}_0 is not sectorial in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $(T_0(t))_{t \ge 0}$ is not analytic on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, whenever $S \neq 0$. These results will be proved later in Section 7.4 for more general perturbed Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operators. Their proofs combine and extend the results from [71] and [15].

5.1 Application of semigroup theory

Let us consider the **Ornstein-Uhlenbeck kernel** of \mathcal{L}_0 from Theorem 4.4 (with B = 0)

$$H_0(x,\xi,t) = (4\pi tA)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-(4tA)^{-1} \left|e^{tS}x - \xi\right|^2\right)$$

and the family of mappings $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ given by

(5.3)
$$[T_0(t)v](x) := \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_0(x,\xi,t)v(\xi)d\xi & , t > 0\\ v(x) & , t = 0 \end{cases}, x \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

on the (complex-valued) Banach space $(L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N), \|\cdot\|_{L^p})$, $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. In the scalar real-valued case, formula (5.3) is due to Kolmogorov, [58]. The next three theorems show that the family of mappings $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ defined in (5.3) generates a strongly continuous semigroup on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$. In order to show exponential decay of the solutions of the resolvent equation via a-priori estimates, we have to prove the boundedness of T_0 and its derivatives up to order 2 in exponentially weighted function spaces.

Theorem 5.1 (Boundedness on $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then for every radial weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \geq 0$ and for every $v \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$

(5.4)
$$\|T_0(t)v\|_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)} \leqslant C_4(t) \|v\|_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)} \quad , t \ge 0,$$

(5.5)
$$||D_i T_0(t)v||_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)} \leq C_5(t) ||v||_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)} , t > 0, i = 1, \dots, d,$$

(5.6)
$$\|D_j D_i T_0(t) v\|_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} \leq C_6(t) \|v\|_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} , t > 0, i, j = 1, \dots, d,$$

where the constants $C_{4+|\beta|}(t) = C_{4+|\beta|}(t; b_0 = 0)$ are from Section 4.3 for every $|\beta| = 0, 1, 2, i.e.$

$$\begin{split} C_4(t;b_0=0) = & C_\theta M^{\frac{d}{2}} \bigg[{}_1F_1\left(\frac{d}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) + 2\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} (\kappa t)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{d+1}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) \bigg]^{\frac{1}{p}}, \\ C_5(t;b_0=0) = & C_\theta M^{\frac{d+1}{2}} (ta_{\min})^{-\frac{1}{2}} \bigg[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{d+1}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) \\ & + 2\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} (\kappa t)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{d+2}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) \bigg]^{\frac{1}{p}}, \\ C_6(t;b_0=0) = & C_\theta M^{\frac{d+2}{2}} (ta_{\min})^{-1} \bigg[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{d+2}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) \\ & + 2\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} (\kappa t)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{d+3}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) + \frac{\delta_{ij}}{2} M^{-1} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{d}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) \\ & + \delta_{ij} M^{-1} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} (\kappa t)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{d+1}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) \bigg]^{\frac{1}{p}}. \end{split}$$

In case $p = \infty$ they are given by $C_{4+|\beta|}(t; b_0 = 0)$ with p = 1, where $M := \frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min}a_0} \ge 1$ and $\kappa := \frac{a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2}{a_0} \ge 0$. Note that $C_{4+|\beta|}(t) \sim t^{\frac{-p|\beta|+d+|\beta|-1}{2p}} e^{\frac{\kappa}{p}t}$ as $t \to \infty$ and $C_{4+|\beta|}(t) \sim t^{-\frac{|\beta|}{2}}$ as $t \to 0$ for every $|\beta| = 0, 1, 2$.

Proof. Let $v \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. In the following $\beta \in \mathbb{N}^d_0$ denotes a *d*-dimensional multiindex with $|\beta| \leq 2$ and we will use the notation

$$D^{\beta}v = \begin{cases} v & , |\beta| = 0 \\ D_{i}v & , |\beta| = 1 , D^{\beta}H_{0} = \begin{cases} H_{0} & , |\beta| = 0 \\ D_{i}H_{0} & , |\beta| = 1 , K_{\beta} = \begin{cases} K & , |\beta| = 0 \\ K^{i} & , |\beta| = 1 \\ D_{j}D_{i}H_{0} & , |\beta| = 2 \end{cases}$$

where i, j = 1, ..., d. Note that $H_0(x, \xi, t) = H(x, \xi, t)$ since we have B = 0. Moreover, in this proof K, K^i and K^{ji} are given by (4.24), (4.26) and (4.28) with B = 0. To show (5.4), (5.5) and (5.6) for $1 \le p < \infty$ we use (5.3), the transformation theorem (with transformation $\Phi(\xi) = e^{tS}x - \xi$ in ξ , $\Phi(x) = e^{tS}x - \psi$ in x), (4.24), (4.26), (4.28), the triangle inequality, Hölder's inequality (with q such that $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$), Fubini's theorem, (W1)–(W3), Lemma 4.6 (1),(2),(3)

$$\begin{split} \left\| D^{\beta}T_{0}(t)v \right\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta^{p}(x) \left| D^{\beta}\left[T_{0}(t)v\right](x) \right|^{p} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta^{p}(x) \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left[D^{\beta}H_{0}(x,\xi,t) \right] v(\xi)d\xi \right|^{p} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta^{p}(x) \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K^{\beta}(\psi,t)v(e^{tS}x-\psi)d\psi \right|^{p} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leqslant \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta(x) \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_{2} \left| v(e^{tS}x-\psi) \right| d\psi \right)^{p} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &\leqslant \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_2 d\psi \right)^{\frac{p}{q}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_2 \left(\theta(x) \left| v(e^{tS}x - \psi) \right| \right)^p d\psi dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right. \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_2 d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\theta(x) \left| v(e^{tS}x - \psi) \right| \right)^p dx d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right. \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_2 d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\theta(e^{-tS}(y + \psi)) \left| v(y) \right| \right)^p dy d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leqslant \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_2 d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} C^p_{\theta} e^{\eta p |\psi|} \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\theta(y) \left| v(y) \right| \right)^p dy d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leqslant C_{\theta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_2 d\psi \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{\eta p |\psi|} \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_2 d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \|v\|_{L^p_{\theta}} \\ &\leqslant C_{4+|\beta|}(t;b_0 = 0) \|v\|_{L^p_{\theta}} \end{split}$$

for $t \ge 0$, if $|\beta| = 0$ and for t > 0, if $|\beta| = 1$ or $|\beta| = 2$. Similarly, to show (5.4), (5.5) and (5.6) for $p = \infty$ we use (5.3), the transformation theorem (with transformation $\Phi(\xi) = e^{tS}x - \xi$ in ξ and $\Phi(x) = e^{tS}x - \psi$ in x), (4.24), (4.26), (4.28), the triangle inequality, (W1)–(W3), Lemma 4.6 (1),(2),(3) and obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| D^{\beta} T_{0}(t) v \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{\theta}} &= \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta(x) \left| D^{\beta} \left[T_{0}(t) v \right](x) \right| \\ &= \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta(x) \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left[D^{\beta} H_{0}(x,\xi,t) \right] v(\xi) d\xi \right| \\ &= \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta(x) \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K^{\beta}(\psi,t) v(e^{tS}x - \psi) d\psi \right| \\ &\leq \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta(x) \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_{2} \left| v(e^{tS}x - \psi) \right| d\psi \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta(x) \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_{2} \left| v(e^{tS}x - \psi) \right| d\psi \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_{2} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta(e^{-tS}(y + \psi)) \left| v(y) \right| d\psi \\ &\leq C_{\theta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{\eta |\psi|} \left| K^{\beta}(\psi,t) \right|_{2} d\psi \right) \left\| v \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{\theta}} \leqslant C_{4+|\beta|}(t;b_{0}=0) \left\| v \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{\theta}} . \end{split}$$

Theorem 5.2 (Semigroup on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then the operators $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ given by (5.3) generate a semigroup on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, i.e. $T_0(t) : L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is linear and bounded for every $t \geq 0$ and satisfies the semigroup properties

(5.7)
$$T_0(0) = I$$

(5.8) $T_0(t)T_0(s) = T_0(t+s), \forall s, t \ge 0.$

Proof. The boundedness of $T_0(t)$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $t \ge 0$ can be deduced from (5.4) (with $\theta \equiv 1$, $\eta = 0$, $C_{\theta} = 1$). The linearity of $T_0(t)$ and property (5.7) follow from the definition of $T_0(t)$ in (5.3). Property (5.8) can easily be verified by using (5.3), Lemma 4.5 (with B = 0, i.e. with H_0 instead of H) and Fubini's theorem

$$\begin{aligned} \left[T_0(t)\left(T_0(s)v\right)\right](x) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_0(x,\tilde{\xi},t)\left[T_0(s)v\right](\tilde{\xi})d\tilde{\xi} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_0(x,\tilde{\xi},t)\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_0(\tilde{\xi},\xi,s)v(\xi)d\xi d\tilde{\xi} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_0(x,\tilde{\xi},t)H_0(\tilde{\xi},\xi,s)d\tilde{\xi}v(\xi)d\xi \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_0(x,\xi,t+s)v(\xi)d\xi = \left[T_0(t+s)v\right](x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d. \end{aligned}$$

The next theorem states that the semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is strongly continuous on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$, which justifies to define its infinitesimal generator.

Theorem 5.3 (Strong continuity on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then $(T_0(t))_{t \geq 0}$ is a C^0 -semigroup (or strongly continuous semigroup) on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, i.e.

(5.9)
$$\lim_{t \downarrow 0} \|T_0(t)v - v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} = 0 \ \forall v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N).$$

Proof. 1. Let us define the (*d*-dimensional) diffusion semigroup (Gaussian semigroup, heat semigroup)

(5.10)
$$[G(t,0)v](y) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_0(e^{-tS}y,\xi,t)v(\xi)d\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (4\pi tA)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-(4tA)^{-1}|y-\xi|^2\right)v(\xi)d\xi$$

then we have $[T_0(t)v](x) = [G(t,0)v](e^{tS}x)$. Let $1 \leq p < \infty$. Motivated by [29], we consider the decomposition

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_0(t)v - v\|_{L^p} &\leq \left\| [G(t,0)v] \left(e^{tS} \cdot \right) - v(e^{tS} \cdot) \right\|_{L^p} + \left\| v(e^{tS} \cdot) - v(\cdot) \right\|_{L^p} \\ &=: \|v_1(\cdot,t)\|_{L^p} + \|v_2(\cdot,t)\|_{L^p} \end{aligned}$$

Here and in the sequel of the proof we abbreviate $\|\cdot\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)}$ by $\|\cdot\|_{L^p}$. 2. First we compute the v_1 -term. Therefore, we use the transformation theorem with $\Phi(x) = e^{tS}x$ and consider the decomposition

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_{1}(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{p}} &= \left\| \left[G(t,0)v\right](e^{tS}\cdot) - v(e^{tS}\cdot)\right\|_{L^{p}} = \left\| \left[G(t,0)v\right](\cdot) - v(\cdot)\right\|_{L^{p}} \\ &\leq \left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H_{0}(e^{-tS}\cdot,\xi,t)\left(v(\xi) - v(\cdot)\right)d\xi \right\|_{L^{p}} + \left\| \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H_{0}(e^{-tS}\cdot,\xi,t)d\xi - I_{N} \right)v(\cdot) \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ &=: \|v_{3}(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{p}} + \|v_{4}(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{p}} \end{aligned}$$

3. Let us consider the v_4 -term. Using the transformation theorem (with transformation $\Phi(\xi) = y - \xi$) and Lemma 4.7 (1) (with B = 0), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|v_{4}(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{p}} \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left| \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H_{0}(e^{-tS}y,\xi,t)d\xi - I_{N}\right)v(y) \right|^{p}dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left| \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (4\pi tA)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-(4tA)^{-1}|y-\xi|^{2}\right)d\xi - I_{N}\right)v(y) \right|^{p}dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left| \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K(\psi,t)d\psi - I_{N}\right)v(y) \right|^{p}dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leq \left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K(\psi,t)d\psi - I_{N} \right|_{2} \|v\|_{L^{p}} \\ &= |I_{N} - I_{N}|_{2} \|v\|_{L^{p}} = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad t > 0. \end{split}$$

4. The v_3 -term is much more delicate: First we need the following integral for $b_0 = 0$ and some constant $\delta_0 > 0$, compare proof of Lemma 4.6,

$$\int_{|\psi| \ge \delta_0} |K(\psi, t)|_2 d\psi$$

$$\leq \int_{|\psi| \ge \delta_0} (4\pi t a_{\min})^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_0 t - \frac{a_0}{4t a_{\max}^2} |\psi|^2} d\psi$$

$$= (4\pi t a_{\min})^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_0 t} \frac{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \int_{\delta_0}^{\infty} r^{d-1} e^{-\frac{a_0}{4t a_{\max}^2} r^2} dr$$

$$= \left(\frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min} a_0}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_0 t} \frac{2}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \int_{\left(\frac{a_0}{4t a_{\max}^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \delta_0}^{\infty} s^{d-1} e^{-s^2} ds =: C(t, \delta_0)$$

where we used the transformation theorem (with transformations for *d*-dimensional polar coordinates and $\Phi(r) = \left(\frac{a_0}{4ta_{\max}^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}r$). Note, that $C(t, \delta_0) \to 0$ as $t \to 0$ for every fixed $\delta_0 > 0$. Using the transformation theorem (with transformations $\Phi(\xi) = y - \xi$ and $\Phi(y) = y - \psi$), the triangle inequality, Hölder's inequality (with q such that $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$), Fubini's theorem, the L^p -continuity from [7, Satz 2.14(1)], (4.24) and Lemma 4.6(1) (with $\eta = 0$ and $b_0 = 0$) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|v_{3}(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{p}} \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H_{0}(e^{-tS}y,\xi,t) \left(v(\xi) - v(y)\right) d\xi\right|^{p} dy\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(4\pi tA\right)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-\left(4tA\right)^{-1}|y-\xi|^{2}\right) \left(v(\xi) - v(y)\right) d\xi\right|^{p} dy\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K(\psi,t) \left(v(y-\psi) - v(y)\right) d\psi\right|^{p} dy\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leqslant \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} \left|v(y-\psi) - v(y)\right| d\psi\right)^{p} dy\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &\leqslant \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, d\psi \right)^{\frac{p}{q}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, |v(y-\psi) - v(y)|^p \, d\psi dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |v(y-\psi) - v(y)|^p \, dy d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, \|v(\cdot-\psi) - v(\cdot)\|_{L^p}^p \, d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \left(\int_{|\psi| \leqslant \delta_0} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, \|v(\cdot-\psi) - v(\cdot)\|_{L^p}^p \, d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \left(\varepsilon_0^p \int_{|\psi| \leqslant \delta_0} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leqslant \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \left(\varepsilon_0^p \int_{|\psi| \leqslant \delta_0} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, d\psi + 2^p \int_{|\psi| \geqslant \delta_0} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, d\psi \, \|v\|_{L^p}^p \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leqslant \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, d\psi \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \left(\varepsilon_0^p \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, d\psi + 2^p \int_{|\psi| \geqslant \delta_0} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \, d\psi \, \|v\|_{L^p}^p \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leqslant C_1^{\frac{1}{q}}(t) \, (\varepsilon_0^p C_1(t) + 2^p C(t, \delta_0) \, \|v\|_{L^p}^p)^{\frac{1}{p}} \end{split}$$

Hence, $\lim_{t\to 0} \|v_3(\cdot,t)\|_{L^p} \leq \varepsilon_0 C_1(0) = \varepsilon_0 M^{\frac{d}{2}}$. Now, choose $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ arbitrary small. 5. Finally, let us consider the v_2 -term. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Since $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is dense in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{L^p}$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$, see [7, Satz 2.14(3)], we can choose $\varphi_{\varepsilon} \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ such that $\|v - \varphi_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^p} \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{3}$. Since $\varphi_{\varepsilon} \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, φ_{ε} is uniformly continuous on $\operatorname{supp}(\varphi_{\varepsilon})$, i.e.

$$\begin{aligned} \forall \varepsilon_0 > 0 \ \exists \ \delta_0 &= \delta_0(\varepsilon_0) > 0 \ \forall \ x, x_0 \in \operatorname{supp}(\varphi_{\varepsilon}) \\ \text{with} \ |x - x_0| &\leq \delta_0 : \ |\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) - \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x_0)| \leq \varepsilon_0 \end{aligned}$$

Choosing $x_0 := e^{tS}x$ we have

$$\exists t_0 = t_0(\delta_0) > 0 \ \forall 0 \leqslant t \leqslant t_0 : \ \left| e^{tS} x - x \right| \leqslant \delta_0$$

Thus, choosing $\varepsilon_0 := \varepsilon \left(3 |\operatorname{supp}(\varphi_{\varepsilon})|^{\frac{1}{p}} \right)^{-1}$ and combining this facts yields

$$\left\|\varphi_{\varepsilon}(e^{tS}\cdot) - \varphi_{\varepsilon}(\cdot)\right\|_{L^{p}} = \left(\int_{\operatorname{supp}(\varphi_{\varepsilon})} \left|\varphi_{\varepsilon}(e^{tS}x) - \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x)\right|^{p}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leqslant \varepsilon \quad \forall \, 0 \leqslant t \leqslant t_{0}(\varepsilon).$$

This implies

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_{2}(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{p}} &= \left\|v(e^{tS}\cdot) - v(\cdot)\right\|_{L^{p}} \\ &\leq \left\|v(e^{tS}\cdot) - \varphi_{\varepsilon}(e^{tS}\cdot)\right\|_{L^{p}} + \left\|\varphi_{\varepsilon}(e^{tS}\cdot) - \varphi_{\varepsilon}(\cdot)\right\|_{L^{p}} + \left\|\varphi_{\varepsilon}(\cdot) - v(\cdot)\right\|_{L^{p}} \\ &\leq \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} = \varepsilon \quad \forall \, 0 \leq t \leq t_{0}(\varepsilon). \end{aligned}$$

Hence, $\lim_{t\to 0} \|v_2(\cdot, t)\|_{L^p} \leq \varepsilon$. Now, choose $\varepsilon > 0$ arbitrary small.

Strong continuity on spaces of continuous functions. Note, that the original Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup is also strongly continuous in certain subspaces of bounded uniformly continuous functions and certain subspaces of Hölder spaces. These function spaces were analyzed in [29] for the first time.

Strong continuity on exponentially weighted function spaces. We suggest that the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is also strongly continuous on the exponentially weighted spaces $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$ and for every radially weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \geq 0$. Moreover, one can prove that the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup is strongly continuous on certain exponentially weighted subspaces of bounded uniformly continuous functions.

Now, the **infinitesimal generator** $A_p : \mathcal{D}(A_p) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t \ge 0}$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \le p < \infty$, short $(A_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$, can be defined by, [34, II.1.2 Definition],

$$A_p v := \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \frac{T_0(t)v - v}{t}, \ 1 \leqslant p < \infty$$

for every $v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$, where the **domain** (or **maximal domain**) of A_p is given by

$$\mathcal{D}(A_p) := \left\{ v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \mid \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \frac{T_0(t)v - v}{t} \text{ exists in } L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \mid A_p v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \right\}.$$

Note that $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ is a linear subspace of $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

An application of [34, II.1.3 Lemma, II.1.4 Theorem] yields the following result:

Lemma 5.4. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$.

(1) The generator $A_p : \mathcal{D}(A_p) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is a linear, closed and densely defined operator that determines the semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ uniquely. (2) For every $v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ and $t \geq 0$ we have

$$T_0(t)v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$$
$$\frac{d}{dt}T_0(t)v = T_0(t)A_pv = A_pT_0(t)v$$

(3) For every $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and every $t \ge 0$ we have

$$\int_0^t T_0(s)vds \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$$

(4) For every $t \ge 0$ we have

$$T_{0}(t)v - v = A_{p} \int_{0}^{t} T_{0}(s)vds \qquad , \text{ for } v \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} T_{0}(s)A_{p}vds \qquad , \text{ for } v \in \mathcal{D}(A_{p})$$

Since $(A_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ is a closed operator on the Banach space $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$, we can introduce

$$\sigma(A_p) := \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \lambda I - A_p \text{ is not bijective}\} \qquad \text{spectrum of } A_p, \\ \rho(A_p) := \mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma(A_p) \qquad \qquad \text{resolvent set of } A_p \\ R(\lambda, A_p) := (\lambda I - A_p)^{-1}, \text{ for } \lambda \in \rho(A_p) \qquad \qquad \text{resolvent of } A_p.$$

In particular, $\left(\mathcal{D}(A_p), \|\cdot\|_{A_p}\right)$ is a Banach space w.r.t. the **graph norm of** A_p

$$||v||_{A_p} := ||A_p v||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} + ||v||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}, \quad v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p),$$

see [34, B.1 Definition]. The next identities follow from [34, II.1.9 Lemma].

Lemma 5.5. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $1 \le p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and t > 0,

$$e^{-\lambda t}T_0(t)v - v = (A_p - \lambda I) \int_0^t e^{-\lambda s}T_0(s)vds \qquad , \text{ for } v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$$
$$= \int_0^t e^{-\lambda s}T_0(s) (A_p - \lambda I)vds \qquad , \text{ for } v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p).$$

By (5.4) from Theorem 5.1 (with $\theta \equiv 1$, $\eta = 0$ and $C_{\theta} = 1$) we have

(5.11)
$$\exists \omega_0 \in \mathbb{R} \land \exists M_0 \ge 1 : \|T_0(t)\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^p, L^p)} \le M_0 e^{\omega_0 t} \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

where $M_0 := \left(\frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min}a_0}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}}$ and $\omega_0 := 0$. For the next statement we refer to [34, II.1.10 Theorem].

Theorem 5.6. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. (1) If $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ is such that $R(\lambda)v := \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda s}T_0(s)vds$ exists for every $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, then

 $\lambda \in \rho(A_p)$ and $R(\lambda, A_p) = R(\lambda).$

(2) If $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfies $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega_0$, then

$$\lambda \in \rho(A_p), \quad R(\lambda, A_p) = R(\lambda)$$

and

$$||R(\lambda, A_p)||_{\mathcal{L}(L^p, L^p)} \leq \frac{M_0}{\operatorname{Re} \lambda - \omega_0}.$$

Theorem 5.6(2) states that the complete right half-plane $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega_0$ belongs to the resolvent set $\rho(A_p)$. Therefore, the spectrum $\sigma(A_p)$ is contained in the left half-plane $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \leq \omega_0$. The **spectral bound** $s(A_p)$ of A_p , [34, II.1.12 Definition], defined by

$$-\infty \leqslant s(A_p) := \sup_{\lambda \in \sigma(A_p)} \operatorname{Re} \lambda \leqslant \omega_0 = 0 < +\infty$$

can be considered as the smallest value $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ such that the spectrum is contained in the half-plane $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \leq \omega$. This value is an important characteristic for linear operators.

A direct consequence of Theorem 5.6 is the following:

Corollary 5.7 (Solvability and uniqueness in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Moreover, let $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega_0$. Then for every $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ the resolvent equation

$$(\lambda I - A_p) v = g$$

admits a unique solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$, which is given by the integral expression

$$v_{\star} = R(\lambda)g = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda s} T_{0}(s)gds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H_{0}(\cdot, \xi, s)g(\xi)d\xi ds.$$

Moreover, the following resolvent estimate holds

$$\|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \leqslant \frac{M_{0}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda - \omega_{0}} \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}.$$

5.2 Exponential decay

In this section we prove a-priori estimates for the solution v of the resolvent equation $(\lambda I - A_p) v = g$ in exponentially weighted L^p -spaces. We show that the solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ decays exponentially (at least) with the same rate as the inhomogeneity g. Note, that this result needs neither an explicit representation for the domain $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ nor for the infinitesimal generator A_p . The proof requires only the integral expression for v_{\star} from Corollary 5.7.

Theorem 5.8 (A-priori estimates in $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Moreover, let $0 < \vartheta < 1$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega_0$. Then for every radially nondecreasing weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \geq 0$ with $0 \leq \eta^2 \leq \vartheta \frac{a_0(\operatorname{Re} \lambda - \omega_0)}{a_{\max}^2 p^2}$ and for every $g \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ we have $v_{\star} \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ with

(5.12)
$$\|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \leqslant \frac{C_{7}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda - \omega_{0}} \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})},$$

(5.13)
$$\|D_i v_\star\|_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} \leqslant \frac{C_8}{(\operatorname{Re} \lambda - \omega_0)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \|g\|_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}, \ i = 1, \dots, d,$$

where $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ denotes the unique solution of $(\lambda I - A_p)v = g$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and the λ -independent constants C_7 , C_8 are given by Lemma 4.8 (with $b_0 = 0$ and $\omega = \omega_0$). *Proof.* By Corollary 5.7 we have the representation

(5.14)
$$v_{\star}(x) = \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_0(x,\xi,t) g(\xi) d\xi dt,$$

where $H_0(x,\xi,t) = H(x,\xi,t)$ since we have B = 0. In the following we make use of the notation from Theorem 5.1 once more. To show (5.12) and (5.13) for $1 \leq p < \infty$ we use (5.14), the transformation theorem (with transformation $\Phi(\xi) = e^{tS}x - \xi$ in ξ and $\Phi(x) = e^{tS}x - \psi$ in x), (4.24) and (4.26) (with B = 0), the triangle inequality, Hölder's inequality (with q such that $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$), Fubini's theorem, (W1)–(W4), Lemma 4.8 (with $b_0 = 0$ and $\omega = \omega_0$) and obtain for every $\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$ with $|\beta| \in \{0, 1\}$

$$\begin{split} \|D^{\beta}v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta^{p}(x) \left|D^{\beta}v_{\star}(x)\right|^{p} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta^{p}(x) \left|\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left[D^{\beta}H_{0}(x,\xi,t)\right] g(\xi)d\xi dt\right|^{p} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta^{p}(x) \left|\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K^{\beta}(\psi,t)g(e^{tS}x-\psi)d\psi dt\right|^{p} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta^{p}(x) \left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K^{\beta}(\psi,t)g(e^{tS}x-\psi)d\psi\right|^{p} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} dt \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta(x) \left|K^{\beta}(\psi,t)\right|_{2} \left|g(e^{tS}x-\psi)\right|d\psi\right)^{p} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} dt \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left|K^{\beta}(\psi,t)\right|_{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\theta(x) \left|g(e^{tS}x-\psi)\right|\right)^{p} d\psi dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} Z^{\frac{1}{q}}(t) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left|K^{\beta}(\psi,t)\right|_{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\theta(x) \left|g(e^{tS}x-\psi)\right|\right)^{p} dy d\psi\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} dt \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} Z^{\frac{1}{q}}(t) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left|K^{\beta}(\psi,t)\right|_{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\theta(e^{-tS}(y+\psi)) \left|g(y)\right|\right)^{p} dy d\psi\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} dt \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} Z^{\frac{1}{q}}(t) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} C^{p}_{\theta} e^{\eta p |\psi|} \left|K^{\beta}(\psi,t)\right|_{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \theta^{p}(y) \left|g(y)\right|^{p} dy d\psi\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} C_{\theta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left|K^{\beta}(\psi,t)\right|_{2} d\psi\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{\eta p |\psi|} \left|K^{\beta}(\psi,t)\right|_{2} d\psi\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} dt \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} C_{\theta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K^{\beta}(\psi,t)|_{2} d\psi\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} dt \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} C_{\theta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K^{\beta}(\psi,t)|_{2} d\psi\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} dt \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} C_{\theta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K^{\beta}(\psi,t)|_{2} d\psi\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} dt \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} C_{\theta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K^{\beta}(\psi,t)|_{2} d\psi\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} dt \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} C_{\theta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K^{\beta}(\psi,t)|_{2} d\psi\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} dt \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} C_{\theta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K^{\beta}(\psi,t)|_{2} d\psi\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} dt \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\operatorname{Re}\lambda t} C_{\theta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K^{\beta}(\psi,t)|_{2} |K^{\beta}(\psi,t)|_{2} |K^{\beta}(\psi,t)|_{2} |K^{\beta}(\psi,t)|_{2} |K^{\beta}(\psi,t$$

where we used the abbreviation

$$Z(t) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| K^{\beta}(\psi, t) \right|_2 d\psi.$$

A superset of the domain of A_p . An application of Theorem 5.8 for $\theta \equiv 1$ (with $\eta = 0$ and $C_{\theta} = 1$) shows that

$$\mathcal{D}(A_p) \subseteq W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N), \text{ for every } 1 \leq p < \infty.$$

Second order derivatives. With the procedure as in the proof of Theorem 5.8 it is in general not possible to specify also an estimate for $||D_j D_i v_\star||_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)}$ since $C_{4+|\beta|}(t) \sim t^{-\frac{|\beta|}{2}}$ as $t \to 0$, cf. Theorem 5.1, and consequently we have the singularity t^{-1} at t = 0 for $|\beta| = 2$. In Hölder spaces, for instance, there one uses interpolation theory to derive estimates for the second order derivatives, [67].

A-priori estimates for \mathcal{L}_0 . We suggest that if we require additionally $1 , assumption (A3) and the <math>L^p$ -antieigenvalue condition (A4), then we can actually replace A_p by \mathcal{L}_0 and $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ by $\mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ in Theorem 5.8, compare Theorem 5.19 below.

5.3 A core for the infinitesimal generator

In the next three sections we investigate the relation between the **formal** Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_0 and the **abstract** Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{A}_p and derive a precise characterization of the maximal domain $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}_p)$, that is necessary to prove our main result. The approach is motivated by [73] and [71], where this was performed for the scalar real-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator.

In general, it is very difficult to identify maximal domains of infinitesimal generators, such as $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$. In the case of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator (on \mathbb{R}^d) we suggest that there arises an additional complication caused by the unbounded (in fact linearly growing) coefficients, that are contained in the drift term.

A useful concept to analyze subspaces of $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ is the following, see [34, II.1.6 Definition].

Definition 5.9. A subspace $D \subset \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ of the maximal domain $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ of the linear operator $A_p : \mathcal{D}(A_p) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ with $1 \leq p < \infty$ is called a **core for** $(A_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ if D is dense in $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ with respect to the graph norm of A_p

$$||v||_{A_p} := ||A_p v||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} + ||v||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}, \quad v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p).$$

The next theorem states that the Schwartz space $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is a core for the infinitesimal generator $(A_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t \ge 0}$. Moreover, it turns out that the formal Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_0 and the abstract Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator A_p coincide on the Schwartz space $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. This is an extension of the real-valued scalar result in [71, Proposition 2.2 and 3.2] to complex valued systems.

Theorem 5.10 (Core for the infinitesimal generator). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then: (1) $S \subset L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is dense w.r.t. the L^p -norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}$. (2) S is a subspace of $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$, i.e. $S \subset \mathcal{D}(A_p)$, and

$$A_p\phi = \mathcal{L}_0\phi$$
 for every $\phi \in \mathcal{S}$.

(3) S is invariant under the semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$, i.e.

$$T_0(t)\mathcal{S} \subseteq \mathcal{S} \text{ for every } t \ge 0.$$

(4) $\mathcal{S} \subset \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ is a core for $(A_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$, i.e.

$$\mathcal{D}(A_p) = \overline{\mathcal{S}}^{\|\cdot\|_{A_p}}$$

Proof. (1): Due to the inclusion

$$C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \subset \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \subset L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$$

and since $C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ is dense in $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{L^{p}}$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$, we deduce that $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ is also dense in $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{L^{p}}$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$. (2): Let $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ be arbitrary. In order to prove $\mathcal{S} \subset \mathcal{D}(A_{p})$ we must show that

$$\phi \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N), \ \mathcal{L}_0 \phi \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N), \ \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{t} (T_0(t)\phi - \phi) \text{ exists in } L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N).$$

1. Since $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is a subspace of $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$, we deduce $\phi \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Therefore, it is sufficient to show $\mathcal{L}_0\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Then we deduce $\mathcal{L}_0\phi \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ by the same argument. Since $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \subseteq C^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and since \mathcal{L}_0 has smooth coefficients we infer that $\mathcal{L}_0\phi \in C^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Considering the operator

$$[\mathcal{L}_0\phi](x) = A \triangle \phi(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla \phi(x) \rangle = A \sum_{i=1}^d D_i^2 \phi(x) + \sum_{i=1}^d \sum_{j=1}^d S_{ij} x_j D_i \phi(x)$$

and

$$x^{\tilde{\alpha}}D^{\tilde{\beta}}\left[\mathcal{L}_{0}\phi\right](x) = A\sum_{i=1}^{d}x^{\tilde{\alpha}}D^{\tilde{\beta}}D_{i}^{2}\phi(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{d}\sum_{j=1}^{d}S_{ij}x^{\tilde{\alpha}}x_{j}D^{\tilde{\beta}}D_{i}\phi(x)$$

for $\tilde{\alpha}, \tilde{\beta} \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$ and using the fact that ϕ is rapidly decreasing, we conclude from (3.4) with $\alpha = \tilde{\alpha}, \beta = \tilde{\beta} + 2e_i$ and $\alpha = \tilde{\alpha} + e_j, \beta = \tilde{\beta} + e_i$, that every term on the right hand side vanishes as |x| goes to infinity. Hence, $\mathcal{L}_0\phi \in \mathcal{S}$. It remains to verify that the limit exists in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

2. We first give a motivation how the limit looks like: Using the heat kernel properties (H2) and (H3) with B = 0, in this case we have $H(x, \xi, t) = H_0(x, \xi, t)$ and $\mathcal{L}_{\infty} = \mathcal{L}_0$, a formal computation shows

$$[A_{p}\phi](x) := \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \frac{[T_{0}(t)\phi](x) - \phi(x)}{t} = \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \left[\frac{T_{0}(t) - T_{0}(0)}{t - 0}\right] \phi(x)$$
$$= \left[\frac{d}{dt} [T_{0}(t)\phi](x)\right]_{t=0} = \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{d}{dt} H_{0}(x,\xi,t)\phi(\xi)d\xi\right]_{t=0}$$
$$= \left[\mathcal{L}_{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H_{0}(x,\xi,t)\phi(\xi)d\xi\right]_{t=0} = \mathcal{L}_{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \delta_{x}(\xi)\phi(\xi)d\xi = [\mathcal{L}_{0}\phi](x).$$

This suggests that the limit tends (pointwise) to $A_p\phi(x) := \mathcal{L}_0\phi(x) \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, provided that all steps in the calculation are justified. We next prove that the limit even exists in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{L^p}$, which is indeed much more involved, [71, Proposition 2.2 and 3.2].

3. Our aim is to apply Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem in L^p from [7, Satz 1.23] with

$$f_t(x) := \frac{[T_0(t)\phi](x) - \phi(x)}{t}, \quad f(x) := [\mathcal{L}_0\phi](x)$$

to deduce that $f_t, f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for t > 0 and $f_t \to f$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ as $t \downarrow 0$. We then directly conclude $\phi \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$, thus $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \subset \mathcal{D}(A_p)$. In particular, we have $A_p\phi := \mathcal{L}_0\phi$ for every $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. To justify the application of dominated convergence we must show that

- (a) $f_t(x) \to f(x)$ pointwise for a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ as $t \downarrow 0$,
- (b) $|f_t(x)| \leq g(x)$ pointwise for a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and for every $0 < t \leq t_0$,

(c)
$$g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}),$$

where the function g will be determined during the proof. Before we start to verify the properties (a)–(c) we simplify the term f_t , [71, Proposition 2.2 and 3.2]: Since $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, Taylor's formula up to order 2 yields

$$\phi(e^{tS}x - \psi) = \phi(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{d} (e^{tS}x - x - \psi)_i D_i \phi(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{d} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \frac{1}{2} (e^{tS}x - x - \psi)_i (e^{tS}x - x - \psi)_j D_j D_i \phi(x) + R_{x,2} (e^{tS}x - x - \psi)$$

with remainder

$$R_{x,2}(z-x) = \sum_{|\beta|=3} \frac{|\beta|}{\beta!} (z-x)^{\beta} \int_0^1 (1-\tau)^{|\beta|-1} D^{\beta} \phi \left(x+\tau \left(z-x\right)\right) d\tau$$

for $z := e^{tS}x - \psi$ satisfying

(5.15)
$$|R_{x,2}(z-x)| \leq C_{\beta}C_{\phi}|z-x|^3,$$

where $C_{\beta} := \sum_{|\beta|=3} \frac{1}{\beta!}$ and $C_{\phi} := \max_{|\beta|=3} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^d} |D^{\beta}\phi(y)|$. Thus, using (5.3), the transformation theorem (with transformation $\Phi(\xi) = e^{tS}x - \xi$) and (4.24) with B = 0 we obtain

$$f_t(x) := \frac{\left[T_0(t)\phi\right](x) - \phi(x)}{t} = \frac{1}{t} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_0(x,\xi,t)\phi(\xi)d\xi - \phi(x) \right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{t} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi,t)\phi\left(e^{tS}x - \psi\right)d\psi - \phi(x) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{t} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi, t) d\psi - I_N \right] \phi(x) + \frac{1}{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi, t) \sum_{i=1}^d \left(e^{tS} x - x - \psi \right)_i D_i \phi(x) d\psi + \frac{1}{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi, t) \sum_{i=1}^d \sum_{j=1}^d \frac{1}{2} \left(e^{tS} x - x - \psi \right)_i \left(e^{tS} x - x - \psi \right)_j D_j D_i \phi(x) d\psi + \frac{1}{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi, t) R_{x,2} \left(e^{tS} x - x - \psi \right) d\psi =: \sum_{i=1}^d T_i(x, t), \ t > 0.$$

 T_1 : Using Lemma 4.7 (1) with B = 0 the term T_1 vanishes for every t > 0

$$T_1(x,t) = \frac{1}{t} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi,t) d\psi - I_N \right] \phi(x) = 0.$$

 T_2 : A decomposition of T_2 leads to

$$T_2(x,t) = \frac{1}{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi,t) \sum_{i=1}^d \left(e^{tS}x - x - \psi \right)_i D_i \phi(x) d\psi$$
$$= \frac{1}{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi,t) d\psi \sum_{i=1}^d \left(e^{tS}x - x \right)_i D_i \phi(x) - \frac{1}{t} \sum_{i=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi,t) \psi_i d\psi D_i \phi(x)$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^d \left(\frac{e^{tS}x - x}{t} \right)_i D_i \phi(x)$$

for every t > 0, where we used Lemma 4.7 (1) with B = 0 for the first and Lemma 4.7 (2) with B = 0 for the second term.

 $T_3:$ Similarly, a decomposition of T_3 leads to

$$\begin{split} T_{3}(x,t) &= \frac{1}{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K(\psi,t) \sum_{i=1}^{d} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \frac{1}{2} \left(e^{tS}x - x - \psi \right)_{i} \left(e^{tS}x - x - \psi \right)_{j} D_{j} D_{i} \phi(x) d\psi \\ &= \frac{1}{2t} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K(\psi,t) \psi_{i} \psi_{j} d\psi D_{j} D_{i} \phi(x) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2t} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K(\psi,t) d\psi \left(e^{tS}x - x \right)_{i} \left(e^{tS}x - x \right)_{j} D_{j} D_{i} \phi(x) \\ &- \frac{1}{2t} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K(\psi,t) \left[\left(e^{tS}x - x \right)_{i} \psi_{j} + \left(e^{tS}x - x \right)_{j} \psi_{i} \right] d\psi D_{j} D_{i} \phi(x) \\ &= \frac{1}{2t} \sum_{i=1}^{d} 2t A D_{i}^{2} \phi(x) + \frac{t}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left(\frac{e^{tS}x - x}{t} \right)_{i} \left(\frac{e^{tS}x - x}{t} \right)_{j} D_{j} D_{i} \phi(x) \\ &- \frac{1}{2t} \sum_{i,j=1}^{d} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K(\psi,t) \psi_{j} d\psi (e^{tS}x - x)_{i} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K(\psi,t) \psi_{i} d\psi (e^{tS}x - x)_{j} \right] D_{j} D_{i} \phi(x) \\ &= A \Delta \phi(x) + \frac{t}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left(\frac{e^{tS}x - x}{t} \right)_{i} \left(\frac{e^{tS}x - x}{t} \right)_{j} D_{j} D_{i} \phi(x) \end{split}$$

for every t > 0, where we used Lemma 4.7 (3), (1) and (2) with B = 0 for the first, second and third term, respectively.

This yields a simplified representation for $f_t(x)$ for every t > 0 given by

(5.16)
$$f_t(x) = A \bigtriangleup \phi(x) + \sum_{i=1}^d \left(\frac{e^{tS}x - x}{t}\right)_i D_i \phi(x)$$
$$+ \frac{t}{2} \sum_{i=1}^d \sum_{j=1}^d \left(\frac{e^{tS}x - x}{t}\right)_i \left(\frac{e^{tS}x - x}{t}\right)_j D_j D_i \phi(x)$$
$$+ \frac{1}{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi, t) R_{x,2}(e^{tS}x - x - \psi) d\psi.$$

(a): Using $\lim_{t\downarrow 0} \frac{1}{t} (e^{tS}x - x) = Sx$ we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \left[A_p\phi\right](x) &= \lim_{t\downarrow 0} \frac{\left[T_0(t)\phi\right](x) - \phi(x)}{t} = \lim_{t\downarrow 0} f_t(x) \\ &= A \triangle \phi(x) + \lim_{t\downarrow 0} \sum_{i=1}^d \left(\frac{e^{tS}x - x}{t}\right)_i D_i \phi(x) \\ &+ \lim_{t\downarrow 0} \frac{t}{2} \sum_{i=1}^d \sum_{j=1}^d \left(\frac{e^{tS}x - x}{t}\right)_i \left(\frac{e^{tS}x - x}{t}\right)_j D_j D_i \phi(x) \\ &+ \lim_{t\downarrow 0} \frac{1}{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi, t) R_{x,2}(e^{tS}x - x - \psi) d\psi \\ &= A \triangle \phi(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla \phi(x) \rangle = \left[\mathcal{L}_0\phi\right](x) = f(x), \end{split}$$

i.e. $f_t(x) \to f(x)$ pointwise for a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ as $t \downarrow 0$, provided that the last limit tends to zeros. This can be seen as follows: Using (5.15), the inequality

$$(|e^{tS}x - x| + |\psi|)^3 \le 4(|e^{tS}x - x|^3 + |\psi|^3)$$

and

(5.17)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi, t)|_2 |\psi|^k = M^{\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_0 t} \left(\frac{4a_{\max}^2}{a_0}\right)^{\frac{k}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+k}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} t^{\frac{k}{2}}, \ t > 0, \ k \in \mathbb{N}_0$$

with $M := \frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min}a_0}$, B = 0 for k = 0 and k = 3, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} &\left|\frac{1}{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(\psi,t)R_{x,2}(e^{tS}x-x-\psi)d\psi\right| \\ \leqslant &\frac{1}{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \left|R_{x,2}(e^{tS}x-x-\psi)\right|d\psi \\ \leqslant &\frac{C_\beta C_\phi}{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \left|e^{tS}x-x-\psi\right|^3 d\psi \\ \leqslant &\frac{C_\beta C_\phi}{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |K(\psi,t)|_2 \left(\left|e^{tS}x-x\right|+|\psi|\right)^3 d\psi \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq \frac{4C_{\beta}C_{\phi}}{t} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} d\psi \left| e^{tS}x - x \right|^{3} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} |\psi|^{3} d\psi \right]$$
$$= 4C_{\beta}C_{\phi}M^{\frac{d}{2}} \left[t^{2} \left| \frac{e^{tS}x - x}{t} \right|^{3} + \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{4a_{\max}^{2}}{a_{0}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} t^{\frac{1}{2}} \right]$$

for every t > 0. Therefore, using $\lim_{t\downarrow 0} \frac{1}{t} (e^{tS}x - x) = Sx$ once more, the right hand side vanishes for a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ as $t \downarrow 0$. Note, that the inequality above follows from a discrete version of Hölder's inequality. The equality (5.17) can be proved in the same way as in Lemma 4.6.

(b): Given some $\varepsilon > 0$ we choose $t_0 = t_0(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that $\left|\frac{1}{t} \left(e^{tS} - I_d\right)\right| \leq |S| + \varepsilon$ for every $0 < t \leq t_0$. Then (5.16) yields

$$|f_{t}(x)| \leq A \sum_{i=1}^{d} |D_{i}^{2}\phi(x)| + \sum_{i=1}^{d} \left| \frac{e^{tS} - I_{d}}{t} \right| |x| |D_{i}\phi(x)| + \frac{t}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left| \frac{e^{tS} - I_{d}}{t} \right|^{2} |x|^{2} |D_{j}D_{i}\phi(x)| + \left| \frac{1}{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K(\psi, t) R_{x,2}(e^{tS}x - x - \psi) d\psi \right| (5.18) \leq A \sum_{i=1}^{d} |D_{i}^{2}\phi(x)| + \sum_{i=1}^{d} (|S| + \varepsilon) |x| |D_{i}\phi(x)| + \frac{t_{0}}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \sum_{j=1}^{d} (|S| + \varepsilon)^{2} |x|^{2} |D_{j}D_{i}\phi(x)| + \left| \frac{1}{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} K(\psi, t) R_{x,2}(e^{tS}x - x - \psi) d\psi \right|$$

for every $0 < t \leq t_0$. Now the first three terms do not depend on t any more. In particular, since $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, the first three terms belong to $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Therefore, it remains to estimate the last term in such a way, that the bound doesn't depend on t any more and belongs to $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ as a function of x. For this purpose, we must handle the last term very carefully.

$$\begin{aligned} &\left|\frac{1}{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}K(\psi,t)R_{x,2}(e^{tS}x-x-\psi)d\psi\right| \\ &=\left|\frac{1}{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}K(\psi,t)\sum_{|\beta|=3}\frac{|\beta|}{\beta!}(z-x)^{\beta}\int_{0}^{1}(1-\tau)^{2}D^{\beta}\phi\left(x+\tau\left(z-x\right)\right)d\tau d\psi\right| \\ &\leqslant\frac{1}{t}\sum_{|\beta|=3}\frac{|\beta|}{\beta!}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}|K(\psi,t)|_{2}\left|(z-x)^{\beta}\right|\int_{0}^{1}(1-\tau)^{2}\left|D^{\beta}\phi\left(x+\tau\left(z-x\right)\right)\right|d\tau d\psi \\ &\leqslant\frac{4C_{\beta}}{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}|K(\psi,t)|_{2}\left(\left|e^{tS}x-x\right|^{3}+|\psi|^{3}\right)\max_{|\beta|=3}\sup_{\tau\in[0,1]}\left|D^{\beta}\phi\left(x+\tau\left(z-x\right)\right)\right|d\psi \\ &=\frac{4C_{\beta}}{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}|K(\psi,t)|_{2}\left(\left|e^{tS}x-x\right|^{3}+|\psi|^{3}\right)\max_{|\beta|=3}\sup_{\tau\in[0,1]}\left|D^{\beta}\phi\left(x+\tau\left(z-x\right)\right)\right|d\psi,\end{aligned}$$

where $z := e^{tS} x - \psi$, $C_{\beta} = \sum_{|\beta|=3} \frac{1}{\beta!}$. We now must distinguish between four cases: Let $R \ge 1$ be arbitrary.

Case 1: $(|x| \ge R, |\psi| \le \frac{|x|}{4})$. In this case we use $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, i.e. that ϕ has nice behavior in the far-field. Given $\varepsilon > 0$ we now choose $t_0 = t_0(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that both $\left|\frac{1}{t} \left(e^{tS} - I_d\right)\right| \le |S| + \varepsilon$ and $t (|S| + \varepsilon) \le \frac{1}{2}$ is satisfied for every $0 < t \le t_0$, then we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left|x + \tau \left(e^{tS}x - x - \psi\right)\right| &\ge |x| - \tau \left|e^{tS}x - x\right| - \tau \left|\psi\right| &\ge |x| - \left|e^{tS}x - x\right| - |\psi| \\ &\ge \left(1 - t \left|\frac{e^{tS} - I_d}{t}\right|\right) |x| - |\psi| &\ge (1 - t \left(|S| + \varepsilon\right)) |x| - |\psi| &\ge \frac{|x|}{2} - |\psi| &\ge \frac{|x|}{4}. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, since $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, we have

$$\forall \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^d \exists C_{\alpha,\beta} > 0: \ \left| y^{\alpha} D^{\beta} \phi(y) \right| \leqslant C_{\alpha,\beta} \ \forall y \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

and therefore, for arbitrary $R_0 > 0$

(5.19)
$$|D^{\beta}\phi(y)| \leq C_{\alpha,\beta} |y|^{-|\alpha|} \quad \forall y \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \ |y| \geq R_{0}$$

Thus, using (5.17) with B = 0 for k = 0 and k = 3, we obtain, $z := e^{tS}x - \psi$

$$\begin{split} & \frac{4C_{\beta}}{t} \int_{|\psi| \leq \frac{|x|}{4}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} \left(|e^{tS}x - x|^{3} + |\psi|^{3} \right) \max_{\substack{|\beta|=3\\\tau \in [0,1]}} |D^{\beta}\phi\left(x + \tau\left(z - x\right)\right)| d\psi \\ & \leq 4C_{\beta} \int_{|\psi| \leq \frac{|x|}{4}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} \left(t^{2} \left| \frac{e^{tS} - I_{d}}{t} \right|^{3} |x|^{3} + \frac{1}{t} |\psi|^{3} \right) \\ & \cdot \max_{|\beta|=3} \sup_{\tau \in [0,1]} C_{\alpha,\beta} \left| x + \tau \left(e^{tS}x - x - \psi \right) \right|^{-|\alpha|} d\psi \\ & \leq 4C_{\beta} \int_{|\psi| \leq \frac{|x|}{4}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} \left(t^{2} \left(|S| + \varepsilon \right)^{3} |x|^{3} + \frac{1}{t} |\psi|^{3} \right) \max_{|\beta|=3} C_{\alpha,\beta} 4^{|\alpha|} |x|^{-|\alpha|} d\psi \\ & \leq 4^{|\alpha|+1}C_{\beta}C_{\phi} \left[t^{2} \left(|S| + \varepsilon \right)^{3} |x|^{-(|\alpha|-3)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} d\psi \\ & + \frac{1}{t} |x|^{-|\alpha|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} |\psi|^{3} d\psi \right] \\ & = 4^{|\alpha|+1}C_{\beta}C_{\phi}M^{\frac{d}{2}} \left[t^{2} \left(|S| + \varepsilon \right)^{3} |x|^{-(|\alpha|-3)} + t^{\frac{1}{2}} |x|^{-|\alpha|} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{4a_{\max}^{2}}{a_{0}} \right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \right] |x|^{-(|\alpha|-3)} =: h_{1}(x) \end{split}$$

for every $0 < t \leq t_0$ and $|x| \geq R$, where $C_{\phi} := \max_{|\beta|=3} C_{\alpha,\beta}$. Here, we must choose $|\alpha| > \frac{d}{p} + 3$ to guarantee the L^p -integrability of $h_1(x)$ in $|x| \geq R$, since

(5.20)
$$\int_{a}^{\infty} s^{-n} ds = \frac{a^{1-n}}{n-1}, \ n \in \mathbb{N} \text{ with } n > 1, \ a \in \mathbb{R} \text{ with } a > 0,$$

and

$$\int_{|x|\ge R} |x|^{-(|\alpha|-3)p} dx = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \int_{R}^{\infty} r^{-((|\alpha|-3)p-(d-1))} dr.$$

Case 2: $(|x| \ge R, |\psi| \ge \frac{|x|}{4})$. In this case we must use that $K(\cdot, t) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, i.e. the kernel $K(\cdot, t)$ is a Schwartz function and therefore, it has nice behavior in the far-field. First of all, using $e^{-s^2} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$, i.e.

$$\forall m \in \mathbb{N}_0 \ \forall R > 0 \ \exists C_{R,m} > 0 : \ \left| e^{-s^2} \right| \leq C_{R,m} \left| s \right|^{-m} \ \forall \left| s \right| \ge R$$

and (5.20), we deduce

$$\begin{split} &\int_{|\psi| \ge \frac{|x|}{4}} |K(\psi,t)|_2 |\psi|^k \, d\psi \le \int_{|\psi| \ge \frac{|x|}{4}} (4\pi t a_{\min})^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-\frac{a_0}{4ta_{\max}^2} |\psi|^2} |\psi|^k \, d\psi \\ &= (4\pi t a_{\min})^{-\frac{d}{2}} \frac{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \int_{\frac{|x|}{4}}^{\infty} r^{d-1} e^{-\frac{a_0}{4ta_{\max}^2} r^2} r^k dr \\ &= \left(\frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min}a_0}\right)^{\frac{d+k}{2}} (4ta_{\min})^{\frac{k}{2}} \frac{2}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \int_{\left(\frac{a_0}{4ta_{\max}^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{|x|}{4}} s^{d-1} e^{-s^2} s^k ds \\ &\leqslant \left(\frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min}a_0}\right)^{\frac{d+k}{2}} (4ta_{\min})^{\frac{k}{2}} \frac{2}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \int_{\left(\frac{a_0}{4ta_{\max}^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{|x|}{4}} s^{d-1+k-m} ds \\ &= \frac{2M^{\frac{d+k}{2}} (4ta_{\min})^{\frac{k}{2}}}{(m-d-k)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left[\left(\frac{a_0}{4ta_{\max}^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{|x|}{4} \right]^{-(m-d-k)} \\ &=: Ct^{\frac{m-d}{2}} |x|^{-(m-d-k)} \end{split}$$

whenever $m \ge d + k + 1$. Therefore, we obtain for $0 < t \le t_0, z := e^{tS}x - \psi$

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{4C_{\beta}}{t} \int_{|\psi| \ge \frac{|x|}{4}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} \left(\left| e^{tS}x - x \right|^{3} + |\psi|^{3} \right) \max_{\substack{|\beta| = 3\\ \tau \in [0,1]}} \left| D^{\beta}\phi \left(x + \tau \left(z - x \right) \right) \right| d\psi \\ &\leqslant \frac{4C_{\beta}C_{\phi}}{t} \int_{|\psi| \ge \frac{|x|}{4}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} \left(t^{3} \left| \frac{e^{tS} - I_{d}}{t} \right|^{3} 4^{3} + 1 \right) |\psi|^{3} d\psi \\ &\leqslant \frac{4C_{\beta}C_{\phi}}{t} \left(\frac{4^{3}}{2^{3}} + 1 \right) \int_{|\psi| \ge \frac{|x|}{4}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} |\psi|^{3} d\psi \\ &\leqslant 4C_{\beta}C_{\phi} \left(\frac{4^{3}}{2^{3}} + 1 \right) Ct^{\frac{m-d-2}{2}} |x|^{-(m-d-3)} \\ &\leqslant 4C_{\beta}C_{\phi} \left(\frac{4^{3}}{2^{3}} + 1 \right) Ct^{\frac{m-d-2}{2}} |x|^{-(m-d-3)} =: h_{2}(x) \end{aligned}$$

for every $0 < t \leq t_0$ and $|x| \geq R$, where $C_{\phi} := \max_{|\beta|=3} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^d} |D^{\beta}\phi(y)|$. Here, we must choose $m > \frac{d}{p} + d + 3$ to guarantee L^p -integrability in $|x| \geq R$.

Case 3: $(|x| \leq R, |\psi| \geq \frac{|x|}{4})$. In this case we use that Schwartz functions, as e.g. ϕ and their derivatives, are bounded on compact sets, e.g. on $B_R(0)$. Using (5.17) with B = 0 for k = 3, we obtain with $z := e^{tS}x - \psi$

$$\frac{4C_{\beta}}{t} \int_{|\psi| \ge \frac{|x|}{4}} |K(\psi, t)|_2 \left(\left| e^{tS}x - x \right|^3 + |\psi|^3 \right) \max_{\substack{|\beta|=3\\\tau \in [0,1]}} \left| D^{\beta}\phi \left(x + \tau \left(z - x \right) \right) \right| d\psi$$

$$\begin{split} &\leqslant \frac{4C_{\beta}C_{\phi}}{t} \int_{|\psi| \geqslant \frac{|x|}{4}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} \left(t^{3} \left|\frac{e^{tS} - I_{d}}{t}\right|^{3} |x|^{3} + |\psi|^{3}\right) d\psi \\ &\leqslant \frac{4C_{\beta}C_{\phi}}{t} \left(\frac{4^{3}}{2^{3}} + 1\right) \int_{|\psi| \geqslant \frac{|x|}{4}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} |\psi|^{3} d\psi \\ &\leqslant \frac{4C_{\beta}C_{\phi}}{t} \left(\frac{4^{3}}{2^{3}} + 1\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} |\psi|^{3} d\psi \\ &= 4C_{\beta}C_{\phi} \left(\frac{4^{3}}{2^{3}} + 1\right) M^{\frac{d}{2}} \left(\frac{4a_{\max}^{2}}{a_{0}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} t^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leqslant 4C_{\beta}C_{\phi} \left(\frac{4^{3}}{2^{3}} + 1\right) M^{\frac{d}{2}} \left(\frac{4a_{\max}^{2}}{a_{0}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} t^{\frac{1}{2}} =: h_{3} \end{split}$$

for every $0 < t \leq t_0$ and $|x| \leq R$, where $C_{\phi} := \max_{|\beta|=3} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left| D^{\beta} \phi(y) \right|$.

Case 4: $(|x| \leq R, |\psi| \leq \frac{|x|}{4})$. This case is similar to case 3. Using (5.17) with B = 0 for k = 0 and k = 3, we obtain for $z := e^{tS}x - \psi$

$$\begin{split} &\frac{4C_{\beta}}{t} \int_{|\psi| \leqslant \frac{|x|}{4}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} \left(\left| e^{tS}x - x \right|^{3} + \left| \psi \right|^{3} \right) \max_{\substack{|\beta| = 3\\\tau \in [0,1]}} \left| D^{\beta}\phi \left(x + \tau \left(z - x \right) \right) \right| d\psi \\ &\leqslant 4C_{\beta}C_{\phi} \int_{|\psi| \leqslant \frac{|x|}{4}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} \left(t^{2} \left| \frac{e^{tS} - I_{d}}{t} \right|^{3} |x|^{3} + \frac{1}{t} |\psi|^{3} \right) d\psi \\ &\leqslant 4C_{\beta}C_{\phi} \left[t^{2}_{0} \left(|S| + \varepsilon \right)^{3} R^{3} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} d\psi + \frac{1}{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |K(\psi,t)|_{2} |\psi|^{3} d\psi \right] \\ &= 4C_{\beta}C_{\phi}M^{\frac{d}{2}} \left[t^{2}_{0} \left(|S| + \varepsilon \right) R^{3} + \frac{\Gamma \left(\frac{d+3}{2} \right)}{\Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2} \right)} \left(\frac{4a^{2}_{\max}}{a_{0}} \right)^{\frac{3}{2}} t^{\frac{1}{2}} \right] \\ &\leqslant 4C_{\beta}C_{\phi}M^{\frac{d}{2}} \left[t^{2}_{0} \left(|S| + \varepsilon \right) R^{3} + \frac{\Gamma \left(\frac{d+3}{2} \right)}{\Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2} \right)} \left(\frac{4a^{2}_{\max}}{a_{0}} \right)^{\frac{3}{2}} t^{\frac{1}{2}} \right] \\ &= 1 + 4 \end{split}$$

for every $0 < t \leq t_0$ and $|x| \leq R$, where $C_{\phi} := \max_{|\beta|=3} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^d} |D^{\beta}\phi(y)|$. Now choosing $|\alpha| = \frac{d}{p} + 4$ and $m = \frac{d}{p} + d + 4$ and defining

$$h: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}, \quad h(x) := \begin{cases} \max\{h_3, h_4\} &, |x| \leq R\\ \max\{h_1(x), h_2(x)\} &, |x| \geq R \end{cases}$$

we deduce from (5.18)

$$|f_t(x)| \leq A \sum_{i=1}^d \left| D_i^2 \phi(x) \right| + \sum_{i=1}^d \left(|S| + \varepsilon \right) |x| \left| D_i \phi(x) \right|$$

+ $\frac{t_0}{2} \sum_{i=1}^d \sum_{j=1}^d \left(|S| + \varepsilon \right)^2 |x|^2 \left| D_j D_i \phi(x) \right| + h(x) =: g(x)$

for every $0 < t \leq t_0$. (c): Using the decomposition

$$||g||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}^{p} = \int_{|x| \ge R} |g(x)|^{p} dx + \int_{|x| \le R} |g(x)|^{p} dx$$

and (5.19) since $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, we deduce $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ and the application of dominated convergence is justified.

(3): The proof can partially be found in [34, II.2.13]. Let $\phi \in \mathcal{S} := \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. 1. Recall the (*d*-dimensional) diffusion semigroup $(G(t, 0))_{t \ge 0}$ from (5.10)

$$[G(t,0)\phi](y) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_0(e^{-tS}y,\xi,t)\phi(\xi)d\xi$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (4\pi tA)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-(4tA)^{-1}|y-\xi|^2\right)\phi(\xi)d\xi$$

and recall the kernel K from (4.24) with B = 0

$$K(\psi, t) = (4\pi tA)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-(4tA)^{-1} |\psi|^2\right),$$

which satisfies $K(\cdot, t) \in \mathcal{S}$ for every t > 0, see [34, VI.5.3 Example]. Then we have

$$[T_0(t)\phi](x) = [G(t,0)\phi](e^{tS}x), \quad [G(t,0)\phi](x) = [K(t)*\phi](x)$$

and hence

(5.21)
$$[T_0(t)\phi](x) = [G(t,0)\phi](e^{tS}x) = [K(t)*\phi](e^{tS}x).$$

2. First we show that

(5.22)
$$\left[\mathcal{F}\phi(e^{tS}\cdot)\right](\xi) = \left[\mathcal{F}\phi(\cdot)\right](e^{tS}\xi) \quad \forall \phi \in \mathcal{S},$$

where $\mathcal{F}\phi$ denotes the Fourier transform of $\phi \in \mathcal{S}$. From the transformation theorem (with transformation $\Phi(x) = e^{tS}x$), (A5) and the definition of the Fourier transform [34, VI.5.2 Definition] we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left[\mathcal{F}\phi(e^{tS}\cdot) \right](\xi) &:= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-i\langle x,\xi\rangle} \phi(e^{tS}x) dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-i\langle e^{-tS}y,\xi\rangle} \phi(y) dy \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-i\langle y,e^{tS}\xi\rangle} \phi(y) dy = \left[\mathcal{F}\phi(\cdot) \right](e^{tS}\xi). \end{split}$$

3. Next we show that

(5.23)
$$\left[\mathcal{F}\left[T_{0}(t)\phi\right](\cdot)\right](\xi) = \left[\mathcal{F}K(\cdot,t)\right](e^{tS}\xi) \cdot \left[\mathcal{F}\phi\right](e^{tS}\xi).$$

From (5.21) and (5.22) we obtain for every t > 0

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{F}\left[T_{0}(t)\phi\right](\cdot)\right](\xi) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{F}\left[K(t)*\phi\right](e^{tS}\cdot)\end{bmatrix}(\xi) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{F}\left[K(t)*\phi\right](\cdot)\right](e^{tS}\xi) \\ = \begin{bmatrix} (\mathcal{F}K(t))(\cdot)\cdot(\mathcal{F}\phi)(\cdot)\end{bmatrix}(e^{tS}\xi) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{F}K(t)\end{bmatrix}(e^{tS}\xi)\cdot\left[\mathcal{F}\phi\right](e^{tS}\xi).$$

4. Since $\phi \in S$ it follows that $[\mathcal{F}\phi](\cdot) \in S$ and thus $[\mathcal{F}\phi](e^{tS} \cdot) \in S$ for every $t \ge 0$. Analogously, since $K(\cdot, t) \in S$ for every t > 0 it follows that $[\mathcal{F}K(t)](\cdot) \in S$ and hence $[\mathcal{F}K(t)](e^{tS} \cdot) \in S$ for every t > 0. Using (5.23) we deduce that $[\mathcal{F}[T_0(t)\phi](\cdot)](\cdot) \in S$ for every t > 0 (since S is closed under pointwise multiplication), i.e. $\mathcal{F}(T_0(t)S) \subset S$ for every t > 0 and hence $T_0(t)S \subset \mathcal{F}^{-1}(S) = S$ for every t > 0, see [90, II.7.7 The inversion theorem]. The case t = 0 follows directly from the definition of T_0 in (5.3), that gives T(0)S = S.

(4): Using Theorem 5.10 (1)-(3) the assertion can be deduced by [34, II.1.7 Proposition]. $\hfill \Box$

Remark. Indeed, one can show that also $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is a core for $(A_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$, but not with the same argument as before. Since $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is not invariant under the semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$, we cannot apply [34, II.1.7 Proposition]. In this case one must perform a direct proof as in [71, Proposition 3.2].

5.4 Resolvent estimates

In this section we prove resolvent estimates for \mathcal{L}_0 in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for 1 .For this purpose, we consider the formal Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{0}v\right](x) = A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}$$

in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for 1 and define the domain

$$\mathcal{D}_{\rm loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) := \left\{ v \in W_{\rm loc}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \mid A \triangle v + \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \right\} \\ = \left\{ v \in W_{\rm loc}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \mid \mathcal{L}_0 v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \right\}.$$

The following lemma states that $\mathcal{L}_0 : \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is a closed operator in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 , which justifies to define the resolvent of <math>\mathcal{L}_0$. A proof for the real-valued case can be found in [74, Lemma 3.1], that uses a local elliptic L^p -regularity result from [40, Theorem 9.11].

Lemma 5.11. Let the assumption (A3) be satisfied for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, then the operator $\mathcal{L}_0 : \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is closed in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every 1 .

Proof. Let $(v_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be such that $v_n \in \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ converges to $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $\mathcal{L}_0 v_n$ converges to $u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ both w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{L^p}$. To show the closedness of \mathcal{L}_0 we must verify that $v \in \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and $\mathcal{L}_0 v = u$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be an open bounded set. From $\mathcal{L}_0 v_n \to u$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ we infer that $\mathcal{L}_0 v_n|_{\Omega} \to u|_{\Omega}$ in $L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and therefore, $(\mathcal{L}_0 v_n|_{\Omega})_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Analogously, we deduce from $v_n \to v$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ that $v_n|_{\Omega} \to v|_{\Omega}$ in $L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and thus $(v_n|_{\Omega})_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Since Sx is bounded in Ω by the boundedness of Ω , [40, Theorem 9.11] yields that for every $\Omega' \subset \subset \Omega$ there exists some constant $C = C(\Omega', \Omega, p, A, S, d) > 0$ such that

$$\|v_n|_{\Omega'} - v_m|_{\Omega'}\|_{W^{2,p}(\Omega',\mathbb{C}^N)}$$

$$\leqslant C \left(\|v_n|_{\Omega} - v_m|_{\Omega}\|_{L^p(\Omega,\mathbb{C}^N)} + \|\mathcal{L}_0 v_n|_{\Omega} - \mathcal{L}_0 v_m|_{\Omega}\|_{L^p(\Omega,\mathbb{C}^N)} \right) \leqslant \varepsilon.$$

Therefore, $(v_n|_{\Omega'})_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $W^{2,p}(\Omega', \mathbb{C}^N)$ and consequently, there exists some $v^{\Omega'} \in W^{2,p}(\Omega', \mathbb{C}^N)$ such that $v_n|_{\Omega'} \to v^{\Omega'}$ in $W^{2,p}(\Omega', \mathbb{C}^N)$ and hence in particular in $L^p(\Omega', \mathbb{C}^N)$. Moreover, since $v_n \to v$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ we deduce $v_n|_{\Omega'} \to v|_{\Omega'}$ in $L^p(\Omega', \mathbb{C}^N)$. Therefore, $v^{\Omega'} = v|_{\Omega'}$ in $L^p(\Omega', \mathbb{C}^N)$ and we further infer that $v_n|_{\Omega'} \to v|_{\Omega'}$ in $W^{2,p}(\Omega', \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $v|_{\Omega'} \in W^{2,p}(\Omega', \mathbb{C}^N)$.

Now, by the arbitrariness of Ω and Ω' we deduce that $v \in W^{2,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Moreover, $v_n|_{\Omega'} \to v|_{\Omega'} \in W^{2,p}(\Omega', \mathbb{C}^N)$ implies $\mathcal{L}_0 v_n|_{\Omega'} \to \mathcal{L}_0 v|_{\Omega'}$ in $L^p(\Omega', \mathbb{C}^N)$ and hence $\mathcal{L}_0 v|_{\Omega'} = u|_{\Omega'}$ in $L^p(\Omega', \mathbb{C}^N)$. By arbitrariness of Ω and Ω' we deduce $\mathcal{L}_0 v = u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and thus $v \in \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$.

Since $(\mathcal{L}_0, \mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0))$ is a closed operator on the Banach space $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every 1 , we can introduce

$$\begin{split} \sigma(\mathcal{L}_0) &:= \{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \lambda I - \mathcal{L}_0 \text{ is not bijective} \} & \text{spectrum of } \mathcal{L}_0, \\ \rho(\mathcal{L}_0) &:= \mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma(\mathcal{L}_0) & \text{resolvent set of } \mathcal{L}_0, \\ R(\lambda, \mathcal{L}_0) &:= (\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_0)^{-1}, \text{ for } \lambda \in \rho(\mathcal{L}_0) & \text{resolvent of } \mathcal{L}_0. \end{split}$$

The following Lemma 5.12 is crucial in order to derive an optimal L^p -dissipativity condition as well as resolvent estimates for \mathcal{L}_0 . This is a complex-valued version of [73, Lemma 2.1].

Lemma 5.12. Let the assumption (A3) be satisfied for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Moreover, let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be a bounded domain with a C^2 -boundary or $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$, $1 , <math>v \in W^{2,p}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap W_0^{1,p}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $\eta \in C_b^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ be nonnegative, then

$$-\operatorname{Re} \int_{\Omega} \eta \overline{v}^{T} |v|^{p-2} A \Delta v$$

$$\geq (p-1) \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Omega} \eta |v|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \overline{D_{j} v}^{T} A D_{j} v \mathbb{1}_{\{v \neq 0\}} + \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Omega} \overline{v}^{T} |v|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^{d} D_{j} \eta A D_{j} v$$

$$+ (p-2) \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Omega} \eta |v|^{p-4} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left[\operatorname{Re} \left(\overline{D_{j} v}^{T} v \right) \overline{v}^{T} - |v|^{2} \overline{D_{j} v}^{T} \right] A D_{j} v \mathbb{1}_{\{v \neq 0\}}.$$

Remark. For the parameter regime $2 \leq p < \infty$ Lemma 5.12 follows directly from the integration by parts formula and therefore, the estimate is satisfied with equality. In this case, the real parts in front of the integrals can also be dropped and the assumption (A3) is not used. If 1 , then Lemma 5.12 is satisfied only with inequality, which is a direct consequence of Fatou's lemma. In particular, in this case we need the assumption (A3) that yields positivity of the quadratic term, that is necessary for the application of Fatou's lemma.

Proof. We only provide the proof for $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ bounded. In case $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ integration by parts yields no boundary terms due to decay at infinity and thus it can be treated in an analogous way but without boundary integrals. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be bounded with C^2 -boundary $\partial \Omega$.

Case 1: $(2 \leq p < \infty)$. Multiplying $-A \triangle v$ from left by $\eta \overline{v}^T |v|^{p-2}$, integrating over Ω and using integration by parts formula we obtain

$$\begin{split} &-\int_{\Omega} \eta \overline{v}^{T} |v|^{p-2} A \bigtriangleup v = -\sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\Omega} \eta \overline{v}^{T} |v|^{p-2} A D_{j}^{2} v \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\Omega} (D_{j}\eta) \overline{v}^{T} |v|^{p-2} A D_{j} v + \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\Omega} \eta D_{j} (\overline{v}^{T} |v|^{p-2}) A D_{j} v \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\Omega} (D_{j}\eta) \overline{v}^{T} |v|^{p-2} A D_{j} v + (p-1) \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\Omega} \eta |v|^{p-2} \overline{D_{j} v}^{T} A D_{j} v \mathbb{1}_{\{v \neq 0\}} \\ &+ (p-2) \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\Omega} \eta |v|^{p-4} \left[\operatorname{Re} \left(\overline{D_{j} v}^{T} v \right) \overline{v}^{T} - |v|^{2} \overline{D_{j} v}^{T} \right] A D_{j} v \mathbb{1}_{\{v \neq 0\}} \\ &= (p-1) \int_{\Omega} \eta |v|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \overline{D_{j} v}^{T} A D_{j} v \mathbb{1}_{\{v \neq 0\}} + \int_{\Omega} \overline{v}^{T} |v|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^{d} D_{j} \eta A D_{j} v \\ &+ (p-2) \int_{\Omega} \eta |v|^{p-4} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left[\operatorname{Re} \left(\overline{D_{j} v}^{T} v \right) \overline{v}^{T} - |v|^{2} \overline{D_{j} v}^{T} \right] A D_{j} v \mathbb{1}_{\{v \neq 0\}}. \end{split}$$

Now applying real parts we deduce the desired estimates with equality. In the computations above we used the following auxiliaries: The relation $z + \overline{z} = 2 \text{Re} z$ yields

$$D_{j}\left(|v|^{p}\right) = D_{j}\left(\left(|v|^{2}\right)^{\frac{p}{2}}\right) = \frac{p}{2}\left(|v|^{2}\right)^{\frac{p}{2}-1}D_{j}\left(|v|^{2}\right) = \frac{p}{2}|v|^{p-2}D_{j}(\overline{v}^{T}v)$$

$$(5.24) = \frac{p}{2}|v|^{p-2}\left[\overline{D_{j}v}^{T}v + \overline{v}^{T}D_{j}v\right] = \frac{p}{2}|v|^{p-2}\left[\overline{D_{j}v}^{T}v + \overline{D_{j}v}^{T}v^{T}\right]$$

$$= p|v|^{p-2}\operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{D_{j}v}^{T}v\right)$$

for every $v \in \mathbb{C}^N$, $p \ge 2$ and $j = 1, \ldots, d$. This formula remains valid for every $p \ge 0$ and $v \ne 0$. Using the formula (5.24) we obtain for every $v \ne 0$ and $p \ge 2$

$$D_{j}\left(\overline{v}^{T}|v|^{p-2}\right) = \overline{D_{j}v}^{T}|v|^{p-2} + \overline{v}^{T}D_{j}\left(|v|^{p-2}\right)$$
$$= \overline{D_{j}v}^{T}|v|^{p-2} + (p-2)\overline{v}^{T}|v|^{p-4}\operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{D_{j}v}^{T}v\right)$$
$$= (p-1)|v|^{p-2}\overline{D_{j}v}^{T} + (p-2)|v|^{p-4}\left[\operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{D_{j}v}^{T}v\right)\overline{v}^{T} - |v|^{2}\overline{D_{j}v}^{T}\right].$$

Case 2: $(1 . This case is much more involved and one has to be very careful, since the expression <math>|v|^p$ is not differentiable at v = 0 for 1 . We prove the assertion in three steps.

1. First we consider $v \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap C_c(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Multiplying $-A \triangle v$ from left by $\eta \overline{v}^T (|v|^2 + \varepsilon)^{\frac{p}{2}-1}$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$, integrating over Ω and using integration by parts formula we obtain

$$-\int_{\Omega} \eta \overline{v}^{T} \left(|v|^{2} + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2}-1} A \Delta v = -\sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\Omega} \eta \overline{v}^{T} \left(|v|^{2} + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2}-1} A D_{j}^{2} v$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left[\int_{\Omega} D_{j} \left(\eta \overline{v}^{T} \left(|v|^{2} + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2}-1} \right) A D_{j} v - \int_{\partial \Omega} \eta \overline{v}^{T} \left(|v|^{2} + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2}-1} A D_{j} v \nu^{j} dS \right]$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left[\int_{\Omega} (D_{j} \eta) \overline{v}^{T} \left(|v|^{2} + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2}-1} A D_{j} v + \int_{\Omega} \eta D_{j} \left(\overline{v}^{T} \left(|v|^{2} + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2}-1} \right) A D_{j} v \right]$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} \eta \left(|v|^{2} + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2}-2} \left((p-1) |v|^{2} + \varepsilon \right) \sum_{j=1}^{d} \overline{D_{j} v}^{T} A D_{j} v$$

$$+ \int_{\Omega} \overline{v}^{T} \left(|v|^{2} + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2}-1} \sum_{j=1}^{d} D_{j} \eta A D_{j} v$$

$$+ (p-2) \int_{\Omega} \eta \left(|v|^{2} + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2}-2} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left[\operatorname{Re} \left(\overline{D_{j} v}^{T} v \right) \overline{v}^{T} - |v|^{2} \overline{D_{j} v}^{T} \right] A D_{j} v.$$

The boundary integral vanishes because from $v \in C_{c}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ follows $\overline{v}(x) = 0$ for every $x \in \partial \Omega$. Moreover, we used the relations

$$D_j\left(\left(|v|^2+\varepsilon\right)^{\frac{p}{2}-1}\right) = \left(\frac{p}{2}-1\right)\left(|v|^2+\varepsilon\right)^{\frac{p}{2}-2}D_j\left(|v|^2+\varepsilon\right)$$
$$= (p-2)\left(|v|^2+\varepsilon\right)^{\frac{p}{2}-2}\operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{D_jv}^Tv\right),$$

cf. (5.24) for p = 2, and

$$D_{j}\left(\overline{v}^{T}\left(|v|^{2}+\varepsilon\right)^{\frac{p}{2}-1}\right) = \overline{D_{j}v}^{T}\left(|v|^{2}+\varepsilon\right)^{\frac{p}{2}-1} + \overline{v}^{T}D_{j}\left(\left(|v|^{2}+\varepsilon\right)^{\frac{p}{2}-1}\right)$$
$$= \overline{D_{j}v}^{T}\left(|v|^{2}+\varepsilon\right)^{\frac{p}{2}-1} + (p-2)\left(|v|^{2}+\varepsilon\right)^{\frac{p}{2}-2}\overline{v}^{T}\operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{D_{j}v}^{T}v\right)$$
$$= \left(|v|^{2}+\varepsilon\right)^{\frac{p}{2}-2}\left[\overline{D_{j}v}^{T}\left(|v|^{2}+\varepsilon\right) + (p-2)\overline{v}^{T}\operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{D_{j}v}^{T}v\right)\right]$$
$$= \left(|v|^{2}+\varepsilon\right)^{\frac{p}{2}-2}\left((p-1)|v|^{2}+\varepsilon\right)\overline{D_{j}v}^{T}$$
$$+ \left(|v|^{2}+\varepsilon\right)^{\frac{p}{2}-2}\left(p-2\right)\left[\operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{D_{j}v}^{T}v\right)\overline{v}^{T} - |v|^{2}\overline{D_{j}v}^{T}\right].$$

Note that both formulas are valid for $1 , <math>v \in \mathbb{C}$ and $j = 1, \ldots, d$ if $\varepsilon > 0$ and for $1 , <math>v \neq 0$ and $j = 1, \ldots, d$ if $\varepsilon = 0$.

2. We now apply Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, see [7, A1.21]: Putting the last two terms of the equation from step 1 to the left hand side, taking the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$ and applying dominated convergence twice we obtain

$$(p-1)\int_{\Omega} \eta |v|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \overline{D_{j}v}^{T} A D_{j}v \mathbb{1}_{\{v\neq 0\}}$$
$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} \eta \left(|v|^{2} + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2}-2} \left((p-1)|v|^{2} + \varepsilon \right) \sum_{j=1}^{d} \overline{D_{j}v}^{T} A D_{j}v$$

$$= -\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[\int_{\Omega} \eta \overline{v}^T \left(|v|^2 + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2} - 1} A \Delta v + \int_{\Omega} \overline{v}^T \left(|v|^2 + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2} - 1} \sum_{j=1}^d D_j \eta A D_j v \right]$$
$$+ (p-2) \int_{\Omega} \eta \left(|v|^2 + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2} - 2} \sum_{j=1}^d \left[\operatorname{Re} \left(\overline{D_j v}^T v \right) \overline{v}^T - |v|^2 \overline{D_j v}^T \right] A D_j v \right]$$
$$= - \int_{\Omega} \eta \overline{v}^T |v|^{p-2} A \Delta v - \int_{\Omega} \overline{v}^T |v|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^d D_j \eta A D_j v$$
$$- (p-2) \int_{\Omega} \eta |v|^{p-4} \sum_{j=1}^d \left[\operatorname{Re} \left(\overline{D_j v}^T v \right) \overline{v}^T - |v|^2 \overline{D_j v}^T \right] A D_j v \mathbb{1}_{\{v \neq 0\}}.$$

To justify the applications of Lebesgue's theorem, we discuss the assumptions in both cases: First, we define

$$f_{\varepsilon} := \eta \left(|v|^2 + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2} - 2} \left((p-1)|v|^2 + \varepsilon \right) \sum_{j=1}^d \overline{D_j v}^T A D_j v$$
$$f := (p-1)\eta |v|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^d \overline{D_j v}^T A D_j v.$$

Using $v \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap C_c(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$, $\eta \in C_b(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ and $(|v|^2 + \varepsilon)^{\frac{p}{2}-k} \leq |v|^{p-2k}$ for k = 1, 2 and $1 we obtain that <math>f_{\varepsilon}$ is dominated by g as follows

$$\begin{aligned} |f_{\varepsilon}| &= \left| \eta \left((p-2)|v|^2 \left(|v|^2 + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2}-2} + \left(|v|^2 + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2}-1} \right) \sum_{j=1}^d \overline{D_j v}^T A D_j v \right| \\ &\leq & |\eta| \left(|p-2|+1 \right) |v|^{p-2} |A| \sum_{j=1}^d |D_j v|^2 \\ &= & |p-3||A| ||\eta| |v|^{p-2} |\nabla v|^2 \mathbb{1}_{\{v \neq 0\}} \\ &\leq & |p-3||A| ||\eta||_{\infty} ||v||_{\infty}^{p-2} ||\nabla v||_{\infty}^2 \mathbb{1}_{\{v \neq 0\}} =: g. \end{aligned}$$

Since v is compactly supported, i.e. $\mathbb{1}_{\{v\neq 0\}}$ is compact, g belongs to $L^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$. In particular, $f_{\varepsilon} \to f$ pointwise a.e. as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Thus, by dominated convergence, $f_{\varepsilon}, f \in L^1(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $f_{\varepsilon} \to f$ in $L^1(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Next, consider

$$\begin{split} f_{\varepsilon} &:= \overline{v}^T \left(|v|^2 + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2} - 1} \left(\eta A \triangle v + \sum_{j=1}^d D_j \eta A D_j v \right) \\ &+ (p-2)\eta \left(|v|^2 + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2} - 2} \sum_{j=1}^d \left[\operatorname{Re} \left(\overline{D_j v}^T v \right) \overline{v}^T - |v|^2 \overline{D_j v}^T \right] A D_j v \\ f &:= \overline{v}^T |v|^{p-2} \left(\eta A \triangle v + \sum_{j=1}^d D_j \eta A D_j v \right) \\ &+ (p-2)\eta |v|^{p-4} \sum_{j=1}^d \left[\operatorname{Re} \left(\overline{D_j v}^T v \right) \overline{v}^T - |v|^2 \overline{D_j v}^T \right] A D_j v \end{split}$$

Using $v \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap C_c(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$, $\eta \in C_b^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ and $(|v|^2 + \varepsilon)^{\frac{p}{2}-k} \leq |v|^{p-2k}$ for k = 1, 2 and $1 we obtain that <math>f_{\varepsilon}$ is dominated by g as follows

$$\begin{split} |f_{\varepsilon}| &\leqslant |v| \left(|v|^{2} + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2} - 1} \left(|\eta| |A| |\Delta v| + |A| \sum_{j=1}^{d} |D_{j}\eta| |D_{j}v| \right) \\ &+ |p - 2| |\eta| \left(|v|^{2} + \varepsilon \right)^{\frac{p}{2} - 2} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left[\left| \operatorname{Re} \left(\overline{D_{j}v}^{T}v \right) \right| |v| + |v|^{2} |D_{j}v| \right] |A| |D_{j}v| \\ &\leqslant |v|^{p-1} \left(|\eta| |A| |\Delta v| + |A| \sum_{j=1}^{d} |D_{j}\eta| |D_{j}v| \right) \mathbb{1}_{\{v \neq 0\}} \\ &+ 2|p - 2| |\eta| |v|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^{d} |D_{j}v|^{2} |A| \mathbb{1}_{\{v \neq 0\}} \\ &\leqslant \left[|A| \|\eta\|_{\infty} \|v\|_{\infty}^{p-1} \|\Delta v\|_{\infty} + d|A| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty} \|v\|_{1,\infty} \\ &2d|p - 2| |A| \|\eta\|_{\infty} \|v\|_{\infty}^{p-2} \|v\|_{1,\infty}^{2} \right] \mathbb{1}_{\{v \neq 0\}} =: g. \end{split}$$

Since v is compactly supported, we deduce once more that g belongs to $L^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$. In particular, $f_{\varepsilon} \to f$ pointwise a.e. as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Thus, by dominated convergence, $f_{\varepsilon}, f \in L^1(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $f_{\varepsilon} \to f$ in $L^1(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. 3. Now let $v \in W^{2,p}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap W_0^{1,p}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$. In this case we use a density argument and Fatou's lemma, that yields the inequality. Note that we have to take real parts on both sides in order to apply Fatou's lemma. Since $C^2(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap C_c(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is a dense subspace of $W^{2,p}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap W_0^{1,p}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$ w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{W^{2,p}}$, there exists a sequence $v_n \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap C_c(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$ such that $v_n \to v$ w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{W^{2,p}}$ as $n \to \infty, n \in \mathbb{N}$. Furthermore, there exists a subset $\mathbb{N}' \subset \mathbb{N}$ such that $v_n \to v$ and $\nabla v_n \to \nabla v$ pointwise a.e. as $n \to \infty, n \in \mathbb{N}'$. In the following we consider this subsequence $(v_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}'} \subset C^2(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap C_c(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$: Inserting v_n into the equation from step 2, taking real parts and the limit inferior $n \to \infty$ $(n \in \mathbb{N}')$ on both sides and applying Fatou's lemma on the left hand side we obtain

$$(p-1)\operatorname{Re} \int_{\Omega} \eta |v|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \overline{D_{j}v}^{T} A D_{j}v \mathbb{1}_{\{v \neq 0\}}$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} \lim_{n \to \infty} (p-1)\eta |v_{n}|^{p-2} \operatorname{Re} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \overline{D_{j}v_{n}}^{T} A D_{j}v_{n} \mathbb{1}_{\{v_{n} \neq 0\}}$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} \liminf_{n \to \infty} (p-1)\eta |v_{n}|^{p-2} \operatorname{Re} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \overline{D_{j}v_{n}}^{T} A D_{j}v_{n} \mathbb{1}_{\{v_{n} \neq 0\}}$$
$$\leqslant \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} (p-1)\eta |v_{n}|^{p-2} \operatorname{Re} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \overline{D_{j}v_{n}}^{T} A D_{j}v_{n} \mathbb{1}_{\{v_{n} \neq 0\}}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left[-\operatorname{Re} \, \int_{\Omega} \eta \overline{v_n}^T |v_n|^{p-2} A \triangle v_n - \operatorname{Re} \, \int_{\Omega} \overline{v_n}^T |v_n|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^d D_j \eta A D_j v_n \right. \\ &- (p-2) \operatorname{Re} \, \int_{\Omega} \eta |v_n|^{p-4} \sum_{j=1}^d \left[\operatorname{Re} \, \left(\overline{D_j v_n}^T v_n \right) \overline{v_n}^T - |v_n|^2 \overline{D_j v_n}^T \right] A D_j v_n \mathbb{1}_{\{v_n \neq 0\}} \right] \\ &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \left[-\operatorname{Re} \, \int_{\Omega} \eta \overline{v_n}^T |v_n|^{p-2} A \triangle v_n - \operatorname{Re} \, \int_{\Omega} \overline{v_n}^T |v_n|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^d D_j \eta A D_j v_n \\ &- (p-2) \operatorname{Re} \, \int_{\Omega} \eta |v_n|^{p-4} \sum_{j=1}^d \left[\operatorname{Re} \, \left(\overline{D_j v_n}^T v_n \right) \overline{v_n}^T - |v_n|^2 \overline{D_j v_n}^T \right] A D_j v_n \mathbb{1}_{\{v_n \neq 0\}} \right] \\ &= -\operatorname{Re} \, \int_{\Omega} \eta \overline{v}^T |v|^{p-2} A \triangle v - \operatorname{Re} \, \int_{\Omega} \overline{v}^T |v|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^d D_j \eta A D_j v \\ &- (p-2) \operatorname{Re} \, \int_{\Omega} \eta |v|^{p-4} \sum_{j=1}^d \left[\operatorname{Re} \, \left(\overline{D_j v}^T v_n \right) \overline{v}^T - |v|^2 \overline{D_j v}^T \right] A D_j v \mathbb{1}_{\{v \neq 0\}}. \end{split}$$

In the first equality we used the fact that $v_n \to v$ and $\nabla v_n \to \nabla v$ pointwise a.e. as $n \to \infty$, $n \in \mathbb{N}'$. The last equality can be accepted as follows: Let $f_n \to f$ in L^q and $g_n \to g$ in L^p with $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$, i.e. $q = \frac{p}{p-1}$, then $\int f_n g_n \to \int fg$ by Hölder's inequality, since

$$\int (f_n g_n - fg) = \int (f_n - f)g + \int f(g_n - g)$$

$$\leq \|f_n - f\|_{L^q} \|q_n\|_{L^p} + \|f\|_{L^q} \|g_n - g\|_{L^p} \to 0$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \overline{v_n}^T |v_n|^{p-2} & \xrightarrow{L^q} \overline{v}^T |v|^{p-2}, & A \triangle v_n \xrightarrow{L^p} A \triangle v, \\ \overline{v_n}^T |v_n|^{p-2} & \xrightarrow{L^q} \overline{v}^T |v|^{p-2}, & A D_j v_n \xrightarrow{L^p} A D_j v, \\ |v_n|^{p-4} \operatorname{Re} \left(\overline{D_j v_n}^T v_n \right) \overline{v_n}^T \xrightarrow{L^q} |v|^{p-4} \operatorname{Re} \left(\overline{D_j v}^T v \right) \overline{v}^T, & A D_j v_n \xrightarrow{L^p} A D_j v, \\ |v_n|^{p-2} \overline{D_j v_n}^T \xrightarrow{L^q} |v|^{p-2} \overline{D_j v}^T, & A D_j v_n \xrightarrow{L^p} A D_j v, \end{split}$$

together with $\eta \in C_{\rm b}^1(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ yields the last equality in the above equation. It remains to justify the application of Fatou's lemma, [7, A1.20]: Consider

$$f_n := (p-1)\eta |v_n|^{p-2} \operatorname{Re} \sum_{j=1}^d \overline{D_j v_n}^T A D_j v_n \mathbb{1}_{\{v_n \neq 0\}}, \ n \in \mathbb{N}'.$$

By Hölder's inequality we have already seen that $\liminf_{n\to\infty} f_n < \infty$ is satisfied. Moreover, $f_n \ge 0$ pointwise a.e., since A satisfies assumption (A3) and η is nonnegative. Finally, $f_n \in L^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$, since $v_n \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap C_c(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $\eta \in C^1_b(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$. Thus, by Fatou's, $\liminf_{n\to\infty} f_n \in L^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ and

$$\int_{\Omega} \liminf_{n \to \infty} f_n \leqslant \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} f_n,$$

that proves the lemma. Note, that it is in general not possible to apply Lebesgue's theorem in case of $v \in W^{2,p}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap W_0^{1,p}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$, since one cannot determine a *n*-independent bound for $|f_n| \leq g$ a.e. for every $n \in \mathbb{N}'$. In fact, we only know positivity of f_n due to (A3), that justifies the application of Fatou's lemma and generates an inequality for 1 .

We are now able to prove sharp resolvent estimates for the formal Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_0 in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for 1 , which then yield the unique $solvability of the resolvent equation for <math>\mathcal{L}_0$ in $\mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$. The main idea of the proof comes from [73, Theorem 2.2, Remark 2.3] for the scalar real-valued case and from [15, Theorem 3.1] for d = 2. In our situation, the proof requires the additional L^p -dissipativity condition (5.1), that seems to be new in the literature. This condition seems to be the optimal choice in order to derive resolvent estimates for \mathcal{L}_0 in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for 1 . It contains an additional, more restrictiverequirement of the spectrum of the diffusion matrix <math>A, even through it looks slightly complicated. We show later on in Theorem 5.18 that the L^p -dissipativity condition (5.1) is equivalent to the L^p -antieigenvalue condition (A4).

Theorem 5.13 (Resolvent Estimates for \mathcal{L}_0 in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ with 1). Let $the assumptions (A3), (A4) and (A5) be satisfied for <math>1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Moreover, let $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega_0$ and let $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}_{\operatorname{loc}}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$ denote a solution of

$$(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_0) v = g$$

in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for some $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Then v_\star is the unique solution in $\mathcal{D}^p_{loc}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and satisfies the resolvent estimate

$$\|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \leqslant \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda - \omega_{0}} \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}.$$

In addition, for 1 the following gradient estimate is satisfied

$$|v_{\star}|_{W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \leqslant \frac{d^{\frac{1}{p}}}{\gamma_{A}^{\frac{1}{2}} (\operatorname{Re} \lambda - \omega_{0})^{\frac{1}{2}}} \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}.$$

Remark. (1) Note that the proof deals with cut-off functions. These are necessary because $v \in W^{2,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ implies only that $\Delta v \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. What this really means is that v is not p-integrable over the whole \mathbb{R}^d and therefore, we must restrict the solution to a bounded domain.

(2) The gradient estimate is proved only for 1 but not for <math>p > 2. Its proof is based on Hölder's inequality that requires exactly 1 .

(3) An L^p -dissipativity condition for the operator $\nabla^T (Q\nabla v) + \langle b, \nabla v \rangle + av$ in $L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{C})$ with $1 can be found in [26], namely for constant coefficients <math>Q \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d}, b \in \mathbb{C}^d, a \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ open in [26, Theorem 2], and for variable coefficients $Q_{ij}, b_j \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{C}), a \in C^0(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{C})$ with $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ bounded in [26, Lemma 2].

Proof. Assume $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ satisfies

(5.25)
$$(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_0) v_\star = g$$

in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for some $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ with 1 . Let us define

$$\eta_n(x) = \eta\left(\frac{x}{n}\right), \quad \eta \in C^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}), \quad \eta(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & , |x| \leq 1 \\ \in [0, 1], \text{ smooth } & , 1 < |x| < 2 \\ 0 & , |x| \ge 2 \end{cases}$$

1. Multiplying (5.25) from left by $\eta_n^2 \overline{v_\star}^T |v_\star|^{p-2}$ with $1 , integrating over <math>\mathbb{R}^d$ and taking real parts yields

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta_n^2 |v_{\star}|^{p-2} \overline{v_{\star}}^T g = (\operatorname{Re} \lambda) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta_n^2 |v_{\star}|^p - \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta_n^2 \overline{v_{\star}}^T |v_{\star}|^{p-2} A \Delta v_{\star}$$
$$- \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta_n^2 \overline{v_{\star}}^T |v_{\star}|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^d (Sx)_j D_j v_{\star}.$$

2. Using (A5), i.e. $-S = S^T$, then integration by parts formula and (5.24) imply

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \frac{1}{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta_n^2 \left(\sum_{j=1}^d S_{jj} \right) |v_\star|^p = \frac{1}{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta_n^2 \mathrm{div} \left(Sx \right) |v_\star|^p \\ &= \frac{1}{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta_n^2 \left(\sum_{j=1}^d D_j \left((Sx)_j \right) \right) |v_\star|^p = \frac{1}{p} \sum_{j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta_n^2 D_j \left((Sx)_j \right) |v_\star|^p \\ &= -\frac{1}{p} \sum_{j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} D_j \left(\eta_n^2 \right) (Sx)_j |v_\star|^p - \frac{1}{p} \sum_{j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta_n^2 (Sx)_j D_j \left(|v_\star|^p \right) \\ &= -\frac{2}{p} \sum_{j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta_n (D_j \eta_n) (Sx)_j |v_\star|^p - \sum_{j=1}^d \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta_n^2 (Sx)_j \mathrm{Re} \left(\overline{D_j v_\star}^T v_\star \right) |v_\star|^{p-2} \\ &= -\frac{2}{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta_n |v_\star|^p \sum_{j=1}^d (D_j \eta_n) (Sx)_j - \mathrm{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta_n^2 \overline{v_\star}^T |v_\star|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^d (Sx)_j D_j v_\star. \end{split}$$

An application of Lemma 5.12 (with $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\eta = \eta_n^2$) yields

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p-2} \overline{v_{\star}}^{T} g$$

$$\geqslant (\operatorname{Re} \lambda) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p} + \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} 2\eta_{n} \overline{v_{\star}}^{T} |v_{\star}|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^{d} D_{j} \eta_{n} A D_{j} v_{\star}$$

$$+ (p-1) \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \overline{D_{j} v_{\star}}^{T} A D_{j} v_{\star} + \frac{2}{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n} |v_{\star}|^{p} \sum_{j=1}^{d} (D_{j} \eta_{n}) (Sx)_{j}$$

$$+ (p-2) \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p-4} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left[\operatorname{Re} \left(\overline{D_{j} v_{\star}}^{T} v_{\star} \right) \overline{v_{\star}}^{T} - |v_{\star}|^{2} \overline{D_{j} v_{\star}}^{T} \right] A D_{j} v_{\star}$$

3. Putting the 2nd and 4th term from the right hand to the left hand side yields

$$(\operatorname{Re}\lambda)\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}\eta_{n}^{2}\left|v_{\star}\right|^{p}+(p-1)\operatorname{Re}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}\eta_{n}^{2}\left|v_{\star}\right|^{p-2}\sum_{j=1}^{d}\overline{D_{j}v_{\star}}^{T}AD_{j}v_{\star}$$
$$+(p-2)\operatorname{Re}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}\eta_{n}^{2}\left|v_{\star}\right|^{p-4}\sum_{j=1}^{d}\left[\operatorname{Re}\left(\overline{D_{j}v_{\star}}^{T}v_{\star}\right)\overline{v_{\star}}^{T}-|v_{\star}|^{2}\overline{D_{j}v_{\star}}^{T}\right]AD_{j}v_{\star}$$
$$\leqslant\operatorname{Re}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}\eta_{n}^{2}\left|v_{\star}\right|^{p-2}\overline{v_{\star}}^{T}g-\operatorname{Re}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}2\eta_{n}\overline{v_{\star}}^{T}\left|v_{\star}\right|^{p-2}\sum_{j=1}^{d}D_{j}\eta_{n}AD_{j}v_{\star}$$
$$-\frac{2}{p}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}\eta_{n}\left|v_{\star}\right|^{p}\sum_{j=1}^{d}(D_{j}\eta_{n})(Sx)_{j}$$

For the 1st term on the right hand side we use $\operatorname{Re} z \leq |z|$ and Hölder's inequality (with q such that $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$)

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} \left| v_{\star} \right|^{p-2} \overline{v_{\star}}^{T} g = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} \left| v_{\star} \right|^{p-2} \operatorname{Re} \left(\overline{v_{\star}}^{T} g \right)$$
$$\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} \left| v_{\star} \right|^{p-1} \left| g \right| \leqslant \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\eta_{n}^{\frac{2(p-1)}{p}} \left| v_{\star} \right|^{p-1} \right)^{\frac{p}{p-1}} \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\eta_{n}^{\frac{2}{p}} \left| g \right| \right)^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$
$$= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} \left| v_{\star} \right|^{p} \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} \left| g \right|^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

For the 2nd term we use $\text{Re} z \leq |z|$, Hölder's inequality (with p = q = 2) and Cauchy's inequality (with $\varepsilon > 0$)

$$-\operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} 2\eta_{n} \overline{v_{\star}}^{T} |v_{\star}|^{p-2} \sum_{j=1}^{d} D_{j} \eta_{n} A D_{j} v_{\star}$$

$$\leq 2|A| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n} |v_{\star}|^{p-1} \sum_{j=1}^{d} |D_{j} \eta_{n}| |D_{j} v_{\star}| \leq \frac{2|A| ||\eta||_{1,\infty}}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n} |D_{j} v_{\star}| |v_{\star}|^{p-1}$$

$$\leq \frac{2|A| ||\eta||_{1,\infty}}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |D_{j} v_{\star}|^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p-2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |v_{\star}|^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\leq \frac{2|A| ||\eta||_{1,\infty}}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |D_{j} v_{\star}|^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p-2} + \frac{2d|A| ||\eta||_{1,\infty}}{4n\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |v_{\star}|^{p}.$$

Here we used that for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $j = 1, \ldots, d$

$$|D_j\eta_n(x)| = \left|D_j\left(\eta\left(\frac{x}{n}\right)\right)\right| = \frac{1}{n}\left|(D_j\eta)\left(\frac{x}{n}\right)\right| \leq \frac{1}{n}\max_{j=1,\dots,d}\max_{y\in\mathbb{R}^d}|D_j\eta(y)| = \frac{\|\eta\|_{1,\infty}}{n}$$

For the 3rd term we use that $\eta_n(x) = 0$ for $|x| \ge 2n$ and $\eta_n(x) = 1$ for $|x| \le n$. Hence $D_j\eta_n(x) = 0$ for $|x| \le n$ and we obtain

$$-\frac{2}{p}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}\eta_{n} |v_{\star}|^{p} \sum_{j=1}^{d} (D_{j}\eta_{n})(Sx)_{j} \leqslant \frac{2}{p} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}\eta_{n} |v_{\star}|^{p} |(Sx)_{j}| |D_{j}\eta_{n}|$$

$$= \frac{2}{p} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{n \leq |x| \leq 2n} \eta_n |v_\star|^p |(Sx)_j| |D_j \eta_n| \leq \frac{4d |S| ||\eta||_{1,\infty}}{p} \int_{n \leq |x| \leq 2n} |v_\star|^p.$$

The last inequality is justified by $\eta_n(x) \leq 1$ and

$$|(Sx)_{j}| |D_{j}\eta_{n}(x)| = \frac{1}{n} |(Sx)_{j}| \left| (D_{j}\eta) \left(\frac{x}{n}\right) \right| \leq \frac{1}{n} |S||x| \left| (D_{j}\eta) \left(\frac{x}{n}\right) \right|$$

$$\leq \frac{|S|}{n} \left(\sup_{n \leq |x| \leq 2n} |x| \right) \max_{j=1,\dots,d} \max_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{d}} |D_{j}\eta(y)| = 2 |S| ||\eta||_{1,\infty}.$$

Altogether, combining the 2nd and 3rd term on the left hand side and using the notation $\langle u, v \rangle := \overline{u}^T v$ for the Euclidean inner product on \mathbb{C}^N , we obtain

$$(\operatorname{Re} \lambda) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p-4} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left[|v_{\star}|^{2} \operatorname{Re} \langle D_{j} v_{\star}, AD_{j} v_{\star} \rangle \right]$$
$$+ (p-2) \operatorname{Re} \langle D_{j} v_{\star}, v_{\star} \rangle \operatorname{Re} \langle v_{\star}, AD_{j} v_{\star} \rangle \left]$$
$$\leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p} \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |g|^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} + \frac{2|A| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty} \varepsilon}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |D_{j} v_{\star}|^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p-2} \right]$$
$$+ \frac{2d|A| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty}}{4n\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |v_{\star}|^{p} + \frac{4d|S| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty}}{p} \int_{n \leqslant |x| \leqslant 2n} |v_{\star}|^{p}.$$

4. The L^p -antieigenvalue condition (A4) yields some constant $\gamma_A > 0$ such that

$$|z|^2 \operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle + (p-2) \operatorname{Re} \langle w, z \rangle \operatorname{Re} \langle z, Aw \rangle \ge \gamma_A |z|^2 |w|^2 \ \forall z, w \in \mathbb{C}^N$$

(see Theorem 5.18 below), which guarantees positivity of the term appearing in brackets $[\cdots]$. Therefore, putting the 2nd term from the right hand to the left hand side in the latter inequality from step 3 we obtain

$$(\operatorname{Re} \lambda) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p} + \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} \left(\gamma_{A} - \frac{2|A| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty} \varepsilon}{n} \right) |D_{j}v_{\star}|^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p-2}$$

$$\leq (\operatorname{Re} \lambda) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p-4} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left[|v_{\star}|^{2} \operatorname{Re} \langle D_{j}v_{\star}, AD_{j}v_{\star} \rangle \right.$$

$$+ (p-2) \operatorname{Re} \langle D_{j}v_{\star}, v_{\star} \rangle \operatorname{Re} \langle v_{\star}, AD_{j}v_{\star} \rangle \left] - \frac{2|A| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty} \varepsilon}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |D_{j}v_{\star}|^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p-2}$$

$$\leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p} \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |g|^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} + \frac{2d|A| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty}}{4n\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |v_{\star}|^{p}$$

$$+ \frac{4d |S| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty}}{p} \int_{n \leq |x| \leq 2n} |v_{\star}|^{p}.$$

5. Choosing $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $\gamma_A - \frac{2|A| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty} \varepsilon}{n} > 0$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, using $\omega_0 = 0$ from (5.11), i.e. $\operatorname{Re} \lambda = \operatorname{Re} \lambda - \omega_0$, and taking the limit inferior for $n \to \infty$, an

application of Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem and Fatou's lemma yield

$$\begin{aligned} (\operatorname{Re} \lambda - \omega_{0}) \|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}^{p} &\leq (\operatorname{Re} \lambda) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |v_{\star}|^{p} + \gamma_{A} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |D_{j}v_{\star}|^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p-2} \\ &= (\operatorname{Re} \lambda) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \lim_{n \to \infty} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p} + \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \lim_{n \to \infty} \eta_{n}^{2} \left(\gamma_{A} - \frac{2|A| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty} \varepsilon}{n} \right) |D_{j}v_{\star}|^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p-2} \\ &\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left[\left(\operatorname{Re} \lambda \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p} + \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} \left(\gamma_{A} - \frac{2|A| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty} \varepsilon}{n} \right) |D_{j}v_{\star}|^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p-2} \right] \\ &\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left[\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p} \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \eta_{n}^{2} |g|^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} + \frac{2d|A| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty}}{4n\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |v_{\star}|^{p} \\ &+ \frac{4d|S| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty}}{p} \int_{n \leq |x| \leq 2n} |v_{\star}|^{p} \right] \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \lim_{n \to \infty} \eta_{n}^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p} \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \lim_{n \to \infty} \eta_{n}^{2} |g|^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} + \frac{2d|A| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty}}{4\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} |v_{\star}|^{p} \\ &+ \frac{4d|S| \|\eta\|_{1,\infty}}{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \lim_{n \to \infty} |v_{\star}|^{p} \mathbbm_{n}^{2}|g|^{p} \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |v_{\star}|^{p} \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |g|^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} = \|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}^{p} \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \,. \end{aligned}$$

Finally, using $\operatorname{Re} \lambda - \omega_0 > 0$ the L^p -resolvent estimate follows by dividing both sides by $\operatorname{Re} \lambda - \omega_0$ and $||v_*||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)}^{p-1}$. Indeed, we must check that the assumptions of Lebesgue's theorem and Fatou's lemma are satisfied. We suggest that first one must apply Lebesgue's theorem, which then yields that the assumptions of Fatou's lemma are satisfied. For the application of Lebesgue's theorem we have the pointwise convergence $\eta_n^2 |v_*|^p \to |v_*|^p$, $\eta_n^2 |g|^p \to |g|^p$, $\frac{1}{n} |v_*|^p \to 0$ and $|v_*|^p \, \mathbbmath \mathbbmmath \mathbbmath \mathbbmath \mathbbmath \mathbbmmath \mathbbmath \mathbbmmath \mathbbmath \mathbbmath \mathbbmmath \mathbbmmath \mathbbmath \mathbbmath \mathbbmath \mathbbmath \mathbb$

6. To show uniqueness in $\mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$, let both $u_{\star}, v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$ be a solution of

$$(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_0) u_\star = g \text{ and } (\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_0) v_\star = g$$

in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Then $w_\star := v_\star - u_\star \in \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ is a solution of the homogeneous problem $(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_0) w_\star = 0$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. From the L^p -resolvent estimate we obtain $\|w_\star\|_{L^p} \leq 0$, hence u_\star and v_\star coincide in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Since $u_\star, v_\star \in \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and $\mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0) \subset L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ we deduce that $v_\star = u_\star$ in $\mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$. 7. From step 5 we obtain for every $j = 1, \ldots, N$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |D_j v_{\star}|^2 |v_{\star}|^{p-2} \leqslant \frac{1}{\gamma_A} \|v_{\star}\|_{L^p}^{p-1} \|g\|_{L^p}.$$

Using the L^p -resolvent estimate, we deduce from Hölder's inequality for 1

$$\begin{split} \|D_{j}v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}^{p} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |D_{j}v_{\star}|^{p} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |D_{j}v_{\star}|^{p} |v_{\star}|^{-\frac{p(2-p)}{2}} |D_{j}v_{\star}|^{\frac{p(2-p)}{2}} \\ &\leqslant \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |D_{j}v_{\star}|^{2} |v_{\star}|^{p-2}\right)^{\frac{p}{2}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |v_{\star}|^{p}\right)^{\frac{2-p}{2}} \leqslant \frac{1}{\gamma_{A}^{\frac{p}{2}}} \frac{1}{(\operatorname{Re}\lambda - \omega_{0})^{\frac{p}{2}}} \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}^{p} \end{split}$$

Taking the sum over j from 1 to d and the pth root we end up with

$$|v_{\star}|_{W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{d} \|D_{j}v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}^{p}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leqslant \frac{d^{\frac{1}{p}}}{\gamma_{A}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\operatorname{Re} \lambda - \omega_{0}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}.$$

Recall the following definition of a dissipative operator, [34, II.3.13 Definition].

Definition 5.14. The operator $\mathcal{L}_0 : \mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) \subset L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ with $1 , is called <math>L^p$ -dissipative (or dissipative in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$) if

$$\|(\lambda - \mathcal{L}_0) v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} \geqslant \lambda \|v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}, \quad \forall \lambda > 0 \; \forall v \in \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0).$$

A direct consequence of Theorem 5.13 is that the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_0 is a dissipative operator in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for 1 .

Corollary 5.15. Let the assumptions (A3), (A4) and (A5) be satisfied for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then, $\mathcal{L}_0 : \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0) \subset L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is L^p -dissipative.

5.5 The L^p -dissipativity condition

In this section we give a complete characterization of the optimal L^p -dissipativity condition (5.1) for the complex-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_0 in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for 1 . For this purpose, recall the following definitions.

Definition 5.16. Let $A \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$ with $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$, then A is called

- accretive, if $\inf_{\substack{w \in \mathbb{K}^N \\ |w|=1}} \operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle \ge 0$
- strongly accretive, if $\inf_{\substack{w \in \mathbb{K}^N \\ |w|=1}} \operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle > 0$
- dissipative, if $\sup_{\substack{w \in \mathbb{K}^N \\ |w|=1}} \operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle \leqslant 0$
- strongly dissipative, if $\sup_{\substack{w \in \mathbb{K}^N \\ |w|=1}} \operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle < 0$

For selfadjoint matrices A, replace accretive and dissipative by **positive** and **negative**, respectively. **Definition 5.17.** Let $A \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$ with $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Then we define by

(5.26)
$$\mu_1(A) := \inf_{\substack{w \in \mathbb{K}^N \\ w \neq 0 \\ Aw \neq 0}} \frac{\operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle}{|w||Aw|} = \inf_{\substack{w \in \mathbb{K}^N \\ |w|=1 \\ Aw \neq 0}} \frac{\operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle}{|Aw|}$$

the first antieigenvalue of A. A vector $0 \neq w \in \mathbb{K}^N$ with $Aw \neq 0$ for which the infimum is attained, is called an **antieigenvector of** A. Moreover, we define the (real) angle of A by

$$\Phi_{\mathbb{R}}(A) := \cos^{-1}\left(\mu_1(A)\right).$$

The Definitions 5.16 and 5.17 come originally from [47]. Related to the Definition 5.16, we suggest that the assumption (A3) is satisfied if and only if A is strongly accretive. The following lower and upper bounds for the first antieigenvalue of A are well known from [31]

$$\frac{C_{\mathrm{accr}}(A)}{|A|} = \frac{1}{|A|} \inf_{\substack{w \in \mathbb{K}^N \\ |w|=1}} \operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle \leqslant \mu_1(A) \leqslant \frac{1}{|A|} \sup_{\substack{w \in \mathbb{K}^N \\ |w|=1}} \operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle = \frac{C_{\mathrm{diss}}(A)}{|A|},$$

where we call $C_{\text{accr}}(A)$ and $C_{\text{diss}}(A)$ the **accretivity** and **dissipativity constant** of A, respectively. They describe the inner and outer real numerical radius of A, respectively. In Definition 5.17, $\mu_1(A)$ measures the maximum (real) turning capability of A. The expression for $\mu_1(A)$ is sometimes denoted by $\cos A$ and is called the **cosine of** A. In [59] the expression for $\mu_1(A)$ is denoted by dev A and is called the **deviation of** A.

The next theorem shows that the L^p -dissipativity condition is equivalent to a lower bound for the first antieigenvalue of the diffusion matrix A. Later, the theorem is applied to b := p - 2 for 1 .

Theorem 5.18 (L^p -dissipativity condition vs. L^p -antieigenvalue condition). Let $A \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$ for $K = \mathbb{R}$ if $N \ge 2$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ if $N \ge 1$, and let $b \in \mathbb{R}$ with b > -1. (a) Given some $\gamma_A > 0$, then the following statements are equivalent:

(1) $|z|^2 \operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle + b \operatorname{Re} \langle w, z \rangle \operatorname{Re} \langle z, Aw \rangle \ge \gamma_A |z|^2 |w|^2 \quad \forall w, z \in \mathbb{K}^N,$

(2) Re
$$\langle w, Aw \rangle + b$$
Re $\langle w, z \rangle$ Re $\langle z, Aw \rangle \ge \gamma_A$
(3) $\left(1 + \frac{b}{2}\right)$ Re $\langle w, Aw \rangle - \frac{|b|}{2} |Aw| \ge \gamma_A$
 $\forall w, z \in \mathbb{K}^N, |z| = |w| = 1$
 $\forall w \in \mathbb{K}^N, |w| = 1.$

(b) Moreover, the following statements are equivalent

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{(4)} \ \exists \gamma_A > 0: \ \left(1 + \frac{b}{2}\right) \operatorname{Re} \ \langle w, Aw \rangle - \frac{|b|}{2} |Aw| \geqslant \gamma_A \quad \forall w \in \mathbb{K}^N, \ |w| = 1, \\ \mathbf{(5)} \ \exists \delta_A > 1: \ \frac{(2+b)}{|b|} \cdot \frac{\operatorname{Re} \ \langle w, Aw \rangle}{|w| |Aw|} \geqslant \delta_A \qquad \qquad \forall w \in \mathbb{K}^N, \ w \neq 0, \ Aw \neq 0, \\ \mathbf{(6)} \ \exists \delta_A > 1: \ \frac{(2+b)}{|b|} \cdot \mu_1(A) \geqslant \delta_A, \\ \mathbf{(7)} \ \mu_1(A) > \frac{|b|}{(2+b)}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\mu_1(A)$ denotes the first antieigenvalue of A in the sense of Definition 5.17.

The scalar real case: Positivity. In the scalar real case $A = a \in \mathbb{R}$ (with $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ and N = 1) the statements (1) and (2) are equivalent, but they are in general not equivalent with (3). In particular, there exists a constant γ_a with (2) if and only if (1 + b)a > 0.

The scalar complex case: A cone condition. In the scalar complex case $A = \alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ (with $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ and N = 1) there exists a constant γ_{α} with (3) if and only if one of the following cone conditions hold

(8)
$$|\operatorname{Im} \alpha| < \frac{2\sqrt{1+b}}{|b|} \operatorname{Re} \alpha,$$

(9) $|\arg \alpha| < \arctan\left(\frac{2\sqrt{1+b}}{|b|}\right)$

This conditions will be discussed below for normal matrices in more details.

First antieigenvalue and real angle. The statement (7) coincides with the L^{p} antieigenvalue condition from (A4) and yields a lower *p*-dependent bound for the
first antieigenvalue of the diffusion matrix A

$$\mu_1(A) > \frac{|p-2|}{p} \in [0,1[, 1$$

This implies an upper p-dependent bound for the (real) angle of A

$$\Phi_{\mathbb{R}}(A) := \cos^{-1}\left(\mu_1(A)\right) < \cos^{-1}\left(\frac{|p-2|}{p}\right) \in]0, \frac{\pi}{2}], \quad 1 < p < \infty.$$

In general, one cannot derive an explicit expression for the first antieigenvalue $\mu_1(A)$ of a matrix A. However, for certain classes of matrices such as Hermitian and normal matrices it is possible to derive a closed formula for $\mu_1(A)$ as it is shown in the following two remarks.

 $\mu_1(A)$ for Hermitian matrices. If A is a Hermitian matrix, then $\mu_1(A)$ from (7) is given by

$$\mu_1(A) = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda_1^A \lambda_N^A}}{\frac{1}{2} \left(\lambda_1^A + \lambda_N^A\right)} = \frac{2\sqrt{\kappa_A}}{\kappa_A + 1},$$

where $0 < \lambda_1^A \leq \lambda_2^A \leq \cdots \leq \lambda_N^A$ denote the (real) eigenvalues of A and $\kappa_A := \frac{\lambda_N^A}{\lambda_1^A}$ denotes the **spectral condition number of** A. In this case $\mu_1(A)$ is the quotient of the geometric mean $\sqrt{\lambda_1^A \lambda_N^A}$ and the arithmetic mean $\frac{1}{2} \left(\lambda_1^A + \lambda_N^A \right)$ of the smallest and largest eigenvalue of A. In particular, the equality $\mu_1(A) = \frac{\text{Re}\langle w, Aw \rangle}{|Aw|}$ is satisfied for the antieigenvector $w = \left(\lambda_N^A \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} u_1 + \left(\lambda_1^A \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} u_N$, where $u_1, u_N \in \mathbb{K}^N$ are orthogonal vectors with $Au_1 = \lambda_1^A u_1$ and $Au_N = \lambda_N^A u_N$ such that |w| = 1. This follows directly from the Greub-Rheinboldt inequality, [53, (7.4.12.11)], and can be found in [53, 7.4.P4].
If we define $q := \frac{|p-2|}{p}$ for $1 , see Figure 5.1(a), then <math>q \in [0, \infty[$ and the L^p -antieigenvalue condition (A4) is equivalent with

$$\frac{2 - q^2 - 2\sqrt{1 - q^2}}{q^2} < \kappa_A < \frac{2 - q^2 + 2\sqrt{1 - q^2}}{q^2}, \text{ for } 0 < q < 1$$

Using the definition of q, this inequality implies

$$C_L(p) := \frac{p^2 + 4p - 4 - 4p\sqrt{p-1}}{(p-2)^2} < \kappa_A < \frac{p^2 + 4p - 4 + 4p\sqrt{p-1}}{(p-2)^2} =: C_R(p),$$

for $1 and <math>p \neq 2$, that is a lower and upper bound for the spectral condition number of A. Of course, since $0 < \lambda_1^A \leq \lambda_2^A \leq \cdots \leq \lambda_N^A$ not only $\kappa_A = \frac{\lambda_N^A}{\lambda_1^A}$ but also $\frac{\lambda_j^A}{\lambda_1^A}$ must be contained in the open interval $]C_L(p), C_R(p)[$ for every $1 \leq j \leq N$. The behavior of the constants $C_L(p)$ and $C_R(p)$ is depicted in Figure 5.1(b). In particular, to satisfy this condition for arbitrary very large p, i.e. p near ∞ , the matrix A must be of the form $A = aI_N$ for some $0 < a \in \mathbb{R}$.



Figure 5.1: q as a function on p (a) and constants C_L (red) and C_R (blue) in dependence on p (b)

 $\mu_1(A)$ for normal matrices. If A is a normal matrix, then $\mu_1(A)$ from (7) is given by $\mu_1(A) = \min E \cup F$, where

$$\begin{split} E &:= \left\{ \frac{a_j}{|\lambda_j^A|} \middle| 1 \leqslant j \leqslant N \right\}, \\ F &:= \left\{ \left. \frac{2\sqrt{(a_j - a_i) \left(a_i \left|\lambda_j^A\right|^2 - a_j \left|\lambda_i^A\right|^2\right)}}{\left|\lambda_j^A\right|^2 - \left|\lambda_i^A\right|^2} \right| 0 < \frac{a_j \left|\lambda_j^A\right|^2 - 2a_i \left|\lambda_j^A\right|^2 + a_j \left|\lambda_i^A\right|^2}{\left(\left|\lambda_i^A\right|^2 - \left|\lambda_j^A\right|^2\right) (a_i - a_j)} < 1, \\ 1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant N, \left|\lambda_i^A\right| \neq \left|\lambda_j^A\right| \right\}, \end{split}$$

and $\lambda_j^A = a_j + ib_j$ with $a_j, b_j \in \mathbb{R}$, $1 \leq j \leq N$, denote the eigenvalues of A. In particular, if

(5.27)
$$\mu_1(A) = \frac{a_j}{|\lambda_j^A|} \text{ for some } 1 \leqslant j \leqslant N,$$

then $\mu_1(A) = \frac{\operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle}{|Aw|}$ for an antieigenvector $w \in \mathbb{K}^N$ with $|w_j| = 1$ and $|w_i| = 0$ for $1 \leq i \leq N$ with $i \neq j$. Conversely, if

(5.28)
$$\mu_1(A) = \frac{2\sqrt{(a_j - a_i)\left(a_i \left|\lambda_j^A\right|^2 - a_j \left|\lambda_i^A\right|^2\right)}}{\left|\lambda_j^A\right|^2 - \left|\lambda_i^A\right|^2} \text{ for some } 1 \le i, j \le N, \ i \ne j,$$

with $|\lambda_i^A| \neq |\lambda_j^A|$, then $\mu_1(A) = \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle w, Aw \rangle}{|Aw|}$ for an antieigenvector $w \in \mathbb{K}^N$ with

$$|w_{i}|^{2} = \frac{a_{j} |\lambda_{j}^{A}|^{2} - 2a_{i} |\lambda_{j}^{A}|^{2} + a_{j} |\lambda_{i}^{A}|^{2}}{\left(|\lambda_{i}^{A}|^{2} - |\lambda_{j}^{A}|^{2}\right) (a_{i} - a_{j})},$$
$$|w_{j}|^{2} = \frac{a_{i} |\lambda_{i}^{A}|^{2} - 2a_{j} |\lambda_{i}^{A}|^{2} + a_{i} |\lambda_{j}^{A}|^{2}}{\left(|\lambda_{i}^{A}|^{2} - |\lambda_{j}^{A}|^{2}\right) (a_{i} - a_{j})},$$

and $|w_k| = 0$ for $1 \le k \le N$ with $k \ne i$ and $k \ne j$. This result can be found in [49, Theorem 5.1], [50, Theorem 3.1], [97, Theorem 1.1] and [95, Theorem 1]. The proof in [49, Theorem 5.1] is based on an application of the Lagrange multiplier method in order to solve a minimization problem. Furthermore, in [31] it was proved that the expression on the right of (5.28) is an upper bound for $\mu_1(A)$. In [31] one can also find a geometrical interpretation of this equality by a semiellipse.

If $\mu_1(A)$ is given by (5.27) for some $1 \leq j \leq N$, then the L^p -antieigenvalue condition (A4) is equivalent with

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda_j^A > \frac{|p-2|}{2\sqrt{p-1}} \left| \operatorname{Im} \lambda_j^A \right|, \ 1$$

This leads to a **cone condition** which postulates that every eigenvalues of A is even contained in a *p*-dependent sector Σ_p in the open right half-plane, called a **conic section**,

$$\Sigma_p := \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid |\operatorname{Im} \lambda| |p-2| < 2\sqrt{p-1} \operatorname{Re} \lambda \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid |\operatorname{arg} \lambda| < \arctan\left(\frac{2\sqrt{p-1}}{|p-2|}\right) \right\}, \ 1 < p < \infty,$$

see Figure 5.2. The opening angle $|\varphi|$ is close to 0 for small and large p, i.e. p close to 1 or ∞ , and it is $\frac{\pi}{2}$ for p = 2. Indeed, this is the same requirement as in the scalar complex case. In particular, to satisfy the cone condition for arbitrary very large p, the matrix A must be of the form $A = \text{diag}(a_1, \ldots, a_N)$ for some positive $a_1, \ldots, a_N \in \mathbb{R}$.



Figure 5.2: Sector for ellipticity assumption (A2) (a) and cone condition for antieigenvalue assumption (A4) for normal matrices A (b)

If $\mu_1(A)$ is given by (5.28) for some $1 \leq i, j \leq N$ with $i \neq j$, then the L^p -antieigenvalue condition (A4) is equivalent with

$$\frac{2\sqrt{(a_j - a_i)\left(a_i \left|\lambda_j^A\right|^2 - a_j \left|\lambda_i^A\right|^2\right)}}{\left|\lambda_j^A\right|^2 - \left|\lambda_i^A\right|^2} > \frac{|p - 2|}{p}, \ 1$$

that must be satisfied for every $1 \leq i, j \leq N$ with $|\lambda_j^A| \neq |\lambda_i^A|$. We emphasize the following equalities from [49, Section 6] and [31]

$$\begin{split} & \frac{2\sqrt{\left(a_{j}-a_{i}\right)\left(a_{i}\left|\lambda_{j}^{A}\right|^{2}-a_{j}\left|\lambda_{i}^{A}\right|^{2}\right)}}{\left|\lambda_{j}^{A}\right|^{2}-\left|\lambda_{i}^{A}\right|^{2}} \\ &= \frac{2\sqrt{\frac{\left|\lambda_{j}^{A}\right|}{\left|\lambda_{i}^{A}\right|}\left[\left(\frac{a_{i}}{\left|\lambda_{i}^{A}\right|}\right)\left(\frac{\left|\lambda_{j}^{A}\right|}{\left|\lambda_{i}^{A}\right|}\right)-\frac{a_{j}}{\left|\lambda_{j}^{A}\right|}\right]\left[\left(\frac{a_{j}}{\left|\lambda_{j}^{A}\right|}\right)\left(\frac{\left|\lambda_{j}^{A}\right|}{\left|\lambda_{i}^{A}\right|}\right)-\frac{a_{i}}{\left|\lambda_{i}^{A}\right|}\right]}{\left(\frac{\left|\lambda_{j}^{A}\right|}{\left|\lambda_{i}^{A}\right|}\right)^{2}-1} \\ &= \frac{2\sqrt{\left(r_{i}\rho_{ij}-r_{j}\right)\left(r_{j}\rho_{ij}-r_{i}\right)\rho_{ij}}}{\rho_{ij}^{2}-1}, \end{split}$$

where $\rho_{ij} := \frac{|\lambda_j^A|}{|\lambda_i^A|}$ and $r_k := \operatorname{Re} \frac{\lambda_k^A}{|\lambda_k^A|} = \frac{a_k}{|\lambda_k^A|}$ for k = i, j.

 $\mu_1(A)$ for arbitrary matrices. If A is an arbitrary matrix, then for $\mu_1(A)$ from (7) there are only approximation results available. Such results are quite new and can be found in [96, Theorem 2].

Proof. The equivalence of (1), (2) and (3) is trivial for b = 0, so assume w.l.o.g. $b \neq 0$.

 $(1) \iff (2)$: This follows directly by dividing both sides by $|z|^2 |w|^2$. $(2) \iff (3)$: We distinguish between the cases $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$.

Case 1: $(\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R})$ Let $N \ge 2$. In this case we show the equivalence of

(5.29)
$$\langle w, Aw \rangle + b \langle w, z \rangle \langle z, Aw \rangle \ge \gamma_A$$
 $\forall w, z \in \mathbb{R}^N, |z| = |w| = 1,$
(5.30) $\left(1 + \frac{b}{2}\right) \langle w, Aw \rangle - \frac{|b|}{2} |Aw| \ge \gamma_A$ $\forall w \in \mathbb{R}^N, |w| = 1,$

for some $\gamma_A > 0$ by minimizing (5.29) with respect to z subject to $|z|^2 = 1$. Note that the minimum exists due to the boundedness of

$$|\langle z, Aw \rangle \langle w, z \rangle| \leqslant |z|^2 |Aw| |w| = |Aw|$$

Subcase 1: (w, Aw linearly dependent) Let w and Aw be linearly dependent, then there exists $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $Aw = \lambda w$. Since |w| = 1, we conclude $w \neq 0$ and therefore, $\lambda \in \sigma(A)$. Applying (5.29) with z := w

$$0 < \gamma_A \leqslant \langle w, Aw \rangle + b \langle w, w \rangle \langle w, Aw \rangle = (1+b)\lambda$$

we deduce $\lambda > 0$, since 1 + b > 0. In this case (5.29) and (5.30) reads as

(5.31)
$$\lambda |w|^{2} + \lambda b \langle w, z \rangle^{2} \ge \gamma_{A} \qquad \forall w, z \in \mathbb{R}^{N}, |z| = |w| = 1,$$

(5.32)
$$\left(1 + \frac{b}{2}\right) \lambda |w|^{2} - \frac{|b|}{2} |\lambda| |w| \ge \gamma_{A} \qquad \forall w \in \mathbb{R}^{N}, |w| = 1.$$

The aim follows by minimization of $\lambda b \langle w, z \rangle^2$ with respect to z subject to $|z|^2 = 1$. If b > 0 then $\lambda b > 0$ and therefore, $\lambda b \langle w, z \rangle^2$ is minimal iff $\langle w, z \rangle^2$ is minimal. Choose $z \in w^{\perp}$ with |z| = 1 then the minimum is

$$\min_{\substack{z \in \mathbb{R}^N \\ |z|=1}} \lambda b \left\langle w, z \right\rangle^2 = \min_{\substack{z \in w^\perp \\ |z|=1}} \lambda b \left\langle w, z \right\rangle^2 = 0.$$

If b < 0 then $\lambda b < 0$ and therefore, $\lambda b \langle w, z \rangle^2$ is minimal iff $\langle w, z \rangle^2$ is maximal. Choose $z \in \{w, -w\}$ then the minimum is

$$\min_{\substack{z \in \mathbb{R}^N \\ |z|=1}} \lambda b \left\langle w, z \right\rangle^2 = \lambda b < 0.$$

Subcase 2: (w, Aw linearly independent) For this purpose we use the method of Lagrange multipliers for finding the local minima of (5.29) w.r.t. z. Consider the functions

$$f(w, z) := \langle w, Aw \rangle + b \langle w, z \rangle \langle z, Aw \rangle - \gamma_A,$$

$$g(z) := |z|^2 - 1 = 0$$

for every fixed $w \in \mathbb{R}^N$ with |w| = 1. The optimization problem is to minimize f(w, z) w.r.t. $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$ subject to the constraint g(z) = 0.

1. We introduce a new variable $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$, called the Lagrange multiplier, and define the Lagrange function (Lagrangian)

$$\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}, \quad \Lambda(z,\mu) := f(z,w) + \mu g(z).$$

The solution of the minimization problem corresponds to a critical point of the Lagrange function. A necessary condition for critical point of Λ is that the Jacobian vanishes, i.e. $J_{\Lambda}(z,\mu) = 0$. This leads to the equations

(5.33) $b\langle z, Aw \rangle w + b\langle w, z \rangle Aw + 2\mu z = 0,$

$$(5.34) |z|^2 - 1 = 0$$

i.e. every local minimizer z satisfies (5.33) and (5.34). 2. Multiplying (5.33) from the left by z^T we obtain

$$0 = 2b \langle z, Aw \rangle \langle w, z \rangle + 2\mu |z|^2 = 2b\alpha\beta + 2\mu,$$

and thus $\mu = -b\alpha\beta$, where $\alpha := \langle z, Aw \rangle$ and $\beta := \langle w, z \rangle$ are still to be determined. Now, inserting $\mu = -b\alpha\beta$ into (5.33) and dividing both sides by $b \neq 0$ we obtain

(5.35)
$$\alpha w + \beta A w - 2\alpha \beta z = 0.$$

From (5.35) we deduce that if $\alpha = 0$ then $\beta = 0$ and vice versa. If $\alpha = \beta = 0$ then $z \in \{w, Aw\}^{\perp}$ and the minimum of f(w, z) in z subject to g(z) = 0 is $\langle w, Aw \rangle - \gamma_A$.

In the following we consider the case $\alpha \neq 0$ and $\beta \neq 0$ and we show that in this case the minimum of f(w, z) in z subject to g(z) = 0 is even smaller. Note that, assuming $\alpha \neq 0$ and $\beta \neq 0$, (5.35) yields the following representation for z

(5.36)
$$z = \frac{1}{2\alpha\beta} \left(\alpha w + \beta A w\right) = \frac{1}{2\beta} w + \frac{1}{2\alpha} A w,$$

We now look for possible solutions for α and β . 3. Multiplying (5.35) from the left by w^T and using |w| = 1 we obtain

(5.37)
$$0 = \alpha |w|^2 + \beta \langle w, Aw \rangle - 2\alpha\beta \langle w, z \rangle = \alpha + \beta q - 2\alpha\beta^2,$$

where $q := \langle w, Aw \rangle$. Multiplying (5.35) from the left by $(Aw)^T$ we obtain

(5.38)
$$0 = \alpha \beta \langle Aw, w \rangle + \beta \langle Aw, Aw \rangle - 2\alpha \beta \langle Aw, z \rangle = \alpha q + \beta r^2 - 2\alpha^2 \beta,$$

where r := |Aw|. From (5.29) with z := w we deduce that q > 0 since 1 + b > 0. Moreover, we have r > 0: Assuming r = |Aw| = 0 yields Aw = 0 for some |w| = 1 which contradicts $\gamma_A > 0$, compare (5.29). Since r > 0, q > 0 and by assumption $\alpha \neq 0$ and $\beta \neq 0$, there exist four solutions of (5.37), (5.38) given by

$$(\alpha,\beta) \in \left\{ \left(\mp \sqrt{\frac{r(r-q)}{2}}, \pm \sqrt{\frac{r-q}{2r}} \right), \left(\pm \sqrt{\frac{r(r+q)}{2}}, \pm \sqrt{\frac{r+q}{2r}} \right) \right\}.$$

Note, that $r \pm q > 0$ and therefore $(\alpha, \beta) \neq (0, 0)$. This follows from the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and |w| = 1

$$\pm q \leqslant |q| = |\langle w, Aw \rangle| < |w||Aw| = r.$$

Note that we have indeed a strict inequality since w and Aw are linearly independent by our subcase.

4. Instead of investigating whether the Hessian of f at these points is positive definite or not, we evaluate the function f at the points (5.36) with (α, β) from (5.39) directly. First we observe that

(5.40)
$$f(w,z) = \langle w, Aw \rangle + b \langle w, z \rangle \langle z, Aw \rangle - \gamma_A = q + b\alpha\beta - \gamma_A.$$

We now distinguish between the two cases b > 0 and b < 0. If b > 0 then the function f(w, z) is minimal if $\operatorname{sgn} \alpha = -\operatorname{sgn} \beta$ and if b < 0 then f(w, z) is minimal if $\operatorname{sgn} \alpha = \operatorname{sgn} \beta$. Therefore, for the choice of

(5.41)
$$(\alpha,\beta) = \begin{cases} \left(\mp\sqrt{\frac{r(r-q)}{2}},\pm\sqrt{\frac{r-q}{2r}}\right) &, b > 0, \\ \left(\pm\sqrt{\frac{r(r+q)}{2}},\pm\sqrt{\frac{r+q}{2r}}\right) &, b < 0, \end{cases}$$

the term $b\alpha\beta$ is negative and we have found the global minimum. Thus, for b > 0 we obtain

(5.42)
$$b\alpha\beta = -b\sqrt{\frac{r(r-q)}{2}}\sqrt{\frac{r-q}{2r}} = -\frac{b}{2}(r-q) = -\frac{|b|}{2}r + \frac{b}{2}q < 0$$

and similarly for b < 0 we obtain

(5.43)
$$b\alpha\beta = b\sqrt{\frac{r(r+q)}{2}}\sqrt{\frac{r+q}{2r}} = \frac{b}{2}(r+q) = -\frac{|b|}{2}r + \frac{b}{2}q < 0.$$

Therefore, using (5.40), (5.42) and (5.43), the global minimum of f(w, z) in z subject to the constraint g(z) = 0 is given by

$$\min_{\substack{z \in \mathbb{R}^N \\ |z|=1}} f(w,z) = \min_{\substack{z \in \mathbb{R}^N \\ |z|=1}} \left(q + b\alpha\beta - \gamma_A \right) = \left(1 + \frac{b}{2} \right) q - \frac{|b|}{2}r - \gamma_A$$

for every fixed $w \in \mathbb{R}^N$ with |w| = 1. In particular, defining

(5.44)
$$(z_{\star}, \mu_{\star}) = \left(\frac{1}{2\beta}w + \frac{1}{2\alpha}Aw, -b\alpha\beta\right)$$
 with α, β from (5.41).

the above minimum is attained at z_{\star} from (5.44) since

(5.45)
$$f(w) := f(w, z_{\star}) = \left(1 + \frac{b}{2}\right)q - \frac{|b|}{2}r - \gamma_A$$

for every fixed $w \in \mathbb{R}^N$ with |w| = 1. Now, (5.45) must be nonnegative for every $w \in \mathbb{R}^N$ with |w| = 1, which corresponds exactly (3).

Case 2: ($\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$) In this case we apply Case 1 with $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$. For this purpose, we write

$$\mathbb{C}^{N} \ni w = w_{1} + iw_{2} \cong \begin{pmatrix} w_{1} \\ w_{2} \end{pmatrix} = w_{\mathbb{R}} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N},$$
$$\mathbb{C}^{N} \ni z = z_{1} + iz_{2} \cong \begin{pmatrix} z_{1} \\ z_{2} \end{pmatrix} = z_{\mathbb{R}} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N},$$
$$\mathbb{C}^{N,N} \ni A = A_{1} + iA_{2} \cong \begin{pmatrix} A_{1} & -A_{2} \\ A_{2} & A_{1} \end{pmatrix} = A_{\mathbb{R}} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N,2N}$$

From

$$\langle w, z \rangle = \langle w_1, z_1 \rangle + \langle w_2, z_2 \rangle + i \left(\langle w_1, z_2 \rangle - \langle w_2, z_1 \rangle \right)$$

we deduce

Re
$$\langle w, z \rangle = \langle w_{\mathbb{R}}, z_{\mathbb{R}} \rangle$$
, Re $\langle w, Aw \rangle = \langle w_{\mathbb{R}}, A_{\mathbb{R}}w_{\mathbb{R}} \rangle$, $|Aw| = |A_{\mathbb{R}}w_{\mathbb{R}}|$.

Therefore,

Re
$$\langle w, Aw \rangle + b$$
Re $\langle w, z \rangle$ Re $\langle z, Aw \rangle \ge \gamma_A \quad \forall w, z \in \mathbb{C}^N, |z| = |w| = 1,$

translates into

$$\langle w_{\mathbb{R}}, A_{\mathbb{R}}w_{\mathbb{R}} \rangle + b \langle w_{\mathbb{R}}, z_{\mathbb{R}} \rangle \langle z_{\mathbb{R}}, A_{\mathbb{R}}w_{\mathbb{R}} \rangle \geqslant \gamma_A \quad \forall w_{\mathbb{R}}, z_{\mathbb{R}} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}, \ |z_{\mathbb{R}}| = |w_{\mathbb{R}}| = 1.$$

Due to Case 1 this is equivalent to

$$\left(1+\frac{b}{2}\right)\langle w_{\mathbb{R}}, A_{\mathbb{R}}w_{\mathbb{R}}\rangle - \frac{|b|}{2}|A_{\mathbb{R}}w_{\mathbb{R}}| \ge \gamma_A \qquad \forall w_{\mathbb{R}} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}, \ |w_{\mathbb{R}}| = 1,$$

that translates back into

$$\left(1+\frac{b}{2}\right)$$
 Re $\langle w, Aw \rangle - \frac{|b|}{2} |Aw| \ge \gamma_A$ $\forall w \in \mathbb{C}^N, |w| = 1,$

which proves the case $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$.

(4) \leftarrow (5): Multiplying (5) from the left by $\frac{|b|}{2}|w||Aw|$ and using |w| = 1 we obtain

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1+\frac{b}{2} \end{pmatrix} \operatorname{Re} \langle w, Aw \rangle \geq \frac{|b|}{2} |w| |Aw| \delta_A = \frac{|b|}{2} |Aw| + \frac{|b|}{2} |Aw| (\delta_A - 1)$$

$$\geq \frac{|b|}{2} |Aw| + \frac{|b|}{2} \frac{1}{|A^{-1}|} (\delta_A - 1) = \frac{|b|}{2} |Aw| + \gamma_A,$$

for every $w \in \mathbb{K}^N$ with |w| = 1, where $\gamma_A := \frac{|b|}{2} \frac{1}{|A^{-1}|} (\delta_A - 1)$. Here we used $|w| = |A^{-1}Aw| \leq |A^{-1}||Aw|$. (4) \Longrightarrow (5): Dividing (4) by $\frac{|b|}{2}|Aw|$ we obtain

$$\frac{2\left(1+\frac{b}{2}\right)\operatorname{Re}\left\langle w,Aw\right\rangle}{|b||Aw|} \geqslant \frac{2}{|b|}\frac{\gamma_A}{|Aw|} + 1 \quad \forall w \in \mathbb{K}^N, \ |w| = 1.$$

Now, let $w \in \mathbb{K}^N$ with $w \neq 0$, then $\left|\frac{w}{|w|}\right| = 1$ and we further obtain

$$\frac{2\left(1+\frac{b}{2}\right)\operatorname{Re}\langle w,Aw\rangle}{|b||w||Aw|} \ge \frac{2}{|b|}\frac{\gamma_A}{|A|} + 1 =: \delta_A > 1 \quad \forall 0 \neq w \in \mathbb{K}^N.$$

 $(5) \iff (6)$: This follows by the definition of the first antieigenvalue of A. $(6) \iff (7)$: trivial.

5.6 The maximal domain (Part 1) (

In this section we derive a characterization of the infinitesimal generator $A_p : \mathcal{D}(A_p) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and of its maximal domain $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for 1 . Problems of this type are also called**identification**problems.

The next theorem shows that the maximal domain $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ coincide with $\mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and that the **formal** Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_0 coincide with the infinitesimal generator A_p on $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$, that can be considered as the **abstract** Ornstein Uhlenbeck operator. Therefore, A_p is called the **maximal realization** (or **maximal extension**) of the complex-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_0 in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 with maximal domain <math>\mathcal{D}(A_p) = \mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$.

The main idea for the first part of the proof comes from [71, Proposition 2.2 and 3.2]. For the maximal domain of the scalar real-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator we refer to [73] and [83] for the L^p -spaces and to [75] for the L^p -spaces with invariant measure. In particular, we suggest that in the proof we apply Theorem 5.10(4), which states that $S(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is a core for $(A_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$, and Theorem 5.13, which yields unique solvability of the resolvent equation for \mathcal{L}_0 .

Theorem 5.19 (Maximal domain, Part 1). Let the assumptions (A1)–(A5) be satisfied for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, then

$$\mathcal{D}(A_p) = \mathcal{D}_{\rm loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0),$$

where $\mathcal{D}_{loc}^{p}(\mathcal{L}_{0})$ is given by

$$\mathcal{D}^p_{\rm loc}(\mathcal{L}_0) := \left\{ v \in W^{2,p}_{\rm loc}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \mid A \triangle v + \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \right\}.$$

In particular,

$$A_p v = \mathcal{L}_0 v \text{ for every } v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p),$$

i.e. A_p is the maximal realization of \mathcal{L}_0 in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

Proof. \subseteq : Let $v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$. Since \mathcal{S} is dense in $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ with respect to the graph norm $\|\cdot\|_{A_p}$ by Theorem 5.10(4), we have

$$\exists (v_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathcal{S} : \|v_n - v\|_{A_p} \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

This yields

$$||v_n - v||_{L^p} \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

and using Theorem 5.10(2)

$$\left\|\mathcal{L}_{0}v_{n}-A_{p}v\right\|_{L^{p}}=\left\|A_{p}v_{n}-A_{p}v\right\|_{L^{p}}\to0\text{ as }n\to\infty,$$

where $A_p v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ because $v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$. Since obviously $\mathcal{S} \subset \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$, we have $(v_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and we deduce by the closedness of $\mathcal{L}_0 : \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ from Lemma 5.11 that $v \in \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and $\mathcal{L}_0 v = A_p v$.

 \supseteq : Let $v \in \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$. Choose $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\text{Re } \lambda > \omega_0$ and define $g := (\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_0) v$, thus $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Then Corollary 5.7 yields a unique solution $v_\star \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ of $(\lambda I - A_p) v_\star = g$. Since $v_\star \in \mathcal{D}(A_p) \subseteq \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ we conclude $v_\star \in \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and $A_p v_\star = \mathcal{L}_0 v_\star$. Thus, we have

$$(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_0) v_\star = g \text{ and } (\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_0) v = g.$$

From the uniqueness of the resolvent equation for \mathcal{L}_0 from Theorem 5.13 we deduce $v = v_\star$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{L^p}$. Recall $\mathcal{D}(A_p) \subseteq \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Since v, v_\star coincide in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{L^p}$, $v, v_\star \in \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and $v_\star \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$, we conclude $v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ and $\mathcal{L}_0 v = A_p v$.

A superset of the domain of \mathcal{L}_0 . Combining Theorem 5.8, which yields $\mathcal{D}(A_p) \subseteq W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$, and Theorem 5.19, which yields $\mathcal{D}(A_p) = \mathcal{D}_{\text{loc}}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$ for 1 , we even obtain that

$$\mathcal{D}_{\rm loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) = \mathcal{D}(A_p) \subseteq W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N), \ 1$$

and therefore

$$\mathcal{D}_{\rm loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) = \left\{ v \in W_{\rm loc}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \mid \mathcal{L}_0 v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \right\}, \ 1$$

Note that, in contrast to Theorem 5.8, Theorem 5.13 shows $\mathcal{D}_{loc}^{p}(\mathcal{L}_{0}) \subseteq W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ only for 1 but not for general <math>1 .

Identification problem in $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. As already mentioned after Theorem 5.3, the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is strongly continuous on the exponentially weighted spaces $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$, that justifies to introduce the infinitesimal generator $A_{p,\theta}$. The identification of $\mathcal{D}(A_{p,\theta})$ is now much more complicated, since on the one hand one must check that the Schwartz space $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is a core for $(A_{p,\theta}, \mathcal{D}(A_{p,\theta}))$ and on the other hand one must prove resolvent estimates for \mathcal{L}_0 in exponentially weighted spaces $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for 1 withdomain

$$\mathcal{D}^p_{\mathrm{loc},\theta}(\mathcal{L}_0) := \left\{ v \in W^{2,p}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \cap L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \mid \mathcal{L}_0 v \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \right\}$$

The complete theory from Section 5.1–5.6 is also satisfied for S = 0. However, in this case we even have stronger results which are necessary for the next section.

Diffusion semigroup in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Consider the heat kernel

$$K(\psi, t) := (4\pi t A)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \exp\left(-(4t A)^{-1} |\psi|^2\right),$$

for the differential operator $[\mathcal{L}_0^{\text{diff}}v](x) := A \triangle v(x)$, compare (4.24) with B = 0. Then we define the (*d*-dimensional) diffusion semigroup (Gaussian semigroup, heat semigroup)

(5.46)
$$[G(t,0)v](x) := \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(x-\xi,t)v(\xi)d\xi & , t > 0\\ v(x) & , t = 0 \end{cases}, x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \end{cases}$$

Requiring assumption (A1) and (A2), Theorem 5.1–5.3 (with S = 0) yield that $(G(t,0))_{t\geq 0}$ generates a strongly continuous semigroup in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$. If we additionally require that the assumptions (A3) and (A4) are satisfied, then Theorem (5.19) (with S = 0) states that the infinitesimal generator A_p^{diff} of $(G(t,0))_{t\geq 0}$ coincides with the diffusion operator $\mathcal{L}_0^{\text{diff}}$ on its maximal domain given by

$$\mathcal{D}\left(\mathcal{L}_{0}^{\text{diff}}\right) := \left\{ v \in W_{\text{loc}}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N}) \cap L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N}) \mid A \triangle v \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N}) \right\}$$

for $1 . In particular, the graph norm of <math>A_p^{\text{diff}}$ is given by

$$\|v\|_{A_p^{\mathrm{diff}}} = \|v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)} + \|A\triangle\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)}, v \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L}_0^{\mathrm{diff}}).$$

But in case S = 0, we even have maximal L^p -regularity results, since the semigroup $(G(t,0))_{t\geq 0}$ is (in contrast to $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ for $S \neq 0$) analytic: Using the assumptions (A1)–(A4), we deduce from [67, Theorem 3.1.2 and 3.1.3] for the scalar complex-valued case that $\mathcal{L}_0^{\text{diff}}$ is a sectorial operator in the sense of [67, Definition 2.0.1] and its maximal domain is even given by

$$\mathcal{D}\left(\mathcal{L}_{0}^{\operatorname{diff}}\right) := W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})$$

for every 1 with <math>N = 1. By our assumption (A1), this result extends also for N > 1. We further conclude from [67, Lemma 6.1.1] for every 1 that $the graph norm is equivalent to <math>\|\cdot\|_{W^{2,p}}$, i.e. there exists some $C_{\text{diff}} \ge 1$ such that

(5.47)
$$C_{\text{diff}}^{-1} \|v\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)} \leq \|v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)} + \|A \triangle v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)} \leq C_{\text{diff}} \|v\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)}$$

for every $v \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Later, we still prove in Theorem 7.9 (with S = Q = 0)

$$\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \lambda \in \sigma(-\omega^2 A), \, \omega \in \mathbb{R}\} \subseteq \sigma_{\mathrm{ess}}(\mathcal{L}_0^{\mathrm{diff}}).$$

in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for 1 . Concluding we define the parabolic evolution family

$$[G(t,s)v](x) := \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(x-\xi,t-s)v(\xi)d\xi & , t > s \\ v(x) & , t = s \end{cases}, x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Rotation group in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. For any skew-symmetric matrix $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ we define the rotation group by

$$[R(t)v](x) := v(e^{tS}x), \ t \in \mathbb{R}, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Obviously, $(R(t))_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$ is a strongly continuous group in $W^{k,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for k = 0, 1, 2and $1 \leq p < \infty$, compare proof of Theorem 5.3. The infinitesimal generator A_p^{drift} of $(R(t))_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$ coincides with the drift term $[\mathcal{L}_0^{\text{drift}}v](x) := \langle Sx, \nabla v \rangle$ on its maximal domain given by

$$\mathcal{D}\left(\mathcal{L}_{0}^{\mathrm{drift}}\right) := \left\{ v \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N}) \mid \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N}) \right\}$$

for 1 . For a proof of these results we refer to [71, Proposition 2.2] and suggest that these results trivially extends to complex-valued systems.

We stress the following relations that follows directly from the definitions of T_0 , R and G:

(5.48)
$$T_0(t) = R(t)G(t,0) \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

(5.49)
$$G(t-s,0)R(s) = R(s)G(t,s) \quad \forall t \ge s.$$

5.7 Cauchy problems and exponential decay

In this section we study the abstract Cauchy problem

(5.50)
$$\begin{aligned} v_t(t) = A_p v(t) + f(t), \ t \in]0, T], \\ v(0) = v_0, \qquad t = 0, \end{aligned}$$

in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$, where $A_p : \mathcal{D}(A_p) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ denotes the infinitesimal generator of the strongly continuous semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t \geq 0}$, $v_0 \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ the initial data, $f : [0, T] \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ the inhomogeneity and $v : [0, T] \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ the solution of (5.50). Our aim in this section is to derive regularity results for the homogeneous and inhomogeneous initial value problem (5.50). For this purpose we introduce mild and classical solutions of (5.50), [34, Chapter VI.7].

Definition 5.20. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$. Moreover, let $v_0 \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ and $f \in L^1([0, T], L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N))$ for some T > 0. Then the function $v : [0, T] \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ given by

(5.51)
$$v(t) := T_0(t)v_0 + \int_0^t T_0(t-s)f(s)ds, \ t \in [0,T]$$

is called the **mild solution of** (5.50) in [0, T]. A function $v : [0, \infty[\rightarrow L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ is called the **mild solution of** (5.50) in $[0, \infty[$ if $v|_{[0,T]}$ is the mild solution of (5.50) in [0, T] for every T > 0.

Note that for $v_0 \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ and $f \in L^1([0, T], L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N))$ the mild solution of (5.50) is unique by its definition.

Definition 5.21. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$. Moreover, $v_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ and $f \in L^1([0, T], L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N))$ for some T > 0. Then the function $v : [0,T] \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$ is called a **classical** solution of (5.50) in [0, T] if

$$v \in C([0,T], \mathcal{D}(A_p)) \cap C^1([0,T], L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N))$$
 and (5.50) holds.

A function $v : [0, \infty[\to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)]$ is called a classical solution of (5.50) in $[0, \infty]$ if $v|_{[0,T]}$ is a classical solution of (5.50) in [0, T] for every T > 0.

Assuming $v_0 \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ and $f \in L^1([0,T], L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N))$ one can show that every classical solution of (5.50) is also a mild solution of (5.50) and hence unique, [34, Chapter VI.7, 7.10 Exercise].

The following spatial L^{p} -regularity result for the mild solution of the homogeneous initial value problem (5.50), i.e. with f = 0, is a direct consequence of Theorem 5.1.

Theorem 5.22 (A-priori estimates in $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then for every radially nondecreasing weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \ge 0$ and for every initial data $v_0 \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ we have $v(t) \in W^{2,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every t > 0with

(5.52)
$$\|v(t)\|_{L^p_a} \leqslant C_4(t) \|v_0\|_{L^p_a(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)}, \quad t \ge 0,$$

 $\| U(t) \|_{L^p_{\theta}} \leqslant C_4(t) \| U_0 \|_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}$ $\| D_i v(t) \|_{L^p_{\theta}} \leqslant C_5(t) \| v_0 \|_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}$ (5.53)

, t > 0, $i = 1, \dots, d$, , t > 0, $i, j = 1, \dots, d$, $\left\|D_j D_i v(t)\right\|_{L^p_{\theta}} \leqslant C_6(t) \left\|v_0\right\|_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}$ (5.54)

where $v : [0, \infty] \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ given by $v(t) = T_0(t)v_0$ denotes the unique mild solution of (5.50) in $[0,\infty[$ with f=0 and the constants $C_{4+|\beta|}(t)$ are given by *Theorem 5.1 for every* $|\beta| = 0, 1, 2$.

Remark. In order to investigate the temporal regularity for mild solutions of (5.50) with f = 0, one can show that

$$v \in C([0,T], L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})) \cap C([0,T], W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})) \cap C^{1}([0,T], L^{p}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})).$$

This statement was proved in [73, Theorem 3.3] for the scalar real-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator.

The following spatial L^p -regularity result for the mild solution of the inhomogeneous initial value problem (5.50) is an extension of Theorem 5.22 and follows again directly from Theorem 5.1. The major difference to Theorem 5.22 is that we are only able to prove that the mild solution of (5.50) belongs to $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)$ for t > 0.

Theorem 5.23 (A-priori estimates in $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then for every radially nondecreasing weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \geq 0$, for every initial data $v_0 \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and for every inhomogeneity $f \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ we have $v(t) \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every t > 0 with

$$\|v(t)\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \leq C_{4}(t) \|v_{0}\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + C_{9}(t) \|f\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} , t \geq 0,$$

$$\|D_{i}v(t)\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \leq C_{5}(t) \|v_{0}\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + C_{10}(t) \|f\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} , t > 0, i = 1, \dots, d,$$

where $v : [0, \infty[\to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)]$ given by (5.51) denotes the unique mild solution of (5.50) in $[0, \infty[$ and the constants $C_{4+|\beta|}(t)$ and $C_{9+|\beta|}(t)$ are given by Theorem 5.1 and

$$C_{9+|\beta|}(t) := \int_0^t C_{4+|\beta|}(s) ds,$$

respectively, for every $|\beta| = 0, 1$.

Concluding, we prove a time-space L^p -regularity result for the mild solution of (5.50). For this purpose, we mimic the proof of [73, Theorem 3.4]. Note, that one can identify $L^p([0,T], L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N))$ by $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d \times [0,T], \mathbb{C}^N)$. In the following we abbreviate $\Omega_T := \mathbb{R}^d \times [0,T]$. Moreover, we suggest that the theorem requires $f \in L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N) \cong L^p([0,T], L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N))$ that belongs to $L^1([0,T], L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N))$ on compact time intervals for every 1 .

Theorem 5.24 (Regularity for mild solution). Let the assumptions (A1)–(A5) be satisfied for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Moreover, let v given by (5.51) denote the unique mild solution of (5.50) in [0,T] with $v_0 = 0$ and $f \in L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$, then

$$v \in W^{(2,1),p}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$$

 $and \ satisfies$

$$v, v_t - \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle, D_i v, D_j D_i v \in L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N).$$

Remark. Note that Theorem 5.24 does neither say that $v_t \in L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$ not that $\langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Only their difference $v_t - \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle$ belongs to $L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

Proof. Let v be the unique mild solution of (5.50) with initial data $v_0 = 0$ and inhomogeneity $f \in L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N) \subseteq L^1([0,T], L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N))$. By Theorem 5.19 problem (5.50) can be written as

(5.55)
$$v_t(t) = A \triangle v(t) + \langle S \cdot, \nabla v(t) \rangle + f(t), t \in]0, T],$$
$$v(0) = 0, \quad t = 0.$$

From (5.51), (5.48), (5.49) and R(t)R(s) = R(t+s) for $t, s \in \mathbb{R}$ we obtain

$$v(t) = \int_0^t T_0(t-s)f(s)ds = \int_0^t R(t-s)G(t-s,0)f(s)ds$$

$$= \int_{0}^{t} R(t-s)G(t-s,0)R(s)R(-s)f(s)ds$$

= $\int_{0}^{t} R(t-s)R(s)G(t,s)R(-s)f(s)ds$
= $\int_{0}^{t} R(t)G(t,s)R(-s)f(s)ds = R(t)\int_{0}^{t} G(t,s)R(-s)f(s)ds, t \in [0,T].$

Defining h(t) := R(-t)f(t) for $t \in [0, T]$ and

$$u(t) := \int_0^t G(t,s)h(s)ds, \ t \in [0,T],$$

we further obtain the relation v(t) = R(t)u(t), i.e. u(t) = R(-t)v(t) for every $t \in [0,T]$. $f \in L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$ implies $h \in L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N) \subseteq L^1([0,T[,L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N))$ and hence u is the unique mild solution of

(5.56)
$$u_t(t) = A \triangle u(t) + h(t), \ t \in]0, T], u(0) = 0, \ t = 0.$$

Note that $v \in W^{(2,1),p}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is equivalent to $u \in W^{(2,1),p}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$. In the following we even prove that $u \in W^{(2,1),p}(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$: Since $h \in L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and since $C^{\infty}_{c}(\Omega_{T}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ is dense in $L^{p}(\Omega_{T}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$, there exists $h_{n} \in C^{\infty}_{c}(\Omega_{T}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, such that $h_n \to h$ in $L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$ as $n \to \infty$. Let us define

$$u_n(t) := \int_0^t G(t,s)h_n(s)ds, \quad t \in [0,T],$$

then u_n is the unique mild solution of (5.56) with inhomogeneity h_n . Moreover, from $h_n \to h$ in $L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$ we deduce that $u_n \to u$ in $L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$ as $n \to \infty$ and hence $u \in L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Since $A \triangle : W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is a sectorial operator in the sense of [67, Definition 2.0.1], an application of [67, Proposition 6.1.3 yields

$$u_n \in C([0,T], W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)) \cap C^1([0,T], L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)), n \in \mathbb{N},$$

and hence, u_n is even a classical solution of (5.56) with inhomogeneity h_n for every fixed $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover, an application of [62, IV. Theorem 9.1] implies that there exists some *n*-independent constant C = C(A, d, p, T) > 0 such that

(5.57)
$$\|u_n\|_{W^{(2,1),p}(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)} \leqslant C \|h_n\|_{L^p(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)}, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

From (5.57) and $h_n \to h$ in $L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$ we deduce that $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $W^{(2,1),p}(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$. This follows from the fact that $u_n - u_m$ is a classical solution of (5.56) with inhomogeneity $h_n - h_m$ and thus using (5.57) we find for every $\varepsilon > 0$ some $N_0 \ge 0$ such that

$$\|u_n - u_m\|_{W^{(2,1),p}(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)} \leqslant C \|h_n - h_m\|_{L^p(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)} \leqslant \varepsilon \quad \forall n, m \ge N_0.$$

Consequently, u_n converges to some $\tilde{u} \in W^{(2,1),p}(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$ as $n \to \infty$. Since we already know that $u_n \to u$ in $L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$ as $n \to \infty$, we conclude that $u = \tilde{u}$ in $L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$, thus $u \in W^{(2,1),p}(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$. In particular, we deduce

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{W^{(2,1),p}(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)} &\leqslant \|u - u_n\|_{W^{(2,1),p}(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)} + \|u_n\|_{W^{(2,1),p}(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)} \\ &\leqslant \|u - u_n\|_{W^{(2,1),p}(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)} + C \|h_n\|_{L^p(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)} \\ &\leqslant \|u - u_n\|_{W^{(2,1),p}(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)} + C \|h_n - h\|_{L^p(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)} \\ &+ C \|h\|_{L^p(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)} \end{aligned}$$

for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Taking the limit as $n \to \infty$, we obtain

 $\left\|u\right\|_{W^{(2,1),p}(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)} \leqslant C \left\|h\right\|_{L^p(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)}.$

Using h(t) := R(-t)f(t) and v(t) = R(t)u(t) we obtain

$$\left(\|v\|_{L^{p}(\Omega_{T},\mathbb{C}^{N})}^{p} + \|v_{t} - \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \|_{L^{p}(\Omega_{T},\mathbb{C}^{N})}^{p} + \sum_{i=1}^{d} \|D_{x_{i}}v\|_{L^{p}(\Omega_{T},\mathbb{C}^{N})}^{p} + \sum_{j=1}^{d} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \|D_{x_{j}}D_{x_{i}}v\|_{L^{p}(\Omega_{T},\mathbb{K}^{N})}^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq C \|f\|_{L^{p}(\Omega_{T},\mathbb{C}^{N})}$$

This proves that $v \in W^{(2,1),p}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$, meaning that $v_t - \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$ but only $v_t, \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

Remark. Note that [62, IV. Theorem 9.1] holds only for the scalar real-valued case, but it can be extended to the scalar complex-valued case, i.e. for N = 1. We do not outline the proof here. Using assumption (A1), this result also extends to complex-valued systems, i.e. with N > 1.

5.8 The maximal domain (Part 2)

In this section we prove a complete characterization for the maximal domain of the complex-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_0 , that is motivated by [73].

The next theorem states that the maximal domain of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_0 coincides with the intersection of the domains of its diffusion $\mathcal{L}_0^{\text{diff}}$ and drift part $\mathcal{L}_0^{\text{drift}}$, i.e.

$$\mathcal{D}_{\rm loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) = \mathcal{D}_{\rm loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0^{\rm diff} + \mathcal{L}_0^{\rm drift}) = \mathcal{D}_{\rm max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0^{\rm diff}) \cap \mathcal{D}_{\rm max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0^{\rm drift}).$$

This was proved in [73, Theorem 1] for the scalar real case.

Theorem 5.25 (Maximal domain, Part 2). Let the assumptions (A1)–(A5) be satisfied for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, then

$$\mathcal{D}^p_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0) = \mathcal{D}^p_{\mathrm{max}}(\mathcal{L}_0),$$

where $\mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$ is given by

$$\mathcal{D}^p_{\max}(\mathcal{L}_0) := \left\{ v \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \mid \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \right\}.$$

Proof. \supseteq : Let $v \in \mathcal{D}_{\max}^{p}(\mathcal{L}_{0})$, then we have $v \in W_{loc}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ and $v \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ since $v \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$. Moreover, $v \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ implies $A \Delta v \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$. Thus, using $\langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ we conclude $\mathcal{L}_{0}v \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$. \subseteq : Let $v \in \mathcal{D}_{loc}^{p}(\mathcal{L}_{0})$, then $g := \mathcal{L}_{0}v \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$. Then w(t) = v is a classical solution of

$$\frac{d}{dt}w(t) = \mathcal{L}_0 w(t) - g, \ t \in [0, T]$$
$$w(0) = v.$$

in the sense of Definition 5.21 and hence also a mild solution. On the other hand, since $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $g \in L^p([0,T], L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N))$ for every fixed T > 0, the unique mild solution is given by

$$v = w(t) = T_0(t)v - \int_0^t T_0(t-s)gds =: w_1(t) + w_2(t), \ t \in [0,T],$$

where w_1 is the mild solution of (5.50) in [0,T] with initial data $v_0 = v$ and inhomogeneity f = 0. Theorem 5.22 states that $w_1(t) \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $t \in]0,T]$. Similarly, w_2 is the mild solution of (5.50) in [0,T] with initial data $v_0 = 0$ and inhomogeneity f = -g. Because $g \in L^p([0,T], L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)) \cong L^p(\Omega_T, \mathbb{C}^N)$, Theorem 5.24 states that $w_2 \in L^p(]0, T[, W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N))$, i.e. $w_2(t) \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for almost every $t \in]0, T[$. If we consider such a $\overline{t} \in]0, T[$, we can deduce that

$$v = w(\bar{t}) = T_0(\bar{t})v + \int_0^{\bar{t}} T_0(\bar{t} - s)gds = w_1(\bar{t}) + w_2(\bar{t}) \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$$

and thus we have $A \triangle v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Consequently, using $\mathcal{L}_0 v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, we conclude

$$\langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle = \mathcal{L}_0 v - A \triangle v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N),$$

that means $v \in \mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$. This completes the proof. For the identification of the graph norm of A_p we need additionally an estimate for v in $W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$: Let $0 < \varepsilon < T$ be arbitrary. By Theorem 5.1 (with $\theta \equiv 1, C_{\theta} = 1, \kappa = 0$) there exists a constant $C = C(A, d, p, \varepsilon, T) > 0$ such that

$$\|w_1\|_{L^p([\varepsilon,T],W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N))} \leq C \|v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)}.$$

Moreover, by the last inequality from the proof of Theorem 5.24 there exists a constant C = C(A, d, p, T) > 0 such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|w_2\|_{L^p([\varepsilon,T],W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N))} &\leqslant \left(\sum_{|\beta|\leqslant 2} \left\|D_x^\beta w_2\right\|_{L^p(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)}^p\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leqslant C \|g\|_{L^p(\Omega_T,\mathbb{C}^N)} \\ &= CT \|\mathcal{L}_0 v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)}. \end{aligned}$$

Combining these estimates we deduce

$$(T-\varepsilon)^{\frac{1}{p}} \|v\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} = \|v\|_{L^{p}([\varepsilon,T],W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N}))} \leq \|w_{1}\|_{L^{p}([\varepsilon,T],W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N}))} + \|w_{2}\|_{L^{p}([\varepsilon,T],W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N}))} \leq C \left(\|v\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|\mathcal{L}_{0}v\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}\right).$$

To make the constant independent on T and ε , we choose e.g. T = 1 and $\varepsilon = \frac{T}{2}$ and conclude that there exists a constant C = C(A, d, p) > 0 such that

(5.58)
$$\|v\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)} \leqslant C\left(\|v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)} + \|\mathcal{L}_0 v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)}\right).$$

The following result yields an identification of the graph norm for A_p . The same result for the scalar real-valued case can also be found in [66, Proposition 9.4.2]. The techniques therein are based on bounded imaginary powers.

Corollary 5.26. Let the assumptions (A1)–(A5) be satisfied for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, then the norms

$$\begin{aligned} \|v\|_{A_p} &:= \|A_p v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} + \|v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} = \|\mathcal{L}_0 v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} + \|v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}, \\ \|v\|_{\mathcal{L}_0} &:= \|v\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} + \|\langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}, \end{aligned}$$

are equivalent for $v \in \mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$, i.e. there exist $C_1, C_2 \ge 1$ such that

$$C_1 \|v\|_{\mathcal{L}_0} \leq \|v\|_{A_p} \leq C_2 \|v\|_{\mathcal{L}_0}$$

for every $v \in \mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$.

Remark. Corollary 5.26 says that we can identify $(A_p, \|\cdot\|_{A_p})$ with $(\mathcal{L}_0, \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{L}_0})$.

Proof. The second inequality in based on maximal L^p -regularity for $\mathcal{L}_0^{\text{diff}}$: Using the triangle inequality, (5.47) and defining $C_2 := C_{\text{diff}} \ge 1$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|v\|_{A_{p}} &= \|\mathcal{L}_{0}v\|_{L^{p}} + \|v\|_{L^{p}} = \|A \triangle v + \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle\|_{L^{p}} + \|v\|_{L^{p}} \\ &\leq \|A \triangle v\|_{L^{p}} + \|v\|_{L^{p}} + \|\langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle\|_{L^{p}} = \|v\|_{A_{p}^{\text{diff}}} + \|\langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle\|_{L^{p}} \\ &\leq C_{\text{diff}} \|v\|_{W^{2,p}} + \|\langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle\|_{L^{p}} \\ &\leq C_{\text{diff}} \left(\|v\|_{W^{2,p}} + \|\langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle\|_{L^{p}}\right) = C_{2} \|v\|_{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \,. \end{split}$$

The first inequality follows from the characterization of the maximal domain from Theorem 5.25: Using (5.47) and the elliptic estimate (5.58) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|v\|_{\mathcal{L}_{0}} &= \|v\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|\langle S\cdot,\nabla v\rangle\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \\ &\leq \|v\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|A\triangle v + \langle S\cdot,\nabla v\rangle\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|A\triangle v\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \\ &\leq \|\mathcal{L}_{0}v\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + (1+C_{\mathrm{diff}}) \|v\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \\ &\leq (C(1+C_{\mathrm{diff}})+1) \left(\|\mathcal{L}_{0}v\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|v\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}\right) = C_{1} \|v\|_{A_{p}} \,, \end{split}$$

where $C_1 := C(1 + C_{\text{diff}}) + 1 > 1$.

As a consequence of Corollary 5.26 we deduce resolvent estimates for v_{\star} in $W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and for $\langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. This is an extension of Theorem 5.13 and Theorem 5.7, respectively.

Corollary 5.27 (Resolvent Estimates for \mathcal{L}_0 in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ with 1). Let $the assumptions (A1)–(A5) be satisfied for <math>1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Moreover, let $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > 0$. Then for every $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ the resolvent equation

$$(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_0) v = g$$

admits a unique solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}_{\max}^{p}(\mathcal{L}_{0})$. Moreover, v_{\star} satisfies the resolvent estimates

(5.59)
$$\|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \leq \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda} \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})},$$

(5.60)
$$\|v_{\star}\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)} \leq \frac{1}{C_1} \left(\frac{1+|\lambda|}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda}+1\right) \|g\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)},$$

(5.61)
$$\|\langle S\cdot, \nabla v_{\star}\rangle\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \leqslant \frac{C_{2}\max\{1, |\lambda|\}}{C_{1}} \left(\frac{1+|\lambda|}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda}+1+\frac{C_{1}}{C_{2}}\right) \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}.$$

Proof. Inequality (5.59) was already proved in Theorem 5.13. Let us now prove inequality (5.60): Using (5.59), Corollary 5.26 and Theorem 5.13 we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_{\star}\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} &\leqslant \|v_{\star}\|_{\mathcal{L}_{0}} \leqslant \frac{1}{C_{1}} \|v_{\star}\|_{A_{p}} \\ &= \frac{1}{C_{1}} \left(\|\mathcal{L}_{0}v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \right) = \frac{1}{C_{1}} \left(\|\lambda v_{\star} - g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \right) \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{C_{1}} \left((1+|\lambda|) \|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \right) \leqslant \frac{1}{C_{1}} \left(\frac{1+|\lambda|}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda} + 1 \right) \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} . \end{aligned}$$

Finally, let us prove inequality (5.61): Using (5.47), (5.60) and $C_2 = C_{\text{diff}}$ we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|\langle S\cdot, \nabla v_{\star}\rangle\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} &= \|\lambda v_{\star} - A \bigtriangleup v_{\star} - g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \\ \leqslant |\lambda| \|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|A \bigtriangleup v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \\ &\leqslant \max\{1,|\lambda|\} \left(\|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|A \bigtriangleup v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \right) \\ &\leqslant \max\{1,|\lambda|\} \left(C_{\text{diff}} \|v_{\star}\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}\right) \\ &\leqslant \max\{1,|\lambda|\} \left(\frac{C_{2}}{C_{1}} \left(\frac{1+|\lambda|}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda} + 1\right) + 1\right) \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} .\end{aligned}$$

-	-	-	1

6 Constant coefficient perturbations in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$

In this chapter we apply perturbation theory of semigroups to the operator

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{\infty}v\right](x) := A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - Bv(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 2,$$

in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$, where $v : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}^N$, $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$, $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ skew-symmetric and $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Writing the operator as

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{\infty}v\right](x) = \left[\mathcal{L}_{0}v\right](x) - Bv(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \ d \ge 2,$$

 \mathcal{L}_{∞} can be seen as a constant coefficient perturbation of the complex-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_0 , that was analyzed in Chapter 5 before.

In Section 6.1 we investigate constant coefficient perturbations of A_p in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$, where $(A_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ denotes the infinitesimal generator of the complex-valued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$: Consider the bounded linear operator

(6.1)
$$E_p: L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N), \quad [E_p v](x) := -Bv(x)$$

on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for some $1 \leq p < \infty$ and some matrix $B \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$. Then we analyze perturbations of the form

$$B_p: \mathcal{D}(B_p) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N), \quad [B_p v](x) := [A_p v](x) + [E_p v](x).$$

This means that the infinitesimal generator A_p is **perturbed** by the bounded operator E_p , which means that E_p is a bounded constant coefficient **perturbation** of A_p . Assuming (A1), (A2) and (A5) for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we show in Theorem 6.1 that B_p with maximal domain $\mathcal{D}(B_p) = \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ is the infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous semigroup $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$. Moreover, this theorem yields a series representation for the semigroup $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$, where the summands are defined recursively. This follows directly from an application of the bounded perturbation theorem, [34, III.1.3]. In Theorem 6.2 we require additionally assumption (A8_B) and prove that the semigroup is given by

$$[T_{\infty}(t)v](x) := \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_{\infty}(x,\xi,t)v(\xi)d\xi & , t > 0\\ v(x) & , t = 0 \end{cases}, x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

where $H_{\infty}(x,\xi,t) = H(x,\xi,t)$ denotes the heat kernel from Theorem 4.4. Note that for this result assumption (A8_B) is crucial and guarantees that H_0 and B commute. Assuming (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we prove in Corollary 6.7 that the resolvent equation for B_p , which is given by

$$\left(\lambda I - B_p\right)v = g,$$

admits a unique solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ for every $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > -b_0$, where $-b_0 := s(-B)$ denotes the spectral bound of -B, cf. (1.18). This follows from some applications of abstract semigroup theory, [34, II.1]. In particular, if we require in addition the assumptions (A3) and (A4) for $1 , then the identification problem for <math>B_p$ is solved by Theorem 5.19 and 5.25, respectively, and we obtain $B_p = \mathcal{L}_{\infty}$ on $\mathcal{D}(A_p) = \mathcal{D}_{\operatorname{loc}}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) = \mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$.

In Section 6.2 we derive a-priori estimates for the resolvent equation for B_p in exponentially weighted L^p -spaces. Assuming (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we prove in Theorem 6.8 that the solution v_{\star} belongs to $W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > -b_0$. This is an extended version of Theorem 5.8.

For the sake of completeness note that, assuming (A1)–(A5) and (A8_B) for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ of the form

$$\lambda = -\lambda(\omega) - i \sum_{l=1}^{k} n_l \sigma_l, \quad n_l \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad \omega \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \lambda(\omega) \in \sigma(\omega^2 A + B),$$

belongs to the essential spectrum $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L}_{\infty})$ of \mathcal{L}_{∞} in $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$. Hence, \mathcal{L}_{∞} is not sectorial in $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ and $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is not analytic on $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$, whenever $S \neq 0$. These results will be proved later in Section 7.4 for more general perturbed Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operators. Their proofs combine and extend the results from [71] and [15].

6.1 Application of semigroup theory

Let the assumptions (A1), (A2) and (A5) be satisfied for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, then we denote by $(A_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ the infinitesimal generator of the complex Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ from (5.3) on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$. The semigroup $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is strongly continuous in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$ and satisfies

$$||T_0(t)||_{\mathcal{L}(L^p,L^p)} \leqslant M_0 \quad \forall t \ge 0,$$

with $M_0 := \left(\frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min}a_0}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}} \ge 1$. Moreover, if we additionally require the assumptions (A3) and (A4) for $1 , then <math>A_p$ is the maximal realization of \mathcal{L}_0 in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ on its maximal domain, which is $\mathcal{D}(A_p) = \mathcal{D}_{\text{loc}}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) = \mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$.

In this section we investigate constant coefficient perturbations of A_p in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$. For this purpose, let E_p be given by (6.1). An application of [34, III.1.3 Bounded Perturbation Theorem, III.1.7 Corollary and III.1.10 Theorem] yields the following result. **Theorem 6.1** (Bounded Perturbation Theorem). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) and $B \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$ be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then the operator

$$B_p := A_p + E_p \quad with \quad \mathcal{D}(B_p) := \mathcal{D}(A_p)$$

generates a strongly continuous semigroup $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ on $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})$ satisfying

(6.2)
$$\|T_{\infty}(t)\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^p, L^p)} \leqslant M_0 e^{M_0 t \|E_p\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^p, L^p)}} \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

Moreover, for every $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $t \ge 0$ the semigroup $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\ge 0}$ satisfies the integral equation (variation of parameters formula)

$$T_{\infty}(t)v = T_0(t)v + \int_0^t T_0(t-s)E_pT_{\infty}(s)vds$$

is unique and can be obtained by

(6.3)
$$T_{\infty}(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} T_{\infty}^{(n)}(t)$$

where

(6.4)
$$T_{\infty}^{(0)}(t) := T_0(t), \quad T_{\infty}^{(n+1)}(t) := \int_0^t T_0(t-s) E_p T_{\infty}^{(n)}(s) ds.$$

Identification problem for B_p . Theorem 6.1 states that $(B_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ is the infinitesimal generator of $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$. If we additionally require the assumptions (A3) and (A4) for 1 , then an application of The $orem 5.19 and Theorem 5.25 solves the identification problem for <math>B_p$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and we infer that

$$B_p = \mathcal{L}_{\infty}$$
 on $\mathcal{D}(A_p) = \mathcal{D}_{\text{loc}}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) = \mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0).$

To investigate the nonlinear problem for the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator, it is obligatory to have a more convenient representation for the semigroup of the perturbed operator B_p , since the estimate (6.2) shows that the semigroup $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ doesn't remain bounded as $t \to \infty$. The next theorem provides an explicit representation for the semigroup $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ for matrices $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$ that are simultaneously diagonalizable (over \mathbb{C}). This can easily be inferred from (6.3) using that the matrix B commutes with the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck kernel $H_0(x, \xi, t)$.

Theorem 6.2 (Semigroup representation). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then the semigroup $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t \geq 0}$ in $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ is given by

(6.5)
$$[T_{\infty}(t)v](x) := \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_{\infty}(x,\xi,t)v(\xi)d\xi & , t > 0\\ v(x) & , t = 0 \end{cases}, x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \end{cases}$$

where $H_{\infty}(x,\xi,t) = H(x,\xi,t)$ denotes the heat kernel from Theorem 4.4.

Proof. From Theorem 6.1 we know that the semigroup $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is given by (6.3) and (6.4). By induction over $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ we show that

(6.6)
$$T_{\infty}^{(n)}(t) = T_0(t) \frac{(-tB)^n}{n!}, \ n \in \mathbb{N}_0, \ t \ge 0.$$

The case n = 0 is satisfied by (6.4). Let us consider the case $n \to n + 1$: Using (6.4), (6.1), (6.6), (5.3), (A8_B) (that guarantees $BH_0(x,\xi,t) = H_0(x,\xi,t)B$) and Lemma 4.5 we obtain for every $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ with $1 \leq p < \infty$ and every t > 0

$$\begin{split} T^{(n+1)}_{\infty}(t)v(x) &= \int_{0}^{t} T_{0}(t-s)E_{p}T^{(n)}_{\infty}(s)v(x)ds \\ &= -\int_{0}^{t} T_{0}(t-s)BT_{0}(s)\frac{(-sB)^{n}}{n!}v(x)ds \\ &= -\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H_{0}(x,\psi,t-s)BH_{0}(\psi,\xi,s)\frac{(-sB)^{n}}{n!}v(\xi)d\psi d\xi ds \\ &= -\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H_{0}(x,\psi,t-s)H_{0}(\psi,\xi,s)d\psi\frac{(-sB)^{n}}{n!}Bv(\xi)d\xi ds \\ &= \int_{0}^{t} s^{n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H_{0}(x,\xi,t)\frac{(-B)^{n+1}}{n!}v(\xi)d\xi ds \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H_{0}(x,\xi,t)\frac{(-tB)^{n+1}}{(n+1)!}v(\xi)d\xi \\ &= T_{0}(t)\frac{(-tB)^{n+1}}{(n+1)!}v(x). \end{split}$$

This proves (6.6). Now, (6.3), (5.3) and $(A8_B)$ yield

$$T_{\infty}(t)v(x) = T_{0}(t) \left[\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-tB)^{n}}{n!}\right] v(x) = T_{0}(t)e^{-Bt}v(x)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H_{0}(x,\xi,t)e^{-Bt}v(\xi)d\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H_{\infty}(x,\xi,t)v(\xi)d\xi, t > 0.$$

Finally, $T_{\infty}(0)v(x) = v(x)$ follows from (6.3) and (6.6), since $T_{\infty}^{(0)}(0)v(x) = v(x)$ and $T_{\infty}^{(n)}(0)v(x) = 0$ for $n \ge 1$.

Simultaneous diagonalization of A and B. Note that if $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$ are diagonalizable matrices then A and B commute if and only if A and B are simultaneously diagonalizable (over \mathbb{C}), [53, Theorem 1.3.12]. Therefore, condition (A8_B) ensures that the matrices A and B commute. Moreover, also the inverse A^{-1} , that exists by assumption (A2), commutes with the matrix B. Furthermore, this yields that $A^{-\frac{d}{2}}$ and B commute and also that B and $\exp(A^{-1})$ commute by an application of the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula. Combining these facts we obtain that

$$H_0(x,\xi,t)B = BH_0(x,\xi,t), \quad x,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d, t > 0,$$

i.e. $[B, H_0(x, \xi, t)] := BH_0(x, \xi, t) - H_0(x, \xi, t)B = 0.$

As already mentioned after Theorem 4.4, the situation changes dramatically if the assumption $(A8_B)$ is not satisfied. In this case the kernel H_0 and B in general do not commute: Consider $X_1, X_2, Y \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$ then the Hadamard lemma states that

$$e^{X_1}Ye^{-X_1} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m!} [X_1, Y]_m = Y + [X_1, Y] + \frac{1}{2} [X_1, [X_1, Y]] + \cdots,$$

where $[X, Y]_0 = Y$, $[X, Y]_1 = [X, Y] = XY - YX$ and $[X, Y]_m = [X, [X, Y]_{m-1}]$. This yields the following formula

$$X_2 e^{X_1} Y = Y X_2 e^{X_1} + [X_2, Y] e^{X_1} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m!} X_2 [X_1, Y]_m e^{X_1},$$

which we must apply for

$$X_1 = -(4tA)^{-1} |e^{tS}x - \xi|^2, \quad X_2 = (4\pi tA)^{-\frac{d}{2}}, \quad Y = B.$$

Theorem 6.3 (Boundedness on $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) be satisfied for $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then for every radial weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \geq 0$ and for every $v \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$

(6.7)
$$\|T_{\infty}(t)v\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \leqslant C_{4}(t) \|v\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \quad , t \ge 0,$$

(6.8)
$$\|D_i T_{\infty}(t)v\|_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} \leq C_5(t) \|v\|_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}$$
, $t > 0, i = 1, \dots, d,$

(6.9)
$$||D_j D_i T_{\infty}(t) v||_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} \leq C_6(t) ||v||_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}$$
, $t > 0, i, j = 1, \dots, d$,

where the constants $C_{4+|\beta|}(t)$ are from Section 4.3 for every $|\beta| = 0, 1, 2, i.e.$

$$\begin{split} C_4(t) = & C_{\theta} M^{\frac{d}{2}} e^{-b_0 t} \left[{}_{1}F_1\left(\frac{d}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) + 2\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\kappa t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_{1}F_1\left(\frac{d+1}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}}, \\ C_5(t) = & C_{\theta} M^{\frac{d+1}{2}} e^{-b_0 t} \left(ta_{\min}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} {}_{1}F_1\left(\frac{d+1}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) \right] \\ & + 2\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\kappa t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_{1}F_1\left(\frac{d+2}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}}, \\ C_6(t) = & C_{\theta} M^{\frac{d+2}{2}} e^{-b_0 t} \left(ta_{\min}\right)^{-1} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} {}_{1}F_1\left(\frac{d+2}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) \right] \\ & + 2\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\kappa t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_{1}F_1\left(\frac{d+3}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) + \frac{\delta_{ij}}{2} M^{-1} {}_{1}F_1\left(\frac{d}{2};\frac{1}{2};\kappa t\right) \\ & + \delta_{ij} M^{-1} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \left(\kappa t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} {}_{1}F_1\left(\frac{d+1}{2};\frac{3}{2};\kappa t\right) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}}. \end{split}$$

In case $p = \infty$ they are given by $C_{4+|\beta|}(t)$ with p = 1, where $M := \frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min}a_0} \ge 1$ and $\kappa := \frac{a_{\max}^2 \eta^2 p^2}{a_0} \ge 0$. Note that $C_{4+|\beta|}(t) \sim t^{\frac{-p|\beta|+d+|\beta|-1}{2p}} e^{-(b_0 - \frac{\kappa}{p})t}$ as $t \to \infty$ and $C_{4+|\beta|}(t) \sim t^{-\frac{|\beta|}{2}}$ as $t \to 0$ for every $|\beta| = 0, 1, 2$. *Proof.* Using the semigroup representation from Theorem 6.2, the proof can be adopted from Theorem 5.1, where we have to replace T_0 and H_0 by T_{∞} and $H_{\infty} = H$, respectively.

For the next statement we refer to [34, II.1.3 Lemma, II.1.4 Theorem]:

Lemma 6.4. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$.

(1) The generator $B_p : \mathcal{D}(A_p) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is a linear, closed and densely defined operator.

(2) For every $v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ and $t \ge 0$ we have

$$T_{\infty}(t)v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$$
$$\frac{d}{dt}T_{\infty}(t)v = T_{\infty}(t)B_pv = B_pT_{\infty}(t)v$$

(3) For every $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and every $t \ge 0$ we have

$$\int_0^t T_\infty(s)vds \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$$

(4) For every $t \ge 0$ we have

$$T_{\infty}(t)v - v = B_p \int_0^t T_{\infty}(s)vds \qquad , \text{ for } v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N),$$
$$= \int_0^t T_{\infty}(s)B_pvds \qquad , \text{ for } v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p).$$

Since $(B_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ is a closed operator on the Banach space $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$, we can introduce

$$\sigma(B_p) := \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \lambda I - B_p \text{ is not bijective}\} \qquad \text{spectrum of } B_p, \\ \rho(B_p) := \mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma(B_p) \qquad \qquad \text{resolvent set of } B_p, \\ R(\lambda, B_p) := (\lambda I - B_p)^{-1}, \text{ for } \lambda \in \rho(B_p) \qquad \qquad \text{resolvent of } B_p.$$

The next identities follow from [34, II.1.9 Lemma].

Lemma 6.5. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and t > 0,

$$e^{-\lambda t}T_{\infty}(t)v - v = (B_p - \lambda I) \int_0^t e^{-\lambda s}T_{\infty}(s)vds \qquad , \text{ for } v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N),$$
$$= \int_0^t e^{-\lambda s}T_{\infty}(s) (B_p - \lambda I)vds \qquad , \text{ for } v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p).$$

By (6.7) from Theorem 6.3 (with $\theta \equiv 1$, $\eta = 0$ and $C_{\theta} = 1$) we have

(6.10)
$$\exists \omega_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R} \land \exists M_{\infty} \ge 1 : \|T_{\infty}(t)\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^{p},L^{p})} \leqslant M_{\infty}e^{\omega_{\infty}t} \quad \forall t \ge 0,$$

where $M_{\infty} := M_0 = \left(\frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min}a_0}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}} \ge 1$ and $\omega_{\infty} := -b_0$, which gives a better estimate as in (6.2). For the next statement we refer to [34, II.1.10 Theorem].

Theorem 6.6. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. (1) If $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ is such that $R(\lambda)v := \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda s} T_\infty(s)v ds$ exists for every $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, then

$$\lambda \in \rho(B_p)$$
 and $R(\lambda, B_p) = R(\lambda)$.

(2) If $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfies $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega_{\infty}$, then

$$\lambda \in \rho(B_p), \quad R(\lambda, B_p) = R(\lambda)$$

and

$$||R(\lambda, B_p)||_{\mathcal{L}(L^p, L^p)} \leq \frac{M_{\infty}}{\operatorname{Re} \lambda - \omega_{\infty}}.$$

Theorem 6.6(2) states that the half-plane $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega_{\infty}$ belongs to the resolvent set $\rho(B_p)$. Therefore, the spectrum $\sigma(B_p)$ is contained in the half-plane $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \leq \omega_{\infty}$. The **spectral bound** $s(B_p)$ of B_p , [34, II.1.12 Definition], defined by

$$-\infty \leqslant s(B_p) := \sup_{\lambda \in \sigma(B_p)} \operatorname{Re} \lambda \leqslant \omega_{\infty} = -b_0 < +\infty.$$

can be considered as the smallest value $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ such that the spectrum is contained in the half-plane Re $\lambda \leq \omega$.

A direct consequence of Theorem 6.6 is the following:

Corollary 6.7 (Solvability and uniqueness in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Moreover, let $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega_{\infty}$. Then for every $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ the resolvent equation

$$(\lambda I - B_p) v = g$$

admits a unique solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$, which is given by the integral expression

(6.11)
$$v_{\star} = R(\lambda)g = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda s} T_{\infty}(s)gds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H_{\infty}(\cdot,\xi,s)g(\xi)d\xi ds.$$

Moreover, the following resolvent estimate holds

$$\|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \leqslant \frac{M_{\infty}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda - \omega_{\infty}} \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}$$

Green's function of B_p . Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5), (A8_B) and (A9_B) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. By Corollary 6.7 (with $\lambda = 0$) we obtain for every $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ a unique solution $v_* \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ of the resolvent equation

$$B_p v = g$$

which is given by (6.11). We believe one can apply Fubini's theorem in (6.11) to obtain

$$v_{\star}(x) = -[R(0)g](x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} G(x,\xi)g(\xi)d\xi,$$

where

$$G(x,\xi) := -\int_0^\infty H_\infty(x,\xi,s)ds$$

denotes the Green's function of B_p . In particular, by Corollary 6.7 with $\lambda = 0$ the following resolvent estimate holds:

$$\|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \leqslant \frac{M_{\infty}}{-\omega_{\infty}} \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}.$$

6.2 Exponential decay

In this section we prove a-priori estimates for the solution v_{\star} of the resolvent equation $(\lambda I - B_p) v = g$ in exponentially weighted L^p -spaces. We show that the solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ decays exponentially (at least) with the same rate as the inhomogeneity g. Note, that this result needs neither an explicit representation for the domain $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ nor for the infinitesimal generator B_p . But the proof requires the integral expression for v_{\star} from Corollary 6.7, that needs the explicit representation for the semigroup $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ from Theorem 6.2. The proof of the following result is similar to that one of Theorem 5.8.

Theorem 6.8 (A-priori estimates in $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Moreover, let $0 < \vartheta < 1$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega_{\infty}$. Then for every radially nondecreasing weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \geq 0$ with $0 \leq \eta^2 \leq \vartheta \frac{a_0(\operatorname{Re} \lambda - \omega_{\infty})}{a_{\max}^2 p^2}$ and for every $g \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ we have $v_{\star} \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ with

(6.12)
$$\|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \leqslant \frac{C_{7}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda - \omega_{\infty}} \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})},$$

(6.13)
$$\|D_i v_\star\|_{L^p_\theta(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)} \leqslant \frac{C_8}{(\operatorname{Re}\lambda - \omega_\infty)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \|g\|_{L^p_\theta(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)}, \ i = 1, \dots, d,$$

where $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ denotes the unique solution of $(\lambda I - B_p)v = g$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and the λ -independent constants C_7 , C_8 are given by Lemma 4.8 (with $\omega = \omega_{\infty}$).

Proof. By Corollary 6.7 (with $H_{\infty}(x,\xi,t) = H(x,\xi,t)$) we have the representation

(6.14)
$$v_{\star}(x) = \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} H_\infty(x,\xi,t) g(\xi) d\xi dt,$$

Using this representation, the proof can be adopted from Theorem 5.8. In the last inequality, we must apply Lemma 4.8 with $\omega = \omega_{\infty}$.

7 Variable coefficient perturbations in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$

In this chapter we apply perturbation theory of semigroups to the operator

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{Q}v\right](x) := A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - Bv(x) + Q(x)v(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \ d \ge 2,$$

in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$, where $v : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}^N$, $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$, $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ skew-symmetric, $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Writing the operator as

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{Q}v\right](x) = \left[\mathcal{L}_{\infty}v\right](x) + Q(x)v(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \ d \ge 2,$$

 \mathcal{L}_Q can be seen as a variable coefficient perturbation of the perturbed complexvalued Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator \mathcal{L}_{∞} , that was analyzed in Chapter 6.

In Section 7.1 we investigate variable coefficient perturbations of B_p in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$, where $(B_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ denotes the infinitesimal generator of the semigroup $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$: Consider the bounded linear operator

(7.1)
$$F_p: L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N), \ [F_pv](x) := Q(x)v(x)$$

on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for some $1 \leq p < \infty$ and some function $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$. Then we analyze perturbations of the form

$$C_p: \mathcal{D}(C_p) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N), \quad [C_p v](x) := [B_p v](x) + [F_p v](x).$$

This signifies, similarly to Chapter 6, that the infinitesimal generator B_p is **per**turbed by the bounded operator F_p , which means that F_p is a bounded variable coefficient **perturbation** of B_p . Assuming (A1), (A2), (A5), (A8_B) and $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^{N,N})$ for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we show in Theorem 7.1 that C_p with maximal domain $\mathcal{D}(C_p) = \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ is the infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous semigroup $(T_Q(t))_{t\geq 0}$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$. This follows directly by the bounded perturbation theorem, [34, III.1.3]. In contrast to the constant coefficient perturbation from Chapter 6, we do not have an explicit representation for the semigroup $(T_Q(t))_{t\geq 0}$ in this case. Nevertheless, assuming (A1), (A2), (A5), (A8_B) and $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^{N,N})$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we show in Corollary 7.5 that the resolvent equation for C_p , which is given by

$$(\lambda I - C_p) v = g,$$

admits a unique solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ for every $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > -b_0 + M_{\infty} \|Q\|_{L^{\infty}}$, where $-b_0 := s(-B)$ and $M_{\infty} := \left(\frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min}a_0}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}}$, cf. (1.18). This follows once more from some applications of abstract semigroup theory, [34,

II.1]. In particular, if we require additionally the assumptions (A3) and (A4) for $1 , then the identification problem for <math>C_p$ is again solved by Theorem 5.19 and 5.25, respectively, and we obtain $C_p = \mathcal{L}_Q$ on $\mathcal{D}(A_p) = \mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) = \mathcal{D}_{max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$.

In Section 7.2 we apply the results from Section 7.1 to small perturbations $Q = Q_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ of B_p , meaning that Q_{ε} is small with respect to $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}}$. Denoting by C_p^{ε} the infinitesimal generator of $(T_{Q_{\varepsilon}}(t))_{t\geq 0}$, we then derive some a-priori estimates for the resolvent equation $(\lambda I - C_p^{\varepsilon}) v = g$ in exponentially weighted L^p -spaces. Assuming (A1), (A2), (A5), (A8_B) and (A9_B) for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ and $Q_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ satisfying

$$\|Q_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leqslant \frac{b_0}{3} \min\left\{\frac{1}{C_7}, \frac{1}{M_{\infty}}\right\} =: K_{\varepsilon}$$

we prove in Theorem 7.6 that the solution v_{\star} belongs to $W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $g \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \geq -\frac{b_0}{3}$. Note that for small perturbations the bound $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \geq -\frac{b_0}{3}$ does not depend on the perturbation Q_{ε} . Moreover, the upper bound of the decay rate does not depend on λ any more.

In Section 7.3 we apply the results from Section 7.1 to perturbations $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ of B_{p} , where Q falls below the constant K at infinity. Note that such perturbations Q can always be decomposed into the sum $Q = Q_{\varepsilon} + Q_{c}$ of a function $Q_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$, that is small with respect to $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}}$, and a function $Q_{c} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$, that is compactly supported on \mathbb{R}^{d} . Denoting by C_{p} the infinitesimal generator of $(T_{Q}(t))_{t\geq 0}$, we then derive some a-priori estimates for the resolvent equation $(\lambda I - C_{p}) v = g$ in exponentially weighted L^{p} -spaces. Assuming (A1), (A2), (A5), (A8_{B}), (A9_{B}) for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}, Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ satisfying

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{|x| \ge R_0} |Q(x)|_2 \leqslant \frac{b_0}{3} \min\left\{\frac{1}{C_7}, \frac{1}{M_\infty}\right\}, \text{ for some } R_0 > 0,$$

 $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \geq -\frac{b_0}{3}$ and $g \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, we prove in Theorem 7.7 that every solution v_{\star} belongs to $W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

In Section 7.4 we investigate the essential spectrum of \mathcal{L}_Q . Assuming (A1)–(A5), (A8_B) and $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^{N,N})$ with

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{|x|\geqslant R} \; \left|Q(x)\right|_2 \to 0 \text{ as } R \to \infty$$

for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we show in Theorem 7.9 that every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfying the dispersion relation for \mathcal{L}_Q

$$\det\left(\lambda I_N + \omega^2 A + B + i \sum_{l=1}^k n_l \sigma_l I_N\right) = 0, \text{ for some } \omega \in \mathbb{R}, \, n_l \in \mathbb{Z},$$

belongs to the essential spectrum of \mathcal{L}_Q . As a consequence we show in Corollary 7.10 that \mathcal{L}_Q is not sectorial in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $(T_Q(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is not analytic on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every 1 .

7.1 Application of semigroup theory

Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) be satisfied for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, then we denote by $(B_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ the infinitesimal generator of the semigroup $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ from (6.5) on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$. The semigroup $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is strongly continuous in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$ and satisfies

$$||T_{\infty}(t)||_{\mathcal{L}(L^{p},L^{p})} \leqslant M_{\infty}e^{\omega_{\infty}t} \quad \forall t \ge 0,$$

with $M_0 := M_{\infty} := \left(\frac{a_{\max}^2}{a_{\min}a_0}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}} \ge 1$ and $\omega_{\infty} := -b_0 \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, if we additionally require the assumptions (A3) and (A4) for $1 , then <math>B_p$ is the maximal realization of \mathcal{L}_{∞} in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ on its maximal domain, which is $\mathcal{D}(A_p) = \mathcal{D}_{\text{loc}}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) = \mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0).$

In this section we investigate variable coefficient perturbations of B_p in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$. For this purpose, let F_p be given by (7.1). An application of [34, III.1.3 Bounded Perturbation Theorem, III.1.7 Corollary and III.1.10 Theorem] yields the following result.

Theorem 7.1 (Bounded Perturbation Theorem). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5), (A8_B) and $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^{N,N})$ be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then the operator

$$C_p := B_p + F_p$$
 with $\mathcal{D}(C_p) := \mathcal{D}(A_p)$

generates a strongly continuous semigroup $(T_Q(t))_{t>0}$ on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ satisfying

(7.2)
$$\|T_Q(t)\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^p,L^p)} \leqslant M_{\infty} e^{\left(\omega_{\infty} + M_{\infty} \|F_p\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^p,L^p)}\right)t} \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

Moreover, for every $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $t \ge 0$ the semigroup $(T_Q(t))_{t\ge 0}$ satisfies the integral equation (variation of parameters formula)

$$T_Q(t)v = T_\infty(t)v + \int_0^t T_\infty(t-s)F_pT_Q(s)vds$$

is unique and can be obtained by

$$T_Q(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} T_Q^{(n)}(t)$$

where

$$T_Q^{(0)}(t) := T_\infty(t), \quad T_Q^{(n+1)}(t) := \int_0^t T_\infty(t-s) F_p T_Q^{(n)}(s) ds.$$

Simultaneous diagonalization of A and B. Note that the statement from Theorem 7.1 remains true, if we omit the assumption $(A8_B)$. In that case, we do not have a semigroup representation for $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ any more and the bound from (7.2) has accordingly to be modified.

Identification problem for C_p . Theorem 7.1 states that $(C_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ is the infinitesimal generator of $(T_Q(t))_{t\geq 0}$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$. If we additionally assume the conditions (A3) and (A4) for 1 , then an application of Theo $rem 5.19 and Theorem 5.25 solves the identification problem for <math>C_p$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and we infer that

$$C_p = \mathcal{L}_Q$$
 on $\mathcal{D}(A_p) = \mathcal{D}_{\text{loc}}^p(\mathcal{L}_0) = \mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0).$

Contrary to the case of constant coefficients, we cannot assume here, that Q(x) commutes with both A and B for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, since this is in general not satisfied in order to investigate the nonlinear problem of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator. Thus, we are not able to derive a closed form for the representation of the semigroup $(T_Q(t))_{t\geq 0}$. In particular, it is not possible in this case to optimize the boundedness property of $||T_Q(t)||_{\mathcal{L}(L^p,L^p)}$ from Theorem 7.1.

An application of [34, II.1.3 Lemma, II.1.4 Theorem] yields the following result:

Lemma 7.2. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5), (A8_B) and $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^{N,N})$ be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. (1) The generator $C_p : \mathcal{D}(A_p) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is a linear, closed and densely defined operator.

(2) For every $v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ and $t \ge 0$ we have

$$T_Q(t)v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$$
$$\frac{d}{dt}T_Q(t)v = T_Q(t)C_pv = C_pT_Q(t)v$$

(3) For every $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and every $t \ge 0$ we have

$$\int_0^t T_Q(s)vds \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$$

(4) For every $t \ge 0$ we have

$$T_Q(t)v - v = C_p \int_0^t T_Q(s)vds \qquad , \text{ for } v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N),$$
$$= \int_0^t T_Q(s)C_pvds \qquad , \text{ for } v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p).$$

Since $(C_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ is a closed operator on the Banach space $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$, we use the standard notion

$$\begin{aligned} \sigma(C_p) &:= \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \lambda I - C_p \text{ is not bijective}\} & \text{spectrum of } C_p, \\ \rho(C_p) &:= \mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma(C_p) & \text{resolvent set of } C_p, \\ R(\lambda, C_p) &:= (\lambda I - C_p)^{-1}, \text{ for } \lambda \in \rho(C_p) & \text{resolvent of } C_p. \end{aligned}$$

The next identities follow from [34, II.1.9 Lemma].

Lemma 7.3. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5), (A8_B) and $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and t > 0,

$$e^{-\lambda t}T_Q(t)v - v = (C_p - \lambda I) \int_0^t e^{-\lambda s}T_Q(s)vds \quad , \text{ for } v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N),$$
$$= \int_0^t e^{-\lambda s}T_Q(s) (C_p - \lambda I)vds \quad , \text{ for } v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p).$$

The following statement comes from [34, II.1.10 Theorem].

Theorem 7.4. Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5), (A8_B) and $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^{N,N})$ be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. (1) If $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ is such that $R(\lambda)v := \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda s} T_Q(s)v ds$ exists for every $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, then

 $\lambda \in \rho(C_p)$ and $R(\lambda, C_p) = R(\lambda)$.

(2) If $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfies $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega_{\infty} + M_{\infty} \|Q\|_{L^{\infty}}$, then

$$\lambda \in \rho(C_p), \quad R(\lambda, C_p) = R(\lambda)$$

and

$$\|R(\lambda, C_p)\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^p, L^p)} \leqslant \frac{M_{\infty}}{\operatorname{Re} \lambda - (\omega_{\infty} + M_{\infty} \|Q\|_{C_{\mathrm{b}}})}$$

Theorem 7.4(2) states that the half-plane $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega_{\infty} + M_{\infty} ||Q||_{L^{\infty}}$ belongs to the resolvent set $\rho(C_p)$. Therefore, the spectrum $\sigma(C_p)$ is contained in the halfplane $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \leq \omega_{\infty} + M_{\infty} ||Q||_{L^{\infty}}$. The **spectral bound** $s(C_p)$ of C_p , [34, II.1.12 Definition], defined by

$$-\infty \leqslant s(C_p) := \sup_{\lambda \in \sigma(C_p)} \operatorname{Re} \lambda \leqslant \omega_{\infty} + M_{\infty} \|Q\|_{L^{\infty}} < +\infty$$

can be considered as the smallest value $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ such that the spectrum is contained in the half-plane $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \leq \omega$.

A direct consequence of Theorem 7.4 is the following:

Corollary 7.5 (Solvability and uniqueness in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5), (A8_B) and $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^{N,N})$ be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Moreover, let $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega_{\infty} + M_{\infty} ||Q||_{L^{\infty}}$. Then for every $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ the resolvent equation

$$(\lambda I - C_p) v = g$$

admits a unique solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ which satisfies the integral expression

$$\begin{aligned} v_{\star} &= R(\lambda)g = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda s} T_{Q}(s)gds \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{-\lambda s} H_{\infty}(\cdot,\xi,s) \left(g(\xi) + Q(\xi)v_{\star}(\xi)\right) d\xi ds. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, it holds the resolvent estimate

$$\|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \leq \frac{M_{\infty}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda - (\omega_{\infty} + M_{\infty} \|Q\|_{L^{\infty}})} \|g\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}.$$

7.2 Exponential decay for small perturbations

Let us consider the operator

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{Q_{\varepsilon}}v\right](x) := A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - Bv(x) + Q_{\varepsilon}(x)v(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \ d \ge 2,$$

for some sufficiently small $Q_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$. Assuming (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we can apply the results from Section 7.1. In the following we denote by $(C_p^{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ the infinitesimal generator of $(T_{Q_{\varepsilon}}(t))_{t\geq 0}$. We suggest that if we additionally require (A3) and (A4) for 1 , then we can $replace the generator <math>C_p^{\varepsilon}$ by $\mathcal{L}_{Q_{\varepsilon}}$ and its domain $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ by $\mathcal{D}_{\text{loc}}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and $\mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$, respectively.

The next theorem yields a-priori estimates for the solution of the resolvent equation $(\lambda I - C_p^{\varepsilon}) v = g$ in exponentially weighted L^p -spaces. This requires the additional assumption (A9_B). We show that for sufficiently small perturbations Q_{ε} the solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ decays exponentially (at least) with the same rate as the inhomogeneity g.Note that the bound $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \geq -\frac{b_0}{3}$ does not depend on the perturbation Q_{ε} as in Corollary 7.5. Moreover, the upper bound for the decay rate does not depend on λ any more. The proof is based on an application of Corollary 7.5 and Theorem 6.8.

Theorem 7.6 (A-priori estimates in $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5), (A8_B) and (A9_B) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then for every $0 < \vartheta < 1$ and for every radially nondecreasing weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \geq 0$ with $0 \leq \eta^2 \leq \vartheta_3^2 \frac{a_0 b_0}{a_{\max}^2 p^2}$, for every $Q_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ with $\|Q_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{b_0}{3} \min\left\{\frac{1}{C_7}, \frac{1}{M_{\infty}}\right\}$, for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \geq -\frac{b_0}{3}$ and for every $g \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ we have $v_{\star} \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ with

(7.3)
$$\|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \leqslant \frac{C_{7}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \frac{2b_{0}}{3}} \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})},$$

(7.4)
$$||D_i v_{\star}||_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)} \leqslant \frac{\sqrt{2C_8}}{\left(\operatorname{Re} \lambda + \frac{2b_0}{3}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}} ||g||_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}, \ i = 1, \dots, d,$$

where $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ denotes the unique solution of $(\lambda I - C_p^{\varepsilon})v = g$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and the λ -independent constants C_7 , C_8 are given by Lemma 4.8 (with $\omega = \omega_{\infty}$).

Proof. 1. Existence and uniqueness in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ (by Corollary 7.5): First we show that there exists a unique solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ of $(\lambda I - C_p^{\varepsilon})v = g$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Since θ is nondecreasing we have $g \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Moreover, from $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \geq -\frac{b_0}{3}$, the choice of Q_{ε} and $b_0 > 0$, cp. (A9_B), we obtain

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda \ge -\frac{b_0}{3} \ge -\frac{2}{3}b_0 + M_\infty \|Q_\varepsilon\|_{L^\infty} > \omega_\infty + M_\infty \|Q_\varepsilon\|_{L^\infty}, \quad \omega_\infty := -b_0$$

Thus, the statement follows directly from Corollary 7.5. In order to verify that this v_{\star} belongs to $W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and satisfies the inequalities (7.3) and (7.4) we must analyze $(\lambda I - C_p^{\varepsilon})v = g$ in $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

2. Existence in $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ (by fixed point argument): Consider the fixed point equation

$$v = (\lambda I - B_p)^{-1} g + (\lambda I - B_p)^{-1} Q_{\varepsilon} v =: Fv$$

in $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Since $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \ge -\frac{b_0}{3}$ and $b_0 > 0$ we obtain $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > -b_0$ and

$$0 \leqslant \eta^2 \leqslant \vartheta \frac{2}{3} \frac{a_0 b_0}{a_{\max}^2 p^2} = \vartheta \frac{a_0 b_0}{a_{\max}^2 p^2} + \vartheta \frac{a_0}{a_{\max}^2 p^2} \left(-\frac{b_0}{3}\right) \leqslant \vartheta \frac{a_0 (\operatorname{Re} \lambda + b_0)}{a_{\max}^2 p^2}.$$

Thus, for given $v \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ an application of Theorem 6.8 implies $Fv \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ and $Fv \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Moreover, the linear part of F is a contraction since (6.12) yields

$$\left\| \left(\lambda I - B_p\right)^{-1} Q_{\varepsilon} v \right\|_{L^p_{\theta}} \leqslant q \left\| v \right\|_{L^p_{\theta}} \quad \forall v \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$$

with Lipschitz constant

$$0 \leqslant q := \frac{C_7}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + b_0} \|Q_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leqslant \frac{\frac{b_0}{3}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + b_0} \leqslant \frac{1}{2} < 1.$$

The last inequality follows from $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \geq -\frac{b_0}{3}$ and the choice of Q_{ε} . Hence, by the contraction mapping theorem F has a unique fixed point $u_{\star} \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ which even belongs to $\mathcal{D}(A_p)$ and satisfies $(\lambda I - C_p^{\varepsilon})v = g$ in $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Since $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ both v_{\star} and u_{\star} solve $(\lambda I - C_p^{\varepsilon})v = g$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and by uniqueness we deduce $v_{\star} = u_{\star}$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Moreover, we conclude that $v_{\star} = u_{\star} \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

3. $L^p_{\theta^-}$ and $W^{1,p}_{\theta^-}$ -estimates (by contraction mapping principle and bootstrapping): The $L^p_{\theta^-}$ -estimate (7.3) follows from the contraction mapping principle and

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} &= \|u_{\star}\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \leqslant \frac{1}{1-q} \|F0\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \leqslant \frac{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + b_{0}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + b_{0} - C_{7}} \|Q_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}} \frac{C_{7}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + b_{0}} \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \\ &\leqslant \frac{C_{7}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \frac{2b_{0}}{3}} \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}}. \end{aligned}$$

Finally, the $W^{1,p}_{\theta}$ -estimate (7.4) is proved by bootstrapping using the inequalities (6.13) and (7.3) for every $i = 1, \ldots, d$

$$\begin{split} \|D_{i}v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} &\leqslant \frac{C_{8}}{(\operatorname{Re}\lambda + b_{0})^{\frac{1}{2}}} \|g + Q_{\varepsilon}v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \\ &\leqslant \frac{C_{8}}{(\operatorname{Re}\lambda + b_{0})^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left(\|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} + \|Q_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}} \|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \right) \\ &\leqslant \frac{C_{8}}{(\operatorname{Re}\lambda + b_{0})^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left(\|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} + \frac{b_{0}}{3C_{7}} \frac{C_{7}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \frac{2b_{0}}{3}} \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \right) \\ &= \frac{C_{8}}{\left(\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \frac{2b_{0}}{3}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left(\frac{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + b_{0}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \frac{2b_{0}}{3}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \leqslant \frac{\sqrt{2}C_{8}}{\left(\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \frac{2b_{0}}{3}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}} \,. \end{split}$$

For the last inequality we used $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \leqslant -\frac{b_0}{3}$ and

$$\frac{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + b_0}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \frac{2b_0}{3}} = 1 + \frac{\frac{b_0}{3}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \frac{2b_0}{3}} \leqslant 2.$$

This shows that $v_{\star} \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N).$

7.3 Exponential decay for compactly supported perturbations

Let us consider the operator

$$[\mathcal{L}_Q v](x) := A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - Bv(x) + Q(x)v(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 2,$$

for some $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ and let us assume for the moment that Q can decomposed into $Q = Q_{\varepsilon} + Q_c$, where $Q_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ is small with respect to $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}}$ and $Q_c \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ is compactly supported. Such a perturbation Q_c is also called a **compactly supported perturbation** of $\mathcal{L}_{Q_{\varepsilon}}$. Assuming (A1), (A2), (A5) and (A8_B) for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we can apply once more the results from Section 7.1. Let $(C_p, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ denote the infinitesimal generator of $(T_Q(t))_{t\geq 0}$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, then using $Q = Q_{\varepsilon} + Q_c$ we obtain for every $v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$

$$[C_p v](x) = [B_p v](x) + (Q_\varepsilon(x) + Q_c(x))v(x) = [C_p^\varepsilon v](x) + Q_c(x)v(x),$$

where $(C_p^{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{D}(A_p))$ denotes the infinitesimal generator of $(T_{Q_{\varepsilon}}(t))_{t \ge 0}$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. This means that the relatively compact perturbation Q of B_p is the same as a compact perturbation Q_c of C_p^{ε} . The relation will be of importance in the following proof.

In the next theorem we prove a-priori estimates for the solution of the resolvent equation $(\lambda I - C_p) v = g$ in exponentially weighted L^p -spaces. We show that for perturbations Q, that falls below a certain threshold in the far-field, the solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ decays exponentially (at least) with the same rate as the inhomogeneity g. Similar to Theorem 7.6, the bound $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \ge -\frac{b_0}{3}$ does not depend on the perturbation Q_{ε} as in Corollary 7.5. The main idea of the proof is to combine the results from Corollary 7.5 and Theorem 7.6.

Theorem 7.7 (A-priori estimates in $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$). Let the assumptions (A1), (A2), (A5), (A8_B) and (A9_B) be satisfied for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then for every $0 < \vartheta < 1$, for every radially nondecreasing weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \geq 0$ with $0 \leq \eta^2 \leq \vartheta_3^2 \frac{a_0 b_0}{a_{\max}^2 p^2}$, for every $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ with

(7.5)
$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{|x| \ge R_0} |Q(x)|_2 \le \frac{b_0}{3} \min\left\{\frac{1}{C_7}, \frac{1}{M_\infty}\right\}, \text{ for some } R_0 > 0,$$

for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \geq -\frac{b_0}{3}$ and for every $g \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ the following property is satisfies:

Every solution $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ of the resolvent equation $(\lambda I - C_p) v = g$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ satisfies $v_{\star} \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

Proof. Let $0 < \vartheta < 1$ and let $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ be a radially nondecreasing weight function of exponential growth rate $\eta \ge 0$ with $0 \le \eta^2 \le \vartheta_3^2 \frac{a_0 b_0}{a_{\max}^2 p^2}$. 1. Decomposition of Q: For positive real R choose a C^{∞} cut-off functio

$$\chi_R : [0, \infty[\to [0, 1]] \quad \text{with} \quad \chi_R(r) = \begin{cases} 0 & , r \leq R \\ \text{smooth} & , R \leq r \leq 2R \\ 1 & , r \geq 2R \end{cases}$$

Then, we decompose Q as follows

$$Q(x) = \chi_{R_0}(|x|)Q(x) + (1 - \chi_{R_0}(|x|))Q(x) =: Q_{\varepsilon}(x) + Q_{\varepsilon}(x),$$

where $R_0 > 0$ comes from (7.5). Note that $Q_{\varepsilon}, Q_c \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ since $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ and $\chi_R(|\cdot|) \in C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, [0, 1])$. Moreover, Q_c is compactly supported because $Q_c(x) = 0$ for every $|x| \ge 2R_0$ and Q_{ε} is bounded by

$$\begin{aligned} \|Q_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N,N})} &= \|\chi_{R_{0}}(|\cdot|)Q(\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N,N})} \\ &= \|\chi_{R_{0}}(|\cdot|)Q(\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d}\setminus B_{R_{0}},\mathbb{C}^{N,N})} \\ &\leqslant \|\chi_{R_{0}}(|\cdot|)\|_{C_{b}(\mathbb{R}^{d}\setminus B_{R_{0}},[0,1])} \|Q(\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d}\setminus B_{R_{0}},\mathbb{C}^{N,N})} \\ &\leqslant \frac{b_{0}}{3}\min\left\{\frac{1}{C_{7}},\frac{1}{M_{\infty}}\right\}. \end{aligned}$$

Now, let $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \geq -\frac{b_0}{3}$ and $g \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and let $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ a solution of $(\lambda I - C_p) v = g$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, i.e. v_{\star} satisfies

(7.6)
$$\left(\lambda I - C_p^{\varepsilon}\right) v_{\star} = Q_c v_{\star} + g, \text{ in } L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N).$$

In the following, we consider the problem

(7.7)
$$(\lambda I - C_p^{\varepsilon}) u_{\star} = Q_c v_{\star} + g$$
, in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and in $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

Our aim is to show by Corollary 7.5 that $u_{\star} = v_{\star}$ (in $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$) is the unique solution of (7.7) in $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ and by Theorem 7.6 that $u_{\star} \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$. 2. Uniqueness in $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$: Consider (7.7) in $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$. $Q_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfy

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda \ge -\frac{b_0}{3} = -\frac{2}{3}b_0 + \frac{b_0}{3} \ge -\frac{2}{3}b_0 + M_\infty \|Q_\varepsilon\|_{L^\infty} > \omega_\infty + M_\infty \|Q_\varepsilon\|_{L^\infty}.$$

Hence, Corollary 7.5 (with $Q = Q_{\varepsilon}$ and inhomogeneity $Q_c v_{\star} + g$) implies a unique solution $u_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ of (7.7) in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Thus, we deduce that $w_{\star} := u_{\star} - v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ is a solution of

(7.8)
$$\left(\lambda I - C_p^{\varepsilon}\right) w_{\star} = 0, \text{ in } L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N).$$

Now, we apply Corollary 7.5 once more (with $Q = Q_{\varepsilon}$ and g = 0), which yields a unique solution $w_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ of (7.8) in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, which satisfies $||w_{\star}||_{L^p} = 0$ by the resolvent estimate from Corollary 7.5. Hence, $u_{\star} = v_{\star}$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

3. Existence in $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$: Consider (7.7) in $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. To apply Theorem 7.6, we only have to check that $Q_c v_{\star} + g \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$: From $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p), g \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and since Q_c is compactly supported in $B_{2R_0}(0)$ we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|Q_{c}v_{\star} + g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} &\leq \|\theta Q_{c}v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \\ &= \|\theta Q_{c}v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(B_{2R_{0}},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \\ &\leq \|\theta\|_{C_{b}(B_{2R_{0}},\mathbb{R})} \|(1 - \chi_{R_{0}}(|\cdot|))Q\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{2R_{0}},\mathbb{C}^{N,N})} \|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(B_{2R_{0}},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \\ &\leq \|\theta\|_{C_{b}(B_{2R_{0}},\mathbb{R})} \|Q\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N,N})} \|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \\ &= C_{\theta,Q,R_{0}} \|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \end{aligned}$$

i.e. $Q_c v_\star + g \in L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Therefore, Theorem 7.6 implies that the unique solution $u_\star \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ of (7.7) in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ satisfies $u_\star \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Since $u_\star = v_\star$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and since $u_\star \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \subseteq L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N) \subseteq L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, we conclude that $v_\star \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ as well.

Remark. Since $v_{\star} \in L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ solves $(\lambda I - C^{\varepsilon}_{p}) v_{\star} = Q_{c}v_{\star} + g$ in $L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$, we deduce from (7.3) that

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} &\leqslant \frac{C_{7}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \frac{2b_{0}}{3}} \|Q_{c}v_{\star} + g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} \\ &\leqslant \frac{C_{7}}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \frac{2b_{0}}{3}} \left(C_{\theta,Q,R_{0}} \|v_{\star}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})} + \|g\|_{L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}\right) \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, using (7.4) we obtain

$$\|D_i v_\star\|_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)} \leqslant \frac{\sqrt{2}C_8}{\left(\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \frac{2b_0}{3}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left(C_{\theta,Q,R_0} \|v_\star\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)} + \|g\|_{L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)}\right),$$

for $i = 1, \ldots, d$, where the constants C_7, C_8 are from Lemma 4.8 (with $\omega = \omega_{\infty}$).

7.4 Essential spectrum and analyticity

In this section we combine and extend the approaches from [15, Section 8.2, Theorem 8.1] and [71, Theorem 2.6] to compute the essential spectrum of \mathcal{L}_Q in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and 1 . In order to transfer the results to the infinitesimal $generator <math>C_p$, it is necessary to solve the identification problem for C_p . Therefore, we restrict 1 and require additionally the assumptions (A3) and (A4). In[15], Beyn and Lorenz have analyzed the case <math>p = d = 2 for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$. The spectrum of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}), 1 , without perturbation$ terms was studied by Metafune in [71].

First, let us introduce some notation about the spectrum of a closed and densely defined operator, [52]:
Definition 7.8. Let X be a (complex-valued) Banach space and let $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \subset X \to X$ be a closed, densely defined, linear operator. Moreover, let $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$.

(1) $\lambda \in \rho(A)$ if and only if the following properties hold

- $(\lambda I A) : \mathcal{D}(A) \to X$ is 1 1 (injective) and onto (surjective),
- $(\lambda I A)^{-1}$ is bounded on X.

The set $\rho(A)$ is called the **resolvent set of** A and $(\lambda I - A)^{-1}$ is called the **resolvent of** A. Moreover, the set $\sigma(A) := \mathbb{C} \setminus \rho(A)$ is called the **spectrum of** A and an element $\lambda \in \sigma(A)$ is called an **eigenvalue of** A. (2) $\lambda_0 \in \sigma(A)$ is called **isolated** if and only if

$$\exists \varepsilon > 0 \,\forall \, \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \text{ with } 0 < |\lambda - \lambda_0| < \varepsilon : \lambda \in \rho(A).$$

(3) The multiplicity of $\lambda_0 \in \sigma(A)$ is defined as the dimension of the algebraic eigenspace

$$\left\{ v \in X \mid \left(\lambda_0 I - A\right)^k = 0 \text{ for some } k \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$

(4) $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ is called a **normal point of** A if and only if one of the following properties hold

- $\lambda \in \rho(A)$,
- $\lambda \in \sigma_{\text{point}}(A) := \{\lambda \in \sigma(A) \mid \lambda \text{ is isolated with finite multiplicity}\}.$

The set $\sigma_{\text{point}}(A)$ is called the **point spectrum of** A. (5) The set

 $\sigma_{\rm ess}(A) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \lambda \text{ is not a normal point of } A\}$

is called the **essential spectrum of** A.

By definition it holds

$$\mathbb{C} = \rho(A) \stackrel{\cdot}{\cup} \sigma(A) = \rho(A) \stackrel{\cdot}{\cup} \left(\sigma_{\mathrm{ess}}(A) \stackrel{\cdot}{\cup} \sigma_{\mathrm{point}}(A)\right)$$

We first give a short motivation, how we can determine the essential spectrum of \mathcal{L}_Q , see [15, Section 8.2] for the case d = p = 2 and see [71, Theorem 2.6] for the essential spectrum of the drift term in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}), 1 :$

The main idea for detecting the essential spectrum is to look for solutions of the initial value problem

$$v_t(x,t) = [\mathcal{L}_Q v](x,t), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ t > 0,$$

$$v(x,0) = v_0(x), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ t = 0.$$

1. Orthogonal transformation. For space dimensions $d \ge 3$ the axis of rotation is in general not orthogonal to some plane (x_l, x_k) , $1 \le l, k \le d$. Furthermore, in space dimensions $d \ge 4$ the pattern can also rotate rigidly around several axes of rotation simultaneously. The first step is to separate the axes of rotation in such a way that they are orthogonal to (completely) different planes. For this purpose we perform an orthogonal transformation: Since $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ with $S^T = -S$ we have $\sigma(S) \subset i\mathbb{R}$. Let $\pm i\sigma_1, \ldots, \pm i\sigma_k$ denote the nonzero eigenvalues of S, $1 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$, then

$$\exists P \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$$
 orthogonal matrix : $S = P\Lambda^S_{\text{block}}P^T$,

where

$$\Lambda_{\text{block}}^{S} = \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda_{1}^{S} & & & 0 \\ & \ddots & & & \\ & & \Lambda_{k}^{S} & & \\ & & & 0 & \\ & & & & \ddots & \\ 0 & & & & & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}, \quad \Lambda_{j}^{S} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_{j} \\ -\sigma_{j} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2,2},$$

for every j = 1, ..., k. The orthogonal transformation of coordinates

$$x = T_1(y) := Py, \ y \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

and $\tilde{v}(y,t) := v(T_1(y),t)$ yield the transformed equation

$$\tilde{v}_t(y,t) = \left[\mathcal{L}_{Q,T_1}\tilde{v}\right](y,t), \ y \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ t > 0,$$

where the transformed operator is given by

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{Q,T_{1}}\tilde{v}\right](y,t) = A \triangle v(y,t) + \left\langle \Lambda_{\text{block}}^{S}y, \nabla \tilde{v}(y,t) \right\rangle - B\tilde{v}(y,t) + Q(T_{1}(y))\tilde{v}(y,t),$$

with

$$\left\langle \Lambda_{\text{block}}^S y, \nabla \tilde{v}(y, t) \right\rangle = \sum_{l=1}^k \sigma_l \left(y_{2l} D_{2l-1} - y_{2l-1} D_{2l} \right) \tilde{v}(y, t).$$

2. Transformation into several planar polar coordinates. Since now we have k angular derivatives in k different planes it is advisable to transform the coordinates of every such a plane into planar polar coordinates via

$$\begin{pmatrix} y_{2l-1} \\ y_{2l} \end{pmatrix} = T(r_l, \phi_l) := \begin{pmatrix} r_l \cos \phi_l \\ r_l \sin \phi_l \end{pmatrix}, \ l = 1, \dots, k, \ \phi_l \in]-\pi, \pi], \ r_l > 0.$$

All further coordinates, i.e. y_{2k+1}, \ldots, y_d , remain fixed. Denoting the total transformation by $T_2(r_1, \phi_1, \ldots, r_k, \phi_k, y_{2k+1}, \ldots, y_d)$ we obtain from $\hat{v}(\xi, t) := \tilde{v}(T_2(\xi), t)$

$$\hat{v}_t(\xi, t) = [\mathcal{L}_{Q, T_2} \hat{v}](\xi, t), \, \xi \in (]0, \, \infty[\times] - \pi, \pi])^k \times \mathbb{R}^{d-2k}, \, t > 0,$$

where $\xi := (r_1, \phi_1, \dots, r_k, \phi_k, y_{2k+1}, \dots, y_d)$ and the transformed operator is given by

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_2} \hat{v} \end{bmatrix} (\xi, t) = A \left[\sum_{l=1}^k \left(\partial_{r_l}^2 + \frac{1}{r_l} \partial_{r_l} + \frac{1}{r_l^2} \partial_{\phi_l}^2 \right) + \sum_{l=2k+1}^d \partial_{y_l}^2 \right] \hat{v}(\xi, t) \\ - \sum_{l=1}^k \sigma_l \partial_{\phi_l} \hat{v}(\xi, t) - B \hat{v}(\xi, t) + Q(T_1(T_2(\xi))) \hat{v}(\xi, t).$$

3. Simplified operator (limit operator, far-field operator). Since the essential spectrum depends only on the limiting equation for $|x| \to \infty$, we let formally $r_l \to \infty$ for every $1 \leq l \leq k$ and obtain

$$\hat{v}_t(\xi, t) = \left[\mathcal{L}_{Q, T_2}^{\text{sim}} \hat{v}\right](\xi, t), \, \xi \in (]0, \, \infty[\times] - \pi, \pi])^k \times \mathbb{R}^{d-2k}, \, t > 0,$$

with the simplified operator

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{Q,T_{2}}^{\text{sim}}\hat{v}\right](\xi,t) = A\left[\sum_{l=1}^{k}\partial_{r_{l}}^{2} + \sum_{l=2k+1}^{d}\partial_{y_{l}}^{2}\right]\hat{v}(\xi,t) - \sum_{l=1}^{k}\sigma_{l}\partial_{\phi_{l}}\hat{v}(\xi,t) - B\hat{v}(\xi,t).$$

where we assumed that $\sup_{|x| \ge R} |Q(x)| \to 0$ as $R \to \infty$.

4. Temporal Fourier transform. In order to eliminate the time derivative we perform a Fourier transform with respect to the time variable t. From $\check{v}(\xi) := e^{-\lambda t} \hat{v}(\xi, t), \ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, we obtain

$$\left[\left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_2}^{\text{sim}}\right)\check{v}\right](\xi) = 0, \ \xi \in \left(\left]0, \infty\left[\times\right] - \pi, \pi\right]\right)^k \times \mathbb{R}^{d-2k}.$$

5. Angular Fourier transform. Using a Fourier transform with respect to the space variable ξ , we eliminate all spatial derivatives, including radial and angular derivatives. For this purpose, we choose

$$\check{v}(\xi) := \exp\left(\frac{i\omega}{k}\sum_{l=1}^{k}r_l\right)\exp\left(i\sum_{l=1}^{k}n_l\phi_l\right)\underline{v}, n_l \in \mathbb{Z}, \, \omega \in \mathbb{R}, \, \underline{v} \in \mathbb{C}^N, \, |\underline{v}| = 1, \\ \phi_l \in]-\pi, \pi], \, r_l > 0, \, l = 1, \dots, k,$$

that is sometimes called the **angular Fourier decomposition**. This yields

$$\left[\left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_2}^{\rm sim}\right)\check{v}\right](\xi) = \left(\lambda I_N + \omega^2 A + i\sum_{l=1}^k n_l \sigma_l I_N + B\right)\check{v}(\xi).$$

The angular Fourier decomposition is a well-known tool for investigating essential spectrum, also in case of spiral waves, see [38].

6. Finite-dimensional eigenvalue problem. Hence, $\left[\left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_2}^{sim}\right)\check{v}\right](\xi) = 0$ for every ξ if and only if $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfies the following finite-dimensional eigenvalue problem

$$(\omega^2 A + B) \underline{v} = -\left(\lambda + i \sum_{l=1}^k n_l \sigma_l\right) \underline{v}.$$

Theorem 7.9 (Essential spectrum of \mathcal{L}_Q). Let the assumptions (A1)–(A5), (A8_B) and $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^{N,N})$ with

$$\eta_R := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{|x| \ge R} |Q(x)|_2 \to 0 \text{ as } R \to \infty$$

be satisfied for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Moreover, let $\lambda_j(\omega)$ denote the eigenvalues of $\omega^2 A + B$ for $j = 1, \ldots, N$. Then every number $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with

(7.9)
$$\lambda = -\lambda_j(\omega) - i \sum_{l=1}^k n_l \sigma_l, \, n_l \in \mathbb{Z}, \, \omega \in \mathbb{R}, \, j = 1, \dots, N,$$

belongs to the essential spectrum of \mathcal{L}_Q in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, i.e. $\lambda \in \sigma_{ess}(\mathcal{L}_Q)$.

Dispersion relation for \mathcal{L}_Q . The dispersion relation for \mathcal{L}_Q in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ with $1 states that every <math>\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfying

$$\det\left(\lambda I_N + \omega^2 A + B + i \sum_{l=1}^k n_l \sigma_l I_N\right) = 0, \text{ for some } \omega \in \mathbb{R}, n_l \in \mathbb{Z},$$

belongs to the essential spectrum of \mathcal{L}_Q , i.e. $\lambda \in \sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L}_Q)$. This condition is necessary for the localization (and the existence) of the essential spectrum. Note that we have not proved that every $\lambda \in \sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L}_Q)$ can be represented as in (7.9).

Essential spectrum at localized rotating waves. Later on, in Theorem 9.10 we apply Theorem 7.9 to the linearized operator

$$\left[\mathcal{L}v\right](x) = A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle + Df(v_{\star}(x))v(x)$$

with

$$-B = Df(v_{\infty}), \qquad Q(x) = Df(v_{\star}(x)) - Df(v_{\infty}), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

where $v_{\star}(x)$ denotes the profile of a localized rotating pattern. This is motivated by the fact, that the essential spectrum of \mathcal{L} provides informations about the linear (or spectral) stability of \mathcal{L} at localized rotating waves v_{\star} .

Density of essential spectrum in a half-plane. Consider the set

$$\sigma_{\mathrm{ess}}^{\mathrm{part}}(\mathcal{L}_Q) := \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \det\left(\lambda I_N + \omega^2 A + B + i \sum_{l=1}^k n_l \sigma_l I_N\right) = 0, \, \omega \in \mathbb{R}, \, n_l \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}.$$

Theorem 7.9 shows that $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}_Q) \subseteq \sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L}_Q)$. Moreover, we have the inclusion $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}_Q) \subseteq \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re } \lambda \leq -b_0\}$, where $b_0 = -s(-B)$. If there exists σ_n, σ_m such that $\sigma_n \sigma_m^{-1} \notin \mathbb{Q}$ then $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}_Q)$ is dense in the half-plane $\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re } \lambda \leq -b_0\}$, i.e. $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}_Q) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re } \lambda \leq -b_0\}$. Otherwise $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}_Q)$ is a discrete subgroup of $\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re } \lambda \leq -b_0\}$ (independently of p). The reason for this conclusion is given by Metafune in [71, Theorem 2.6]: There, it is proved that the essential spectrum of the drift term is dense in $i\mathbb{R}$, i.e. $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle) = i\mathbb{R}$, if and only if there exists

 σ_m, σ_m such that $\sigma_n \sigma_m \notin \mathbb{Q}$. Otherwise, $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle)$ is a discrete subgroup of $i\mathbb{R}$ (independently of p).

Effect of assumption $(A9_B)$ on the location of essential spectrum. If we require in addition the stability condition $(A9_B)$, then $b_0 = -s(-B) > 0$. Hence, $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_j(\omega) > 0$ and thus $\sigma_{\operatorname{ess}}^{\operatorname{part}}(\mathcal{L}_Q) \subseteq \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Re} \lambda \leq -b_0\} \subset \mathbb{C}_-$, where $\mathbb{C}_- := \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Re} \lambda < 0\}$.

Figure 7.1 illustrates the set $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}_Q)$ in the scalar case for $A = \frac{1}{2}(1+i), B = \frac{1}{2}$ and Q = 0. Figure 7.1(a) shows the part of the essential spectrum of \mathcal{L}_Q for $\sigma_1 = 1.027$ and space dimension d = 2 and d = 3. In this case $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}_Q)$ forms a zig-zag curve, see [15] for d = 2, and is not dense in $\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re } \lambda \leq -\frac{1}{2}\}$. Note that $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}_Q)$ can only be dense in $\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re } \lambda \leq -\frac{1}{2}\}$ for space dimensions $d \ge 4$. Figure 7.1(b) shows the part of essential spectrum of \mathcal{L}_Q for $\sigma_1 = 1$, $\sigma_2 = 1.5$ and d = 4. The eigenvalues σ_1, σ_2 satisfy $\sigma_1 \sigma_2^{-1} \in \mathbb{Q}$ and $\sigma_2 \sigma_1^{-1} \in \mathbb{Q}$. Thus, the set $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}_Q)$ is not dense in $\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re } \lambda \leq -\frac{1}{2}\}$. Figure 7.1(c) shows the part of essential spectrum of \mathcal{L}_Q for $\sigma_1 = 1$, $\sigma_2 = \frac{1}{2}\exp(1)$ and d = 4. In this case, the eigenvalues σ_1, σ_2 satisfy $\sigma_1 \sigma_2^{-1} \notin \mathbb{Q}$ and $\sigma_2 \sigma_1^{-1} \notin \mathbb{Q}$. Thus, the set $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}_Q)$ is dense in $\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re } \lambda \leq -\frac{1}{2}\}$. This shows, that also the essential spectrum $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L}_Q)$ changes dramatically depending on the eigenvalues of S.



Figure 7.1: Essential spectrum of \mathcal{L}_Q for parameters $A = \frac{1}{2}(1+i), B = \frac{1}{2}$ and Q = 0

Proof. 1. Let $R \ge 2$ be large and let $\chi_R : [0, \infty[\to [0, 1]]$ be a cut-off function such that $\chi_R \in C^2([0, \infty[, [0, 1]])$ with bounded derivatives independently of R and

$$\chi_R(r) = \begin{cases} 0 & , r \in [0, R-1], \\ \in [0, 1] & , r \in [R-1, R], \\ 1 & , r \in [R, 2R], \\ \in [0, 1] & , r \in [2R, 2R+1], \\ 0 & , r \in [2R+1, \infty[. \end{cases}$$

2. Define

$$v_R(\xi) := \left(\prod_{l=1}^k \chi_R(r_l)\right) \chi_R(|\tilde{x}|) v(\xi)$$
$$= \left(\prod_{l=1}^k \chi_R(r_l)\right) \chi_R(|\tilde{x}|) \exp\left(i\omega \sum_{l=1}^k r_l\right) \exp\left(i\sum_{l=1}^k n_l \phi_l\right) \hat{v},$$

where $\tilde{x} := (x_{2k+1}, \ldots, x_d), \xi := (r_1, \phi_1, \ldots, r_k, \phi_k, \tilde{x}), n_l \in \mathbb{Z}, \omega \in \mathbb{R}, \hat{v} \in \mathbb{C}^N$ with $|\hat{v}| = 1, \phi_l \in]-\pi, \pi], r_l > 0$ and $l = 1, \ldots, k$. By definition of χ_R we have

(7.10)
$$\left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_2}^{\rm sim}\right) v_R(\xi) = 0.$$

whenever $|\tilde{x}| \in [0, R-1] \cup [2R+1, \infty[$ or $r_l \in [0, R-1] \cup [2R+1, \infty[$ for some $1 \leq l \leq k$. Moreover, by the choice of λ and by definition of χ_R we have

(7.11)
$$\left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_2}^{\rm sim}\right) v_R(\xi) = 0,$$

if $|\tilde{x}|, r_l \in [R, 2R]$ for every $l = 1, \dots, k$. 3. By the choice of λ ,

$$\partial_{r_l}^2 \left(\chi_R(r_l) e^{i\omega r_l} \right) = \chi_R''(r_l) e^{i\omega r_l} + 2i\omega \chi_R'(r_l) e^{i\omega r_l} + \chi_R(r_l) \partial_{r_l}^2 e^{i\omega r_l}, \ l = 1, \dots, k,$$

$$\partial_{x_l}^2 \left(\chi_R(|\tilde{x}|) \right) = \frac{|\tilde{x}|^2 - x_l^2}{|\tilde{x}|^3} \chi_R'(|\tilde{x}|) + \frac{x_l^2}{|\tilde{x}|^2} \chi_R''(|\tilde{x}|), \ l = 2k + 1, \dots, d,$$

the triangle inequality, $|\chi_R(r)| \leq 1$, $\chi'_R(r) \leq ||\chi_R||_{C_b^2}$, $\chi''_R(r) \leq ||\chi_R||_{C_b^2}$, $|v(\xi)| = 1$ and $\frac{1}{|\tilde{x}|} \leq \frac{1}{R-1} \leq 1$, since $R \geq 2$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_2}^{\text{sim}} \right) v_R(\xi) \right| \\ &= \left| \left(\lambda I - A \left[\sum_{l=1}^k \partial_{r_l}^2 + \sum_{l=2k+1}^d \partial_{x_l}^2 \right] + \sum_{l=1}^k \sigma_l \partial_{\phi_l} + B \right) \left(\prod_{l=1}^k \chi_R(r_l) \right) \chi_R(|\tilde{x}|) v(\xi) \right| \\ &= \left| \left(\prod_{l=1}^k \chi_R(r_l) \right) \chi_R(|\tilde{x}|) \underbrace{ \left(\lambda I - A \left[\sum_{l=1}^k \partial_{r_l}^2 + \sum_{l=2k+1}^d \partial_{x_l}^2 \right] + \sum_{l=1}^k n_l \partial_{\phi_l} + B \right) v(\xi)}_{=0 \text{ (by the choice of } \lambda)} \right| \\ &- A \sum_{l=1}^k \left(\chi_R''(r_l) + 2i\omega \chi_R'(r_l) \right) \left(\prod_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq l}}^k \chi_R(r_j) \right) \chi_R(|\tilde{x}|) v(\xi) \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{split} &-A\sum_{l=2k+1}^{d} \left(\frac{|\tilde{x}|^{2}-x_{l}^{2}}{|\tilde{x}|^{3}}\chi_{R}'(|\tilde{x}|)+\frac{x_{l}^{2}}{|\tilde{x}|^{2}}\chi_{R}''(|\tilde{x}|)\right) \left(\prod_{j=1}^{k}\chi_{R}(r_{j})\right)v(\xi)\bigg|\\ &\leqslant |A|_{2}\sum_{l=1}^{k} \left(|\chi_{R}''(r_{l})|+2|\omega|\,|\chi_{R}'(r_{l})|\right) \left(\prod_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq l}}^{k}|\chi_{R}(r_{j})|\right)|\chi_{R}(|\tilde{x}|)|\,|v(\xi)|\\ &+|A|_{2}\left(\frac{|d-2k-1|}{|\tilde{x}|}\,|\chi_{R}'(|\tilde{x}|)|+|\chi_{R}''(|\tilde{x}|)|\right) \left(\prod_{j=1}^{k}|\chi_{R}(r_{j})|\right)|v(\xi)|\\ &\leqslant |A|_{2}\left(k(1+2|\omega|)+|d-2k-1|+1\right)\|\chi_{R}\|_{C_{b}^{2}}=:C,\end{split}$$

for every $|\tilde{x}|, r_l \in [R-1, R] \cup [R, 2R] \cup [2R, 2R+1]$ and $1 \leq l \leq k$. 4. Furthermore, we have by the definition of χ_R , $|v(\xi)|^p = 1$ and by the transformation theorem

$$\begin{split} \|v_{R}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}^{p} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |v_{R}(x)|^{p} dx \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \cdots \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-2k}} \left(\prod_{l=1}^{k} r_{l}\right) |v_{R}(\xi)|^{p} d\tilde{x} d\phi_{k} dr_{k} \cdots d\phi_{1} dr_{1} \\ &= \int_{R-1}^{2R+1} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \cdots \int_{R-1}^{2R+1} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{R-1 \leqslant |\tilde{x}| \leqslant 2R+1} \left(\prod_{l=1}^{k} r_{l}\right) |v_{R}(\xi)|^{p} d\xi \\ &= \int_{R-1}^{2R+1} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \cdots \int_{R-1}^{2R+1} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{R-1 \leqslant |\tilde{x}| \leqslant 2R+1} \left(\prod_{l=1}^{k} r_{l}\right) \left(\prod_{l=1}^{k} \chi_{R}^{p}(r_{l})\right) \chi_{R}^{p}(|\tilde{x}|) d\xi \\ &= \int_{R-1 \leqslant |\tilde{x}| \leqslant 2R+1} \chi_{R}^{p}(|\tilde{x}|) d\tilde{x} \prod_{l=1}^{k} \int_{R-1}^{2R+1} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} r_{l} \chi_{R}^{p}(r_{l}) d\phi_{l} dr_{l} \\ &= \left(\int_{R-1 \leqslant |\tilde{x}| \leqslant R} \frac{\chi_{R}^{p}(|\tilde{x}|)}{\geqslant 0} d\tilde{x} + \int_{R \leqslant |\tilde{x}| \leqslant 2R} \frac{\chi_{R}^{p}(|\tilde{x}|)}{=1} d\tilde{x} + \int_{2R \leqslant |\tilde{x}| \leqslant 2R+1} \frac{\chi_{R}^{p}(|\tilde{x}|)}{\geqslant 0} d\tilde{x}\right) \\ &\quad \cdot \prod_{l=1}^{k} 2\pi \left(\int_{R-1}^{R} r_{l} \frac{\chi_{R}^{p}(r_{l})}{\geqslant 0} dr_{l} + \int_{R}^{2R} r_{l} \frac{\chi_{R}^{p}(r_{l})}{=1} dr_{l} + \int_{2R}^{2R+1} r_{l} \frac{\chi_{R}^{p}(r_{l})}{\geqslant 0} dr_{l}\right) \\ &\geqslant \int_{R \leqslant |\tilde{x}| \leqslant 2R} 1 d\tilde{x} \cdot \prod_{l=1}^{k} 2\pi \int_{R}^{2R} r_{l} dr_{l} = CR^{\tilde{d}} \prod_{l=1}^{k} 3\pi R^{2} = (3\pi)^{k} CR^{2k+\tilde{d}} = CR^{d}, \end{split}$$

where $d\xi := d\tilde{x}d\phi_k dr_k \cdots d\phi_1 dr_1$ and $\tilde{d} := d - 2k$ denotes the dimension of the \tilde{x} -integral. Moreover, we used the following formula with a = R and b = 2R

(7.12)
$$\int_{a \leq |\tilde{x}| \leq b} 1 d\tilde{x} = \begin{cases} 1 & , \ \tilde{d} = 0, \\ b - a & , \ \tilde{d} = 1, \\ 2\pi \frac{\pi^{\frac{\tilde{d}-2}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\tilde{d}}{2}\right)} \frac{\left(b^{\tilde{d}} - a^{\tilde{d}}\right)}{\tilde{d}} & , \ \tilde{d} \geq 2. \end{cases}$$

5. Furthermore, we have by (7.10)

$$\left\| \left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_2}^{\text{sim}} \right) v_R \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{C}^N)}^p = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_2}^{\text{sim}} \right) v_R(x) \right|^p dx$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \cdots \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-2k}} \left(\prod_{l=1}^{k} r_{l} \right) \left| \left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_{2}}^{\min} \right) v_{R}(\xi) \right|^{p} d\tilde{x} d\phi_{k} dr_{k} \cdots d\phi_{1} dr_{1} dr_{1} dr_{1} dr_{2} dr_$$

Defining $\tilde{d} := d - 2k$ we distinguish between the following cases: **Case 1:** ($\tilde{d} = 0$). From step 3, (7.11), the multinomial theorem,

(7.13)
$$\int_{R-1}^{R} r_l dr_l = \frac{1}{2}(2R-1), \ \int_{R}^{2R} r_l dr_l = \frac{1}{2}3R^2, \ \int_{2R}^{2R+1} r_l dr_l = \frac{1}{2}(4R+1),$$

 $k = \frac{d}{2}$ and

$$(2R-1)^{j_1}(3R^2)^{j_2}(4R+1)^{j_3} \leqslant CR^{j_1+2j_2+j_3} = CR^{k+j_2} \leqslant CR^{k+k-1} = CR^{d-1}$$

we further obtain

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{R-1}^{2R+1} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \cdots \int_{R-1}^{2R+1} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \left(\prod_{l=1}^{k} r_{l} \right) \left| \left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_{2}}^{\min} \right) v_{R}(\xi) \right|^{p} d\tilde{x} d\phi_{k} dr_{k} \cdots d\phi_{1} dr_{1} \\ &\leqslant \sum_{\substack{j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}=k\\j_{2}\neq k}} \binom{k}{j_{1}, j_{2}, j_{3}} \left(\int_{R-1}^{R} \right)^{j_{1}} \left(\int_{R}^{2R} \right)^{j_{2}} \left(\int_{2R}^{2R+1} \right)^{j_{3}} C^{p} \left(\prod_{l=1}^{k} r_{l} \right) (2\pi)^{k} dr_{1} \cdots dr_{k} \\ &= \sum_{\substack{j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}=k\\j_{2}\neq k}} \binom{k}{j_{1}, j_{2}, j_{3}} C^{p} (2\pi)^{k} \frac{1}{2^{k}} (2R-1)^{j_{1}} (3R^{2})^{j_{2}} (4R+1)^{j_{3}} \leqslant CR^{d-1}. \end{split}$$

Case 2: $(\tilde{d} \ge 1)$. Again from step 3, (7.11), the multinomial theorem, (7.12), $(2R-1)^{j_1} \le CR^{j_1}$, $(3R^2)^{j_2} \le CR^{2j_2}$ and $(4R+1)^{j_3} \le CR^{j_3}$ we further obtain

$$\leq \sum_{j_1+j_2+j_3=k} \binom{k}{j_1, j_2, j_3} \left(\int_{R-1}^{R} \right)^{j_1} \left(\int_{R}^{2R} \right)^{j_2} \left(\int_{2R}^{2R+1} \right)^{j_3} \\ \int_{R-1 \leq |\tilde{x}| \leq R} C^p \left(\prod_{l=1}^k r_l \right) (2\pi)^k d\tilde{x} dr_1 \cdots dr_k \\ + \sum_{j_1+j_2+j_3=k} \binom{k}{j_1, j_2, j_3} \left(\int_{R-1}^R \right)^{j_1} \left(\int_{R}^{2R} \right)^{j_2} \left(\int_{2R}^{2R+1} \right)^{j_3} \\ \int_{R \leq |\tilde{x}| \leq 2R} C^p \left(\prod_{l=1}^k r_l \right) (2\pi)^k d\tilde{x} dr_1 \cdots dr_k \\ + \sum_{j_1+j_2+j_3=k} \binom{k}{j_1, j_2, j_3} \left(\int_{R-1}^R \right)^{j_1} \left(\int_{R}^{2R} \right)^{j_2} \left(\int_{2R}^{2R+1} \right)^{j_3} \\ \int_{2R \leq |\tilde{x}| \leq 2R+1} C^p \left(\prod_{l=1}^k r_l \right) (2\pi)^k d\tilde{x} dr_1 \cdots dr_k$$

6. Now, let us consider the operator \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_2} instead of $\mathcal{L}_{Q,T_2}^{sim}$. By definition of χ_R we have

$$\left[\left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_2}\right) v_R\right](\xi) = 0,$$

whenever $|\tilde{x}| \in [0, R-1] \cup [2R+1, \infty[$ or $r_l \in [0, R-1] \cup [2R+1, \infty[$ for some $1 \leq l \leq k$. Moreover, we have by the choice of λ , by definition of χ_R and since $R \geq 1$

$$\begin{aligned} |(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_{2}}) v_{R}(\xi)| \\ &= \left| \left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_{2}}^{sim} \right) v_{R}(\xi) - A \sum_{l=1}^{k} \left(\frac{1}{r_{l}} \partial_{r_{l}} + \frac{1}{r_{l}^{2}} \partial_{\phi_{l}} \right) v_{R}(\xi) - Q(\xi) v_{R}(\xi) \right| \\ &= \left| A \sum_{l=1}^{k} \left(\frac{1}{r_{l}} \partial_{r_{l}} + \frac{1}{r_{l}^{2}} \partial_{\phi_{l}} \right) v_{R}(\xi) + Q(\xi) v_{R}(\xi) \right| \\ &\leq |A|_{2} \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left(\frac{|i\omega|}{r_{l}} + \frac{|in_{l}|^{2}}{r_{l}^{2}} \right) + |Q(\xi)| \\ &\leq |A|_{2} \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left(|\omega| + |n_{l}|^{2} \right) \frac{1}{r_{l}} + \eta_{R} \\ &\leq \left(|A|_{2} \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left(|\omega| + |n_{l}|^{2} \right) \frac{1}{r_{l}} + \eta_{R} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}, \ 1$$

if $|\tilde{x}|, r_l \in [R, 2R]$ for every $l = 1, \ldots, k$. 7. From the choice of λ , step 3, $\frac{1}{r_l} \leq \frac{1}{R-1} \leq 1$ (since $R \geq 2$), $\frac{1}{r_l^2} \leq 1$, $|\chi_R(y)| \leq 1$, $|\chi'_R(y)| \leq ||\chi_R||_{C_b^2}$ and $|v(\xi)| = 1$ we obtain

$$\begin{split} &|(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_{2}}) v_{R}(\xi)| \\ &= \left| \left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_{2}}^{sim}\right) v_{R}(\xi) - A \sum_{l=1}^{k} \left(\frac{1}{r_{l}} \partial_{r_{l}} + \frac{1}{r_{l}^{2}} \partial_{\phi_{l}}\right) v_{R}(\xi) - Q(\xi) v_{R}(\xi) \right| \\ &= \left| \left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_{2}}^{sim}\right) v_{R}(\xi) - A \sum_{l=1}^{k} \frac{1}{r_{l}} \chi_{R}'(r_{l}) \left(\prod_{\substack{j=1\\ j \neq l}}^{k} \chi_{R}(r_{j})\right) \chi_{R}(|\tilde{x}|) v(\xi) \right. \\ &- A \sum_{l=1}^{k} \frac{1}{r_{l}} i \omega \left(\prod_{j=1}^{k} \chi_{R}(r_{j})\right) \chi_{R}(|\tilde{x}|) v(\xi) - A \sum_{l=1}^{k} \frac{1}{r_{l}^{2}} i n_{l} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{k} \chi_{R}(r_{j})\right) \chi_{R}(|\tilde{x}|) v(\xi) \\ &- Q(\xi) \left(\prod_{j=1}^{k} \chi_{R}(r_{j})\right) \chi_{R}(|\tilde{x}|) v(\xi) \right| \\ &\leqslant \left| \left(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_{2}}^{sim}\right) v_{R}(\xi) \right| + |A|_{2} \sum_{l=1}^{k} \frac{1}{r_{l}} |\chi_{R}'(r_{l})| \left(\prod_{j=1}^{k} |\chi_{R}(r_{j})|\right) |\chi_{R}(|\tilde{x}|)| |v(\xi)| \\ &+ |A|_{2} \sum_{l=1}^{k} \frac{1}{r_{l}^{2}} |\omega| \left(\prod_{j=1}^{k} |\chi_{R}(r_{j})|\right) |\chi_{R}(|\tilde{x}|)| |v(\xi)| \\ &+ |A|_{2} \sum_{l=1}^{k} \frac{1}{r_{l}^{2}} |n_{l}| \left(\prod_{j=1}^{k} |\chi_{R}(r_{j})|\right) |\chi_{R}(|\tilde{x}|)| |v(\xi)| \\ &+ \|Q\|_{L^{\infty}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{k} |\chi_{R}(r_{j})|\right) |\chi_{R}(|\tilde{x}|)| |v(\xi)| \\ &\leqslant C + |A|_{2} \left(k \|\chi_{R}\|_{C_{b}^{2}} + k |\omega| + \sum_{l=1}^{k} |n_{l}| + \|Q\|_{L^{\infty}} \right) = C, \end{split}$$

for every $|\tilde{x}|, r_l \in [R-1, R] \cup [R, 2R] \cup [2R, 2R+1]$ and $1 \leq l \leq k$. 8. Hence, we obtain from the transformation theorem and step 6

$$\begin{aligned} &\|(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q}) v_{R}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{C}^{N})}^{p} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q}) v_{R}(x)|^{p} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_{1}}) v_{R}(x)|^{p} dx \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \cdots \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-2k}} \left(\prod_{l=1}^{k} r_{l}\right) |(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_{2}}) v_{R}(\xi)|^{p} d\xi \\ &= \int_{R-1}^{2R+1} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \cdots \int_{R-1}^{2R+1} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{R-1 \leqslant |\tilde{x}| \leqslant 2R+1} \left(\prod_{l=1}^{k} r_{l}\right) |(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_{Q,T_{2}}) v_{R}(\xi)|^{p} d\xi \end{aligned}$$

Using the abbreviation $\tilde{d} := d - 2k$ we distinguish again between the following cases:

$$\begin{split} & \mathbf{Case 1:} \ (\tilde{d} = 0). \ \text{From step 6, step 7 and (7.13) we deduce} \\ &= \int_{R}^{2R} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \cdots \int_{R}^{2R} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \left(\prod_{l=1}^{k} r_{l}\right) \left[\sum_{l=1}^{k} \frac{|A|_{2} \left(|\omega| + |n_{l}|^{2}\right)}{r_{l}} + \eta_{R}\right] d\phi_{k} dr_{k} \cdots d\phi_{1} dr_{1} \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{j_{1} + j_{2} + j_{3} \\ j_{2} \neq k}} \left(\sum_{j_{1}, j_{2}, j_{3}}^{k}\right) \left(\int_{R-1}^{R}\right)^{j_{1}} \left(\int_{R}^{2R}\right)^{j_{2}} \left(\int_{2R}^{2R+1}\right)^{j_{3}} C^{p} \left(\prod_{l=1}^{k} r_{l}\right) (2\pi)^{k} dr_{1} \cdots dr_{k} \\ &\leq \int_{R}^{2R} \cdots \int_{R}^{2R} (2\pi)^{k} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{k} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{k} r_{j}\right) |A|_{2} \left(|\omega| + |n_{l}|^{2}\right)\right] \\ &+ (2\pi)^{k} \left(\prod_{l=1}^{k} r_{l}\right) \eta_{R} dr_{k} \cdots dr_{1} + CR^{d-1} \\ &= \sum_{l=1}^{k} |A|_{2} \left(|\omega| + |n_{l}|^{2}\right) \int_{R}^{2R} \cdots \int_{R}^{2R} \prod_{j=1}^{k} r_{j} dr_{1} \cdots dr_{k} \\ &+ (2\pi)^{k} \eta_{R} \int_{R}^{2R} \cdots \int_{R}^{2R} \left(\prod_{l=1}^{k} r_{l}\right) dr_{1} \cdots dr_{k} + CR^{d-1} \\ &= \sum_{l=1}^{k} (2\pi)^{k} |A|_{2} \left(|\omega| + |n_{l}|^{2}\right) \left(\prod_{j=1}^{k} \int_{R}^{2R} r_{j} dr_{j}\right) \int_{R}^{2R} dr_{l} \\ &+ (2\pi)^{k} \eta_{R} \prod_{j=1}^{k} \int_{R}^{2R} r_{j} dr_{j} + CR^{d-1} \\ &= \left(\sum_{l=1}^{k} (2\pi)^{k} |A|_{2} \left(|\omega| + |n_{l}|^{2}\right) \left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^{k-1} R^{2k-1}\right) + (2\pi)^{k} \eta_{R} \left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^{k} R^{2k} + CR^{d-1} \\ &= \left(\sum_{l=1}^{k} (2\pi)^{k} |A|_{2} \left(|\omega| + |n_{l}|^{2}\right) \left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^{k-1} R^{2k-1}\right) + (2\pi)^{k} \eta_{R} \left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^{k} R^{2k} + CR^{d-1} \\ &\leq CR^{d-1} + CR^{d} \eta_{R}. \end{split}$$

Here we refer to case 1 from step 5 for an estimate of the sum. Case 2: $(\tilde{d} \ge 1)$. From the procedure used in case 2 from step 5 and in case 1 and (7.12) we obtain

$$\leq \int_{R}^{2R} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \cdots \int_{R}^{2R} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{R \leq |\tilde{x}| \leq 2R} \left(\prod_{l=1}^{k} r_{l} \right) \left[\sum_{l=1}^{k} \frac{|A|_{2} \left(|\omega| + |n_{l}|^{2} \right)}{r_{l}} + \eta_{R} \right] d\xi \\ + CR^{d-1} \\ \leq \left(CR^{2k-1} + CR^{2k} \eta_{R} \right) \int_{R \leq |\tilde{x}| \leq 2R} d\tilde{x} + CR^{d-1} \\ \leq CR^{2k-1+\tilde{d}} + CR^{d-1} + CR^{2k+\tilde{d}} \eta_{R} = CR^{d-1} + CR^{d} \eta_{R}.$$

The constant CR^{d-1} in the first inequality comes from an estimate of three sums, compare case 2 from step 5. For the second inequality compare case 1. 9. Define

$$w_R := \frac{v_R}{\|v_R\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N),$$

which belongs to $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ by step 4, then we obtain from step 4 and step 8

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_Q) w_R\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}^p &= \frac{\|(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_Q) v_R\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}^p}{\|v_R\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)}^p} \\ &\leqslant \frac{CR^{d-1} + CR^d \eta_R}{CR^d} = \frac{C}{R} + \eta_R \to 0 \text{ as } R \to \infty \end{aligned}$$

10. Hence, we must have

 $\lambda \in \sigma(\mathcal{L}_Q)$ or $(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_Q)^{-1}$ is unbounded on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

If $\lambda = -\lambda_j(\omega) - i \sum_{l=1}^k n_l \sigma_l \in \sigma(\mathcal{L}_Q)$, i.e. λ is an eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_Q , then varying $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ shows that λ cannot be isolated, i.e. λ is not a normal point of \mathcal{L}_Q . Therefore, all such numbers λ belongs to the essential spectrum of \mathcal{L}_Q , i.e. $\lambda \in \sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L}_Q)$. \Box

The next Corollary states that for every $1 the semigroup <math>(T_Q(t))_{t \ge 0}$ is not analytic on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, $1 , whenever <math>S \neq 0$. We refer to [108] and also to [71] and [83] for the scalar real-valued case. We refer to [34, II.4.5], for a definition of an analytic semigroup, and to [34, II.4.1], for the definition of a sectorial operator.

Corollary 7.10 (Analyticity of $(T_Q(t))_{t\geq 0}$). Let the assumptions (A1)–(A5), (A8_B) with $S \neq 0$ and $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^{N,N})$ with

$$\eta_R := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{|x| \ge R} |Q(x)|_2 \to 0 \text{ as } R \to \infty$$

be satisfied for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then the operator \mathcal{L}_Q is not sectorial in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and, consequently, the corresponding semigroup $(T_Q(t))_{t \ge 0}$ is not analytic on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

Proof. We show that \mathcal{L}_Q is not sectorial: For this purpose, we verify that

$$\forall \delta \in]0, \frac{\pi}{2}] \exists \lambda \in \Sigma_{\frac{\pi}{2} + \delta} := \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid |\arg(\lambda)| < \frac{\pi}{2} + \delta \right\} \setminus \{0\} : \ \lambda \in \sigma_{\mathrm{ess}}(\mathcal{L}_Q),$$

i.e. $\lambda \notin \rho(\mathcal{L}_Q)$. Let $\delta \in]0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$ and let $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ be chosen as in (7.9). Let us fix w.l.o.g. $j \in \{1, \ldots, N\}, \omega = 0$ and $n_2, \ldots, n_k = 0$. Then λ has the form $\lambda = -\mu - in_1\sigma_1$ for some $\mu \in \sigma(B)$. Choose $n_1 \in \mathbb{Z}$ so large, that $\lambda \in \Sigma_{\frac{\pi}{2} + \delta}$. Now, Theorem 7.9 implies $\lambda \in \sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L}_Q)$, hence $\lambda \notin \rho(\mathcal{L}_Q)$. Thus, \mathcal{L}_Q cannot be sectorial in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and, consequently, the semigroup $(T_Q(t))_{t\geq 0}$ cannot be analytic on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ by [34, Theorem II.4.6]. Note, that the proof needs that $\sigma_l \neq 0$ for at least one such l, that is guaranteed by the assumption $S \neq 0$.

The case S = 0. A crucial part in the proof of Corollary 7.10 plays the fact that $S \neq 0$. The assertion is in general not true for S = 0: Consider for example the simplest case S = B = Q = 0 with $A = I_N$, then it is well known that the corresponding diffusion semigroup is analytic on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for every 1 . $This result remains valid for arbitrary diffusion matrices <math>A \in \mathbb{C}^N$ satisfying the assumptions (A1)–(A4) for 1 .

8 Nonlinear problems and complex Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operators

In this chapter we investigate the nonlinear problem

(8.1)
$$A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle + f(v(x)) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 2,$$

for the complex Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{0}v\right](x) := A \triangle v(x) + \left\langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \right\rangle, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d},$$

in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ with $A \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$, skew-symmetric matrix $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$, nonlinearity $f : \mathbb{K}^N \to \mathbb{K}^N$ and $v : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{K}^N$ for $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$.

In Section 8.1 we consider the nonlinear problem (8.1) for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ and prove the main result from Theorem 1.8. Assuming (A4)–(A9) for 1 and $<math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$, we prove in Theorem 1.8 that $v_{\star} - v_{\infty}$ and its derivatives up to order 1 decay exponentially in space at a certain rate, whenever v_{\star} is a classical solution of (8.1) such that $v_{\star} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ and $v_{\star} - v_{\infty}$ falls below a certain threshold in the far-field. The proof is based on an application of Theorem 7.7, that requires the identification of the generator C_p and its maximal domain from Theorem 5.19. For a detailed treatment of this result we refer to Section 1.2. For an outline of the proof see Section 1.3.

In Section 8.2 we consider the nonlinear problem (8.1) for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ whose nonlinearities are of the form

$$f: \mathbb{C}^N \to \mathbb{C}^N, \quad f(u) = g\left(|u|^2\right) u,$$

where $g: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$ is a sufficiently smooth function. Assuming (A4) and (A5) for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ and assuming some additional properties for the function g, we prove in Corollary 8.1 an extension of Theorem 1.8 to complex systems. The proof is based on an application of Theorem 1.8. For this purpose we transform the N-dimensional complex-valued system (8.1) into a coupled 2N-dimensional real-valued system.

8.1 Proof of main theorem

We are now able to prove our main result from Theorem 1.8:

Proof. Let $0 < \vartheta < 1$ be fixed, $1 and <math>\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ be a radially nondecreasing weight function of exponential growth rate $\eta \ge 0$ with $0 \le \eta^2 \le \vartheta_3^2 \frac{a_0 b_0}{a_{\max}^2 p^2}$, where a_{\max} , a_0 and b_0 are from (1.18).

1. Let v_{\star} denote a classical solution of (1.20) satisfying $v_{\star} - v_{\infty} \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$ and (1.19). From Taylor's theorem, (A6) and (A7) we obtain

$$\begin{split} f(v_{\star}(x)) &= \underbrace{f(v_{\infty})}_{=0} + \underbrace{Df(v_{\infty})}_{=:-B} (v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}) \\ &+ \underbrace{\int_{0}^{1} \left(Df(v_{\infty} + t(v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty})) - Df(v_{\infty}) \right) dt}_{=:Q(x)} (v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}) \\ &= - B \left(v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty} \right) + Q(x) \left(v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty} \right). \end{split}$$

2. Defining $w_{\star} := v_{\star} - v_{\infty}$ then $w_{\star} \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N) \cap C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ since v_{\star} is a classical solution of (1.11) and $v_{\star} - v_{\infty} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$, and we obtain

$$0 = A \triangle v_{\star}(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle + f(v_{\star}(x))$$

= $A \triangle (v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}) + \langle Sx, \nabla (v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}) \rangle$
- $B (v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}) + Q(x) (v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty})$
= $A \triangle w_{\star}(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla w_{\star}(x) \rangle - Bw_{\star}(x) + Q(x)w_{\star}(x) = [\mathcal{L}_Q w_{\star}](x).$

3. In order to apply Theorem 7.7 (with $C_p = \mathcal{L}_Q$ and $\lambda = 0$) we have to verify, that the assumptions are satisfied. Note that the application of Theorem 7.7 with $C_p = \mathcal{L}_Q$ requires additionally that the assumptions (A3) and (A4) are fulfilled, which are necessary to solve the identification problem for C_p . Let us check the assumptions: Assumption (A1) follows from (A8). The assumption (A4) and (A5) are directly satisfied and assumption (A4) implies (A3) and (A2). Using the definition of B, the assumptions (A8_B) and (A9_B) follow from (A8) and (A9), respectively. It remains to verify $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$, (7.5), $w_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ and $\mathcal{L}_Q w_{\star} = 0$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

4. First we show that $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$. From $w_{\star} \in C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ we obtain

$$|v_{\infty} + tw_{\star}(x)| \leq |v_{\infty}| + t |w_{\star}(x)| \leq |v_{\infty}| + ||w_{\star}||_{\infty} =: R_{1}$$

for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $0 \leq t \leq 1$. Using (A6) this implies

$$\begin{aligned} |Q(x)|_2 &\leqslant \int_0^1 |Df(v_{\infty} + tw_{\star}(x))|_2 + |Df(v_{\infty})|_2 \, dt \\ &\leqslant \sup_{z \in B_{R_1}(0)} |Df(z)|_2 + |Df(v_{\infty})|_2 \end{aligned}$$

for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, which is of course finite by the continuity of Df on compact sets. Taking the suprema over $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we obtain $Q \in C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^{N,N})$, thus $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$.

5. We next verify (7.5): Let us choose $K_1 = K_1(A, f, v_{\infty}, d, p, \theta, \vartheta) > 0$ such that

(8.2)
$$K_1\left(\sup_{z\in B_{K_1}(v_{\infty})} \left|D^2 f(z)\right|_2\right) \leqslant \frac{b_0}{3}\min\left\{\frac{1}{C_7}, \frac{1}{M_{\infty}}\right\}$$

is satisfied, where $C_7 = C_7(A, d, p, \theta, \vartheta)$ is from Lemma 4.8, $M_{\infty} = M_{\infty}(A, d)$ from (6.10), $b_0 = b_0(f, v_{\infty})$ from (1.18) and

$$|D^2 f(z)|_2 := ||D^2 f(z)||_{\mathcal{L}(\mathbb{R}^N,\mathbb{R}^{N,N})} := \sup_{\substack{v \in \mathbb{R}^N \\ |v|=1}} |D^2 f(z)v|_2.$$

The fundamental theorem of calculus, (A6), (1.20) and the choice of K_1 yield

$$\begin{aligned} |Q(x)|_{2} \\ &= \left| \int_{0}^{1} Df(v_{\infty} + tw_{\star}(x)) - Df(v_{\infty}) dt \right|_{2} \\ &= \left| \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} D^{2}f(v_{\infty} + s(v_{\infty} + tw_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty})) ds(v_{\infty} + tw_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}) dt \right|_{2} \\ &= \left| \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} D^{2}f(v_{\infty} + stw_{\star}(x)) ds \cdot tw_{\star}(x) dt \right|_{2} \\ &\leqslant \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \sup_{|x| \geqslant R_{0}} \left| D^{2}f(v_{\infty} + st(v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty})) \right|_{2} ds \cdot t \left| v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty} \right| dt \\ &\leqslant K_{1} \left(\sup_{z \in B_{K_{1}}(v_{\infty})} \left| D^{2}f(z) \right|_{2} \right) \leqslant \frac{b_{0}}{3} \min \left\{ \frac{1}{C_{7}}, \frac{1}{M_{\infty}} \right\} \end{aligned}$$

for every $|x| \ge R_0$. Taking the suprema over $|x| \ge R_0$ yields

$$\sup_{|x| \ge R_0} |Q(x)|_2 \le \frac{b_0}{3} \min\left\{\frac{1}{C_7}, \frac{1}{M_\infty}\right\}.$$

6. Now we verify that $w_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$: An application of Theorem 5.19 shows that $\mathcal{D}(A_p) = \mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$. Therefore, it suffices to show that $w_{\star} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, $w_{\star} \in W_{loc}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $\mathcal{L}_0 w_{\star} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. By assumption we know that $w_{\star} = v_{\star} - v_{\infty} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$. Moreover, we deduce $w_{\star} \in W_{loc}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ from $w_{\star} \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$. It remains to prove that $\mathcal{L}_0 w_{\star} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$: Since $v_{\star} \in C_{\rm b}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ there exists a constant $R_1 > 0$ such that $|v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}| \leq R_1$ for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. From (A6) we deduce that f is locally Lipschitz continuous, i.e. there exists $L = L(R_1) \geq 0$ such that

$$|f(v_{\star}(x)) - f(v_{\infty})| \leq L |v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}|$$

for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Now, we obtain from (A7) and (1.11)

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{L}_{0}w_{\star}\|_{L^{p}}^{p} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |[\mathcal{L}_{0}w_{\star}](x)|^{p} \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |[\mathcal{L}_{0}v_{\star}](x)|^{p} \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |f(v_{\star}(x))|^{p} \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |f(v_{\star}(x)) - f(v_{\infty})|^{p} \, dx \leqslant L^{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}|^{p} \, dx \\ &= L^{p} \, \|v_{\star} - v_{\infty}\|_{L^{p}}^{p} = L^{p} \, \|w_{\star}\|_{L^{p}}^{p} \end{aligned}$$

This yields $\mathcal{L}_0 w_{\star} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and thus $w_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}^p_{loc}(\mathcal{L}_0)$.

7. Finally, we verify $\mathcal{L}_Q w_\star = 0$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$: From $w_\star \in \mathcal{D}^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^{N,N})$ we deduce from Hölders inequality that $\mathcal{L}_Q w_\star \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$. Further, since $w_\star \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ satisfies $[\mathcal{L}_Q w_\star](x) = 0$ pointwise for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we deduce from $\mathcal{L}_Q w_\star \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ that $\mathcal{L}_Q w_\star = 0$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$.

Now, we can apply Theorem 7.7 that yields $w_{\star} = v_{\star} - v_{\infty} \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N).$

8.2 Application to complex-valued systems

In this section we extend the result from Theorem 1.8 to complex systems (8.1). The proof is based on an application of Theorem 1.8

Corollary 8.1. Let the assumptions (A4) and (A5) be satisfied for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Moreover, let $g \in C^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ such that A and g(0) are simultaneously diagonalizable (over \mathbb{C}), $\sigma(g(0)) \subset \mathbb{C}_-$ and define

(8.3)
$$f: \mathbb{C}^N \to \mathbb{C}^N, \quad f(u) = g\left(|u|^2\right) u.$$

Then for every $0 < \vartheta < 1$ and for every radially nondecreasing weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \ge 0$ with

$$0 \leqslant \eta^2 \leqslant \vartheta \frac{2}{3} \frac{a_0 b_0}{a_{\max}^2 p^2}$$

 a_{\max} , a_0 from (1.18), $b_0 = -s(g(0))$, there is a constant $K_1 = K_1(A, g, d, p, \theta, \vartheta) > 0$ with the following property:

Every classical solution v_{\star} of

(8.4)
$$A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle + f(v(x)) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

such that $v_{\star} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and

(8.5)
$$\sup_{|x| \ge R_0} |v_{\star}(x)| \le K_1 \text{ for some } R_0 > 0$$

satisfies

$$v_{\star} \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N).$$

Proof. 1. We transform the N-dimensional complex-valued system (8.4) into the coupled 2N-dimensional real-valued system

(8.6)
$$A_{\mathbb{R}} \triangle v_{\mathbb{R}}(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\mathbb{R}}(x) \rangle + f_{\mathbb{R}}(v_{\mathbb{R}}(x)) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

For this purpose, we decompose $A = A_1 + iA_2$ with $A_1, A_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{N,N}$, $v = v_1 + iv_2$ with $v_1, v_2 : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^N$, $f_1, f_2 : \mathbb{R}^{2N} \to \mathbb{R}^N$ with $f_1(u_1, u_2) = \operatorname{Re} f(u_1 + iu_2)$, $f_2(u_1, u_2) = \operatorname{Im} f(u_1 + iu_2)$, $g = g_1 + ig_2$ with $g_1, g_2 : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^{N,N}$ and define

$$A_{\mathbb{R}} := \begin{pmatrix} A_1 & -A_2 \\ A_2 & A_1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad v_{\mathbb{R}} := \begin{pmatrix} v_1 \\ v_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$f_{\mathbb{R}}(v_{\mathbb{R}}) := \begin{pmatrix} f_1(v_{\mathbb{R}}) \\ f_2(v_{\mathbb{R}}) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} g_1(|v_{\mathbb{R}}|) & -g_2(|v_{\mathbb{R}}|) \\ g_2(|v_{\mathbb{R}}|) & g_1(|v_{\mathbb{R}}|) \end{pmatrix} v_{\mathbb{R}},$$

where $A_{\mathbb{R}} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N,2N}$, $v_{\mathbb{R}} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ and $f_{\mathbb{R}} : \mathbb{R}^{2N} \to \mathbb{R}^{2N}$.

2. In order to apply Theorem 1.8 to the 2N-dimensional problem (8.6), we have to verify, that the assumptions (A4)–(A9) are satisfied for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$. For this purpose, we collect some relations of A and $A_{\mathbb{R}}$:

$$(8.7) \qquad \lambda \in \sigma(A) \quad \iff \quad \lambda, \overline{\lambda} \in \sigma(A_{\mathbb{R}}),$$

(8.8)
$$Y^{-1}AY = \Lambda_A \iff \begin{pmatrix} iY & \overline{Y} \\ Y & -\overline{iY} \end{pmatrix} A_{\mathbb{R}} \begin{pmatrix} iY & \overline{Y} \\ Y & -\overline{iY} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda_A & 0 \\ 0 & \overline{\Lambda_A} \end{pmatrix},$$

(8.9) Re
$$\langle v, Av \rangle = \langle v_{\mathbb{R}}, A_{\mathbb{R}}v_{\mathbb{R}} \rangle$$
, $|v| = |v_{\mathbb{R}}|$, $|Av| = |A_{\mathbb{R}}v_{\mathbb{R}}|$

Since A satisfies (A4) for some $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we deduce from (8.9), that $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ satisfies (A4) for the same $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$. We casually note that if A satisfies (A1), (A2), (A3) for some $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ then $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ satisfies (A1), (A2), (A3) for the same $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$, that follows from (8.8), (8.7), (8.9), respectively. Assumption (A5) is directly satisfied. Since $g \in C^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$ we deduce that $f_{\mathbb{R}} \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^{2N}, \mathbb{R}^{2N})$, meaning that assumption (A6) is satisfied for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$. Choosing $v_{\infty} = 0 \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$, then $f_{\mathbb{R}}(v_{\infty}) = 0$ and condition (A7) is satisfied. Since A and g(0) are simultaneously diagonalizable (over \mathbb{C}), we deduce from (8.8) that $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ and

$$Df_{\mathbb{R}}(0) = \begin{pmatrix} g_1(0) & -g_2(0) \\ g_2(0) & g_1(0) \end{pmatrix}$$

are simultaneously diagonalizable (over \mathbb{C}), meaning that assumption (A8) is satisfied for $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$. Finally, since $\sigma(g(0)) \subset \mathbb{C}_-$ we deduce from (8.7) that $\sigma(Df_{\mathbb{R}}(0)) \subset \mathbb{C}_-$. Thus, assumption (A9) is also satisfied.

3. Let $0 < \vartheta < 1$ be fixed and $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ be a radially nondecreasing weight function of exponential growth rate $\eta \ge 0$ with $0 \le \eta^2 \le \vartheta_3^2 \frac{a_0 b_0}{a_{\max}^2 p^2}$, where a_{\max} , a_0 and b_0 are from (1.18) with $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $Df_{\mathbb{R}}(0)$ instead of A and $Df(v_{\infty})$. Moreover, let v_{\star} be a classical solution of (8.4) satisfying $v_{\star} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and (8.5). Then the function

$$v_{\mathbb{R},\star} := \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Re} v_\star \\ \operatorname{Im} v_\star \end{pmatrix}$$

is a classical solution of (8.6), which also satisfies $v_{\mathbb{R},\star} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^{2N})$ and (8.5) since $|v_{\star}(x)| = |v_{\mathbb{R},\star}(x)|$. Now, an application of Theorem 1.8 yields $v_{\mathbb{R},\star} \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^{2N})$ and thus $v_{\star} \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

Exponential decay for holomorphic nonlinearities. For the exponential decay in the complex-valued case, Corollary 8.1 requires that the nonlinearity $f : \mathbb{C}^N \to \mathbb{C}^N$ has the special form (8.3). The form (8.3) often arises in applications, for example in complex Ginzburg-Landau equations but also in Schrödinger equations and Gross-Pitaevskii equations. Note that under the more restrictive assumption that $f : \mathbb{C}^N \to \mathbb{C}^N$ is holomorphic, we can directly adopt the proof of Theorem 1.8. But in applications the nonlinearity is often not holomorphic. For instance, the nonlinearity of the cubic-quintic complex Ginzburg-Landau equation is not holomorphic at the origin.

9 Eigenvalue problems for the linearized differential operator

In this chapter we analyze the eigenvalue problem

(9.1)
$$A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle + Df(v_{\star}(x))v(x) = \lambda v(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 2,$$

for the linearized differential operator

(9.2)
$$[\mathcal{L}v](x) := A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle + Df(v_{\star}(x))v(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

where $v : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}^N$, $A \in \mathbb{R}^{N,N}$, $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ skew-symmetric, $f : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^N$ sufficiently smooth, $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and $v_\star : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^N$ denotes a classical solution of the nonlinear problem (1.11). Related to the co-rotating frame (1.16), the operator \mathcal{L} describes the linearization at the profile v_\star of the rotating wave solution u_\star , cf. Definition 1.1. Investigations of the corresponding eigenvalue problem (9.1) are motivated by the stability theory of rotating patterns, [15]. In order to investigate the eigenvalue problem (9.1) in the complex case with $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, we stress that N-dimensional complex-valued systems must generally be transformed to 2N-dimensional realvalued systems as performed in the proof of Corollary 8.1. In this chapter we are mainly interested in finding classical solutions (λ, v) of the eigenvalue problem (9.1). Such a solution consists of an eigenfunction $v \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and an associated eigenvalue $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. Moreover, we are also interested in the exponential decay of these eigenfunctions.

In Section 9.1 we introduce some basic definitions for classical solutions of (9.1) and for the spectral stability of rotating waves, [38]. Decomposing the spectrum $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ into the union of the essential spectrum $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L})$ and the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ gives rise to investigate both parts of $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ in the following sections.

In Section 9.2 we analyze the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ of \mathcal{L} and the shape of the correspondig eigenfunctions. Assuming $v_{\star} \in C^3(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ to be a classical solution of (1.11), we show in Theorem 9.4 that every

$$\lambda \in \sigma(S) \cup \{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \mid \lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \sigma(S), \ \lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2\}$$

belongs to the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ of \mathcal{L} and that their corresponding eigenfunction v has the form

$$v(x) = \left\langle C^{\mathrm{rot}}x + C^{\mathrm{tra}}, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \right\rangle, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

for explicitly given $C^{\text{tra}} \in \mathbb{C}^d$ and skew-symmetric $C^{\text{rot}} \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d}$. This part of the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ contains $\frac{d(d+1)}{2}$ eigenvalues and is caused by the rotational and translational symmetries from the SE(d)-action. Note that by the

skew-symmetry of S, all these isolated eigenvalues are located on the imaginary axis. In particular, we conclude that $0 \in \sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ and that the rotational term $v(x) = \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle$ is an eigenfunction associated to the eigenvalue 0. The point spectrum contains in general further isolated eigenvalues, but a complete characterization of the point spectrum is often very delicate and will not be performed here. The results for the point spectrum do not depend upon whether the rotating pattern is localized or nonlocalized. This is in strict contrast to the essential spectrum, that depends strongly on the asymptotic behavior of the rotating wave at infinity. We conclude with some examples for the two and three dimensional case.

In Section 9.3 we investigate the exponential decay of the eigenfunctions v, which strongly depends on the asymptotic behavior of the pattern v_{\star} and on the real part of its corresponding eigenvalue λ . Assuming the assumptions of our main result from Theorem 1.8, we prove in Theorem 9.8 that v and its first order derivatives decay exponentially in space at the same rate as the pattern v_{\star} , whenever v is a classical solution of (9.1) such that $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \frac{s(Df(v_{\infty}))}{3}$. The proof is based on an application of Theorem 7.7, that requires once more the identification of the maximal domain from Theorem 5.19. We deduce that the rotational term $v(x) = \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle$ belongs to $W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$, whenever $v_{\star} \in C^3(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$.

In Section 9.4 we study the essential spectrum $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L})$ of \mathcal{L} for exponentially localized patterns v_{\star} . Assuming the assumptions of our main result from Theorem 1.8, we prove in Theorem 9.10 that every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfying

$$\det\left(\lambda I_N + \omega^2 A - Df(v_\infty) + i\sum_{l=1}^k n_l \sigma_l I_N\right) = 0, \text{ for some } \omega \in \mathbb{R}, n_l \in \mathbb{Z},$$

belongs to the essential spectrum $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L})$ of \mathcal{L} in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ for 1 . The result follows directly from an application of Theorem 7.9.

In Section 9.5 we analyze the essential spectrum $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L})$ of \mathcal{L} for Archimedean spiral patterns v_{\star} , a special kind of a nonlocalized rotating wave with d = 2, and formulate a dispersion relation for Archimedean spiral waves. Most of the results from this section are not completely new and we refer to [92] and [38], but also to [93].

9.1 Classical solutions and spectral stability

We are interested in solutions (λ, v) of (9.1) in the following sense:

Definition 9.1. A function $v : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}^N$ is called a **classical solution of** (9.1) for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, if

$$(9.3) v \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$$

and v solves (9.1) pointwise.

We transfer the definition for spectral stability of traveling waves to rotating waves, see [38, Section 3.1.2], and introduce the strong spectral stability.

Definition 9.2. A rotating wave solution $u_{\star} : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{K}^N \text{ of } (1.14) \text{ given by}]$

$$u_{\star}(x,t) = v_{\star}(e^{-tS}(x-x_{\star}))$$

is called **spectrally stable**, if $\sigma(\mathcal{L}) \subset \mathbb{C}_- \cup i\mathbb{R} = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re } \lambda \leq 0\}$. Moreover, a rotating wave solution $u_* : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{K}^N \text{ of } (1.14) \text{ is called strongly spectrally stable}, if it is spectrally stable and every <math>\lambda \in \sigma(\mathcal{L})$ with $\text{Re } \lambda = 0$ is caused by the SE(d)-group action.

The eigenvalues caused by the SE(d)-group action are described in detail in Theorem 9.4.

For rotating waves on unbounded domains it is well known that one usually derive nonlinear stability from strong spectral stability. Note that nonlinear stability only implies spectral stability, but in general not strong spectral stability. However, both definitions motivate investigations of the spectrum $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ of the linearization \mathcal{L} . For this purpose, we decompose $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ into

$$\sigma(\mathcal{L}) = \sigma_{\rm ess}(\mathcal{L}) \cup \sigma_{\rm point}(\mathcal{L}),$$

where $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L})$ and $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ denote the essential and the point spectrum of \mathcal{L} , respectively, cf. Definition 7.8. In the following sections we analyze these two sets in more detail.

9.2 Point spectrum and the shape of eigenfunctions

In this section we analyze the isolated points in the spectrum of the operator \mathcal{L} which are caused by the group action on SE(d). It is convenient to work in the **Euclidean Sobolev space**

$$\begin{split} W^{2,p}_{\mathrm{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N}) &:= \left\{ v \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N}) \mid \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N}) \; \forall \, S \in \mathfrak{so}(d) \right\}, \\ \|v\|_{W^{2,p}_{\mathrm{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N})} &:= \|v\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N})} + \sup_{S \in \mathfrak{so}(d)} \|\langle Sx, \nabla v \rangle\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N})}, \; 1$$

which is the intersection of the spaces $\mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$ for every $S \in \mathfrak{so}(d)$, see Example 10.6. To investigate the point spectrum of \mathcal{L} we need the following Lemma.

Lemma 9.3 (Group action on SE(d)). Let $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$. Moreover, let the group action

$$a(\cdot)v : \operatorname{SE}(d) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N), \quad g := (R, \tau) \mapsto a(R, \tau)v$$

be given by

$$[a(R,\tau)v](x) := v(R^{-1}(x-\tau))$$

for $g = (R, \tau) \in SO(d) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^d = SE(d) =: G$. Then, for $v \in W^{2,p}_{Eucl}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ the derivative of $a(\cdot)v$ with respect to g evaluated at g = 1 is the mapping

$$d\left[a(\mathbb{1})v\right]: T_{\mathbb{I}}\mathrm{SE}(d) \to L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{K}^{N}), \quad \mu \mapsto d\left[a(\mathbb{1})v\right]\mu$$

given by

$$d\left[a(\mathbb{1})v(x)\right](S,\lambda) = -\left\langle Sx + I_d\lambda, \nabla v(x)\right\rangle,$$

where $T_{\mathbb{1}}SE(d) = \mathfrak{se}(d)$ and $\mu = (S,\lambda) \in \mathfrak{so}(d) \times \mathbb{R}^d = \mathfrak{se}(d).$

Proof. We prove the result pointwise and note that all derivatives converge in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$. For $v \in W^{2,p}_{\text{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ the derivative of $a(\cdot)v$ with respect to $g = (R, \tau)$ is given by the mapping

$$d\left[a(g)v\right]:T_g\mathrm{SE}(d)\to L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N),\quad \mu\mapsto d\left[a(g)v\right]\mu$$

where $T_g SE(d)$ denotes the tangential space of SE(d) at g. The right hand side d[a(g)v] can be computed in a formal way as follows:

$$d [a(g)v(x)] := \frac{d}{dg} [a(g)v(x)] = \frac{d}{d(R,\tau)} [a(R,\tau)v] (x)$$

= $\frac{d}{d(R,\tau)}v(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) = \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial R}v(R^{-1}(x-\tau)), \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau}v(R^{-1}(x-\tau))\right]$
= $-\left[\left(Dv(R^{-1}(x-\tau))\cdot\int_{0}^{1}e^{(1-\alpha)X(S)}(I_{ij}-I_{ji})e^{\alpha X(S)}d\alpha \cdot (x-\tau)\right)_{\substack{i=1,...,d-1, j=i+1,...,d}}, \left(Dv(R^{-1}(x-\tau))R^{-1}e_{l}\right)_{l=1,...,d}\right]$

where $S \in \mathfrak{so}(d)$ is chosen such that $\exp(S) = R$ for R given by the group element and X is defined by $X(S) := -\sum_{l=1}^{d-1} \sum_{k=l+1}^{d} S_{lk}(I_{lk} - I_{kl})$. To prove the last equality, recall the informations about the special Euclidean group SE(d) from Section 3. For the first term we use the definition of X(S) from above and apply (3.1) to obtain

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial S_{ij}} v \left(\exp\left(-\sum_{l=1}^{d-1} \sum_{k=l+1}^{d} S_{lk}(I_{lk} - I_{kl})\right)(x-\tau) \right) \\ = Dv(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial S_{ij}} \left(e^{X(S)}(x-\tau)\right) \\ = Dv(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) \cdot \int_{0}^{1} e^{(1-\alpha)X(S)} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial S_{ij}}X(S)\right] e^{\alpha X(S)} d\alpha \cdot (x-\tau) \\ = -Dv(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) \cdot \int_{0}^{1} e^{(1-\alpha)X(S)}(I_{ij} - I_{ji})e^{\alpha X(S)} d\alpha \cdot (x-\tau)$$

for every $i = 1, \ldots, d-1$ and $j = i+1, \ldots, d$. This yields

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial R}v(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial S_{ij}}v\left(\exp\left(-\sum_{l=1}^{d-1}\sum_{k=l+1}^{d}S_{lk}(I_{lk}-I_{kl})\right)(x-\tau)\right)\right)_{\substack{i=1,\dots,d-1\\j=i+1,\dots,d}} = \left(-Dv(R^{-1}(x-\tau))\cdot\int_{0}^{1}e^{(1-\alpha)X(S)}(I_{ij}-I_{ji})e^{\alpha X(S)}d\alpha\cdot(x-\tau)\right)_{\substack{i=1,\dots,d-1\\j=i+1,\dots,d}}.$$

The second term is even simpler: From

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau_l} v(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) = Dv(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau_l} R^{-1}(x-\tau)$$
$$= -Dv(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) \cdot R^{-1}e_l$$

for $l = 1, \ldots, d$ we deduce

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} v(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) = \left[\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau_l} v(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) \right)_{l=1,\dots,d} \right]$$
$$= \left[\left(-Dv(R^{-1}(x-\tau))R^{-1}e_l \right)_{l=1,\dots,d} \right].$$

The derivative d[a(g)v] at g = 1 leads to the simple expression

$$d[a(1)v(x)] = -\left[\left(Dv(x)(I_{ij} - I_{ji})x \right)_{\substack{i=1,\dots,d-1\\j=i+1,\dots,d}}, \left(Dv(x)e_l \right)_{l=1,\dots,d} \right]$$
$$= -\left[\left((x_j D_i - x_i D_j)v(x) \right)_{\substack{i=1,\dots,d-1\\j=i+1,\dots,d}}, \left(D_l v(x) \right)_{l=1,\dots,d} \right].$$

The unit element is $\mathbb{1} = (R, \tau) = (I_d, 0) \in \mathrm{SO}(d) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^d$. To guarantee the relation $\exp(S) = R = I_d$ for some $S \in \mathfrak{so}(d)$ we choose S = 0. Therefore, we have X(S) = X(0) = 0, thus $e^{(1-\alpha)X(S)} = e^{\alpha X(S)} = I_d$ and the integral equals $(I_{ij} - I_{ji})$. In order to evaluate $d[a(\mathbb{1})v]$ at $\mu = (S, \lambda) \in \mathfrak{so}(d) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ we use the basis of $\mathfrak{so}(d)$ from Section 3 once more and obtain for every $(S, \lambda) \in \mathfrak{se}(d)$

$$d[a(1)v(x)](S,\lambda) = -\left[\left((x_{j}D_{i} - x_{i}D_{j})v(x)\right)_{\substack{i=1,\dots,d-1\\j=i+1,\dots,d}}, \left(D_{l}v(x)\right)_{l=1,\dots,d}\right] \cdot \binom{(S_{ij})_{i=1,\dots,d-1}}{(\lambda_{l})_{l=1,\dots,d}} \\ = -\sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}S_{ij}(x_{j}D_{i} - x_{i}D_{j})v(x) - \sum_{l=1}^{d}\lambda_{l}D_{l}v(x) \\ = -\sum_{i=1}^{d}\sum_{j=1}^{d}S_{ij}x_{j}D_{i}v(x) - \sum_{l=1}^{d}\lambda_{l}D_{l}v(x) = -\sum_{i=1}^{d}((Sx)_{i} + \lambda_{i})D_{i}v(x) \\ = -\sum_{i=1}^{d}(Sx + I_{d}\lambda)_{i}D_{i}v(x) = -\langle Sx + I_{d}\lambda, \nabla v(x)\rangle.$$

The following theorem gives informations about the point spectrum and the shape of the eigenfunctions of \mathcal{L} . As mentioned before we are not able to determine

the whole point spectrum of \mathcal{L} , but all eigenvalues on the imaginary axis that are due to the SE(d)-action and their associated eigenfunctions. The procedure for the proof is already well known in the literature, for instance for traveling waves and spiral waves, and is based on the following algebraical observation: Considering the nonlinear equation (1.19), one applies the group action a(g) to both sides and takes the derivative with respect to g at g = 1. This leads to a number of $\frac{d(d+1)}{2}$ equations, which equals the dimension of SE(d).

Theorem 9.4 (Point spectrum of \mathcal{L} on the imaginary axis). Let $v_{\star} \in C^3(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a classical solution of (1.19). Moreover, let $U \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d}$ be the unitary matrix from (3.2), then the function $v : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}^N$ given by

$$v(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{d} C_{ij}^{\text{rot}}(x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v_\star(x) + \sum_{l=1}^{d} C_l^{\text{tra}} D_l v_\star(x)$$
$$= -d \left[a(\mathbb{1}) v_\star(x) \right] \begin{pmatrix} C^{\text{rot}} \\ C^{\text{tra}} \end{pmatrix} = \left\langle C^{\text{rot}} x + I_d C^{\text{tra}}, \nabla v_\star(x) \right\rangle$$

is a classical solution of the eigenvalue problem $\mathcal{L}v = \lambda v$ for every $C^{\text{rot}} \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d}$ and $C^{\text{tra}} \in \mathbb{C}^d$ satisfying

$$(\lambda, (C^{\mathrm{rot}}, C^{\mathrm{tra}})) = (-\lambda_l^S, (0, Ue_l)),$$

for some $l = 1, \ldots, d$, or

$$(\lambda, (C^{\text{rot}}, C^{\text{tra}})) = (-(\lambda_n^S + \lambda_m^S), (U(I_{nm} - I_{mn})U^T, 0)),$$

for some $n = 1, \ldots, d-1$ and $m = n+1, \ldots, d$. Thus, $v \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is an eigenfunction of \mathcal{L} with eigenvalue $\lambda \in i\mathbb{R}$.

Remark. Later on we will show that the eigenfunctions v decay exponentially, see Theorem 9.8. Moreover, it is possible to deduce from Theorem 7.7 that the eigenvalues λ are actually in the L^p -point spectrum of \mathcal{L} , i.e. $\lambda \in \sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$, meaning that they are isolated and have finite multiplicity. This will be proved elsewhere by using Fredholm theory.

Proof. 1. Let $v_{\star} \in C^3(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a classical solution of (1.19), i.e. v_{\star} satisfies the nonlinear problem

$$0 = A \triangle v_{\star}(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle + f(v_{\star}(x)), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}.$$

Applying the group action a(q) from Lemma 9.3 on both hand sides yields

$$0 = a(g) \left(A \triangle v_{\star}(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle + f(v_{\star}(x)) \right), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}.$$

Taking the derivative $\frac{d}{dg}$ at g = 1, we obtain by Lemma 9.3

$$0 = d \left[a(1) \left(A \triangle v_{\star}(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle + f(v_{\star}(x)) \right) \right]$$

= $- \left[\left(\left(x_{j} D_{i} - x_{i} D_{j} \right) \left(A \triangle v_{\star}(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle + f(v_{\star}(x)) \right) \right)_{\substack{i=1,\dots,d-1\\j=i+1,\dots,d}},$

$$\left(D_l\left(A \triangle v_\star(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v_\star(x) \rangle + f(v_\star(x))\right)\right)_{l=1,\dots,d}\right].$$

This leads to a total of $\frac{d(d+1)}{2}$ equations

(9.4)
$$0 = (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) \left(A \bigtriangleup v_\star(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v_\star(x) \rangle + f(v_\star(x)) \right),$$

(9.5)
$$0 = D_l \left(A \triangle v_\star(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v_\star(x) \rangle + f(v_\star(x)) \right).$$

for i = 1, ..., d - 1, j = i + 1, ..., d and l = 1, ..., d, where $\frac{d(d+1)}{2} = \dim SE(d)$. 2. We apply the differential expressions $(x_jD_i - x_iD_j)$ and D_l to the nonlinear equation and transfer them directly in front of $v_{\star}(x)$. For this purpose we have to investigate commutator relations between this two terms and the differential expressions. In order to transform (9.5), we observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \bullet D_l \left(A \triangle v_\star(x) \right) &= A \triangle D_l v_\star(x), \\ \bullet D_l \left(f(v_\star(x)) \right) &= D f(v_\star(x)) D_l v_\star(x), \\ \bullet D_l \left\langle Sx, \nabla v_\star(x) \right\rangle &= D_l \sum_{i=1}^d \left(Sx \right)_i D_i v_\star(x) = \sum_{i=1}^d \left[\left(Sx \right)_i D_l + \left(Se_l \right)_i \right] D_i v_\star(x) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^d (Sx)_i D_i D_l v_\star(x) + \sum_{i=1}^d \left(Se_l \right)_i D_i v_\star(x) = \left\langle Sx, \nabla D_l v_\star(x) \right\rangle + \left\langle Se_l, \nabla v_\star(x) \right\rangle, \end{aligned}$$

for every l = 1, ..., d, where $Se_l = S_{l}$. Similarly, for equation (9.4) we obtain

$$\bullet A \triangle \left((x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v_{\star}(x) \right) = A \sum_{k=1}^{d} D_k^2 \left((x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v_{\star}(x) \right)$$

$$= A \sum_{k=1}^{d} \left(2\delta_{kj} D_i D_k + x_j D_i D_k^2 - 2\delta_{ki} D_j D_k - x_i D_j D_k^2 \right) v_{\star}(x)$$

$$= A (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) \triangle v_{\star}(x) + 2D_i D_j v_{\star}(x) - 2D_j D_i v_{\star}(x)$$

$$= (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) A \triangle v_{\star}(x),$$

$$\bullet (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) f(v_{\star}(x)) = D f(v_{\star}(x)) (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v_{\star}(x),$$

for every $i = 1, \ldots, d-1$ and $j = i+1, \ldots, d$. The transformation of the rotational term $\langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle$ is much more involved: Using

$$x_k D_m D_l v_\star(x) = D_m(x_k D_l v_\star(x)) - \delta_{mk} D_l v_\star(x)$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} x_k \left\langle Sx, \nabla D_l v_\star(x) \right\rangle &= \sum_{m=1}^d \left(Sx \right)_m x_k D_m D_l v_\star(x) \\ &= \sum_{m=1}^d \left(Sx \right)_m D_m(x_k D_l v_\star(x)) - \sum_{m=1}^d \left(Sx \right)_k \delta_{mk} D_l v_\star(x) \\ &= \left\langle Sx, \nabla (x_k D_l v_\star(x)) \right\rangle - (Sx)_k D_l v_\star(x), \end{aligned}$$

we deduce

$$\begin{aligned} & (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) \left\langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \right\rangle \\ = & x_j \left(\left\langle Sx, \nabla D_i v_{\star}(x) \right\rangle + \left\langle Se_i, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \right\rangle \right) - x_i \left(\left\langle Sx, \nabla D_j v_{\star}(x) \right\rangle + \left\langle Se_j, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \right\rangle \right) \\ = & \left\langle Sx, \nabla ((x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v_{\star}(x)) \right\rangle + x_j \left\langle Se_i, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \right\rangle - x_i \left\langle Se_j, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \right\rangle \\ & - (Sx)_j D_i v_{\star}(x) + (Sx)_i D_j v_{\star}(x). \end{aligned}$$

We now simplify the remaining four terms in the last equation. Using

$$\begin{aligned} x_{j} \left\langle Se_{i}, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \right\rangle + (Sx)_{i} D_{j} v_{\star}(x) &= x_{j} \sum_{n=1}^{d} S_{ni} D_{n} v_{\star}(x) + \sum_{n=1}^{d} S_{in} x_{n} D_{j} v_{\star}(x) \\ &= -\sum_{\substack{n=1\\n \neq j}}^{d} S_{in} x_{j} D_{n} v_{\star}(x) + \sum_{\substack{n=1\\n \neq j}}^{d} S_{in} x_{n} D_{j} v_{\star}(x) - S_{ij} x_{j} D_{j} v_{\star}(x) + S_{ij} x_{j} D_{j} v_{\star}(x) \\ &= \sum_{\substack{n=1\\n \neq j}}^{d} S_{in} \left(x_{n} D_{j} - x_{j} D_{n} \right) v_{\star}(x), \end{aligned}$$

and analogously

$$-\left[x_i \left\langle Se_j, \nabla v_\star(x) \right\rangle + (Sx)_j D_i v_\star(x)\right] = \sum_{\substack{n=1\\n\neq i}}^d S_{jn} \left(x_n D_i - x_i D_n\right) v_\star(x)$$

as well as

$$\langle Se_l, \nabla v_\star(x) \rangle = \sum_{n=1}^d S_{nl} D_n v_\star(x) = -\sum_{n=1}^d S_{ln} D_n v_\star(x)$$

and taking all into account, (9.4) and (9.5) can be rewritten as

(9.6)
$$0 = \mathcal{L} \left((x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v_{\star}(x) \right) + \sum_{\substack{n=1 \ n \neq j}}^{d} S_{in} (x_n D_j - x_j D_n) v_{\star}(x) - \sum_{\substack{n=1 \ n \neq i}}^{d} S_{jn} (x_n D_i - x_i D_n) v_{\star}(x),$$

(9.7)
$$0 = \mathcal{L} (D_l v_{\star}(x)) - \sum_{n=1}^{a} S_{ln} D_n v_{\star}(x).$$

for i = 1, ..., d - 1, j = i + 1, ..., d and l = 1, ..., d. 3. We now reduce $\mathcal{L}v = \lambda v$ to a finite dimensional eigenvalue problem. For this purpose, we put the ansatz

$$v(x) := \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{d} C_{ij}^{\text{rot}}(x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v_{\star}(x) + \sum_{l=1}^{d} C_l^{\text{tra}} D_l v_{\star}(x), \ C_{ij}^{\text{rot}}, C_l^{\text{tra}} \in \mathbb{C}$$

into the original eigenvalue problem $\mathcal{L}v = \lambda v$ and transform the equation in such a way, that we are able to require equality for every summand.

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{d} \lambda C_{ij}^{\text{rot}}(x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v_{\star}(x) + \sum_{l=1}^{d} \lambda C_l^{\text{tra}} D_l v_{\star}(x) = \lambda v(x) = \mathcal{L}v(x)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{d} C_{ij}^{\text{rot}} \mathcal{L} \left((x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v_{\star}(x) \right) + \sum_{l=1}^{d} C_l^{\text{tra}} \mathcal{L} \left(D_l v_{\star}(x) \right)$$

$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{d} \sum_{\substack{n=1\\n \neq j}}^{d} C_{ij}^{\text{rot}} S_{in}(x_n D_j - x_j D_n) v_{\star}(x)$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{d} \sum_{\substack{n=1\\n \neq i}}^{d} C_{ij}^{\text{rot}} S_{jn}(x_n D_i - x_i D_n) v_{\star}(x) + \sum_{l=1}^{d} \sum_{n=1}^{d} C_l^{\text{tra}} S_{ln} D_n v_{\star}(x)$$

We next modify each of these three terms. For this purpose we use the skewsymmetry of $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ and the abbreviation $D_{(i,j)}^x := x_j D_i - x_i D_j$. The first term can be simplified by

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}\sum_{\substack{n=1\\n\neq j}}^{d}C_{ij}^{\mathrm{rot}}S_{in}(x_{n}D_{j}-x_{j}D_{n})v_{\star}(x)$$

$$=-\sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{i=n+1}^{d}\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{d}C_{ni}^{\mathrm{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x) =-\sum_{i=2}^{d}\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{d}\sum_{n=1}^{i-1}C_{ni}^{\mathrm{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x)$$

$$=-\sum_{i=2}^{d}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}\sum_{n=1}^{i-1}C_{ni}^{\mathrm{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x) -\sum_{i=2}^{d}\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}\sum_{n=1}^{i-1}C_{ni}^{\mathrm{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x)$$

$$=-\sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}\sum_{n=1}^{i-1}C_{ni}^{\mathrm{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x) -\sum_{j=1}^{d-1}\sum_{i=j+1}^{d}\sum_{n=1}^{i-1}C_{ni}^{\mathrm{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x)$$

$$=-\sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}\sum_{n=1}^{i-1}C_{ni}^{\mathrm{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x) +\sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}\sum_{n=1}^{i-1}C_{nj}^{\mathrm{rot}}S_{ni}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x)$$

$$=\sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}\left[-\sum_{n=1}^{j-1}S_{in}C_{nj}^{\mathrm{rot}} +\sum_{n=1}^{i-1}S_{jn}C_{ni}^{\mathrm{rot}}\right](x_{j}D_{i}-x_{i}D_{j})v_{\star}(x),$$

the second term by

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{\substack{j=i+1\\n\neq i}}^{d} \sum_{\substack{n=1\\n\neq i}}^{d} C_{ij}^{\text{rot}} S_{jn}(x_n D_i - x_i D_n) v_\star(x)$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{\substack{n=i+1\\j\neq i}}^{d} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{d} C_{in}^{\text{rot}} S_{nj} D_{(i,j)}^x v_\star(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{d} \sum_{n=i+1}^{d} C_{in}^{\text{rot}} S_{nj} D_{(i,j)}^x v_\star(x)$$

$$=\sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}\sum_{n=i+1}^{d}C_{in}^{\text{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}\sum_{n=i+1}^{d}C_{in}^{\text{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x)$$

$$=\sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}\sum_{n=i+1}^{d}C_{in}^{\text{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x) + \sum_{j=1}^{d-2}\sum_{i=j+1}^{d-1}\sum_{n=i+1}^{d}C_{in}^{\text{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x)$$

$$=\sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}\sum_{n=i+1}^{d}C_{in}^{\text{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x) + \sum_{j=1}^{d-1}\sum_{i=j+1}^{d}\sum_{n=i+1}^{d}C_{in}^{\text{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x)$$

$$=\sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}\sum_{n=i+1}^{d}C_{in}^{\text{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x) - \sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}\sum_{n=j+1}^{d}C_{jn}^{\text{rot}}S_{ni}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x)$$

$$=\sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}\sum_{n=i+1}^{d}C_{in}^{\text{rot}}S_{nj}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x) - \sum_{i=1}^{d-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{d}\sum_{n=j+1}^{d}C_{jn}^{\text{rot}}S_{ni}D_{(i,j)}^{x}v_{\star}(x)$$

and the third term by

$$\sum_{l=1}^{d} \sum_{n=1}^{d} C_l^{\text{tra}} S_{ln} D_n v_{\star}(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{d} \sum_{l=1}^{d} C_n^{\text{tra}} S_{nl} D_l v_{\star}(x) = \sum_{l=1}^{d} \left[-\sum_{n=1}^{d} S_{ln} C_n^{\text{tra}} \right] D_l v_{\star}(x).$$

Thus, we conclude

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{d} \lambda C_{ij}^{\text{rot}}(x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v_\star(x) + \sum_{l=1}^{d} \lambda C_l^{\text{tra}} D_l v_\star(x)$$

=
$$\sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{d} \left[-\sum_{n=1}^{j-1} S_{in} C_{nj}^{\text{rot}} + \sum_{n=j+1}^{d} S_{in} C_{jn}^{\text{rot}} + \sum_{n=1}^{i-1} S_{jn} C_{ni}^{\text{rot}} - \sum_{n=i+1}^{d} S_{jn} C_{in}^{\text{rot}} \right]$$

 $\cdot (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v_\star(x) + \sum_{l=1}^{d} \left[-\sum_{n=1}^{d} S_{ln} C_n^{\text{tra}} \right] D_l v_\star(x).$

Requiring equality of summands yields for i = 1, ..., d - 1, j = i + 1, ..., d and l = 1, ..., d

(9.8)
$$\lambda C_{ij}^{\text{rot}} = \sum_{n=1}^{j-1} C_{nj}^{\text{rot}} S_{ni} - \sum_{n=j+1}^{d} C_{jn}^{\text{rot}} S_{ni} - \sum_{n=1}^{i-1} C_{ni}^{\text{rot}} S_{nj} + \sum_{n=i+1}^{d} C_{in}^{\text{rot}} S_{nj}$$

(9.9)
$$\lambda C_l^{\text{tra}} = -\sum_{n=1}^a C_n^{\text{tra}} S_{ln}.$$

In order to determine the solutions $(\lambda, (C^{\text{rot}}, C^{\text{tra}}))$ of (9.8)-(9.9) we postulate $C_{ij}^{\text{rot}} = -C_{ji}^{\text{rot}}$ for every $i, j = 1, \ldots, d$, i.e. in the following we consider C^{rot} as a (complex-valued) matrix $C^{\text{rot}} \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d}$ that is assumed to be skew-symmetric. Note that $C_{ii}^{\text{rot}} = 0$ by equation (9.8). Thus, the equation (9.8)–(9.9) leads to a $\frac{d(d+1)}{2}$ -dimensional eigenvalue problem

(9.10)
$$\lambda C^{\text{rot}} = -SC^{\text{rot}} + \left(SC^{\text{rot}}\right)^T,$$

(9.11)
$$\lambda C^{\text{tra}} = -SC^{\text{tra}}.$$

Since (9.10)-(9.11) arise in block diagonal form, it is sufficient to solve the eigenvalue problems separatly, i.e. $(\lambda, C^{\text{rot}})$ solves (9.10) if and only if $(\lambda, (C^{\text{rot}}, 0))$ solves (9.8)-(9.9). Similarly, $(\lambda, C^{\text{tra}})$ solves (9.11) if and only if $(\lambda, (0, C^{\text{tra}}))$ solves (9.8)-(9.9). Equation (9.10) is a matrix eigenvalue problem that admits exactly $\frac{d(d-1)}{2}$ solutions. This number equals the dimension dim SO(d). The eigenvalue problem (9.11) has exactly d solutions. Altogether, we have $\frac{d(d+1)}{2}$ solutions, which coincide with the dimension of SE(d).

4. We start to solve (9.11): From (3.2) we deduce $S = U\Lambda_S \bar{U}^T$ with a unitary matrix $U \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d}$, $\Lambda_S = \text{diag}(\lambda_1^S, \ldots, \lambda_d^S)$ and $\lambda_i \in \sigma(S)$ pairwise different. Multiplying (9.11) from left by \bar{U}^T and defining $w := \bar{U}^T C^{\text{tra}} \in \mathbb{C}^d$ we obtain

(9.12)
$$\lambda w = \lambda \bar{U}^T C^{\text{tra}} = -\bar{U}^T S C^{\text{tra}} = -\bar{U}^T U \Lambda_S \bar{U}^T C^{\text{tra}} = -\Lambda_S w.$$

The solutions of (9.12) are given by $(\lambda, w) = (-\lambda_l^S, e_l)$ for $l = 1, \ldots, d$. Thus, the transformation $C^{\text{tra}} = Uw$ yields the solutions $(\lambda, C^{\text{tra}}) = (-\lambda_l^S, Ue_l)$ of (9.11) for $l = 1, \ldots, d$. Consequently, $(\lambda, (C^{\text{rot}}, C^{\text{tra}})) = (-\lambda_l, (0, Ue_l))$ for $l = 1, \ldots, d$ are d solutions of (9.8)–(9.9).

5. Finally, we solve (9.10): We use the decomposition $S = U\Lambda_S \bar{U}^T$ once more. Multiplying (9.10) from left by \bar{U}^T , from right by \bar{U} and defining $W := \bar{U}^T C^{\text{rot}} \bar{U} \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d}$ we obtain

(9.13)
$$\lambda W = \lambda \bar{U}^T C^{\text{rot}} \bar{U} = -\bar{U}^T S C^{\text{rot}} \bar{U} + \bar{U}^T \left(S C^{\text{rot}} \right)^T \bar{U} \\ = -\bar{U}^T \bar{U} \Lambda_S \bar{U}^T C^{\text{rot}} \bar{U} + \left(\bar{U}^T U \Lambda_S \bar{U}^T C^{\text{rot}} \bar{U} \right)^T = -\Lambda_S W + W^T \Lambda_S.$$

The solutions of (9.13) are given by $(\lambda, W) = (-(\lambda_n^S + \lambda_m^S), I_{nm} - I_{mn})$ for $n = 1, \ldots, d-1$ and $m = n + 1, \ldots, d$. Thus, the transformation $C^{\text{rot}} = UWU^T$ yields the solutions $(\lambda, C^{\text{rot}}) = (-(\lambda_n^S + \lambda_m^S), U(I_{nm} - I_{mn})U^T)$ of (9.10) for $n = 1, \ldots, d-1$ and $m = n + 1, \ldots, d$, where $C^{\text{rot}} = U(I_{nm} - I_{mn})U^T \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d}$ is of course skew-symmetric. Consequently, $(\lambda, (C^{\text{rot}}, C^{\text{tra}})) = (-(\lambda_n^S + \lambda_m^S), (U(I_{nm} - I_{mn})U^T, 0))$ for $n = 1, \ldots, d-1$ and $m = n + 1, \ldots, d$ are $\frac{d(d-1)}{2}$ solutions of (9.8)–(9.9).

The previous Theorem 9.4 and the subsequent remark prove that the point spectrum of the linearization \mathcal{L} contains the spectrum of S and the direct sum of its different eigenvalues. We summarize this result in the following:

Corollary 9.5. Let the assumptions of Corollary 9.9 be satisfied, then the inclusion

$$\sigma_{\text{point}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}) := \sigma(S) \cup \{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \mid \lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \sigma(S), \, \lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2\} \subseteq \sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$$

holds for the L^p -spectrum of \mathcal{L} , in particular, $0 \in \sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$.

Rotational term. If $v_{\star} \in C^3(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$, then for space dimensions $d \ge 2$

$$v(x) = \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$$

is a classical solution of $\mathcal{L}v = 0$, i.e. v is an eigenfunction of \mathcal{L} with eigenvalue $\lambda = 0$. This can be shown directly and follows also from Theorem 9.4 with $\lambda = 0$, $C^{\text{tra}} = 0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $C^{\text{rot}} = S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$. This was also observed in [15] for d = 2.

Multiplicities of isolated eigenvalues. Theorem 9.4 gives also information about the multiplicity of the isolated eigenvalues of \mathcal{L} . More precisely, for any fixed skew-symmetric $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$, Theorem 9.4 yields an lower bound for the multiplicities. But note that multiplicities depends on $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$, i.e. varying $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ leads to different eigenvalues with multiplicities.



Figure 9.1: Point spectrum of the linearization \mathcal{L} on the imaginary axis $i\mathbb{R}$ for space dimension d = 2, 3, 4, 5 given by Theorem 9.4.

Figure 9.1 shows the eigenvalues $\lambda \in \sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ from Corollary 9.5 and their corresponding multiplicities for the different space dimensions d = 2, 3, 4, 5. The eigenvalues $\lambda \in \sigma(S)$ are illustrated by the blue circles, the eigenvalues $\lambda \in$ $\{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \mid \lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \sigma(S), \lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2\}$ are illustrated by the green crosses. The imaginary values to the right of the symbols denote the precise values of eigenvalues and the numbers to the left their corresponding multiplicities. We observe that for space dimension d there are dim SE $(d) = \frac{d(d+1)}{2}$ eigenvalues on the imaginary axis.

Example 9.6 (Point spectrum of \mathcal{L} for d = 2). In the two dimensional case the skew-symmetric matrix $S \in \mathbb{R}^{2,2}$ has the form

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & S_{12} \\ -S_{12} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\sigma_1 = S_{12}$ and k = 1. The matrix S is unitary diagonalizable with diagonal matrix $\Lambda_S \in \mathbb{C}^{2,2}$ and unitary matrix $U \in \mathbb{C}^{2,2}$ given by

$$\Lambda_S = \begin{pmatrix} i\sigma_1 & 0\\ 0 & -i\sigma_1 \end{pmatrix}, \ U = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1\\ i & -i \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\lambda_1^S = i\sigma_1$ and $\lambda_2^S = -i\sigma_1$. Note that the *j*-th column of the matrix *U* contains the normalized eigenvector $v_j^S := Ue_j \in \mathbb{C}^2$ for the *j*-th eigenvalue λ_j^S . Using $U(I_{12} - I_{21})U^T = -i(I_{12} - I_{21})$, Theorem 9.4 yields the following eigenfunctions, compare also [15, Lemma 2.3],

$$\begin{aligned} \lambda_1 &= i\sigma_1, & v_1(x) &= D_1 v_\star(x) + iD_2 v_\star(x), \\ \lambda_2 &= -i\sigma_1, & v_2(x) &= D_1 v_\star(x) - iD_2 v_\star(x), \\ \lambda_3 &= 0, & v_3(x) &= (x_2 D_1 - x_1 D_2) v_\star(x). \end{aligned}$$

Example 9.7 (Point spectrum of \mathcal{L} for d = 3). In the three dimensional case the skew symmetric matrix $S \in \mathbb{R}^{3,3}$ has the form

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & S_{12} & S_{13} \\ -S_{12} & 0 & S_{23} \\ -S_{13} & -S_{23} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\sigma_1 = \sqrt{S_{12}^2 + S_{13}^2 + S_{23}^2}$ and k = 1. The matrix S is unitary diagonalizable with diagonal matrix $\Lambda_S \in \mathbb{C}^{3,3}$ and unitary matrix $U \in \mathbb{C}^{3,3}$ given by

$$\Lambda_{S} = \begin{pmatrix} i\sigma_{1} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & -i\sigma_{1} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, U = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\sigma_{1}S_{13} - iS_{12}S_{23}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} & \frac{\sigma_{1}S_{13} + iS_{12}S_{23}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} & \frac{\sigma_{1}S_{13}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} & \frac{\sigma_{1}S_{13}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} & \frac{\sigma_{1}S_{13}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} & \frac{\sigma_{1}S_{23} - iS_{12}S_{13}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} & -\frac{S_{13}}{\sigma_{1}} \\ \frac{i(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} & \frac{-i(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} & \frac{S_{12}}{\sigma_{1}} \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\lambda_1^S = i\sigma_1$, $\lambda_2^S = -i\sigma_1$ and $\lambda_3^S = 0$. Note once more that the *j*-th column of the matrix U contains the normalized eigenvector $v_j^S := Ue_j \in \mathbb{C}^3$ for the *j*-th eigenvalue λ_j^S . Using

$$U(I_{12} - I_{21})U^{T} = \frac{i}{\sigma_{1}}S,$$

$$U(I_{13} - I_{31})U^{T} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}}{2\sigma_{1}} & \frac{S_{12}S_{13} + i\sigma_{1}S_{23}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} \\ \frac{\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}}{2\sigma_{1}} & 0 & -\frac{-S_{12}S_{23} + i\sigma_{1}S_{13}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} \\ -\frac{S_{12}S_{13} + i\sigma_{1}S_{23}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} & \frac{-S_{12}S_{23} + i\sigma_{1}S_{13}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$U(I_{23} - I_{32})U^{T} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} & 0 \\ \frac{\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}}{2\sigma_{1}} & 0 & \frac{S_{12}S_{23} + i\sigma_{1}S_{13}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} \\ \frac{\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}}{2\sigma_{1}} & 0 & \frac{S_{12}S_{23} + i\sigma_{1}S_{13}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} \\ \frac{-S_{12}S_{13} + i\sigma_{1}S_{23}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}} & -\frac{S_{12}S_{23} + i\sigma_{1}S_{13}}{\sigma_{1}\sqrt{2(S_{13}^{2} + S_{23}^{2})}}} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

Theorem 9.4 yields the following eigenfunctions

$$\begin{split} \lambda_1 &= i\sigma_1, \qquad v_1(x) = (\sigma_1 S_{13} - iS_{12}S_{23})D_1v_\star(x) + (\sigma_1 S_{23} + iS_{12}S_{13})D_2v_\star(x) \\ &\quad + i(S_{13}^2 + S_{23}^2)D_3v_\star(x), \\ \lambda_2 &= -i\sigma_1, \qquad v_2(x) = (\sigma_1 S_{13} + iS_{12}S_{23})D_1v_\star(x) + (\sigma_1 S_{23} - iS_{12}S_{13})D_2v_\star(x) \\ &\quad - i(S_{13}^2 + S_{23}^2)D_3v_\star(x), \\ \lambda_3 &= 0, \qquad v_3(x) = S_{23}D_1v_\star(x) - S_{13}D_2v_\star(x) + S_{12}D_3v_\star(x), \\ \lambda_4 &= 0, \qquad v_4(x) = S_{12}(x_2D_1 - x_1D_2)v_\star(x) + S_{13}(x_3D_1 - x_1D_3)v_\star(x) \\ &\quad + S_{23}(x_3D_2 - x_2D_3)v_\star(x), \\ \lambda_5 &= -i\sigma_1, \qquad v_5(x) = -(S_{13}^2 + S_{23}^2)(x_2D_1 - x_1D_2)v_\star(x) \\ &\quad + (S_{12}S_{13} + i\sigma_1S_{23})(x_3D_1 - x_1D_3)v_\star(x) \\ &\quad + (S_{12}S_{23} - i\sigma_1S_{13})(x_3D_2 - x_2D_3)v_\star(x), \\ \lambda_6 &= i\sigma_1, \qquad v_6(x) = -(S_{13}^2 + S_{23}^2)(x_2D_1 - x_1D_2)v_\star(x) \\ &\quad + (S_{12}S_{13} - i\sigma_1S_{23})(x_3D_1 - x_1D_3)v_\star(x) \\ &\quad + (S_{12}S_{13} - i\sigma_1S_{13})(x_3D_2 - x_2D_3)v_\star(x). \end{split}$$

9.3 Exponential decay of eigenfunctions and of the rotational term

The following theorem proves that eigenfunctions of \mathcal{L} decay exponentially in space, whenever their associated (isolated) eigenvalues are sufficiently close to the imaginary axis.

Theorem 9.8 (Exponential decay of eigenfunctions). Let the assumptions (A4)–(A9) be satisfied for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$. Then for every $0 < \vartheta < 1$ and for every radially nondecreasing weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \ge 0$ with

$$0 \leqslant \eta^2 \leqslant \vartheta \frac{2}{3} \frac{a_0 b_0}{a_{\max}^2 p^2}$$

and a_{\max} , a_0 , b_0 from (1.18), there exists a constant $K_1 = K_1(A, f, v_{\infty}, d, p, \theta, \vartheta) > 0$ with the following property:

Given a classical solution v_{\star} of (1.19) such that $v_{\star} - v_{\infty} \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$ and (1.20) hold. Then every classical solution $v \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{C}^{N})$ of the eigenvalue problem

(9.14)
$$A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle + Df(v_{\star}(x))v(x) = \lambda v(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

with $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \ge -\frac{b_0}{3}$ satisfies

$$v \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N).$$

Proof. Let $0 < \vartheta < 1$ be fixed, $1 and <math>\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ be a radially nondecreasing weight function of exponential growth rate $\eta \ge 0$ with

 $0 \leq \eta^2 \leq \vartheta_3^2 \frac{a_0 b_0}{a_{\max}^2 p^2}$, where a_{\max} , a_0 and b_0 are from (1.18). 1. Let v denote a classical solution of (9.1) satisfying $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$, then

$$0 = \lambda v(x) - [\mathcal{L}v](x) = \lambda v(x) - (A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle - Bv(x) + Q(x)v(x))$$

= $(\lambda I - \mathcal{L}_Q) v(x),$

where $B := -Df(v_{\infty})$ and $Q(x) := Df(v_{\star}(x)) - Df(v_{\infty})$.

2. In order to apply Theorem 7.7 (with $C_p = \mathcal{L}_Q$) we have to verify, that the assumptions are satisfied. Note that the application of Theorem 7.7 with $C_p = \mathcal{L}_Q$ requires additionally that the assumptions (A3) and (A4) are fulfilled, which are necessary to solve the identification problem for C_p . Let us check the assumptions: Assumption (A1) follows from (A8). The assumption (A4) and (A5) are directly satisfied and assumption (A4) implies (A3) and (A2). Using the definition of B, the assumptions (A8_B) and (A9_B) follow from (A8) and (A9), respectively. It remains to verify $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$, (7.5), $v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ and $\mathcal{L}_Q v = \lambda v$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. 3. First we show that $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$: Since $v_{\star} - v_{\infty} \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ we obtain

$$|v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}| \leqslant ||v_{\star} - v_{\infty}||_{\infty} =: R_1$$

for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Using (A6) this implies

$$|Q(x)|_{2} = |Df(v_{\star}(x)) - Df(v_{\infty})|_{2} \leq \sup_{z \in B_{R_{1}}(0)} |Df(z)|_{2} + |Df(v_{\infty})|_{2},$$

for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, which is of course finite by the continuity of Df on compact sets. Taking the suprema over $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we obtain $Q \in C_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^{N,N})$, thus $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^{N,N})$.

4. We next verify (7.5): Let us choose $K_1 = K_1(A, f, v_{\infty}, d, p, \theta, \vartheta) > 0$ (as in Theorem 1.8) such that

$$K_1\left(\sup_{z\in B_{K_1}(v_\infty)}\left|D^2f(z)\right|_2\right)\leqslant \frac{b_0}{3}\min\left\{\frac{1}{C_7},\frac{1}{M_\infty}\right\}$$

is satisfied, where $C_7 = C_7(A, d, p, \theta, \vartheta)$ is from Lemma 4.8, $M_{\infty} = M_{\infty}(A, d)$ from (6.10), $b_0 = b_0(f, v_{\infty})$ from (1.18). The fundamental theorem of calculus, (A6), (1.20) and the choice of K_1 yield

$$\begin{aligned} |Q(x)|_{2} &= |Df(v_{\star}(x)) - Df(v_{\infty})|_{2} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} \left| D^{2}f(v_{\infty} + s(v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty})) \right|_{2} ds \left| v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty} \right| \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} \left(\sup_{|x| \ge R_{0}} \left| D^{2}f(v_{\infty} + s(v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty})) \right|_{2} \right) ds \left(\sup_{|x| \ge R_{0}} \left| v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty} \right| \right) \\ &\leq K_{1} \left(\sup_{z \in B_{K_{1}}(v_{\infty})} \left| D^{2}f(z) \right|_{2} \right) \leq \frac{b_{0}}{3} \min \left\{ \frac{1}{C_{7}}, \frac{1}{M_{\infty}} \right\} \end{aligned}$$

for every $|x| \ge R_0$. Taking the suprema over $|x| \ge R_0$ yields

$$\sup_{|x| \ge R_0} |Q(x)|_2 \le \frac{b_0}{3} \min\left\{\frac{1}{C_7}, \frac{1}{M_\infty}\right\}.$$

5. Next we verify that $v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$: An application of Theorem 5.19 shows that $\mathcal{D}(A_p) = \mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$. Therefore, it suffices to show that $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, $v \in W_{loc}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ and $\mathcal{L}_0 v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. By assumption we know that $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Moreover, we deduce $v \in W_{loc}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ from $v \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. It remains to prove that $\mathcal{L}_0 v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$: From (A6) we deduce that Df is locally Lipschitz continuous, i.e. there exists $L = L(R_1) \ge 0$ such that

$$|Df(v_{\star}(x)) - Df(v_{\infty})| \leq L |v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}|$$

for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Now, we obtain from (9.14) and Hölder's inequality

$$\|\mathcal{L}_{0}v\|_{L^{p}} \leq |\lambda| \|v\|_{L^{p}} + |Df(v_{\infty})| \|v\|_{L^{p}} + \|Df(v_{\star}(x)) - Df(v_{\infty})\|_{L^{\infty}} \|v\|_{L^{p}}$$

$$\leq (|\lambda| + |Df(v_{\infty})| + LR_{1}) \|v\|_{L^{p}}.$$

This yields $\mathcal{L}_0 v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, thus $v \in \mathcal{D}_{loc}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$.

6. Finally, we verify that $\mathcal{L}_Q v = \lambda v$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$: From $v \in \mathcal{D}(A_p)$ we deduce that both $\mathcal{L}_Q v$ and $\lambda v - \mathcal{L}_Q v$ belong to $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Since $[\mathcal{L}_Q v](x) = \lambda v(x)$ for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we obtain $\mathcal{L}_Q v = \lambda v$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$. Now, we can apply Theorem 7.7 that yields $v \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$.

Exponential decay for $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > -b_0$. Usually one expects that every eigenfunction associated to an eigenvalue $\lambda \in \sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ decays exponentially in space, i.e. for λ satisfying satisfies $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > -b_0$. However, Theorem 9.8 provides that $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \ge -\frac{b_0}{3}$ must be satisfied. The lower bound $-\frac{b_0}{3}$, that is larger than $-b_0$, is necessary to obtain a uniform decay rate, i.e. a decay rate that does not depend on $\operatorname{Re} \lambda$ any more. Note that one can also prove the exponential decay of eigenfunctions associated to eigenvalues with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > -b_0$, but one usually obtains different decay rates. An eigenvalue that is located near $-b_0$ implies a small decay rate for the eigenfunction.

A direct consequence of Theorem 9.8 is the following:

Corollary 9.9 (Exponential decay of the rotational term). Let the assumptions (A4)–(A9) be satisfied for $1 and <math>\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$. Then for every $0 < \vartheta < 1$ and for every radially nondecreasing weight function $\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ of exponential growth rate $\eta \ge 0$ with

$$0\leqslant\eta^2\leqslant\vartheta\frac{2}{3}\frac{a_0b_0}{a_{\max}^2p^2}$$

with a_{\max} , a_0 , b_0 from (1.18), there exists a constant $K_1 = K_1(A, f, v_{\infty}, d, p, \theta, \vartheta) > 0$ with the following property:

Given a classical solution $v_{\star} \in C^3(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ of (1.19) such that $v_{\star} - v_{\infty} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N)$ and (1.20) hold. Then the classical solution

$$v(x) = \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle$$

of the eigenvalue problem (9.14) with $\lambda = 0$ satisfies

$$v \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^N).$$

Proof. In order to apply Theorem 9.8 for $v(x) = \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle$, we have to check that $\langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$. Our main result from Theorem 1.8 states that $v_{\star} \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$. This directly implies that $\langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$ and the application of Theorem 9.8 completes the proof. A further possibility to verify $\langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$ works as follows: In the proof of Theorem 1.8 we showed that $v_{\star} \in \mathcal{D}^{p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_{0})$. By Theorem 5.25 we have $\mathcal{D}^{p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{L}_{0}) = \mathcal{D}^{p}_{\max}(\mathcal{L}_{0})$, thus we deduce $\langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$ by the definition of $\mathcal{D}^{p}_{\max}(\mathcal{L}_{0})$.

Exponential decay of $A \triangle v_{\star}$. A crucial implication of Corollary 9.9 is that $A \triangle (v_{\star} - v_{\infty}) \in L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$: For this purpose, we consider the steady state equation

$$A \triangle v_{\star}(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle + f(v_{\star}(x)) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}.$$

Following the proof of Theorem 1.8, we decompose the last term into

$$f(v_{\star}(x)) = -B(v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}) + Q(x) (v_{\star}(x) - v_{\infty}).$$

Defining $w_{\star} := v_{\star} - v_{\infty}$ we obtain

$$0 = A \triangle w_{\star}(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla w_{\star}(x) \rangle - Bw_{\star}(x) + Q(x)w_{\star}(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d},$$

with $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N,N})$. Theorem 1.8 shows that $w_{\star} \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$ and thus, the last two terms belong to $L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$. Assuming additional smoothness on v_{\star} , i.e. $v_{\star} \in C^{3}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$, we deduce from Corollary 9.9 that $\langle S \cdot, \nabla v_{\star} \rangle$ and therefore also $\langle S \cdot, \nabla w_{\star} \rangle$ belong to $W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$. This implies that $A \Delta w_{\star} \in L^{p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$ for $1 . Note that for <math>Q \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N,N})$ this procedure even implies $A \Delta w_{\star} \in W^{1,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$.

9.4 Essential spectrum and dispersion relation of localized rotating waves

In this section we investigate the essential spectrum of the linearization about a localized rotating wave. The following Theorem is an application of Theorem 7.9 with

$$-B = Df(v_{\infty}), \qquad Q(x) = Df(v_{\star}(x)) - Df(v_{\infty}), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Note that Theorem 1.8 implies that $Q \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^{N,N})$ satisfies . For a detailed treatment of the essential spectrum we refer to Section 7.4

Theorem 9.10 (Essential spectrum of \mathcal{L}). Let the assumptions of Theorem 1.8 be satisfied. Moreover, let $\lambda_j(\omega)$ denote the eigenvalues of $\omega^2 A - Df(v_{\infty})$ for $j = 1, \ldots, N$ and let $\pm i\sigma_1, \ldots, \pm i\sigma_k$ denote the nonzero eigenvalues of S. Then every number $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with

$$\lambda = -\lambda_j(\omega) - i \sum_{l=1}^k n_l \sigma_l, \, n_l \in \mathbb{Z}, \, \omega \in \mathbb{R}, \, j = 1, \dots, N,$$

belongs to the essential spectrum of \mathcal{L} in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$, i.e. $\lambda \in \sigma_{ess}(\mathcal{L})$.

Dispersion relation for \mathcal{L} at localized rotating waves. The dispersion relation for the linearization \mathcal{L} at a localized rotating wave in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^N)$ with 1 $states that every <math>\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfying

(9.15) det
$$\left(\lambda I_N + \omega^2 A - Df(v_\infty) + i \sum_{l=1}^k n_l \sigma_l I_N\right) = 0$$
, for some $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$, $n_l \in \mathbb{Z}$,

belongs to the essential spectrum of \mathcal{L} , i.e. $\lambda \in \sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L})$. The dispersion relation for d = 2 can be found in [15].

Location and density of the essential spectrum. Let us define the set

 $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}) := \{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \lambda \text{ satisfies } (9.15) \}.$

Theorem 9.10 shows that $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}) \subseteq \sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L})$. Moreover, (9.15) for $\omega = 0$ yields the inclusion $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}) \subseteq \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re}\,\lambda \leqslant s(Df(v_{\infty}))\}$. If there exists σ_n, σ_m such that $\sigma_n \sigma_m^{-1} \notin \mathbb{Q}$ then $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L})$ is dense in the half-plane $\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re}\,\lambda \leqslant s(Df(v_{\infty}))\}$, i.e. $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re}\,\lambda \leqslant s(Df(v_{\infty}))\}$. Otherwise $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L})$ is a discrete subgroup of $\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Re}\,\lambda \leqslant s(Df(v_{\infty}))\}$ (independently of p). The density observations come originally from [71, Theorem 2.6] and they are illustrated in Figure 7.1. Note that the spectral condition (A9), stating that the matrix $Df(v_{\infty})$ is stable, implies that $s(Df(v_{\infty})) < 0$, hence $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{part}}(\mathcal{L}) \subseteq \mathbb{C}_-$, which is necessary to guarantee spectral stability, cf. Definition 9.2.

9.5 Essential spectrum and dispersion relation of nonlocalized rotating waves

In this section we investigate the essential spectrum of the linearization about a rigidly rotating spiral wave. This serves as an backward material for the numerical examples in Section 10.4. A rotating spiral wave is a special type of nonlocalized rotating waves for d = 2. Most of the results come from [92] and [38], but we also refer to [93].

Recall the reaction diffusion equation (1.14)

$$u_t(x,t) = A \triangle u(x,t) + f(u(x,t)), \ t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 1,$$
$$u(x,0) = u_0(x) \qquad , \ t = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Definition 9.11. A function $u_{\infty} : \mathbb{R} \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{K}^N \text{ is called a traveling wave solution of (1.14) if it has the form$

$$u_{\infty}(x,t) = v_{\infty}(x - c_{\infty}t)$$

with profile (or pattern) $v_{\infty} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{K}^N$ and translational velocity $c_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}$ with $c_{\infty} \neq 0$. A traveling wave u_{∞} of (1.14) is called an **one-dimensional** periodic wavetrain with period T > 0 if v_{∞} is a *T*-periodic function, i.e. $v_{\infty}(\xi + T) = v_{\infty}(\xi)$ for every $x \in \mathbb{R}$.
Note that v_{∞} is *T*-periodic if and only if u_{∞} is *T*-periodic w.r.t. *x*. In particular, v_{∞} satisfies the one-dimensional traveling wave equation

$$Av''(\xi) + cv'(\xi) + f(v(\xi)) = 0.$$

Assumption 9.12. Let $v_{\infty} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{K}^N$ be the profile of an one-dimensional *T*-periodic wavetrain u_{∞} of (1.14) for d = 1 that travels at speed c_{∞} , i.e. v_{∞} satisfies the compatibility conditions

(A10)
$$v_{\infty}$$
 is *T*-periodic,

(A11) $Av''_{\infty}(\xi) + c_{\infty}v'_{\infty}(\xi) + f(v_{\infty}(\xi)) = 0, \, \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$

We assume a rotating Archimedean spiral wave solution u_{\star} of (1.14) in the following sense:

Definition 9.13. A rotating wave solution $u_* : \mathbb{R}^2 \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{K}^N \text{ of } (1.14)]$ in the sense of Definition 1.1 (with d = 2) is called a **(rigidly) rotating Archimedean spiral wave** if the complex version $v_*^{\text{pol}}(r, \phi) := v_*(T_1(T_2(r, \phi)))$ of the pattern $v_*(x)$ satisfies $v_*^{\text{pol}} \in C_b(]0, \infty[\times\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{K}^N)$ and

(9.16)
$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \left| v_{\star}^{\text{pol}}(r,\phi) - v_{\infty} \left(r - \frac{\phi}{k_{\infty}} \right) \right| = 0 \text{ uniformly for } \phi \in \mathbb{R}$$

for some $k_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}$ with $k_{\infty} \neq 0$ and for some function $v_{\infty} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{K}^N$ satisfying (A10) and (A11) with $T = \frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}$ and $c_{\infty} = \frac{\sigma}{k_{\infty}}$, where $\sigma = S_{12}$ denotes the angular velocity of the Archimedean spiral wave.

The condition (9.16) states that the pattern v_{\star}^{pol} is Archimedean far away from the center of rotation and describes in a certain sense a counterpart or an extension of (1.20). v_{∞} is called the **asymptotic wavetrain** (of the spiral wave solution) or the asymptotic profile (of the spiral wave) and k_{∞} is called the wavenumber (of the periodic wavetrain). In particular, we advise the following important relation

$$c_{\infty} = \frac{\sigma}{k_{\infty}}$$

This relation states that the translational speed c_{∞} of the periodic wavetrain coincide with the quotient of the rotational speed σ of the spiral wave and the wavenumber k_{∞} of the periodic wavetrain.

We now start to investigate the essential spectrum of the linearization at the spiral wave. For this purpose we assume $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$. In case $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ we must transform the *N*-dimensional complex-valued equation into a 2*N*-dimensional real-valued system, c.f. proof of Corollary 8.1. For the moment let $d \ge 2$ and consider

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{0}v\right](x) + f(v(x)) := A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle + f(v(x)) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d},$$

where $A \in \mathbb{R}^{N,N}$ with $\sigma(A) \subset \mathbb{C}_+$, $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ with $-S = S^T$ and $f \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}^N)$. The linearization at the profile v_{\star} of the rotating wave u_{\star} is given by

$$\left[\mathcal{L}v\right](x) = A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle + Df(v_{\star}(x))v(x)$$

In the following we look for solutions of the initial value problem

$$v_t(x,t) = [\mathcal{L}v](x,t), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ t > 0,$$

 $v(x,0) = v_0(x), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ t = 0.$

Similarly to Section 7.4, we now derive a dispersion relation for the linearization at the profile of an Archimedean spiral wave:

1. Orthogonal transformation. The transformation $T_1(y) = Py$ and $\tilde{v}(y,t) = v(T_1(y),t)$ yield

$$\tilde{v}_t(y,t) = \left[\mathcal{L}_{T_1}\tilde{v}\right](y,t) = A \triangle \tilde{v}(y,t) + \left\langle \Lambda^S_{\text{block}}y, \nabla \tilde{v}(y,t) \right\rangle + Df(v_\star(T_1(y)))\tilde{v}(y,t)$$

with

$$\left\langle \Lambda_{\text{block}}^{S} y, \nabla \tilde{v}(y, t) \right\rangle = \sum_{l=1}^{k} \sigma_l \left(y_{2l} D_{2l-1} - y_{2l-1} D_{2l} \right) \tilde{v}(y, t)$$

2. Several planar polar coordinates. Choosing $T_2(\xi)$ as in Section 7.4 for $\xi = (r_1, \phi_1, \ldots, r_k, \phi_k, y_{2k+1}, \ldots, y_d)$, then $\hat{v}(\xi, t) = \tilde{v}(T_2(\xi), t)$ yields

$$\hat{v}_{t}(\xi,t) = \left[\mathcal{L}_{T_{2}}\hat{v}\right](\xi,t) = A\left[\sum_{l=1}^{k} \left(\partial_{r_{l}}^{2} + \frac{1}{r_{l}}\partial_{r_{l}} + \frac{1}{r_{l}^{2}}\partial_{\phi_{l}}^{2}\right) + \sum_{l=2k+1}^{d} \partial_{y_{l}}^{2}\right]\hat{v}(\xi,t) \\ - \sum_{l=1}^{k} \sigma_{l}\partial_{\phi_{l}}\hat{v}(\xi,t) + Df(v_{\star}(T_{1}(T_{2}(\xi))))\hat{v}(\xi,t),$$

where we define $v_{\star}^{\text{pol}}(\xi) = v_{\star}(T_1(T_2(\xi))).$

3. Rigidly rotating spiral waves for d = 2. From now on we consider rigidly rotating spiral wave solutions u_{\star} . For this purpose let d = 2, thus $\xi = (r, \phi)$ with $r := r_1, \phi := \phi_1$ and $\sigma := \sigma_1$. Adding and subtracting the $\frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}$ -periodic function $Df(v_{\infty}(r - \frac{\phi}{k_{\infty}}))\hat{v}(r, \phi, t)$ we obtain

$$\hat{v}_t(r,\phi,t) = \left[\mathcal{L}_{T_2}\hat{v}\right](r,\phi,t) = A\left(\partial_r^2 + \frac{1}{r}\partial_r + \frac{1}{r^2}\partial_\phi^2\right)\hat{v}(r,\phi,t) - \sigma\partial_\phi\hat{v}(r,\phi,t) + \left(Df(v_\star^{\text{pol}}(r,\phi)) - Df(v_\infty(r-\frac{\phi}{k_\infty}))\right)\hat{v}(r,\phi,t) + Df(v_\infty(r-\frac{\phi}{k_\infty}))\hat{v}(r,\phi,t).$$

Note that $Df(v_{\star}^{\text{pol}}(r,\phi)) - Df(v_{\infty}(r-\frac{\phi}{k_{\infty}})) \to 0$ for $r \to \infty$ uniformly for $\phi \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, \hat{v} is a 2π -periodic function w.r.t. ϕ .

4. Simplified operator (limit operator, far-field operator). Neglecting the terms of order $\mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r}\right)$ we obtain the far-field linearization

$$\hat{v}_t(r,\phi,t) = A\partial_r^2 \hat{v}(r,\phi,t) - \sigma \partial_\phi \hat{v}(r,\phi,t) + Df(v_\infty(r-\frac{\phi}{k_\infty}))\hat{v}(r,\phi,t).$$

5. Angular transformation. $\hat{v}(r, \phi, t) = \bar{v}(r, r - \frac{\phi}{k_{\infty}}, t)$ and $\xi = r - \frac{\phi}{k_{\infty}}$ yield

$$\bar{v}_t(r,\xi,t) = A\left(\partial_r^2 + 2\partial_{r\xi} + \partial_{\xi}^2\right)\bar{v}(r,\xi,t) + \frac{\sigma}{k_\infty}\partial_{\xi}\bar{v}(r,\xi,t) + Df(v_\infty(\xi))\bar{v}(r,\xi,t)$$

where $Df(v_{\infty}(\xi))$ and $\bar{v}(r,\xi,t)$ are $\frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}$ -periodic functions w.r.t. ξ .

6. Temporal Fourier transform. $\bar{v}(r,\xi,t) = e^{\lambda t} \check{v}(r,\xi), \ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, and multiply from left by $e^{-\lambda t}$ yields

$$\lambda \check{v}(r,\xi) = A \underbrace{\left(\partial_r^2 + 2\partial_{r\xi} + \partial_{\xi}^2\right)}_{=\left(\partial_r + \partial_{\xi}\right)^2} \check{v}(r,\xi) + \frac{\sigma}{k_{\infty}} \partial_{\xi} \check{v}(r,\xi) + Df(v_{\infty}(\xi))\check{v}(r,\xi),$$

where $\check{v}(r,\xi)$ is $\frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}$ -periodic w.r.t. ξ .

7. Radial Fourier transform. $\check{v}(r,\xi) = e^{\nu r} \underline{v}(\xi), \ \nu \in \mathbb{C}$, and multiply from left by $e^{-\nu r}$ yields

$$\lambda \underline{v}(\xi) = A \underbrace{\left(\nu^2 + 2\nu\partial_{\xi} + \partial_{\xi}^2\right)}_{=\left(\nu + \partial_{\xi}\right)^2} \underline{v}(\xi) + \frac{\sigma}{k_{\infty}} \partial_{\xi} \underline{v}(\xi) + Df(v_{\infty}(\xi)) \underline{v}(\xi),$$

where $\underline{v}(\xi)$ is $\frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}$ -periodic.

8. Bloch wave transformation w.r.t. ξ . $\underline{v}(\xi) = e^{-\nu\xi}v(\xi), \nu \in \mathbb{C}$ from step 7, and multiply from left by $e^{\nu\xi}$ yield

$$\lambda v(\xi) = A \partial_{\xi}^2 v(\xi) - \frac{\sigma \nu}{k_{\infty}} v(\xi) + \frac{\sigma}{k_{\infty}} \partial_{\xi} v(\xi) + D f(v_{\infty}(\xi)) v(\xi),$$

with $\frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}$ -periodic function $Df(v_{\infty}(\xi))$. Add $\frac{\sigma\nu}{k_{\infty}}v(\xi)$ and define $\tilde{\lambda} := \lambda + \frac{\sigma\nu}{k_{\infty}}$ we obtain

$$\tilde{\lambda}v(\xi) = A\partial_{\xi}^2 v(\xi) + \frac{\sigma}{k_{\infty}}\partial_{\xi}v(\xi) + Df(v_{\infty}(\xi))v(\xi).$$

The $\frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}$ -periodicity of $\underline{v}(\xi)$ and the Bloch wave transformation $\underline{v}(\xi) = e^{-\nu\xi}v(\xi)$ leads to the Floquet boundary condition

$$e^{\nu \frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}}v(\xi) = v(\xi + \frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}), \quad e^{\nu \frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}}v_{\xi}(\xi) = v_{\xi}(\xi + \frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}})$$

Note that for a 2nd order problem we have to impose boundary conditions for v and v_{ξ} to make the problem well-posed. This is expressed by the periodicity conditions for v and v_{ξ} . Indeed, if v is sufficiently smooth, the second equality can directly be deduced by differentiating the first one. Altogether, we obtain a Floquet boundary value problem

(9.17)
$$\lambda v(\xi) = A \partial_{\xi}^2 v(\xi) + c_{\infty} \partial_{\xi} v(\xi) + Df(v_{\infty}(\xi))v(\xi), \, \xi \in [0, T],$$

(9.18)
$$e^{\nu T}v(0) = v(T), \quad e^{\nu T}v_{\xi}(0) = v_{\xi}(T)$$

where $Df(v_{\infty}(\xi)) \in \mathbb{R}^{N,N}$ is a continuous, $\frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}$ -periodic function, $c_{\infty} := \frac{\sigma}{k_{\infty}} \in \mathbb{R}$ and period $T := \frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}$. We now look for solutions (λ, ν, v) satisfying (9.17)–(9.18).

9. Application of Floquet theory. Using $u := v_{\xi}$, we transform the *N*-dimensional 2nd order boundary value problem (9.17)–(9.18) into a 2*N*-dimensional 1st order boundary value problem

$$\begin{pmatrix} v \\ u \end{pmatrix}_{\xi} (\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_N \\ A^{-1}(\tilde{\lambda}I_N - Df(v_{\infty}(\xi))) & -c_{\infty}A^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} v \\ u \end{pmatrix} (\xi), \ \xi \in [0, T],$$

$$e^{\nu T} \begin{pmatrix} v \\ u \end{pmatrix} (0) = \begin{pmatrix} v \\ u \end{pmatrix} (T).$$

Note that A^{-1} exists due to the fact that $\operatorname{Re} \sigma(A) > 0$. Abbreviating $w := \begin{pmatrix} v \\ u \end{pmatrix}$ with $w : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ we obtain

(9.19)
$$w_{\xi}(\xi) = \tilde{A}(\xi)w(\xi), \, \xi \in [0,T],$$

(9.20)
$$e^{\nu T}w(0) = w(T)$$

with continuous, T-periodic matrix-valued function $\tilde{A} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^{2N,2N}$ given by

$$\tilde{A}(\xi) := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_N \\ A^{-1}(\tilde{\lambda}I_N - Df(v_\infty(\xi))) & -c_\infty A^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

It is well known that in general one cannot derive an explicit solution representation for (9.19)–(9.20), but one can apply Floquet theory, see [51] and [24]: For this purpose, let $W(\xi)$ with $W : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^{2N,2N}$ be a fundamental matrix solution of (9.19), where we assume without loss of generality that $W(0) = I_{2N}$. An application of Floquet's theorem, see [51, Theorem 7.1] or [24, Theorem 2.83], yields that W has the form

$$W(\xi) = P(\xi)e^{B\xi}$$
 (Floquet normal form)

with T-periodic function $P : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}^{2N,2N}$ and constant matrix $B \in \mathbb{C}^{2N,2N}$. The proof of Floquet's theorem shows that the matrix $P(\xi)$ is invertible for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, P satisfies $P(0) = I_{2N}$, since $W(0) = I_{2N}$, and W satisfies

$$W(T) = P(T)e^{BT} = P(0)e^{BT} = W(0)e^{BT} = e^{BT}$$

by the *T*-periodicity of *P*. The invertible matrix e^{BT} is called the **monodromy matrix** of (9.19). Its eigenvalues $\rho \in \sigma(e^{TB})$ are called the **characteristic multipliers** (or **Floquet multipliers**) of (9.19). Furthermore, an element $\mu \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfying $\rho = e^{\mu T}$ for some $\rho \in \sigma(e^{TB})$ is called a **characteristic exponent** (or **Floquet exponent**) of (9.19). The Floquet multipliers ρ of (9.19) are unique. The Floquet exponents μ of (9.19) are not unique but their real parts Re μ . This can be accepted by the fact that if μ is a Floquet exponent of (9.19) then also $\mu + 2\pi i \frac{k}{T}$ is a Floquet exponent of (9.19) for every $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. For a detailed treatment of Floquet theory for homogeneous linear periodic systems we refer to [51] and [24].

10. Evolution operator. Defining

$$\Phi_{\tilde{\lambda}}(\xi,\psi) := W(\xi)W(\psi)^{-1} = P(\xi)e^{B(\xi-\psi)}P(\psi)^{-1} \in \mathbb{C}^{2N,2N}$$

the evolution operator of (9.19) is by the periodic map

$$\Phi_{\tilde{\lambda}}(T,0) := W(T)W(0)^{-1} = P(T)e^{B(T-0)}P(0)^{-1} = e^{BT} \in \mathbb{C}^{2N,2N},$$

where we used $P(T) = P(0) = I_{2N}$, since $W(0) = I_{2N}$. Since $W(T) = W(0)e^{BT}$ and $W(0) = I_{2N}$ we deduce

$$\Phi_{\tilde{\lambda}}(T,0) = W(T)W(0)^{-1} = W(0)e^{BT}W(0)^{-1} = e^{tB}.$$

We now look for solutions w of (9.19)–(9.20), that have the special form

 $w(\xi) = W(\xi)w_{\nu}, \text{ for } \xi \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and for some } w_{\nu} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}.$

Due to the Floquet boundary conditions (9.20) we have

$$e^{\nu T}w(0) = w(T) = W(T)w_{\nu} = e^{BT}w_{\nu} = \Phi_{\tilde{\lambda}}(T,0)w(0).$$

Subtracting $e^{\nu T}w(0)$ we obtain

$$\left(\Phi_{\tilde{\lambda}}(T,0) - e^{\nu T} I_{2N}\right) w(0) = 0.$$

11. Dispersion relation for Archimedean spiral waves. Using $\tilde{\lambda} = \lambda + \frac{\sigma \nu}{k_{\infty}}$ we define

$$d(\lambda,\nu) := \det\left(\Phi_{\lambda+\frac{\sigma\nu}{k_{\infty}}}(T,0) - e^{\nu T}I_{2N}\right).$$

Since we are interested only in bounded solutions, we choose $\nu = ik, k \in \mathbb{R}$, where k is called the **Bloch wavenumber**. This and $T = \frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}$ yield

$$d(\lambda, ik) = \det\left(\Phi_{\lambda+i\sigma\frac{k}{k_{\infty}}}(\frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}, 0) - e^{2\pi i\frac{k}{k_{\infty}}}I_{2N}\right) = 0.$$

The dispersion relation for Archimedean spiral waves states: If $d(\lambda, ik) = 0$ for some $k \in \mathbb{R}$, then $\lambda \in \sigma_{ess}(\mathcal{L})$, i.e.

$$d(\lambda, ik) = 0$$
 for some $k \in \mathbb{R} \implies \lambda \in \sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L}).$

Therefore, we have the inclusion

$$\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid d(\lambda, ik) = 0 \text{ for some } k \in \mathbb{R}\} \subseteq \sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L}).$$

We suggest that the eigenvalue λ and the Bloch wave number k are related by the dispersion relation. In particular, we cannot derive an explicit expression for the dispersion relation due to the fact that equation (9.19)–(9.20) cannot be solved explicitly. But, we are able to give a better characterization of the structure of the essential spectrum. For this purpose, we first note that if (λ, ik) solves $d(\lambda, ik) = 0$ then also $(\tilde{\lambda}, \tilde{k}) := (\lambda - i\sigma n, i(k + nk_{\infty}))$ solves $d(\tilde{\lambda}, \tilde{k}) = 0$ for every $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, i.e.

$$d(\lambda, ik) = 0$$
 for some $k \in \mathbb{R} \implies d(\lambda - i\sigma n, i(k + nk_{\infty})) = 0$ for every $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Using $e^{2\pi i n} = 1$ for every $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ this follows easily from

$$d(\lambda - i\sigma n, i(k + nk_{\infty})) = \det\left(\Phi_{\lambda - i\sigma n + i\sigma\frac{k + nk_{\infty}}{k_{\infty}}}(\frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}, 0) - e^{2\pi i\frac{k + nk_{\infty}}{k_{\infty}}}I_{2N}\right)$$
$$= \det\left(\Phi_{\lambda + i\sigma\frac{k}{k_{\infty}}}(\frac{2\pi}{k_{\infty}}, 0) - e^{2\pi i\frac{k}{k_{\infty}}}I_{2N}\right) = d(\lambda, ik) = 0.$$

Therefore, we can consider w.l.o.g. $k \in [0, k_{\infty}]$. Moreover, if (λ, ik) solves $d(\lambda, ik) = 0$ then also $(\overline{\lambda}, -ik)$ solves $d(\overline{\lambda}, -ik) = 0$, i.e.

$$d(\lambda, ik) = 0$$
 for some $k \in \mathbb{R} \implies d(\overline{\lambda}, -ik) = 0.$

Thus, for $k \in [0, k_{\infty}[$ there are 2N solutions of $d(\lambda, ik) = 0$, that we denote by $\lambda^{l}(\nu) = \lambda^{l}(ik), l = 1, ..., 2N$. We deduce the inclusion

(9.21)
$$\left\{\lambda^{l}(ik) + i\sigma\mathbb{Z} \mid k \in \mathbb{R}, \ l = 1, \dots, 2N\right\} \subseteq \sigma_{\mathrm{ess}}(\mathcal{L}).$$

12. Shape of the spectral curves. We finally discuss the shape of the spectral curves $\Gamma^l := \{\lambda^l(ik) \mid k \in \mathbb{R}\}$ for fixed l = 1, ..., 2N: In order to apply the implicit function theorem we consider the continuously differentiable function

$$\tilde{d}: \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^2, \ (\lambda, k) \mapsto \tilde{d}\left(\begin{pmatrix}\lambda_1\\\lambda_2\end{pmatrix}, k\right) := d(\lambda_1 + i\lambda_2, ik) = d(\lambda, ik).$$

Then the mapping \tilde{d} satisfies

$$\tilde{d}\left(\begin{pmatrix}0\\0\end{pmatrix},0\right) = \begin{pmatrix}0\\0\end{pmatrix}$$
 and $\tilde{d}_{\lambda}\left(\begin{pmatrix}0\\0\end{pmatrix},0\right) \in \mathbb{R}^{2,2}$ is invertible.

at the point $(\lambda, k) = ((0, 0)^T, 0)$. An application of the implicit function theorem yields open sets $U = U((0, 0)^T) \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ and $V = V(0) \subset \mathbb{R}$ as well as a continuously differentiable function $g: V \to U$ with $g(0) = (0, 0)^T$ such that $\tilde{d}(g(k), k) = 0$ for every $k \in V$. Considering λ as a function of k, i.e. $\lambda(k) := g(k)$, this means that

$$d(\lambda(ik), ik) = d(\lambda(k), k) = 0$$
 for every $k \in V$.

Further, the function \tilde{d} satisfies

$$\tilde{d}_k(\lambda(0), 0) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We deduce, that the function $\lambda(k)$ and therefore also the spectral curves Γ^l have locally the shape of a parabola near k = 0. Thus, we can think about $\{\lambda^l(ik) + i\sigma\mathbb{Z} \mid k \in \mathbb{R}\}$ from (9.21) as infinitely many copies of parabolas along the imaginary axis for every $l = 1, \ldots, 2N$. The parabolas in the complex plane are opened to the left and touch the imaginary axis at $i\sigma\mathbb{Z}$. In particular, the distance on the imaginary axis of two neighboring parabolas equals the rotational velocity σ of the Archimedean spiral wave. We conclude with extensions and corresponding open problems:

Essential spectrum of scroll waves and scroll rings. We believe that this approach extends to scroll wave and scroll ring solutions for d = 3. In this case, there exists a further period in z-direction, that has to take into account in the computation of the essential spectrum. This question seems to be still an open problem.

Hyperbolic-parabolic systems. Furthermore, we believe that the approach also extends to matrices A that do have a zero eigenvalue. This is motivated by the existence of rigidly rotating spiral waves in Barkley's model for D = 0 and seems also to be an open problem.

10 Freezing approach and numerical results

In this chapter we recall some basic ideas and results from the field of equivariant evolution equations. We then introduce the freezing method, that is an approach for the approximation of relative equilibria. An application to reaction-diffusion equations shows that rotating waves are a special kind of relative equilibria. Solving numerically the resulting freezing system for the Examples from Section 2.1 yields approximations for the profiles of rotating waves and their group velocities. Moreover, we investigate numerically the spectrum of the linearization at localized and nonlocalized rotating waves. Afterwards, we introduce the decompose and freeze method for equivariant evolution equations. We apply the general theory for reaction-diffusion systems and extend this approach to higher space dimensions in order to investigate interactions of multi-solitons. At the end of the chapter we numerically investigate the interaction of several spinning solitons in the twodimensional Ginzburg-Landau equation.

In Section 10.1 we consider abstract evolution equations

(10.1)
$$u_t(t) = F(u(t)), \ 0 < t < T$$
 with $u(0) = u_0, \ t = 0,$

for some densely defined function $F : X \supset Y \to X$ on a K-valued Banach space $(X, \|\cdot\|)$. Assuming (10.1) to be equivariant with respect to a group action $a(\cdot)u : G \to X$ of a finite-dimensional (not necessarily compact) Lie group G on X,

$$F(a(\gamma)u) = a(\gamma)F(u), \ \gamma \in G, \ u \in Y,$$

we investigate so called relative equilibria of (10.1)

(10.2)
$$u_{\star}(t) = a(\gamma_{\star}(t))v_{\star}, \ \gamma_{\star}(t) \in G, \ v_{\star} \in Y.$$

For some general theory of equivariant evolution equations we refer to [25], [39] and [43]. At the end of this section, in Example 10.6, we apply the theory for

(10.3)
$$G = \operatorname{SE}(d), \quad F(u) = A \triangle u + f(u), \quad X = L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N), \quad 1$$

This leads us to general reaction-diffusion systems on \mathbb{R}^d . Their solutions, which are of the from (10.2), are called rotating waves.

In Section 10.2 we introduce the freezing method in an abstract setting, [18]. The freezing method is an approach for approximating relative equilibria such as traveling and rotating waves. The idea of the freezing method is to decompose the solution of (10.1) into a group motion and a profile, not only at or near relative equilibria as in (10.2), but also for the general Cauchy Problem (10.1). Introducing

new unknowns $\gamma(t) \in G$ and $v(t) \in Y$ such that the solution u of (10.1) is of the form

$$u(t) = a(\gamma(t))v(t), \ 0 \le t < T,$$

we transform (10.1) into a differential algebraic evolution equation

(10.4a)
$$v_t(t) = F(v(t)) - d[a(1)v(t)]\mu(t), \qquad v(0) = u_0,$$

(10.4b)
$$0 = \Psi(v(t), \mu(t)),$$

(10.4c)
$$\gamma_t(t) = dL_{\gamma(t)}(1)\mu(t), \qquad \gamma(0) = 1,$$

where $d[a(1)v(t)]\mu(t)$ denotes the derivative of the group action $a(\cdot)u$ and $\Psi: Y \times \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}^*$ denotes a so-called phase condition. Well-known phase conditions are the fixed and the orthogonal phase condition, that we briefly discuss. The equation (10.4c) is known as the reconstruction equation. In Example 10.7 we apply the presented theory to reaction-diffusion systems, compare (10.3). This leads to a partial differential algebraic evolution equation (10.5), which we analyze numerically in the next section. In Example 10.8 we analytically solve the reconstruction equation for reaction-diffusion systems with G = SE(d). The freezing method was independently proposed in [18] and [89]. For a more detailed treatment about the freezing method of single structures we also refer to [103], [19], [105], [20] and [16]. The freezing approach for hyperbolic-parabolic systems is analyzed in [85], [86], [87], [88] and partially in [16]. Results for the freezing method of stochastic traveling waves can be found for instance in [65].

In Section 10.3 we analyze the freezing system

(10.5a)
$$v_t(x,t) = A \triangle v(x,t) + f(v(x,t)) + \langle S(t)x + I_d\lambda(t), \nabla v(x,t) \rangle,$$

(10.5b)
$$v(x,0) = u_0(x),$$

 $0 = \Psi(v(\cdot,t),$

0.5b)
$$0 = \Psi(v(\cdot, t), \mu(t)),$$

(10.5c)
$$\begin{pmatrix} R_t(t) \\ \tau_t(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R(t)S(t) \\ R(t)\lambda(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} R(0) \\ \tau(0) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I_d \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

for the Examples from Section 2.1. To solve (10.5) numerically, we truncate (10.5)to a bounded domain and postulate homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions. Solving this resulting system until a certain end time T yields a profile $v_{\star}(x) :=$ v(x,T) and velocities $(S_{\star},\lambda_{\star}) := (S(T),\lambda(T))$. The definition is justified by the fact that we expect $v(t) \to v_{\star}$ and $(S(t), \lambda(t)) \to (S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})$ as $t \to \infty$. Hence, the solution of (10.5) provides an approximation of the rotating wave u_{\star} , compare (1.15) and Example 10.8.

In Section 10.4 we investigate the spectral properties of the linearizations about rotating waves for the Examples from Section 2.1 and Section 10.3. For this purpose we consider the eigenvalue problem

(10.6)
$$[\lambda I - \mathcal{L}] v(x) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 2,$$

where \mathcal{L} denotes the linearization about a rotating wave profile v_{\star}

$$\left[\mathcal{L}v\right](x) := A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle + Df(v_{\star}(x))v(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

To solve (10.6) numerically, we restrict the equation (10.6) to a bounded domain and impose homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions. Solving the resulting system yields a prescribed number of eigenvalues and their associated eigenfunctions.

In Section 10.5 we introduce the decompose and freeze method in an abstract setting, [17]. Introducing new unknowns $\gamma_j(t) \in G$ and $v_j(t) \in Y$ for $i = 1, \ldots, m$ such that the solution u of (10.1) is of the form

$$u(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} a(\gamma_j(t)) v_j(t), \ 0 \leq t < T,$$

we transform (10.1) into a nonlinearly coupled system of differential algebraic evolution equations

(10.7a)
$$v_{j,t}(t) = F(v_j(t)) - d[a(1)v_j(t)] \mu_j(t) + \frac{\varphi}{\sum_{k=1}^m b(\gamma_j^k(t))\varphi}, \quad v_j(0) = v_j^0,$$

• $\left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^m a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^m F\left(a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(t)\right) \right]$
(10.7b) $0 = \Psi(v_j(t), \mu_j(t)),$
(10.7c) $\gamma_{j,t}(t) = dL_{\gamma_j(t)}(1)\mu_j(t), \quad \gamma_j(0) = \gamma_j^0,$

with abbreviation $\gamma_j^k(t) := \gamma_j^{-1}(t) \circ \gamma_k(t)$. Finally, in Example 10.15 we apply the presented theory to reaction-diffusion systems. This leads to a nonlinearly coupled system of partial differential algebraic evolution equations, which we analyze numerically in the next section. The decompose and freeze method comes originally from [17]. Since the approach is quite new, there doesn't exist many results concerning the nonlinear stability theory of multi-structures. So far, there is only a nonlinear stability result for multifronts and multipulses in one space dimension, [99]. An extension of this method to multi-solitons in higher space dimensions can be found in [16].

In Section 10.6 we are mainly interested into the interaction of multi-solitons. For this purpose we numerically solve the decompose and freeze system

(10.8a)

$$v_{j,t}(x,t) = A \triangle v_j(x,t) + f(v_j(x,t)) + \langle S_j(t)x + I_d\lambda_j(t), \nabla v_j(x,t) \rangle$$

$$+ \frac{\varphi(x)}{\sum_{k=1}^m b(\gamma_j^k(t))\varphi(x)} \left[f\left(\sum_{k=1}^m a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(x,t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^m f\left(a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(x,t)\right) \right], \quad v_j(x,0) = v_j^0(x)$$

$$(10.8b) \qquad 0 = \Psi(v_j(t,t), \psi_j(t))$$

(10.8b)
$$0 = \Psi(v_j(\cdot, t), \mu_j(t)),$$

(10.8c)
$$\begin{pmatrix} R_{j,t}(t) \\ \tau_{j,t}(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R_j(t)S_j(t) \\ R_j(t)\lambda_j(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} R_j(0) \\ \tau_j(0) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R_j^0 \\ \tau_j^0 \end{pmatrix}$$

for the cubic-quintic complex Ginzburg-Landau equation from Example 2.1. We observe different situations, in which the solitons repel from each other (weak interaction), collide with each other into a single soliton (strong interaction) or permanent collide with each other (phase shift interaction). Using the decompose and freeze method, we analyze the temporal change of the profiles, their velocities and their positions for these interaction processes.

10.1 Equivariant evolution equations

In this section we briefly introduce some basic theory of equivariant evolution equations, [25], [39], [43].

Consider a general abstract evolution equation

(10.9)
$$\begin{aligned} u_t(t) = F(u(t)), \ 0 < t < T, \\ u(0) = u_0, \ t = 0, \end{aligned}$$

on a K-valued Banach space $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ with $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$. We assume that the operator F, given by

$$F: X \supset Y = \mathcal{D}(F) \to X, \quad u \mapsto F(u), \quad \overline{Y} = X.$$

is defined on a dense subspace Y of X. The whole approach can also be generalized to Banach manifolds rather than Banach spaces, [19], [105], [85].

Definition 10.1. A function $u \in C^1(]0, T[, X) \cap C([0, T[, Y) \text{ is called a solution of (10.9) on } [0, T[if u solves (10.9) pointwise.$

Let (G, \circ) denote a finite-dimensional (not necessarily compact) Lie group with group operation

$$\circ: G \times G \to G, \quad (\gamma_1, \gamma_2) \mapsto \gamma_1 \circ \gamma_2,$$

unit element $\mathbb{1}$ and dimension dim $G = q < \infty$. By $\gamma^{-1} \in G$ we denote the inverse of $\gamma \in G$, i.e. $\gamma^{-1} \circ \gamma = \gamma \circ \gamma^{-1} = \mathbb{1}$. Moreover, let $\mathfrak{g} = T_{\mathbb{1}}G$ denote the Lie algebra associated with G, that is the tangent space of G at $\mathbb{1}$ and has the same dimension as G, i.e. dim $\mathfrak{g} = q < \infty$.

The left multiplication by $\gamma \in G$ on G is now defined via

$$L_{\gamma}: G \to G, \quad g \mapsto L_{\gamma}(g) := \gamma \circ g$$

with derivative denoted by

$$dL_{\gamma}(g): T_g G \to T_{\gamma \circ g} G, \quad \mu \mapsto dL_{\gamma}(g)\mu.$$

Here, $T_g G$ denotes the tangent space of G at $g \in G$. Thus, for g = 1 we have

$$dL_{\gamma}(\mathbb{1}): \mathfrak{g} = T_{\mathbb{1}}G \to T_{\gamma}G, \quad \mu \mapsto dL_{\gamma}(\mathbb{1})\mu.$$

Furthermore, let

$$a: G \to GL(X), \quad \gamma \mapsto a(\gamma)$$

denote the action of the Lie group G on X via a representation in GL(X), meaning that a is a homomorphism satisfying the following properties

$$a(1) = I, \quad a(\gamma_1 \circ \gamma_2) = a(\gamma_1)a(\gamma_2),$$

where I denotes the unit element of GL(X). Moreover, we assume that the mapping

$$a(\cdot)u: G \to X, \quad \gamma \mapsto a(\gamma)u$$

is continuous for every fixed $u \in X$ and continuously differentiable for every fixed $u \in Y$, where the derivative is given by

$$d[a(\gamma)u]: T_{\gamma}G \to X, \quad \mu \mapsto d[a(\gamma)u]\mu.$$

In the special case $\gamma = 1$ we have

$$d[a(1)u] : \mathfrak{g} = T_1 G \to X, \quad \mu \mapsto d[a(1)u] \mu$$

for every fixed $u \in Y$. Furthermore, we assume that

$$a(\gamma)Y = Y \quad \forall \gamma \in G.$$

Indeed, it is sufficient to require only $a(\gamma)Y \subseteq Y$, because of

$$Y = a(\gamma)a(\gamma^{-1})Y \subseteq a(\gamma)Y.$$

In the literature there exists a general principle for the construction of the function space Y such that all our assumptions are satisfied. But note that this result does not provide an explicit representation for Y. The following proposition can be found in [18, Proposition 2.4], that is an extension of [94, Theorem 4.5].

Proposition 10.2. Let $(X_0, \|\cdot\|_0)$ be a Banach space and let $a : G \to GL(X_0)$ be a homomorphism. Then

$$X_{1} := \left\{ u \in X_{0} \mid \|u\|_{1} := \sup_{\gamma \in G} \|a(\gamma)u\|_{0} < \infty \right\}$$

is a Banach space with respect to the norm $\|\cdot\|_1$ and the operators $a(\gamma)|_{X_1}$ are isometries in $GL(X_1)$. Further, the space

$$X_2 := \{ u \in X_1 \mid a(\cdot)u \text{ is continuous in } G \}$$

is a closed subspace of $(X_1, \|\cdot\|_1)$ such that $a(\gamma)|_{X_2} \in GL(X_2)$ acts continuously. Finally,

$$X_3 := \{ u \in X_2 \mid a(\cdot)u \text{ is continuously differentiable in } G \}$$

is a dense subspace of X_2 and can be written as

$$X_3 = \bigcap_{\mu \in \mathfrak{g}} \mathcal{D}(\mu),$$

where $\mathcal{D}(\mu)$ is the domain of the infinitesimal generator of the C^0 -semigroup $(a(\exp(\mu t)))_{t\geq 0}$.

Note that all assumptions above are satisfied for the choice

$$X := X_2 \quad \text{and} \quad Y := X_3.$$

Finally, we require that the evolution equation (10.9) is equivariant in the following sense:

Definition 10.3. The evolution equation (10.9) is called **equivariant under the** group action a of G on X if

$$F(a(\gamma)u) = a(\gamma)F(u) \quad \forall u \in Y \; \forall \gamma \in G.$$

We are interested in a special kind of solution of the equivariant evolution equation (10.9), so called relative equilibria, [19, Definition 4.1].

Definition 10.4. (1) A solution u_{\star} of (10.9) on $[0, \infty]$ is called a relative equilibrium (with respect to the action a of G on X) if it has the form

$$u_{\star}(t) = a(\gamma_{\star}(t))v_{\star}, t \ge 0$$

for some $v_{\star} \in Y$ and $\gamma_{\star} \in C^1(]0, \infty[, G) \cap C([0, \infty[, G).$

(2) A solution u_{\star} of (10.9) on $[0, \infty[$ is called a relative periodic orbit (with respect to the action a of G on X) if it has the form

$$u_{\star}(t) = a(\gamma_{\star}(t))v_{\star}(t), \ t \ge 0$$

for some periodic $v_{\star} \in C^1(]0, \infty[, Y) \cap C([0, \infty[, Y) \text{ with nontrivial period } T > 0$ and $\gamma_{\star} \in C^1(]0, \infty[, G) \cap C([0, \infty[, G).$

Consider the group orbit of an element $v \in Y$

$$\mathcal{O}_G(v) := \{a(\gamma)v \mid \gamma \in G\}.$$

We point out that a relative equilibrium $u_{\star}(t) = a(\gamma_{\star}(t))v_{\star}$ lies for all times in a single group orbit, i.e. $u_{\star}(t) \in \mathcal{O}_G(v_{\star})$ for every $t \ge 0$. An essential feature of relative equilibria is that they never come alone: If $u_{\star}(t) = a(\gamma_{\star}(t))v_{\star}$ is a relative equilibrium of (10.9) then also $a(\gamma \circ \gamma_{\star}(t))v_{\star}$ is a relative equilibrium of (10.9) for every $\gamma \in G$:

$$\frac{d}{dt}(a(\gamma \circ \gamma_{\star}(t))v_{\star}) = \frac{d}{dt}(a(\gamma)a(\gamma_{\star}(t))v_{\star}) = \frac{d}{dt}a(\gamma)u_{\star}(t) = a(\gamma)\frac{d}{dt}u_{\star}(t)$$
$$=a(\gamma)F(u_{\star}(t)) = a(\gamma)F(a(\gamma_{\star}(t))v_{\star}) = F(a(\gamma)a(\gamma_{\star}(t))v_{\star}) = F(a(\gamma \circ \gamma_{\star}(t))v_{\star}).$$

This means that relative equilibria always come in families.

Nonlinear Stability of relative equilibria: One main issue for the investigation of relative equilibria is nonlinear stability of relative equilibria (also called stability of relative equilibria with asymptotic phase). Since relative equilibria always appears in families, we have to modify the classical Lyapunov stability in order to investigate the stability of relative equilibria, [16, Definition 2], [105].

Definition 10.5. A relative equilibrium u_{\star} of (10.9) with $u_{\star}(t) = a(\gamma_{\star}(t))v_{\star}$ for $t \in [0, \infty[$ is called **orbitally stable** (with respect to given norms $\|\cdot\|_1$, $\|\cdot\|_2$ on Y) if for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that for any initial value $u_0 \in Y$ with $\|u_0 - v_{\star}\|_1 \leq \delta$ the following property hold:

The Cauchy problem (10.9) has a unique solution $u \in C^1(]0, \infty[, X) \cap C([0, \infty[, Y)$ and the solution u satisfies

$$\inf_{\gamma \in G} \|u(t) - a(\gamma)v_{\star}\|_{2} \leqslant \varepsilon \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

Moreover, u_{\star} is called **stable with asymptotic phase** if in addition there exists a $\delta_0 > 0$ such that for any initial value $u_0 \in Y$ with $||u_0 - v_{\star}||_1 \leq \delta$ there exists some $\gamma_{\infty} \in G$ (depending on u_0) such that

$$||u(t) - a(\gamma_{\infty} \circ \gamma_{\star}(t))v_{\star}||_2 \to 0 \text{ as } t \to \infty.$$

The value γ_{∞} is called the **asymptotic phase** and depends in general on the initial data u_0 .

In the remaining part of this section we classify general reaction-diffusion systems into the general framework of abstract equivariant evolution equations. As we will see below, rotating waves are a special kind of relative equilibria in reaction-diffusion systems.

Example 10.6 (Reaction diffusion systems, Part 1). Let us consider a system of reaction diffusion equations

(10.10)
$$\begin{aligned} u_t(x,t) = A \triangle u(x,t) + f(u(x,t)), \ t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 2, \\ u(x,0) = u_0(x) , \ t = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \end{aligned}$$

on the Banach space $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ given by $(L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N), \|\cdot\|_{L^p})$ with $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$, $1 , diffusion matrix <math>A \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$ and nonlinearity $f : \mathbb{K}^N \to \mathbb{K}^N$. The operator

$$F: X \supset Y = \mathcal{D}(F) \to X, \quad u \mapsto F(u) := A \triangle u + f(u)$$

is defined on the dense subspaces Y, that will be characterized below.

Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$ with $d \ge 2$ and let

$$G = SE(d) = SO(d) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^d$$

denote the special Euclidean group of dimension $q = \dim \operatorname{SE}(d) = \frac{d(d+1)}{2}$, that is the semidirect product of the special orthogonal group

$$SO(d) = \{ R \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d} \mid R^T = R^{-1} \text{ and } \det(R) = 1 \}$$

of dimension dim $SO(d) = \frac{d(d-1)}{2}$ with the Abelian translation group \mathbb{R}^d of dimension d. SE(d) consists of all pairs

$$\gamma = (R, \tau) \in SE(d), R \in SO(d), \tau \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

is equipped with the group operation $\circ : SE(d) \times SE(d) \rightarrow SE(d)$ defined by

$$\gamma_1 \circ \gamma_2 = (R_1, \tau_1) \circ (R_2, \tau_2) = (R_1 R_2, \tau_1 + R_1 \tau_2)$$

and has the unit element $1 = (I_d, 0)$. The inverse of $\gamma = (R, \tau) \in SE(d)$ is

$$\gamma^{-1} = (R, \tau)^{-1} = (R^{-1}, -R^{-1}\tau)$$

Moreover, the Lie algebra of SE(d) is given by

$$\mathfrak{g} = T_1 SE(d) = \mathfrak{se}(d) = \mathfrak{so}(d) \times \mathbb{R}^d,$$

that is the direct product of the space of skew-symmetric matrices

$$\mathfrak{so}(d) = \{ S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d} \mid S^T = -S \},\$$

of dimension dim $\mathfrak{so}(d) = \frac{d(d-1)}{2}$ with the Abelian translation group \mathbb{R}^d of dimension d. The Lie algebra $\mathfrak{se}(d)$ has also the dimension $q = \dim \mathfrak{se}(d) = \frac{d(d+1)}{2}$. The left multiplication by some $\gamma = (R, \tau) \in \mathrm{SE}(d)$ on $\mathrm{SE}(d)$ is defined by

$$L_{\gamma} : \operatorname{SE}(d) \to \operatorname{SE}(d), \quad g = (\tilde{R}, \tilde{\tau}) \mapsto L_{\gamma}(g) := \gamma \circ g = (R\tilde{R}, \tau + R\tilde{\tau})$$

with derivative at g = 1

$$dL_{\gamma}(\mathbb{1}): \mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{se}(d) \to T_{\gamma} SE(d), \quad \mu \mapsto dL_{\gamma}(\mathbb{1})\mu := (RS, R\lambda),$$

where $\gamma = (R, \tau) \in SE(d)$ and $\mu = (S, \lambda) \in \mathfrak{se}(d)$.

Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ still be chosen as above, then we define the SE(d)-action on X via

$$a(\cdot)u: \operatorname{SE}(d) \to X, \quad \gamma = (R, \tau) \mapsto [a(\gamma)u](\cdot) := u(R^{-1}(\cdot - \tau)).$$

A short computation shows that the action $a: SE(d) \to GL(X)$ is indeed a homomorphism, since we have

$$[a(1)u](x) = [a(I_d, 0)u](x) = u(I_d^{-1}(x-0)) = u(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

and

$$[a(\gamma_1 \circ \gamma_2)u](x) = [a(R_1R_2, \tau_1 + R_1\tau_2)u](x)$$

= $u((R_1R_2)^{-1}(x - (\tau_1 + R_1\tau_2))) = u(R_2^{-1}(R_1^{-1}(x - \tau_1) - \tau_2))$
= $[a(\gamma_1)u(R_2^{-1}(\cdot - \tau_2))](x) = [a(\gamma_1)a(\gamma_2)u](x), x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$

For $u \in Y$ the derivative of $a(\gamma)u$ with respect to $\gamma \in G$ at $\gamma = 1$

$$d\left[a(\mathbb{1})u\right]:\mathfrak{g}=\mathfrak{se}(d)\to X,\quad \mu\mapsto d\left[a(\mathbb{1})u\right]\mu$$

is given by, cf. Lemma 9.3,

(10.11)
$$d\left[a(\mathbb{1})u(x)\right]\mu = -\sum_{i=1}^{d}\left(Sx + I_d\lambda\right)_i D_i u(x) = -\left\langle Sx + I_d\lambda, \nabla u(x)\right\rangle$$

$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{d} S_{ij} \left(x_j D_i - x_i D_j \right) u(x) - \sum_{l=1}^{d} \lambda_l D_l u(x),$$

where $\mu = (S, \lambda) \in \mathfrak{so}(d) \times \mathbb{R}^d = \mathfrak{se}(d)$.

Let us now discuss the choice of the function space Y, that is obtained from Proposition 10.2: For $(X_0, \|\cdot\|_0) = (L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N), \|\cdot\|_{L^p})$ with 1 we have

$$X := X_2 = X_1 = X_0 := L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N), \quad \|\cdot\|_1 = \|\cdot\|_0 := \|\cdot\|_{L^p}$$

A difficult task in general is to derive a full characterization of X_3 . But thanks to our extensive investigations in Chapter 5 we are now able to present a connection between the abstract semigroup theory for the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator from Chapter 5 and the maximal domain of F: Let $A \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$ satisfy the assumptions (A1) and (A4), then an application of Proposition 10.2 and Theorem 5.25 yield the following characterization for the domain $Y = \mathcal{D}(F)$ of F

$$Y := X_3 = \{ u \in L^p \mid a(\cdot)u \text{ is continuously differentiable in SE}(d) \}$$
$$= \bigcap_{(S,\lambda)\in\mathfrak{se}(d)} \mathcal{D}_{\max}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$$
$$= \bigcap_{(S,\lambda)\in\mathfrak{se}(d)} \{ v \in W^{2,p} \mid \langle S \cdot + I_d\lambda, \nabla v \rangle \in L^p \}$$
$$= \{ v \in W^{2,p} \mid \langle (I_{ij} - I_{ji}) \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^p, \langle e_l, \nabla v \rangle \in L^p \}$$
$$= \{ v \in W^{2,p} \mid \langle (I_{ij} - I_{ji}) \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^p \}$$

for every i = 1, ..., d - 1, j = i, ..., d and l = 1, ..., d. Therefore, we define the **Euclidean Sobolev space** (of order 2 with exponent p)

$$W^{2,p}_{\text{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) := \left\{ v \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \mid \langle S \cdot, \nabla v \rangle \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \; \forall \, S \in \mathfrak{so}(d) \right\}$$

for every 1 , which is equipped with the norm, compare Corollary 5.26,

$$\|v\|_{W^{2,p}_{\operatorname{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)} := \|v\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)} + \sup_{S\in\mathfrak{so}(d)} \|\langle Sx,\nabla v\rangle\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)}.$$

Note that a first step in order to obtain an explicit representation for Y was done in Theorem 5.19 together with our a-priori estimates from Theorem 5.8, that yields a local version for the domain

$$Y = \{ v \in W^{2,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \cap W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \mid A \triangle v + \langle S \cdot +\lambda I_d, \nabla v \rangle \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \\ \forall (S, \lambda) \in \mathfrak{se}(d) \},$$

which is only equipped with the graph norm of \mathcal{L}_0 . The domain $W_{\text{Eucl}}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ is used in [15] for p = d = 2 and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ with $H_{\text{Eucl}}^2(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}^N) := W_{\text{Eucl}}^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}^N)$. We notice that for the space of bounded uniformly continuous functions a full characterization for the domain Y is still an open problem. Only in the scalar realvalued case with $K = \mathbb{R}$ and N = 1, an application of [29, Proposition 3.5] yields a local version for the domain Y. The abstract representation for the domain Y in $C_{\rm ub}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$ was used in [113, Section 2.3.1] for the first time with d=2, $\mathbb{K}=\mathbb{R}$ and N=1.

A straightforward computation shows that the reaction diffusion system (10.10) is equivariant under the SE(d)-action on $W^{2,p}_{Eucl}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$: On the one hand it is trivial to see that

$$a(\gamma)F(u(x)) = a(R,\tau) (A \triangle u(x) + f(u(x))) = A[\triangle u](R^{-1}(x-\tau)) + f(u(R^{-1}(x-\tau)))$$

and on the other hand a short computation shows that

$$\begin{split} F(a(\gamma)u(x)) &= A \Delta \left[u(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) \right] + f(u(R^{-1}(x-\tau))) \\ &= A \sum_{i=1}^{d} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x_{i}^{2}} \left[u(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) \right] + f(u(R^{-1}(x-\tau))) \\ &= A \sum_{i=1}^{d} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \sum_{k=1}^{d} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{k}} u(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) \right) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \left(R^{-1}(x-\tau) \right)_{k} \right) + f(u(R^{-1}(x-\tau))) \\ &= A \sum_{i=1}^{d} \sum_{k=1}^{d} \sum_{l=1}^{d} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{l}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{k}} u(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) \right) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \left(R^{-1}(x-\tau) \right)_{l} \right) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \left(R^{-1}(x-\tau) \right)_{k} \right) \\ &+ A \sum_{i=1}^{d} \sum_{k=1}^{d} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{k}} u(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) \right) \left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x_{i}^{2}} \left(R^{-1}(x-\tau) \right)_{k} \right) + f(u(R^{-1}(x-\tau))) \\ &= A \sum_{k=1}^{d} \sum_{l=1}^{d} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{l}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{k}} u(R^{-1}(x-\tau)) \right) \delta_{lk} + f(u(R^{-1}(x-\tau))) \\ &= A \sum_{k=1}^{d} \left[\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \xi_{k}^{2}} u \right] \left(R^{-1}(x-\tau) \right) + f(u(R^{-1}(x-\tau))) \\ &= A \left[\Delta u \right] \left(R^{-1}(x-\tau) \right) + f(u(R^{-1}(x-\tau))). \end{split}$$

Here we used that the equalities

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i^2} \left(R^{-1}(x-\tau) \right)_k = 0, \ \sum_{i=1}^{d} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(R^{-1}(x-\tau) \right)_l \right) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(R^{-1}(x-\tau) \right)_k \right) = \delta_{lk}$$

are satisfied for every $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ and $(R, \tau) \in SE(d)$. Moreover, one shows that $a(\gamma)W_{Eucl}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) = W_{Eucl}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ for every $\gamma \in SE(d)$, but we omit the details.

Relative equilibria of (10.10) on $[0, \infty]$ are now of the form

$$u_{\star}(x,t) = v_{\star} \left(R_{\star}^{-1}(t) \cdot (x - \tau_{\star}(t)) \right), v_{\star} \in W_{\text{Eucl}}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{K}^{N}), \gamma_{\star} = (R_{\star}, \tau_{\star}) \in \text{SE}(d).$$

Examples for relative equilibria of the reaction-diffusion systems (10.10) are rotating waves with $(R_*(t), \tau_*(t)) = (\exp(tS_*), x_*)$ for some $(S_*, x_*) \in \mathfrak{se}(d)$, but also traveling waves with $(R_*(t), \tau_*(t)) = (I_d, \lambda_* t)$. We are mainly interested in rotating waves. As we know from the abstract theory above, they always come in families: If $u_*(x,t) = v_*(e^{-tS_*}(x-x_*))$ is a rotating wave of (10.10), then also $v_*(e^{-tS_*}R^{-1}(x-(\tau+Rx_*)))$ is a rotating wave of (10.10) for every $(R,\tau) \in SE(d)$. Nonlinear Stability of rotating waves: An important issue is to investigate nonlinear stability of rotating waves, also known as stability with asymptotic phase. Let $u_{\star}(x,t) = v_{\star}(e^{-tS_{\star}}(x-x_{\star}))$ be a rotating wave of (10.10) with $\gamma_{\star}(t) = (e^{tS_{\star}}, x_{\star})$ and let two possibly different norms $\|\cdot\|_1$ and $\|\cdot\|_2$ on $W^{2,p}_{\text{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ be given. Then we are interested in nonlinear stability of rotating waves, cp. Definition 10.5:

Problem 1. For any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that for any initial value $u_0 \in W^{2,p}_{\text{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ with $||u_0 - v_\star||_1 \leq \delta$ the following property hold: The reaction diffusion system (10.10) has a unique solution $u \in C^1(]0, \infty[, L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)) \cap C([0, \infty[, W^{2,p}_{\text{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)))$ and the solution u satisfies

$$\inf_{\gamma \in \mathrm{SE}(d)} \| u(t) - a(\gamma) v_{\star} \|_2 \leqslant \varepsilon \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

Moreover, there exists a $\delta_0 > 0$ such that for any initial value $u_0 \in W^{2,p}_{\text{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ with $||u_0 - v_\star||_1 \leq \delta$ there exists some asymptotic phase $\gamma_\infty \in \text{SE}(d)$ such that the solution u satisfies

$$||u(t) - a(\gamma_{\infty} \circ \gamma_{\star}(t))v_{\star}||_{2} \to 0 \quad as \quad t \to \infty.$$

A nonlinear stability result of 2-dimensional localized rotating waves in parabolic reaction diffusion systems was proved in [15, Theorem 1.1] for d = p = 2, $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ and $\|\cdot\|_1 = \|\cdot\|_2 = \|\cdot\|_{H^2}$. But so far, there are no further nonlinear stability results for higher dimensional rotating waves. Nonlinear stability results for traveling waves in parabolic reaction diffusion equations are well known in the literature and can be found in the monographs [52], [110] and in the survey article [91]. For a nonlinear stability result of traveling waves in hyperbolic and mixed hyperbolicparabolic equations we refer to [85], [86], [87] and [88]. A nonlinear stability result for multi-fronts and and multi-pulses in parabolic reaction diffusion equations, that we discuss below in Section 10.5, can be found in [99].

An essential feature of all stability results is to derive nonlinear stability from linear stability (also called strong spectral stability). The proof for the nonlinear stability of 2-dimensional localized rotating waves from [15, Theorem 1.1] requires three essential assumptions: The profile v_{\star} of the rotating wave and their partial derivatives up to order 2 are localized in the sense of Definition 1.1. The matrix $Df(v_{\infty})$ is stable, i.e. Re $Df(v_{\infty}) < 0$ meaning that all eigenvalues have a negative real part. And finally, the eigenvalues of the linearized operator

$$[\mathcal{L}v](x) = A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle + Df(v_{\star}(x))v(x).$$

satisfy suitable eigenvalue conditions. In order to extend the nonlinear stability result from [15, Theorem 1.1] to rotating waves in several space dimensions, it is useful to analyze the decay of rotating waves and the spectrum of the linearization. In particular, Problem 1 shows that the characterization of the maximal domain $Y = \mathcal{D}(F)$ plays also a fundamental role. The exponential decay of rotating waves we have investigated in our main result from Theorem 1.8. Moreover, we have analyzed the eigenvalue problem for the linearized differential operator both analytically in Chapter 9 and numerically in Section 10.4 below. As we have seen above, the characterization for the domain $W_{\text{Eucl}}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ is based on the characterization of $\mathcal{D}_{\text{max}}^p(\mathcal{L}_0)$ as described in Theorem 5.25.

10.2 Freezing method for single-structures

In the following we briefly recall the main concept of the **freezing method** for single-structures. The main idea of this approach is to approximate relative equilibria of equivariant evolution equations, which is based on a decomposition of the solution u of (10.9) into a group motion and a profile. For a more general and detailed treatment we refer to [18] and [89], but also to [103], [19], [105], [20], [16].

Consider a general equivariant evolution equation (10.9). We introduce new functions $\gamma(t) \in G$ and $v(t) \in Y$ such that the solution u of (10.9) is of the form

(10.12)
$$u(t) = a(\gamma(t))v(t), \ 0 \le t < T.$$

Inserting the ansatz (10.12) into (10.9)

$$a(\gamma(t))v_t(t) + d\left[a(\gamma(t))v(t)\right]\gamma_t(t) = \frac{d}{dt}\left[a(\gamma(t))v(t)\right] = u_t(t)$$
$$=F(u(t)) = F(a(\gamma(t))v(t)) = a(\gamma(t))F(v(t))$$

and applying $a(\gamma^{-1}(t))$ to both sides we obtain

(10.13)
$$v_t(t) = F(v(t)) - a(\gamma^{-1}(t))d[a(\gamma(t))v(t)]\gamma_t(t), \ 0 < t < T.$$

At this point, it is convenient to introduce $\mu(t) \in \mathfrak{g} = T_{\mathbb{I}}G$ via

(10.14)
$$\gamma_t(t) = dL_{\gamma(t)}(1)\mu(t), \ 0 < t < T.$$

Then, differentiating $a(\gamma(t))a(g)v(t) = a(\gamma(t) \circ g)v(t) = a(L_{\gamma(t)}(g))v(t)$ with respect to g at g = 1 yields

(10.15)
$$a(\gamma(t))d[a(1)v(t)]\mu(t) = d[a(\gamma(t))v(t)]dL_{\gamma(t)}(1)\mu(t), 0 < t < T.$$

Thus, requiring (10.14), equation (10.13) can be written as

(10.16)
$$v_t(t) = F(v(t)) - d[a(1)v(t)] \mu(t), \ 0 < t < T.$$

To compensate the extra variable $\mu(t)$, we finally impose $q = \dim \mathfrak{g}$ phase conditions $\Psi(v(t), \mu(t)) = 0$, that are defined by a functional

(10.17)
$$\Psi: Y \times \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}^*, \quad (v, \mu) \mapsto \Psi(v, \mu),$$

where \mathfrak{g}^* denotes the dual space of the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , which is isomorphic to \mathbb{R}^q , i.e. $\mathfrak{g}^* \cong \mathbb{R}^q$. To take the initial data from equation (10.9) into account, we equip the γ -equation (10.14) with the initial condition $\gamma(0) = \mathbb{1}$. Thus, using (10.12) at t = 0 the initial condition for the v-equation (10.16) is given by $v(0) = u_0$.

This leads to the abstract formulation of the freezing method as differential algebraic evolution equation (DAE)

(10.18a)
$$v_t(t) = F(v(t)) - d[a(1)v(t)]\mu(t), \qquad v(0) = u_0,$$

(10.18b)
$$0 = \Psi(v(t), \mu(t)),$$

(10.18c)
$$\gamma_t(t) = dL_{\gamma(t)}(1)\mu(t), \qquad \gamma(0) = 1.$$

The equations (10.18a) and (10.18c) must be satisfied for t > 0 and the equation (10.18b) for $t \ge 0$. In applications (10.18a) is a PDE, (10.18b) an algebraic constraint and (10.18c) an ODE. The ODE from (10.18c) is called the **reconstruction** equation in [89], is decoupled from the first two equations (10.18a) and (10.18b) and can be solved in a post-processing step.

We now explain a well-studied possibility for the choice of the algebraic constraint (10.18b), that is called the **phase condition**. In the sequel, we will distinguish between the fixed phase condition and the orthogonal phase condition. For this purpose, let us assume that

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : X \times X \to \mathbb{K}, \quad (u, v) \mapsto \langle u, v \rangle$$

is a continuous inner product on the K-valued Banachspace $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ with $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$, i.e. $|u| := \sqrt{\langle u, u \rangle} \leq C \|u\|$. If $(X, \|\cdot\|, (\cdot, \cdot))$ is a Hilbert space, we can choose e.g. $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle := (\cdot, \cdot)$ and hence $|\cdot| = \|\cdot\|$. But in general we do not assume this.

Type 1: (fixed phase condition). Choose a template function $\hat{v} \in Y$. The **fixed** phase condition is a minimization condition that requires \hat{v} to be the closest point to v(t) on the group orbit of \hat{v} given by $\mathcal{O}(\hat{v}) := \{a(\gamma)\hat{v} \mid \gamma \in G\}$, i.e.

$$\min_{\gamma \in G} |v(t) - a(\gamma)\hat{v}| = |v(t) - \hat{v}|.$$

The necessary condition is

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \left[\frac{d}{d\gamma} \left| v(t) - a(\gamma) \hat{v} \right|^2 \right]_{\gamma=1} = \left[\frac{d}{d\gamma} \left\langle v(t) - a(\gamma) \hat{v}, v(t) - a(\gamma) \hat{v} \right\rangle \right]_{\gamma=1} \\ &= \left[\left\langle -d \left[a(\gamma) \hat{v} \right], v(t) - a(\gamma) \hat{v} \right\rangle + \left\langle v(t) - a(\gamma) \hat{v}, -d \left[a(\gamma) \hat{v} \right] \right\rangle \right]_{\gamma=1} \\ &= \left\langle -d \left[a(1) \hat{v} \right], v(t) - a(1) \hat{v} \right\rangle + \left\langle v(t) - a(1) \hat{v}, -d \left[a(1) \hat{v} \right] \right\rangle \\ &= - \left\langle d \left[a(1) \hat{v} \right], v(t) - \hat{v} \right\rangle - \left\langle v(t) - \hat{v}, d \left[a(1) \hat{v} \right] \right\rangle \\ &= - 2 \operatorname{Re} \left\langle v(t) - \hat{v}, d \left[a(1) \hat{v} \right] \right\rangle, \end{split}$$

that is a mapping from $T_{\mathbb{I}}G$ into $\mathbb{R}^q \cong \mathfrak{g}^*$. In the numerical computations we will replace the phase condition (10.18b) by

(10.19)
$$0 = -2\operatorname{Re} \langle v(t) - \hat{v}, d [a(1)\hat{v}] \omega \rangle \quad \forall \omega \in \mathfrak{g},$$

that leads to a DAE of index 2. To reduce the index we choose a basis e^1, \ldots, e^q of $\mathfrak{g} = T_1 G$, evaluate (10.19) at $\omega = e^j$ for every $j = 1, \ldots, q$, multiply by $-\frac{1}{2}$, differentiate with respect to t and insert the differential equation (10.18a) to obtain

(10.20)
$$0 = \frac{d}{dt} \operatorname{Re} \left\langle v(t) - \hat{v}, d\left[a(\mathbb{1})\hat{v}\right] e^{j} \right\rangle = \operatorname{Re} \left\langle v_{t}(t), d\left[a(\mathbb{1})\hat{v}\right] e^{j} \right\rangle$$
$$= \operatorname{Re} \left\langle F(v(t)), d\left[a(\mathbb{1})\hat{v}\right] e^{j} \right\rangle - \operatorname{Re} \left\langle d\left[a(\mathbb{1})v(t)\right] \mu(t), d\left[a(\mathbb{1})\hat{v}\right] e^{j} \right\rangle$$
$$=: \Psi_{\text{fix}}^{(j)}(v(t), \mu(t)),$$

that is the *j*-th component of the phase operator Ψ_{fix} . This leads to the fixed phase condition $\Psi_{\text{fix}}(v(t), \mu(t)) = 0 \in \mathbb{R}^q \cong \mathfrak{g}^*$. If we replace (10.18b) by (10.20) we end up with a DAE of index 1, provided that v(t) and \hat{v} are sufficiently close for every $t \ge 0$.

Type 2: (orthogonal phase condition). The orthogonal phase condition is also a minimization condition and requires that the temporal change $|v_t|$ is minimal at each time instance, i.e.

$$\min_{\mu \in \mathfrak{g}} |v_t(t)| = \min_{\mu \in \mathfrak{g}} |F(v(t)) - d[a(1)v(t)] \mu| = |F(v(t)) - d[a(1)v(t)] \mu(t)|.$$

The necessary condition is

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &= \left[\frac{d}{d\mu} |v_t(t)|^2 \right]_{\mu=\mu(t)} = \left[\frac{d}{d\mu} |F(v(t)) - d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] \mu |^2 \right]_{\mu=\mu(t)} \\ &= \left[\frac{d}{d\mu} \left\langle F(v(t)) - d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] \mu, F(v(t)) - d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] \mu \right\rangle \right]_{\mu=\mu(t)} \\ &= \left[\left\langle -d\left[a(1)v(t)\right], F(v(t)) - d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] \mu \right\rangle \\ &+ \left\langle F(v(t)) - d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] \mu, -d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] \right\rangle \right]_{\mu=\mu(t)} \\ &= - \left\langle d\left[a(1)v(t)\right], F(v(t)) - d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] \mu(t) \right\rangle \\ &- \left\langle F(v(t)) - d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] \mu(t), d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] \right\rangle \\ &= - 2 \text{Re} \left\langle F(v(t)) - d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] \mu(t), d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] \right\rangle \\ &= - 2 \text{Re} \left\langle v_t(t), d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] \right\rangle, \end{aligned}$$

that is a mapping from $\mathfrak{g} = T_1 G$ into $\mathbb{R}^q \cong \mathfrak{g}^*$, i.e. the condition reads as

(10.21)
$$0 = -2\operatorname{Re} \langle v_t(t), d\left[a(1)v(t)\right]\omega \rangle \quad \forall \omega \in \mathfrak{g}.$$

For the numerical computations one usually uses condition (10.21) instead of (10.18b). Next, we choose a basis e^1, \ldots, e^q of T_1G , evaluate (10.21) at e^j for every $j = 1, \ldots, q$, multiply by $-\frac{1}{2}$ and insert the differential equation (10.18a) to obtain

$$(10.22)$$

$$0 = \operatorname{Re} \left\langle v_t(t), d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] e^j \right\rangle$$

$$= \operatorname{Re} \left\langle F(v(t)) - d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] \mu(t), d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] e^j \right\rangle$$

$$= \operatorname{Re} \left\langle F(v(t)), d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] e^j \right\rangle - \operatorname{Re} \left\langle d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] \mu(t), d\left[a(1)v(t)\right] e^j \right\rangle$$

$$=: \Psi_{\operatorname{orth}}^{(j)}(v(t), \mu(t)),$$

that is the *j*-th component of the phase operator Ψ_{orth} . This leads to the orthogonal phase condition $\Psi_{\text{orth}}(v(t), \mu(t)) = 0 \in \mathbb{R}^q \cong \mathfrak{g}^*$. If we replace (10.18b) by (10.22) we end up with a DAE of index 1, provided that the isotropy group of v(t), that is given by $H_{v(t)} := \{\gamma \in G \mid a(\gamma)v(t) = v(t)\}$, is trivial for every $t \ge 0$.

Example 10.7 (Reaction diffusion systems, Part 2). We continue with Example 10.6 and assume that the solution u of (10.10) can be written as

(10.23)
$$u(x,t) = a(\gamma(t))v(x,t) = v(R(t)^{-1}(x-\tau(t)),t), t \ge 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^d, d \ge 2,$$

where $\gamma(t) = (R(t), \tau(t)) \in SE(d)$ and $v(\cdot, t) \in Y$. Inserting the freezing ansatz (10.23) into (10.10) and applying $a(\gamma^{-1}(t))$ to both sides yields

(10.24)
$$v_t(x,t) = A \triangle v(x,t) + f(v(x,t)) - a(\gamma^{-1}(t))d[a(\gamma(t))v(x,t)]\gamma_t(t),$$

for t > 0 and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Introducing $\mu(t) \in \mathfrak{se}(d) = T_1 \operatorname{SE}(d)$ via (10.14), the *v*-equation (10.24) can be transformed into (10.16), where $d[a(1)v(x,t)]\mu(t)$ is given by (10.11). To compensate the extra variable $\mu(t)$ we additionally require $\dim \mathfrak{se}(d) = \frac{d(d+1)}{2}$ phase conditions, given by the functional

(10.25)
$$\Psi: Y \times \mathfrak{se}(d) \to (\mathfrak{se}(d))^*, \quad (v,\mu) \mapsto \Psi(v,\mu),$$

where the dual space $(\mathfrak{se}(d))^*$ of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{se}(d)$ is isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^{\dim \mathfrak{se}(d)}$, i.e. $(\mathfrak{se}(d))^* \cong \mathbb{R}^{\frac{d(d-1)}{2}}$. The reconstruction equation is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} R_t(t) \\ \tau_t(t) \end{pmatrix} = \gamma_t(t) = dL_{\gamma(t)}(1)\mu(t) = \begin{pmatrix} R(t)S(t) \\ R(t)\lambda(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} R(0) \\ \tau(0) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I_d \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\gamma(t) = (R(t), \tau(t)) \in SE(d)$ and $\mu(t) = (S(t), \lambda(t)) \in \mathfrak{se}(d)$. Thus, the freezing method yields a **partial differential algebraic evolution equation** (PDAE)

(10.26a)
$$\begin{aligned} v_t(x,t) &= A \triangle v(x,t) + f(v(x,t)) + \langle S(t)x + I_d\lambda(t), \nabla v(x,t) \rangle, \\ v(x,0) &= u_0(x), \end{aligned}$$

(10.26b)
$$0 = \Psi(v(\cdot, t), \mu(t)),$$

(10.26c)
$$\begin{pmatrix} R_t(t) \\ \tau_t(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R(t)S(t) \\ R(t)\lambda(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} R(0) \\ \tau(0) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I_d \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let us discuss the two mentioned possibilities for the choice of the phase condition (10.26b). For this purpose let us consider the Hilbert space $X = L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ equipped with the inner product

$$(\cdot,\cdot)_{L^2}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N) \times L^2(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N) \to \mathbb{K}, \quad (u,v) \mapsto (u,v)_{L^2}:= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \overline{u(x)}^T v(x) dx$$

and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle := (\cdot, \cdot)_{L^2}$. Moreover, let $\hat{v} \in W^{2,2}_{\text{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ denote a template function. The necessary condition for the fixed phase condition from (10.19) yields

$$0 = \operatorname{Re}\left(v(t) - \hat{v}, \left\langle \tilde{S}x + I_d \tilde{\lambda}, \nabla \hat{v} \right\rangle \right)_{L^2} \quad \forall \left(\tilde{S}, \tilde{\lambda}\right) \in \mathfrak{se}(d)$$

Plugging $(I_{ij} - I_{ji}, 0)$ and $(0, e_l)$, that is indeed a basis of $\mathfrak{se}(d)$, into this equation we obtain

$$0 = \operatorname{Re} (v(t) - \hat{v}, (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) \hat{v})_{L^2}, \quad i = 1, \dots, d-1, \ j = i+1, \dots, d, 0 = \operatorname{Re} (v(t) - \hat{v}, D_l \hat{v})_{L^2}, \quad l = 1, \dots, d.$$

To guarantee that the index of the PDAE equals 1 we have to require that

Re
$$((x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v(t), (x_l D_k - x_k D_l) \hat{v})_{L^2} \neq 0,$$

Re $((x_j D_i - x_i D_j)v(t), D_m \hat{v})_{L^2} \neq 0$, Re $(D_n v(t), (x_l D_k - x_k D_l)\hat{v})_{L^2} \neq 0$, Re $(D_n v(t), D_m \hat{v})_{L^2} \neq 0$.

is satisfied for every i, k = 1, ..., d - 1, j = i + 1, ..., d, l = k + 1, ..., d and n, m = 1, ..., d.

The necessary condition for the orthogonal phase condition from (10.21) yields

$$0 = -2\operatorname{Re}\left(v_t(t), \left\langle \tilde{S}x + I_d \tilde{\lambda}, \nabla v(t) \right\rangle \right)_{L^2} \quad \forall \left(\tilde{S}, \tilde{\lambda}\right) \in \mathfrak{se}(d).$$

Plugging $(I_{ij} - I_{ji}, 0)$ and $(0, e_l)$ once more, we obtain

$$0 = \operatorname{Re} (v_t(t), (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v(t))_{L^2}, \quad i = 1, \dots, d-1, \ j = i+1, \dots, d$$

$$0 = \operatorname{Re} (v_t(t), D_l v(t))_{L^2}, \quad l = 1, \dots, d.$$

To guarantee that the index of the PDAE equals 1 we require that

Re
$$((x_j D_i - x_i D_j)v(t), (x_l D_k - x_k D_l)v(t))_{L^2} \neq 0$$
,
Re $((x_j D_i - x_i D_j)v(t), D_m v(t))_{L^2} \neq 0$,
Re $(D_n v(t), D_m v(t))_{L^2} \neq 0$.

Approximation of localized rotating waves on bounded domains: An important issue is to investigate approximations of rotating waves to bounded domains. We formulate such a result for the choice p = 2.

Let $(v_{\star}, (S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})) \in W^{2,2}_{\text{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N) \times \mathfrak{se}(d)$ be a solution of

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &= A \triangle v_{\star}(x) + \langle S_{\star}x + \lambda_{\star}, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle + f(v_{\star}(x)) &, x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \\ 0 &= \operatorname{Re} \langle v_{\star} - \hat{v}, (x_{j}D_{i} - x_{i}D_{j})\hat{v} \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N})} &, i = 1, \dots, d-1, j = i+1, \dots, d \\ 0 &= \operatorname{Re} \langle v_{\star} - \hat{v}, D_{l}\hat{v} \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mathbb{K}^{N})} &, l = 1, \dots, d \end{aligned}$$

where $\hat{v} \in W^{2,2}_{\text{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ denotes an appropriate reference function. Then we are interested in solving the following problem:

Problem 2. There exist some $\rho > 0$ and $R_0 > 0$ such that for every radius $R > R_0$ the boundary value problem

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &= A \triangle v_R(x) + \langle S_R x + \lambda_R, \nabla v_R(x) \rangle + f(v_R(x)) &, x \in B_R(0), \\ 0 &= v_R(x) &, x \in \partial B_R(0), \\ 0 &= \operatorname{Re} \langle v_R - \hat{v}, (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) \hat{v} \rangle_{L^2(B_R(0), \mathbb{K}^N)} &, i = 1, \dots, d-1, j = i+1, \dots, d, \\ 0 &= \operatorname{Re} \langle v_R - \hat{v}, D_l \hat{v} \rangle_{L^2(B_R(0), \mathbb{K}^N)} &, l = 1, \dots, d, \end{aligned}$$

has a unique solution $(v_R, (S_R, \lambda_R))$ in a neighborhood of

$$B_{\rho}(v_{\star}|_{B_{R}(0)}, (S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})) = \Big\{ (v, (S, \lambda)) \in W^{2,2}_{\text{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \mathbb{K}^{N}) \times \mathfrak{se}(d) \mid \\ \left\| v_{\star} \right\|_{B_{R}(0)} - v \right\|_{W^{2,2}_{\text{Eucl}}(B_{R}(0), \mathbb{K}^{N})} + d((S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star}), (S, \lambda)) \leqslant \rho \Big\}.$$

Moreover, there exist some C > 0 and $\eta > 0$ such that

$$\|v_R - v_\star\|_{W^{2,2}_{\text{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)} + d((S_R,\lambda_R),(S_\star,\lambda_\star)) \leqslant Ce^{-\eta R}.$$

An approximation theorem for relative equilibria on bounded intervals in one space dimension can be found in [98] and [104]. But so far, there seems to be no approximation results for localized rotating waves. This is still an open problem.

In order to extend the result from [98] to an approximation theorem for localized rotating waves, as formulated in Problem 2, we must analyze solvability and uniqueness of the inhomogeneous Cauchy problem for the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator on bounded domains, compare Section 1.6. Moreover, we must study the truncation error. Therefore, we plug the solution of the v_{\star} -equation into the v_R -equation. If every term is exponentially small, then we can conclude that the truncation error is exponentially small. Of course, v_{\star} satisfies the PDE from the v_R -equation on the whole $B_R(0)$. But both the boundary condition and the phase conditions possess a defect. To show that these defects are exponentially small, we need pointwise exponential decay of the rotational term and of the derivatives of v_{\star} up to order 2. Our main Theorem 1.8 implies exponential decay of v_{\star} in L^p -spaces, but does not yet provide us with pointwise estimates. For this purpose, we must extend Theorem 1.8 to spaces of bounded uniformly continuous functions or to spaces of Hölder continuous functions, compare Section 1.6.

Example 10.8 (Reaction diffusion systems, Part 3). We continue with Example 10.7 and compute the motion $\gamma(t) = (R(t), \tau(t)) \in SE(d)$ in the special Euclidean group when the solution v(t) has reached its relative equilibrium v_{\star} , i.e. we compute $\gamma(t)$ for a given $\mu_{\star} = (S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star}) \in \mathfrak{se}(d)$ from the reconstruction equation

(10.27)
$$\begin{pmatrix} R_t(t) \\ \tau_t(t) \end{pmatrix} = \gamma_t(t) = dL_{\gamma(t)}(1)\mu_\star = \begin{pmatrix} R(t)S_\star \\ R(t)\lambda_\star \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} R(0) \\ \tau(0) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I_d \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

The *R*-equation is decoupled from the τ -equation and admits the solution

(10.28)
$$R(t) = \exp(tS_{\star}).$$

Inserting the solution for R from (10.28) into the τ -equation yields

$$\tau_t(t) = \exp(tS_\star)\lambda_\star, \quad \tau(0) = 0$$

with solution

(10.29)
$$\tau(t) = E(tS_{\star})t\lambda_{\star}, \quad E(X) := \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{X^n}{(n+1)!}, \quad X \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}.$$

Note that

$$\tau_t(t) = \frac{d}{dt} \left[E(tS_\star) t\lambda_\star \right] = \frac{d}{dt} \sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{t^{n+1} S^n_\star}{(n+1)!} \lambda_\star = \sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{(tS_\star)^n}{n!} \lambda_\star = \exp(tS_\star) \lambda_\star,$$

$$\tau(0) = E(0 \cdot S_\star) \cdot 0 \cdot \lambda_\star = I_d \cdot 0 \cdot \lambda_\star = 0.$$

If $X \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ is invertible, we can represent E(X) by

$$E(X) = X^{-1} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{X^{n+1}}{(n+1)!} = X^{-1} \left(\exp(X) - I_d \right) = \left(\exp(X) - I_d \right) X^{-1}.$$

Thus, we deduce from (10.28) and (10.29) that the solution for the reconstruction equation (10.27) is given by

(10.30)
$$\begin{pmatrix} R_{\star}(t) \\ \tau_{\star}(t) \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} R(t) \\ \tau(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \exp(tS_{\star}) \\ E(tS_{\star})t\lambda_{\star} \end{pmatrix}, \ 0 \le t \le T$$

Consider the relative equilibrium

$$u_{\star}(x,t) = a(R_{\star}(t),\tau_{\star}(t))v_{\star}(x) = v_{\star}\left(R_{\star}(t)^{-1}(x-\tau_{\star}(t))\right).$$

If a special point $x_{\star} \in \mathbb{R}^d$ of the profile v_{\star} is of interest, e.g. the tip of a spiral as in [21], then this point will be visible at position x(t) with

$$x_{\star} = R_{\star}(t)^{-1}(x(t) - \tau_{\star}(t)).$$

The solution (10.30) of the reconstruction equation (10.27) yields

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= R_{\star}(t)x_{\star} + \tau_{\star}(t) = \exp(tS_{\star})x_{\star} + E(tS_{\star})t\lambda_{\star} \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(tS_{\star})^{n}}{n!}x_{\star} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(tS_{\star})^{n}}{(n+1)!}t\lambda_{\star} = I_{d}x_{\star} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(tS_{\star})^{n}}{n!}x_{\star} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(tS_{\star})^{n}}{(n+1)!}t\lambda_{\star} \\ &= x_{\star} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^{n+1}S_{\star}^{n}\left(S_{\star}x_{\star} + \lambda_{\star}\right)}{(n+1)!}. \end{aligned}$$

For $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^d$, that remain fixed with respect to the time evolution, the point $x_* \in \mathbb{R}^d$ must satisfy the equation

$$(10.31) S_{\star}x_{\star} + \lambda_{\star} = 0$$

for a given $\mu_{\star} = (S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star}) \in \mathfrak{se}(d)$. In the following we discuss about the solutions of (10.31). For this purpose, we define the **kernel** (or **null space**) and the **range of** S_{\star} by

$$\mathcal{N}(S_{\star}) := \left\{ x_{\star} \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid S_{\star} x_{\star} = 0 \right\}, \\ \mathcal{R}(S_{\star}) := \left\{ y_{\star} \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid \exists x_{\star} \in \mathbb{R}^d : S_{\star} x_{\star} = y_{\star} \right\}.$$

Case 1: $(\operatorname{rank}(S_{\star}) = d)$. In this case the matrix S_{\star} has full rank, i.e. $\mathcal{N}(S_{\star}) = \{0\}$ is trivial and $\mathcal{R}(S_{\star}) = \mathbb{R}^d$, hence S_{\star} is invertible and the only point that remains fixed in time is given by

$$c_{\rm rot} := -S_{\star}^{-1}\lambda_{\star} \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

The point $c_{\text{rot}} \in \mathbb{R}^d$ is called the **center of rotation in** \mathbb{R}^d , since the relative equilibrium satisfies

$$u_{\star}(x,t) = v_{\star} \left(R_{\star}^{-1}(t) \left(x - \tau_{\star}(t) \right) \right) = v_{\star} \left(\exp(-tS_{\star}) (x - E(tS_{\star})t\lambda_{\star}) \right)$$

= $v_{\star} \left(\exp(-tS_{\star}) (x - (\exp(tS_{\star}) - I_d)(tS_{\star})^{-1}t\lambda_{\star}) \right)$
= $v_{\star} \left(\exp(-tS_{\star}) x - S_{\star}^{-1}\lambda_{\star} + \exp(-tS_{\star})S_{\star}^{-1}\lambda_{\star} \right)$
= $v_{\star} \left(\exp(-tS_{\star}) (x + S_{\star}^{-1}\lambda_{\star}) - S_{\star}^{-1}\lambda_{\star} \right)$
= $v_{\star} \left(\exp(-tS_{\star}) (x - c_{\mathrm{rot}}) + c_{\mathrm{rot}} \right).$

Defining the shifted profile $v_{\star}^{c_{\rm rot}}(x) := v_{\star}(x+c_{\rm rot})$ we obtain the rotating wave

$$u_{\star}(x,t) = v_{\star}^{c_{\mathrm{rot}}} \left(\exp(-tS_{\star})(x-c_{\mathrm{rot}}) \right).$$

Case 2: (rank $(S_{\star}) < d$). In order to solve the equation (10.31), let us first consider the corresponding homogeneous equation $S_{\star}x_{\star} = 0$. Using the orthogonal transformation $S_{\star} = P\Lambda_{\text{block}}^{S_{\star}}P^{T}$ from Section 3 with block diagonal matrix $\Lambda_{\text{block}}^{S_{\star}}$ yields

$$S_{\star}x_{\star} = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad x_{\star} \in \mathcal{N}(S_{\star}) = \operatorname{span} \{ Pe_{k+1}, \dots, Pe_d \} \cup \{ 0 \}.$$

Let us next consider the inhomogeneous equation (10.31). To guarantee that equation (10.31) admits at least one solution x_{\star} we must require $-\lambda_{\star} \in \mathcal{R}(S_{\star})$, otherwise there exists no solution. If $-\lambda_{\star} \in \mathcal{R}(S_{\star})$, then we deduce

(10.32)
$$S_{\star}x_{\star} = -\lambda_{\star} \iff x_{\star} \in \{x_{\rm sv} + x_{\rm dv} \mid x_{\rm dv} \in \mathcal{N}(S_{\star})\},$$

where x_{sv} is any solution of (10.31). Here, x_{sv} and x_{dv} are called the **support** vector and the direction vector in \mathbb{R}^d , respectively. Using that x_{sv} is a solution of (10.31), a formal computation

$$-R_{\star}^{-1}(t)\tau_{\star}(t) = -\exp(-tS_{\star})E(tS_{\star})t\lambda_{\star}$$

$$= -\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-tS_{\star})^{n}}{n!}\right)\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(tS_{\star})^{n}}{(n+1)!}\right)t\lambda_{\star} = -\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{(-tS_{\star})^{k}(tS_{\star})^{n-k}}{k!(n-k+1)!}\right)t\lambda_{\star}$$

$$= -\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (tS_{\star})^{n}\sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k!(n-k+1)!}\right)t\lambda_{\star} = -\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-tS_{\star})^{n}}{(n+1)!}\right)t\lambda_{\star}$$

$$= \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-tS_{\star})^{n}}{(n+1)!}\right)tS_{\star}x_{sv} = -\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-tS_{\star})^{n+1}}{(n+1)!}\right)x_{sv} = -\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-tS_{\star})^{n}}{n!}\right)x_{sv}$$

shows that the relative equilibrium satisfies

$$u_{\star}(x,t) = v_{\star} \left(R_{\star}^{-1}(t) \left(x - \tau_{\star}(t) \right) \right) = v_{\star} \left(R_{\star}^{-1}(t) \left(x - x_{\rm sv} \right) + x_{\rm sv} \right)$$
$$= v_{\star} \left(\exp \left(-tS_{\star} \right) \left(x - x_{\rm sv} \right) + x_{\rm sv} \right).$$

Defining the shifted profile $v_{\star}^{x_{sv}}(x) := v_{\star}(x+x_{sv})$ we obtain the rotating wave

$$u_{\star}(x,t) = v_{\star}^{x_{\rm sv}} \left(\exp(-tS_{\star})(x-x_{\rm sv}) \right)$$

Obviously, the choice of the support vector x_{sv} is still arbitrary. To make the choice unique, we solve a rank-deficient least squares problem, [42, Section 5.5]: Let $(S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star}) \in \mathfrak{se}(d)$ with rank $(S_{\star}) = 2k < d$ and let the singular value decomposition $S_{\star} = U\Sigma V^T$ of S_{\star} from (3.3) be given. An application of [42, Theorem 5.5.1] shows that

(10.33)
$$x_{\rm sv} = -\sum_{i=1}^{2k} \frac{U_{\cdot,i}^T \lambda_{\star}}{\Sigma_{i,i}} V_{\cdot,i}$$

minimizes $||S_{\star}x + \lambda_{\star}||_2$ with respect to the Euclidean norm $||\cdot||_2$ and has the smallest 2-norm of all **minimizers** x belonging to the **set of minimizers** $\chi = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid ||S_{\star}x + \lambda_{\star}||_2 = \min\}$. Here, $U_{\cdot,i}$ and $V_{\cdot,i}$ denote the *i*-th column of U and V, respectively.

Note that the solution set from (10.32) one obtains from the freezing method for free. This set yields a center of rotation for d = 2, an axis of rotation for d = 3, a center or a plane of rotation for d = 4 and several axis of rotation as well as hyperplanes of rotation for $d \ge 5$.

Moreover, note that the calculations above extends also to

$$\begin{pmatrix} R_t(t) \\ \tau_t(t) \end{pmatrix} = \gamma_t(t) = dL_{\gamma(t)}(1)\mu_\star = \begin{pmatrix} R(t)S_\star \\ R(t)\lambda_\star \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} R(0) \\ \tau(0) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R_0 \\ \tau_0 \end{pmatrix},$$

for some initial value $(R_0, \tau_0) \in SE(d)$. This equation admits the solution

$$\begin{pmatrix} R_{\star}(t) \\ \tau_{\star}(t) \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} R(t) \\ \tau(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R_0 \exp(tS_{\star}) \\ R_0 E(tS_{\star}) t\lambda_{\star} + \tau_0 \end{pmatrix}, \ 0 \leqslant t \leqslant T.$$

But in the numerical examples below we only consider the case $(R_0, \tau_0) = (I_d, 0)$. We next consider the special cases d = 2 and d = 3 in more detail.

Special Case 1: (d = 2). From the assumption $0 \neq S_{\star} \in \mathfrak{so}(2)$ we can deduce that the matrix S_{\star} is invertible, i.e. $\mathcal{N}(S_{\star}) = \{0\}$ and $\mathcal{R}(S_{\star}) = \mathbb{R}^2$. This yields the center of rotation in \mathbb{R}^2

(10.34)
$$c_{\text{rot}}^{2D} := -S_{\star}^{-1}\lambda_{\star} = -\begin{pmatrix} 0 & S_{12} \\ -S_{12} & 0 \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda^{(1)} \\ \lambda^{(2)} \end{pmatrix} \\ = -\frac{1}{S_{12}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda^{(1)} \\ \lambda^{(2)} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{S_{12}} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda^{(2)} \\ -\lambda^{(1)} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2}.$$

and the relative equilibrium satsifies

$$u_{\star}(x,t) = v_{\star} \left(\exp(-tS_{\star})(x - c_{\rm rot}^{2D}) + c_{\rm rot}^{2D} \right) = v_{\star}^{c_{\rm rot}^{2D}} \left(\exp(-tS_{\star})(x - c_{\rm rot}^{2D}) \right).$$

In particular, the time, that the pattern needs for exact one rotation about c_{rot}^{2D} , is given by the **temporal period of rotation for** d = 2

$$T^{2D} = \frac{2\pi}{|\sigma_1|} = \frac{2\pi}{|S_{12}|},$$

that can be determined by $T := \min \{t > 0 \mid \exp(-tS_{\star}) = I_d\}$ for arbitrary space dimensions $d \ge 2$.

Special Case 2: (d = 3). For space dimension d = 3 the matrix $0 \neq S_{\star} \in \mathfrak{so}(3)$ is indeed not invertible. More precisely, the null space of S_{\star} contains the **direction vector** of the axis of rotation, i.e.

$$\mathcal{N}(S_{\star}) = \left\{ r \begin{pmatrix} S_{23} \\ -S_{13} \\ S_{12} \end{pmatrix} \mid r \in \mathbb{R} \right\}.$$

Thus, the axis of rotation has the form

$$x_{\star} = x_{\rm sv}^{3D} + r \begin{pmatrix} S_{23} \\ -S_{13} \\ S_{12} \end{pmatrix}, \ r \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Using the singular value decomposition $S = U\Sigma V^T$ from (3.3) with

$$\begin{split} S &= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a & b \\ -a & 0 & c \\ -b & -c & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ \Lambda_{\text{block}}^{S_{\star}} &= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_1 & 0 \\ -\sigma_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \\ P &= \frac{1}{\sigma_1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{b\sigma_1}{\sqrt{b^2 + c^2}} & -\frac{ac}{\sqrt{b^2 + c^2}} & c \\ \frac{c\sigma_1}{\sqrt{b^2 + c^2}} & \frac{ab}{\sqrt{b^2 + c^2}} & -b \\ 0 & \sqrt{b^2 + c^2} & a \end{pmatrix}, \ \Sigma &= \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma_1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \\ U &= \frac{1}{\sigma_1} \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{ac}{\sqrt{b^2 + c^2}} & \frac{b\sigma_1}{\sqrt{b^2 + c^2}} & c \\ \frac{ab}{\sqrt{b^2 + c^2}} & \frac{c\sigma_1}{\sqrt{b^2 + c^2}} & -b \\ \sqrt{b^2 + c^2} & 0 & a \end{pmatrix}, \ V &= \frac{1}{\sigma_1} \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{b\sigma_1}{\sqrt{b^2 + c^2}} & -\frac{ac}{\sqrt{b^2 + c^2}} & c \\ -\frac{c\sigma_1}{\sqrt{b^2 + c^2}} & -\frac{ab}{\sqrt{b^2 + c^2}} & -b \\ 0 & \sqrt{b^2 + c^2} & a \end{pmatrix}, \end{split}$$

 $\sigma_1 := \sqrt{a^2 + b^2 + c^2} > 0$ and $a := S_{12}$, $b := S_{13}$, $c := S_{23}$ and solving the rank-deficient least squares problem leads to the **support vector**

$$x_{\rm sv}^{3D} = \frac{1}{S_{12}^2 + S_{13}^2 + S_{23}^2} \begin{pmatrix} S_{12}\lambda_2 + S_{13}\lambda_3 \\ -S_{12}\lambda_1 + S_{23}\lambda_3 \\ -S_{13}\lambda_1 - S_{23}\lambda_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

cf. (10.33). This yields a very simple formula for the **axis of rotation** (10.35)

$$a_{\rm rot}^{3D}(r) := \frac{1}{S_{12}^2 + S_{13}^2 + S_{23}^2} \begin{pmatrix} S_{12}\lambda_2 + S_{13}\lambda_3 \\ -S_{12}\lambda_1 + S_{23}\lambda_3 \\ -S_{13}\lambda_1 - S_{23}\lambda_2 \end{pmatrix} + r \begin{pmatrix} S_{23} \\ -S_{13} \\ S_{12} \end{pmatrix}, \ r \in \mathbb{R}.$$

In this case, the relative equilibrium satisfies

$$u_{\star}(x,t) = v_{\star} \left(\exp(-tS_{\star})(x - x_{\rm sv}^{3D}) + x_{\rm sv}^{3D} \right) = v_{\star}^{x_{\rm sv}^{3D}} \left(\exp(-tS_{\star})(x - x_{\rm sv}^{3D}) \right)$$

In particular, the time, that the pattern needs for exact one rotation about $a_{\rm rot}(r)$, is given by the **temporal period of rotation for** d = 3

$$T^{3D} = \frac{2\pi}{|\sigma_1|} = \frac{2\pi}{|\sqrt{S_{12}^2 + S_{13}^2 + S_{23}^2}|}.$$

•

10.3 Numerical examples of single-structures

In this section we investigate numerically the freezing system

(10.36a)
$$v_t(x,t) = A \triangle v(x,t) + f(v(x,t)) + \langle S(t)x + I_d\lambda(t), \nabla v(x,t) \rangle,$$

$$v(x,0) = u_0(x),$$

(10.36b)
$$0 = \Psi(v(\cdot, t), \mu(t)),$$

(10.36c)
$$\begin{pmatrix} R_t(t) \\ \tau_t(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R(t)S(t) \\ R(t)\lambda(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} R(0) \\ \tau(0) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I_d \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

from Example 10.7, cf. (10.26). Our aim is to compute an approximation of the rotating wave u_{\star} , in the sense that we approximate the profile v_{\star} and the velocities $(S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})$, separately.

To solve the partial differential algebraic system (10.36) numerically, we first truncate (10.36) from the original domain \mathbb{R}^d to a bounded domain $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$. Since the truncation requires additional boundary conditions and since we don't want to affect the asymptotic behavior of the wave near the boundary, we purpose homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions, also known as no-flux boundary conditions. This leads to truncated versions of (10.36) and their solutions can be considered as approximations of the original rotating wave.

In the examples below, we numerically solve the truncated version of the PDAE from (10.36) including the additional boundary conditions. The finite domain $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ will be a circular disk if d = 2 or a cube if d = 3. We use continuous piecewise linear finite elements in space and the BDF method of order 2 in time. The computations require suitable initial data v_0 and reference functions \hat{v} that both come actually from a simulation and are chosen as the solution u at the end time from Example 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3, respectively. For the numerical computations we use Comsol MultiphysicsTM, [1].

Example 10.9 (Ginzburg-Landau equation). Consider the freezing system for the cubic-quintic complex Ginzburg-Landau equation (QCGL) from Example 2.1

(10.37a)
$$v_t = \alpha \Delta v + v \left(\mu + \beta |v|^2 + \gamma |v|^4 \right)$$
$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^d S_{ij} (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v + \sum_{l=1}^d \lambda_l D_l v, \quad v(\cdot, t_0) = v_0$$
(10.37b)
$$0 = \operatorname{Re} \left(v - \hat{v}, (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) \hat{v} \right)_{L^2}, \quad i = 1, \dots, d-1, \ j = i+1, \dots, d$$

(10.37c) $U = \operatorname{Re} (v - v, (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v)_{L^2}, \quad i = 1, ...$ (10.37c) $0 = \operatorname{Re} (v - \hat{v}, D_l \hat{v})_{L^2}, \quad l = 1, ..., d$

(10.37d)
$$\begin{pmatrix} R_t \\ \tau_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} RS \\ R\lambda \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} R(t_0) \\ \tau(t_0) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I_d \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

with $v : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{C}, d \in \{2, 3\}, \alpha, \beta, \gamma, \mu \in \mathbb{C} \text{ and } \operatorname{Re} \alpha > 0.$

(1): For the parameter values (2.4) we know from Example 2.1 that the QCGL exhibits spinning soliton solutions u(x,t) for space dimensions d = 2 and d = 3, cf. Figure 2.1. In the examples below we approximate the patterns v_{\star} as well as the rotational and translational velocities, that are contained in S and λ , respectively. Further, using the reconstruction equation (10.37d) we determine the centers of rotation $c_{\text{rot}}^{2D} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ for d = 2 and the axis of rotation $a_{\text{rot}}^{3D} \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^3)$ for d = 3.

Figure 10.1(b)–10.1(d) shows the real part (b), imaginary part (c) and the absolute value (d) for the approximation of the profile v_{\star} of the spinning soliton in \mathbb{R}^2 as the solution of (10.37) on a circular disk of radius R = 20 centered in the origin at time t = 400. Figure 10.1(e) shows the translational and rotational velocities. $\mu^{(1)} = \lambda^{(1)}$ and $\mu^{(2)} = \lambda^{(2)}$ denotes the translational velocity in x_1 - and x_2 -direction, respectively, and $\mu^{(3)} = S_{12}$ denotes the rotational velocity in the (x_1, x_2) -plane. Their values at time t = 400 are

(10.38)
$$\mu^{(1)} = 0.002926, \quad \mu^{(2)} = -0.01691, \quad \mu^{(3)} = 1.0270.$$

×°

Recall that we have a clockwise rotation, if $S_{12} > 0$, and a counter clockwise rotation, if $S_{12} < 0$. Thus, the spinning soliton rotates clockwise. The reconstruction equation and the velocities yield the center of rotation, cf. (10.34),

$$c_{\rm rot}^{2D} = \frac{1}{\mu^{(3)}} \begin{pmatrix} \mu^{(2)} \\ -\mu^{(1)} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{0.01691}{1.0270} \\ -\frac{0.002926}{1.0270} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -0.016465 \\ -0.002849 \end{pmatrix}$$

The temporal period, that the spinning soliton in \mathbb{R}^2 needs for exact one rotation, is given by

$$T^{2D} = \frac{2\pi}{|\mu^{(3)}|} = 6.118.$$

Figure 10.1: Frozen solitons of QCGL for d = 2

Figure 10.1(f) shows that neither the approximation v of the profile v_{\star} nor the velocities $\mu^{(1)}$, $\mu^{(2)}$ and $\mu^{(3)}$ vary in time any more, i.e. both v and $\mu^{(1)}$, $\mu^{(2)}$, $\mu^{(3)}$ are stationary at time t = 400. For the computation of (10.37) with d = 2 we used continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.25$,

the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance atol = 10^{-7} , relative tolerance rtol = 10^{-2} and maximal stepsize $\Delta t = 0.2$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions and fixed phase conditions. The initial data and the reference function come from a simulation: First we solved the nonfrozen system (2.1) until time t = 150, as explained in Example 2.1, then we solved the freezing system (10.37) from $t_0 = 150$ to T = 400, where the initial data and the reference function is chosen as the solution of the nonfrozen equation (2.1) at time t = 150, cf. Figure 2.1(a)-2.1(c). This general procedure is also displayed in Figure 10.1(a), that shows a space-time diagram on the line $x_1 \in [-20, 20]$ for $x_2 = 0$ and $0 \leq t \leq 400$.



Figure 10.2: Frozen solitons of QCGL for d = 3

Figure 10.2(b)–10.2(d) shows the real part (b), imaginary part (c) and the absolute value (d) for the approximation of the profile v_{\star} of the spinning soliton in \mathbb{R}^3 as the solution of (10.37) on a cube with edge length L = 20 centered in the origin at time t = 500. Figure 10.2(e) shows the translational and rotational velocities. $\mu^{(1)} = \lambda^{(1)}, \ \mu^{(2)} = \lambda^{(2)}$ and $\mu^{(3)} = \lambda^{(3)}$ denotes the translational velocity in x_1 -, x_2 - and x_3 -direction, respectively, and $\mu^{(4)} = S_{12}, \ \mu^{(5)} = S_{13}$ and $\mu^{(6)} = S_{23}$ denote the rotational velocities in the (x_1, x_2) -, (x_1, x_3) - and (x_2, x_3) -plane. Their values at

time t = 500 are

(10.39)
$$\begin{aligned} \mu^{(1)} &= -0.1315, \quad \mu^{(2)} &= 0.1231, \quad \mu^{(3)} &= -0.001496, \\ \mu^{(4)} &= 0.6855, \quad \mu^{(5)} &= -0.01558, \quad \mu^{(6)} &= 0.01086. \end{aligned}$$

The reconstruction equation, the rank-deficient least squares problem and the velocities yield the axis of rotation, cf. (10.35),

$$a_{\rm rot}^{3D}(r) = \begin{pmatrix} 0.179489\\ 0.191649\\ -0.007199 \end{pmatrix} + r \begin{pmatrix} 0.01086\\ 0.01558\\ 0.6855 \end{pmatrix}, \ r \in \mathbb{R}.$$

The temporal period, that the spinning soliton in \mathbb{R}^3 needs for exact one rotation, is given by

$$T^{3D} = \frac{2\pi}{\left|\sqrt{(\mu^{(4)})^2 + (\mu^{(5)})^2 + (\mu^{(6)})^2}\right|} = 9.162327.$$

Figure 10.2(f) shows once more that neither the approximation v of the profile v_* nor the velocities $\mu^{(1)}, \ldots, \mu^{(6)}$ vary in time any more. For the computation of (10.37) with d = 3 we used continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.8$, the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance atol = 10^{-5} , relative tolerance rtol = 10^{-2} and maximal stepsize $\Delta t = 2.0$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions on all faces and fixed phase conditions. The initial data and the reference function come again from a simulation: First we solved the nonfrozen system (2.1) until time t = 100, as explained in Example 2.1, then we solved the freezing system (10.37) from $t_0 = 100$ to T = 500, where the initial data and the reference function is chosen as the solution of the nonfrozen equation (2.1) at time t = 100, cf. Figure 2.1(d)–2.1(e). This general procedure is also displayed in Figure 10.2(a), that shows a space-time diagram on the line $x_1 \in [-20, 20]$ for $x_2 = x_3 = 0$ and $0 \leq t \leq 500$.

(2): For the parameter values (2.5) we know from Example 2.1 that the QCGL exhibits rigidly rotating spiral wave solutions u(x, t) for space dimension d = 2, cf. Figure 2.2.

Figure 10.3(b)–10.3(d) shows the real part (b), imaginary part (c) and the absolute value (d) for the approximation of the profile v_{\star} of the spiral wave in \mathbb{R}^2 as the solution of (10.37) on a circular disk of radius R = 20 centered in the origin at time t = 500. Figure 10.3(e) shows the translational and rotational velocities. $\mu^{(1)} = \lambda^{(1)}$ and $\mu^{(2)} = \lambda^{(2)}$ denotes again the translational velocity in x_1 - and x_2 direction, respectively, and $\mu^{(3)} = S_{12}$ denotes the rotational velocity. Their values at time t = 500 are

(10.40)
$$\mu^{(1)} = 0.02616, \quad \mu^{(2)} = -0.01027, \quad \mu^{(3)} = 1.323.$$

Since $S_{12} > 0$, the spiral wave rotates clockwise. In particular, the spiral wave rotates faster than the 2*D*-spinning solitons. The reconstruction equation and the velocities yield the center of rotation, cf. (10.34),

$$c_{\rm rot}^{2D} = \frac{1}{\mu^{(3)}} \begin{pmatrix} \mu^{(2)} \\ -\mu^{(1)} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{0.01027}{1.323} \\ -\frac{0.02616}{1.323} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -0.007763 \\ -0.019773 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The temporal period, that the spiral wave needs for exact one rotation, is given by

$$T^{2D} = \frac{2\pi}{|\mu^{(3)}|} = 4.7492.$$



Figure 10.3: Frozen spiral of QCGL for d = 2

Figure 10.3(f) shows that neither the approximation v of the profile v_{\star} nor the velocities μ_1 , μ_2 and μ_3 vary in time any more. For the computation of (10.37) with d = 2 we used continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.25$, the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance atol = 10^{-6} , relative tolerance rtol = 10^{-2} and maximal stepsize $\Delta t = 1.0$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions and fixed phase conditions. The initial data and the reference function come from a simulation: First we solved the nonfrozen system (2.1) until time t = 150, as explained in Example 2.1, then we solved the freezing system (10.37) from $t_0 = 150$ to T = 500, where the initial data and the reference function is chosen as the solution of the nonfrozen equation (2.1) at time t = 150, cf. Figure 2.2(a)-2.2(c). This general procedure is also displayed in Figure 10.3(a), that shows a space-time diagram on the line $x_1 \in [-20, 20]$ for $x_2 = 0$ and $0 \leq t \leq 500$.

(3): For the parameter values (2.6) we know from Example 2.1 that the QCGL exhibits twisted and untwisted scroll waves and scroll ring solutions u(x,t) for space dimension d = 3, cf. Figure 2.3 for a scroll ring solution.



Figure 10.4: Frozen scroll ring of QCGL and λ - ω system for d = 3

Figure 10.4(b)–10.4(d) shows the real part (b), imaginary part (c) and the absolute value (d) for the approximation of the profile v_{\star} of the untwisted scroll wave in \mathbb{R}^3 as the solution of (10.37) on a cube with edge length L = 40 centered in the origin at time t = 850. Figure 10.4(e) shows the translational and rotational velocities. $\mu^{(1)} = \lambda^{(1)}, \ \mu^{(2)} = \lambda^{(2)}$ and $\mu^{(3)} = \lambda^{(3)}$ denotes the translational velocity in x_1 -, x_2 - and x_3 -direction, respectively, and $\mu^{(4)} = S_{12}, \ \mu^{(5)} = S_{13}$ and $\mu^{(6)} = S_{23}$ denote the rotational velocities in the (x_1, x_2) -, (x_1, x_3) - and (x_2, x_3) -plane. Their values at time t = 850 are

(10.41)
$$\begin{aligned} \mu^{(1)} &= -0.00123, \quad \mu^{(2)} &= 0.004219, \quad \mu^{(3)} &= 5.697, \\ \mu^{(4)} &= 0.0004585, \quad \mu^{(5)} &= 0.0004447, \quad \mu^{(6)} &= -0.0003909. \end{aligned}$$

Figure 10.4(f) shows once more that neither the approximation v of the profile v_{\star} nor the velocities $\mu^{(1)}, \ldots, \mu^{(6)}$ vary in time any more.

We find out that the freezing method yields a traveling wave instead of a rotating wave, since the rotational velocities are approximately zero and only $\mu^{(3)}$, that describes the velocity in x_3 -direction, is unequal 0. This phenomena is caused by the periodic boundary conditions on the (x_1, x_2) -faces. Due to the boundary condition the scroll ring can be considered either as a traveling wave, that drifts along the x_3 -axis, or as a rotating wave, that rotates about the x_3 -axis. This states that the isotropy group is nontrivial for G = SE(3), but it is indeed trivial in G = SO(3). This fact was already discussed in [46]. Thus, we perform a second computation using the freezing method with G = SO(3). Therefore, we modify (10.37) as follows: We set $\lambda_l = 0$ in (10.37a) and omit the phase conditions (10.37c). Consequently, the τ -equation in (10.37d) has the solution $\tau(t) = 0$. Using the same computational settings as before in the case G = SE(3), the freezing method in G = SO(3) yields at time t = 850 the velocities

(10.42)
$$\begin{aligned} \mu^{(1)} &= 0, \quad \mu^{(2)} = 0, \quad \mu^{(3)} = 0, \\ \mu^{(4)} &= -0.8934, \quad \mu^{(5)} = 0.002114, \quad \mu^{(6)} = -0.001088. \end{aligned}$$

The reconstruction equation, the rank-deficient least squares problem and the velocities yield the axis of rotation, cf. (10.35),

$$a_{\rm rot}^{3D}(r) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0\\0 \end{pmatrix} + r \begin{pmatrix} -0.001088\\-0.002114\\-0.8934 \end{pmatrix}, \ r \in \mathbb{R}.$$

The temporal period, that the scroll ring in \mathbb{R}^3 needs for exact one rotation, is given by

$$T^{3D} = \frac{2\pi}{\left|\sqrt{(\mu^{(4)})^2 + (\mu^{(5)})^2 + (\mu^{(6)})^2}\right|} = 7.0329.$$

Since the numerical results for G = SO(3) are very similar to those from Figure 10.4 for G = SE(3), we omit to present separate figures for this situation.

For both computations of (10.37) with d = 3 we used continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 1.6$, the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance atol = 10^{-5} , relative tolerance rtol = 10^{-2} and maximal stepsize $\Delta t = 1.0$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions on all faces and fixed phase conditions. The initial data and the reference function come again from a simulation: First we solved the nonfrozen system (2.1) until time t = 150, as explained in Example 2.1, then we solved the freezing system (10.37) from $t_0 = 150$ to T = 850, where the initial data and the reference function is chosen as the solution of the nonfrozen equation (2.1) at time t = 150, cf. Figure 2.3(a)–2.3(c). This general procedure is also displayed in Figure 10.4(a), that shows a space-time diagram on the line $x_1 \in [-20, 20]$ for $x_2 = x_3 = 0$ and $0 \leq t \leq 850$.
Example 10.10 (λ - ω system). Consider the freezing system for λ - ω system from Example 2.2

(10.43a)
$$v_t = \alpha \Delta v + v \left(\lambda \left(|v|^2 \right) + i\omega \left(|v|^2 \right) \right)$$
$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^d S_{ij} (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v + \sum_{l=1}^d \lambda_l D_l v, \quad v(\cdot, t_0) = v_0$$
(10.43b)
$$0 = \operatorname{Re} \left(v - \hat{v}, (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) \hat{v} \right)_{L^2}, \quad i = 1, \dots, d-1, \ j = i+1, \dots, d$$

(10.43c)
$$0 = \operatorname{Re} (v - \hat{v}, D_l \hat{v})_{L^2}, \quad l = 1, \dots, d$$

(10.43d)
$$\begin{pmatrix} R_t \\ \tau_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} RS \\ R\lambda \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} R(t_0) \\ \tau(t_0) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I_d \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

with $v: \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{C}, d \in \{2, 3\}, \alpha \in \mathbb{C}, \lambda : [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R} \text{ and } \omega : [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R}.$

(1): For the parameter values (2.8) we know from Example 2.2 that the λ - ω system exhibits rigidly rotating spiral wave solutions u(x,t) for space dimension d = 2, cf. Figure 2.4.

Figure 10.5(b)–10.5(d) shows the real part (b), imaginary part (c) and the absolute value (d) for the approximation of the profile v_{\star} of the spiral wave in \mathbb{R}^2 as the solution of (10.43) on a circular disk of radius R = 50 centered in the origin at time t = 550. Figure 10.5(e) shows the translational and rotational velocities. $\mu^{(1)} = \lambda^{(1)}$ and $\mu^{(2)} = \lambda^{(2)}$ denotes the translational velocity in x_1 - and x_2 -direction, respectively, and $\mu^{(3)} = S_{12}$ denotes the rotational velocity. Their values at time t = 550 are

(10.44)
$$\mu^{(1)} = 0.0005907, \quad \mu^{(2)} = 0.001609, \quad \mu^{(3)} = -0.9091.$$

Since $S_{12} < 0$, the spiral wave rotates counter clockwise. The reconstruction equation and the velocities yield the center of rotation

$$c_{\rm rot}^{2D} = \frac{1}{\mu^{(3)}} \begin{pmatrix} \mu^{(2)} \\ -\mu^{(1)} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{0.001609}{0.9091} \\ \frac{0.0005907}{0.9091} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -0.001770 \\ 0.000650 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The temporal period, that the spiral wave needs for exact one rotation, is given by

$$T^{2D} = \frac{2\pi}{|\mu^{(3)}|} = 6.9114.$$

Figure 10.5(f) shows that neither the approximation v of the profile v_{\star} nor the velocities $\mu^{(1)}$, $\mu^{(2)}$ and $\mu^{(3)}$ vary in time any more. For the computation of (10.43) with d = 2 we used continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.5$, the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance atol = 10^{-5} , relative tolerance rtol = 10^{-2} and maximal stepsize $\Delta t = 0.1$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions and fixed phase conditions. The initial data and the reference function come again from a simulation: First we solved the nonfrozen system (2.7) until time t = 150, as explained in Example 2.2, then we solved the freezing system (10.43) from $t_0 = 150$ to T = 550, where the initial data and the reference function is chosen as the solution of the nonfrozen equation (2.7) at time t = 150, cf. Figure 2.4(a)-2.4(c). This general procedure is also displayed in Figure

10.5(a), that shows a space-time diagram on the line $x_1 \in [-50, 50]$ for $x_2 = 0$ and $0 \le t \le 550$.

Figure 10.5: Frozen spiral of λ - ω system for d = 2

(2): For a discussion about the scroll ring in Figure 10.4(a)-10.4(f) we refer to Example 10.9(3).

Example 10.11 (Barkley model). Consider the freezing system for the Barkley model from Example 2.3

(10.45a)
$$v_t = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & D \end{pmatrix} \bigtriangleup v + \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} v_1 (1 - v_1) \left(v_1 - \frac{v_2 + b}{a} \right) \\ g(v_1) - v_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^d S_{ij} (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) v + \sum_{l=1}^d \lambda_l D_l v, \quad v(\cdot, t_0) = v_0$$

(10.45b)
$$0 = (v - \hat{v}, (x_j D_i - x_i D_j) \hat{v})_{L^2}, \quad i = 1, \dots, d-1, \ j = i+1, \dots, d$$

(10.45c) $0 = (v - \hat{v}, D_l \hat{v})_{L^2}, \quad l = 1, \dots, d$

(10.45d)
$$\begin{pmatrix} R_t \\ \tau_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} RS \\ R\lambda \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} R(t_0) \\ \tau(t_0) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I_d \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$



with $v = (v_1, v_2)^T$, $v : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R}^2, d \in \{2, 3\}, 0 \leq D << 1, 0 < \varepsilon << 1, 0 < a, b \in \mathbb{R}, g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}.$

(1): For the parameter values (2.10) we know from Example 2.3 that the Barkley model exhibits rigidly rotating spiral wave solutions u(x,t) for space dimension d = 2, cf. Figure 2.5.



Figure 10.6: Frozen spiral of Barkley model for d = 2

Figure 10.6(b)–10.6(d) shows the first component (b), the second component (c) and the absolute value (d) for the approximation of the profile v_{\star} of the spiral wave in \mathbb{R}^2 as the solution of (10.45) on a circular disk of radius R = 40 centered in the origin at time t = 650. Figure 10.6(e) shows the translational and rotational velocities. $\mu^{(1)} = \lambda^{(1)}$ and $\mu^{(2)} = \lambda^{(2)}$ denotes the translational velocity in x_1 - and x_2 -direction, respectively, and $\mu^{(3)} = S_{12}$ denotes the rotational velocity. Their values at time t = 650 are

(10.46)
$$\mu^{(1)} = -1.370, \quad \mu^{(2)} = -2.422, \quad \mu^{(3)} = 2.067.$$

Since $S_{12} > 0$, the spiral wave rotates clockwise. The reconstruction equation and the velocities yield the center of rotation

$$c_{\rm rot}^{2D} = \frac{1}{\mu^{(3)}} \begin{pmatrix} \mu^{(2)} \\ -\mu^{(1)} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{2.422}{2.067} \\ \frac{1.370}{2.067} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -1.1717 \\ 0.6628 \end{pmatrix}$$

The temporal period, that the spiral wave needs for exact one rotation, is given by

$$T^{2D} = \frac{2\pi}{|\mu^{(3)}|} = 3.0398.$$

Figure 10.6(f) shows that neither the approximation v of the profile v_{\star} nor the velocities $\mu^{(1)}$, $\mu^{(2)}$ and $\mu^{(3)}$ vary in time any more. For the computation of (10.45) with d = 2 we used continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.5$, the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance atol = 10^{-4} , relative tolerance rtol = 10^{-2} and maximal stepsize $\Delta t = 1.0$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions and fixed phase conditions. The initial data and the reference function come again from a simulation: First we solved the nonfrozen system (2.9) until time t = 150, as explained in Example 2.3, then we solved the freezing system (10.45) from $t_0 = 150$ to T = 650, where the initial data and the reference function are chosen as the solution of the nonfrozen equation (2.9) at time t = 150, cf. Figure 2.5(a)–2.5(c). This general procedure is also displayed in Figure 10.6(a), that shows a space-time diagram on the line $x_1 \in [-40, 40]$ for $x_2 = 0$ and $0 \leq t \leq 650$.

10.4 Numerical computations of the essential and the point spectrum

In this section we investigate numerically the eigenvalue problem

(10.47)
$$[\lambda I - \mathcal{L}] v(x) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ d \ge 2,$$

where \mathcal{L} denotes the linearization about a rotating wave v_{\star}

$$[\mathcal{L}v](x) := A \triangle v(x) + \langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle + Df(v_{\star}(x))v(x), x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

To solve the eigenvalue problem (10.47) numerically, we restrict equation (10.47) to a bounded domain and require additional boundary conditions. More precisely, in the examples below we compute the finite element approximation of the eigenvalue problem (10.47) on circular disk for d = 2 and on cubes for d = 3. In both cases we use homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions. The rotating wave v_{\star} , at which we linearize, is chosen as the solution v at the end time from Example 10.9, 10.10 and 10.11, that is an approximation of v_{\star} , i.e. we first solve the freezing system and use the solution as linearization point. The velocities of the rotating waves v_{\star} , that are needed for the matrix S, can be found in the Examples 10.9, 10.10 and 10.11. To solve the eigenvalue problem by the finite element method we use Comsol MultiphysicsTM, [1]. The code involves the ARnoldi PACKage, short ARPACK, that was developed to solve large-scale eigenvalue problems. The ARPACK requires a real shift $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$ for computing a prescribed number *neig* of eigenvalues that are closest to σ and satisfy a certain eigenvalue tolerance *etol*. **Example 10.12** (Ginzburg-Landau equation). Consider the eigenvalue problem for the real-valued version of the cubic-quintic complex Ginzburg-Landau equation (QCGL) from Example 2.1 and Example 10.9

(10.48)
$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 & -\alpha_2 \\ \alpha_2 & \alpha_1 \end{pmatrix} \triangle v(x) + \langle S_{\star}x + \lambda_{\star}, \nabla v(x) \rangle + Df(v_{\star}(x)) v(x) = \lambda v(x),$$

with $v: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}^2, d \in \{2, 3\}$ and $f: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ given by

$$f\begin{pmatrix}u_1\\u_2\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}(u_1\mu_1 - u_2\mu_2) + (u_1\beta_1 - u_2\beta_2)(u_1^2 + u_2^2) + (u_1\gamma_1 - u_2\gamma_2)(u_1^2 + u_2^2)^2\\(u_1\mu_2 + u_2\mu_1) + (u_1\beta_2 + u_2\beta_1)(u_1^2 + u_2^2) + (u_1\gamma_2 + u_2\gamma_1)(u_1^2 + u_2^2)^2\end{pmatrix},$$

where $u = u_1 + iu_2$, $\alpha = \alpha_1 + i\alpha_2$, $\beta = \beta_1 + i\beta_2$, $\gamma = \gamma_1 + i\gamma_2$ and $u_i, \alpha_i, \beta_i, \gamma_i \in \mathbb{R}$ for i = 1, 2. The pattern v_* must be considered as a function $v_* : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^2$ instead of $v_* : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$.

(1): For the parameter values from (2.4) we have already seen in Example 2.1 and in Example 10.9 that the Ginzburg-Landau equation exhibits spinning soliton solutions for space dimensions d = 2 and d = 3, that this parameter values satisfy our assumptions (A1)–(A9) for every $p \in]4-2\sqrt{2}, 4+2\sqrt{2}[$, i.e. p = 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and that the solitons are exponentially localized in the sense of Theorem 1.8 for the real valued system and in the sense of Corollary 8.1 for the complex-valued equation with maximal decay rate (2.3). In the examples below we approximate solutions (λ, v) of the eigenvalue problem (10.48), where (λ, v) consists of an eigenvalue $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and its corresponding eigenfunction $v : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}^2$. In particular, we point out that

(10.49)
$$\lambda_{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} \mu^{(1)} \\ \mu^{(2)} \end{pmatrix}, S_{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mu^{(3)} \\ -\mu^{(3)} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ if } d = 2$$

and

(10.50)
$$\lambda_{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} \mu^{(1)} \\ \mu^{(2)} \\ \mu^{(3)} \end{pmatrix}, S_{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mu^{(4)} & \mu^{(5)} \\ -\mu^{(4)} & 0 & \mu^{(6)} \\ -\mu^{(5)} & -\mu^{(6)} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ if } d = 3.$$

Recall the following values that are relevant to discuss the results concerning the linearization and its associated eigenvalue problem:

(10.51)
$$v_{\infty} = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mu = -\frac{1}{2}, \quad \sigma \left(Df(v_{\infty}) \right) = \{\mu, \bar{\mu}\} = \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} \right\}, \\ b_0 = -s \left(Df(v_{\infty}) \right) = -\operatorname{Re} \mu = \frac{1}{2}.$$

Moreover, we know from Example 10.9 for d = 2, cf. (10.38) and (10.49),

(10.52)
$$\sigma(S_{\star}) = \{\pm \sigma_1 i\}, \quad \sigma_1 = \mu^{(3)} = 1.0270,$$

and for d = 3, cf. (10.39) and (10.50),

(10.53)
$$\sigma(S_{\star}) = \{0, \pm \sigma_1 i\}, \quad \sigma_1 = \sqrt{(\mu^{(4)})^2 + (\mu^{(5)})^2 + (\mu^{(6)})^2} = 0.68576.$$

For the computation of the eigenvalue problem (10.48) we use in both cases d = 2 and d = 3 continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.25$ (if d = 2) and $\Delta x = 0.8$ (if d = 3), homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions and the following parameters for the eigenvalue solver

(10.54)
$$\operatorname{neig} = 800, \quad \sigma = -1, \quad \operatorname{etol} = 10^{-7}.$$

The profile v_{\star} and the velocities $(S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})$ come actually from a simulation: First we solve the freezing system (10.37) until time 400 for d = 2 and until time 500 for d = 3, as explained in Example 10.9, then we solve the eigenvalue problem (10.48), where the profile v_{\star} and the velocities $(S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})$ are chosen as the solution of (10.37) at the last time instance, cf. Figure 10.1(b)-(e) and Figure 10.2(b)-(e).

Figure 10.7 and 10.9 show an approximation $\sigma^{\text{approx}}(\mathcal{L})$ of the spectrum $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ of \mathcal{L} linearized about the spinning soliton v_{\star} for d = 2, see Figure 10.7(b), and d = 3, see Figure 10.9(b), as well as the exact informations about $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ that we know from our theoretical results in Figure 10.7(a) for d = 2 and Figure 10.9(a) for d = 3. In Figure 10.8 and 10.10 there are visualized the real parts of the first component of certain eigenfunctions v associated to different eigenvalues belonging to the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$. Let us start to discuss the numerical results in detail:

By Theorem 9.10 we can expect that

(10.55)
$$\left\{\lambda = -\omega^2 \alpha_1 + \mu_1 + i \left(-\omega^2 \alpha_2 \pm \mu_2 - n\sigma_1\right) \mid \omega \in \mathbb{R}, \ n \in \mathbb{Z}\right\} \subseteq \sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L})$$

with σ_1 from (10.52) for d = 2 and from (10.53) for d = 3. The case d = 2 was also discussed in [15, Section 8]. In both cases the essential spectrum $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L})$ forms a zig-zag-structure, that is illustrated by the red lines in Figure 10.7(a) for d = 2and in Figure 10.9(a) for d = 3. The distance between two neighboring tips of the cones equals σ_1 , that can easily by seen in (10.55). The minimal distance between the essential spectrum and the imaginary axis equals $b_0 = \frac{1}{2}$, since, cf. (10.51),

$$\operatorname{Re}\sigma(\mathcal{L}) \leqslant -b_0 = \operatorname{Re}\mu = -\frac{1}{2}$$

The dispersion relation from (9.15) states that $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ belongs to $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L})$ if there exist $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$\lambda + \frac{1}{2}\left(\omega^2 + 1\right) + i\left(\frac{\omega^2}{2} + n\sigma_1\right) = 0.$$

Figure 10.7(b) and Figure 10.9(b) show an approximation $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{approx}}(\mathcal{L})$ of the essential spectrum, that is represented by the red dots. In both cases, $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{approx}}(\mathcal{L})$ gives a good approximation for $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L})$, given by the red lines in Figure 10.7(a) and Figure 10.9(a). An application of Theorem 9.4 yields the eigenvalues of \mathcal{L} , that are due to the SE(d)-action, and the shape of their eigenfunctions. In Example 9.6 and 9.7, they are explicitly computed for the case d = 2 and d = 3, respectively. In both cases there are three eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3 \in \sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$, that are located on the imaginary axis, compare Corollary 9.5 and see Figure 9.1. They are given by

$$\lambda_1 = i\sigma_1, \quad \lambda_2 = -i\sigma_1, \quad \lambda_3 = 0.$$



Figure 10.7: Essential and point spectrum of QCGL for a spinning soliton with d = 2



Figure 10.8: Eigenfunctions of QCGL for a spinning soliton with d = 2

Every eigenvalue has algebraic multiplicity 1 for d = 2 and algebraic multiplicity 2 for d = 3. They are visualized by the blue circles in Figure 10.7(a) for d = 2 and in Figure 10.9(a) for d = 3. Their corresponding approximations are illustrated also by the blue circles in Figure 10.7(b) and in Figure 10.9(b). Indeed, as indicated in Corollary 9.5, Theorem 9.4 does not give a complete characterization of the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$, i.e. in Figure 10.7(a) and 10.9(a) there can in general exist further isolated eigenvalues between the essential spectrum $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L})$ and the imaginary axis. This is also motivated by our numerical observations. In case d = 2, the approximation of $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ contains in addition 8 complex-conjugated pairs of isolated eigenvalues, represented by the blue crosses in Figure 10.7(b). Similarly, in case d = 3, the approximation of $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ admits additionally 11 complex-conjugated



Figure 10.9: Essential and point spectrum of QCGL for a spinning soliton with d = 3



Figure 10.10: Eigenfunctions of QCGL for a spinning soliton with d = 3

pairs of isolated eigenvalues, see Figure 10.9(b). Both, the eigenvalues visualized by the blue circles and by the blue crosses form together an approximation $\sigma_{\text{point}}^{\text{approx}}(\mathcal{L})$ of the point spectrum of \mathcal{L} . In Figure 10.7(b) and Figure 10.9(b) there are some isolated eigenvalues labeled by a green square. Their associated eigenfunctions are visualized in Figure 10.8 and 10.10. To be more precisely, in the pictures there are illustrated the real parts of the first component of the corresponding eigenfunction $v : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}^2$. The first three eigenfunctions in Figure 10.8 and the first six eigenfunctions in Figure 10.10 are approximations of the eigenfunctions from Theorem 9.4, see also Example 9.6 for d = 2 and Example 9.7 for d = 3. The remaining eigenfunctions are associated to an eigenvalue from the point spectrum. Note that the first eigenfunction in Figure 10.8 and the third eigenfunction in Figure 10.10 are approximations of the rotational term $\langle S_*x, \nabla v_*(x) \rangle$. An application of Theorem 9.8 shows that every eigenfunction with associated eigenvalue $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfying

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda \geqslant -\frac{b_0}{3} = -\frac{1}{6} \approx -0.1667$$

decays exponentially in space with the same rate as in (2.3). In case d = 2, this property is satisfied only for the first three eigenfunctions associated to the approximations of λ_1 , λ_2 and λ_3 , see Figure 10.8. In case d = 3, this property is satisfied for the first six eigenfunctions associated to the approximations λ_1 , λ_2 , λ_3 and additionally for the 7th and 8th eigenfunction. Nevertheless, every eigenfunction with associated eigenvalue $\lambda \in \sigma_{\text{point}}^{\text{approx}}(\mathcal{L})$ seems to be exponentially decaying in space. In particular, Corollary 9.9 states that also the rotational term $\langle S_{\star}x, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle$ decays exponentially in space with the same rate as in (2.3).

(2): For the parameter values from (2.5) we have already seen in Example 2.1 and in Example 10.9 that this equation exhibits rigidly rotating spiral wave solutions for space dimensions d = 2 and that this parameter values satisfy our assumptions (A1)–(A9) for every $p \in]4 - 2\sqrt{2}, 4 + 2\sqrt{2}[$, i.e. p = 2, 3, 4, 5, 6. But the spiral wave is not localized in the sense of Theorem 1.8, since condition (1.20) seems not to be satisfied. But note that the spiral wave seems to be Archimedean far away from the center of rotation, i.e. v_{\star} satisfies (9.16). For the discussion about the spectrum of \mathcal{L} linearized at the spiral wave, we recall (10.51). Moreover, we know from Example 10.9, cf. (10.40) and (10.49),

(10.56)
$$\sigma(S_{\star}) = \{\pm \sigma_1 i\}, \quad \sigma_1 = \mu^{(3)} = 1.323.$$

For the computation of the eigenvalue problem (10.48) we use again continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.5$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions and the same parameter values as in (10.54) for the eigenvalue solver. The profile v_{\star} and the velocities $(S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})$ come again from a simulation: First we solve the freezing system (10.37) until time 500, as explained in Example 10.9, then we solve the eigenvalue problem (10.48), where the profile v_{\star} and the velocities $(S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})$ are chosen as the solution of (10.37) at time t = 500, cf. Figure 10.3(b)-(e).

Figure 10.11 shows an approximation of the spectrum $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ of \mathcal{L} linearized about the spiral wave v_{\star} . In Figure 10.12 there are visualized the real parts of the first component of certain eigenfunctions associated to different eigenvalues belonging to the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$. We next discuss the numerical results in detail:

Since the spiral wave does not satisfied the condition (1.20), we cannot apply Theorem 1.8, Corollary 8.1, Theorem 9.8, Corollary 9.9 and Theorem 9.10. Nevertheless, the spiral wave is Archimedean far away from the center of rotation and therefore we can apply the theory from Section 9.5, that yields, cf. (9.21),

$$\{\lambda^l(ik) + i\sigma_1\mathbb{Z} \mid k \in \mathbb{R}, \ l = 1, 2\} \subseteq \sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L}).$$

In contrast to the essential spectrum of localized rotating patterns, where the essential spectrum contains infinite many cones that form a zig-zag structure, the essential spectrum for a spiral wave contains infinitely many parabolas $\lambda^{l}(i \cdot)$ that are all opened to the left. The distance between two neighboring turning points of the parabolas equals σ_1 , that can easily be seen in (9.21).



Figure 10.11: Essential and point spectrum of QCGL for a spiral wave with d = 2



Figure 10.12: Eigenfunctions of QCGL for a spiral wave with d = 2

Figure 10.11 shows an approximation $\sigma_{\text{ess}}^{\text{approx}}(\mathcal{L})$ of the essential spectrum at a spiral wave, represented by the red dots. On the left we have an approximation of these infinitely many parabolas. In particular, the distance of their turning points is approximatively σ_1 . In the middle we have against our theoretical knowledge infinitely many horizontal lines and on the right we observe the Floquet exponents in the comoving frame, see also [38, Figure 19(b)]. Note that neither a smaller spatial stepsize nor a larger domain has any effect on the shape of the approximation for the spectrum. This means that we can expect that also $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L})$ contains some horizontal lines and the Floquet exponents. An application of Theorem 9.4 yields

informations about the part of the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ that is located on the imaginary axis and is due to the SE(2)-action. These eigenvalues are given by

$$\lambda_1 = i\sigma_1, \quad \lambda_2 = -i\sigma_1, \quad \lambda_3 = 0,$$

and have algebraic multiplicity 1. Their corresponding approximations are illustrated by the blue circles in Figure 10.11. Since Theorem 9.4 does not yield a complete characterization of the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$, there can in general exist further eigenvalues belonging to $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$. The approximation of $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ contains 4 complex-conjugated pairs of isolated eigenvalues, represented by the blue crosses in Figure 10.11. Note that one pair of these eigenvalues, $\lambda \approx -10^{-2} \pm i$, is very close to the imaginary axis. The approximation of the point spectrum, denoted by $\sigma_{\text{point}}^{\text{approx}}(\mathcal{L})$, is compound by the eigenvalues visualized by the blue circles and by the blue crosses. In Figure 10.11 there are some isolated eigenvalues labeled by a green square. Their associated eigenfunctions are visualized in Figure 10.12. As before, there are illustrated the real parts of the first components of the corresponding eigenfunction. The first three eigenfunctions in Figure 10.12 are approximations of the eigenfunctions from Theorem 9.4, see also Example 9.6. The fourth eigenfunction belongs to the green boxed eigenvalue that is closest to the imaginary axis. Note that the first eigenfunction is an approximation of the rotational term $\langle S_{\star}x, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle$. In particular, all these eigenfunctions doesn't decay in space.

(3): For the parameter values from (2.6) we have already seen in Example 2.1(3) and in Example 10.9(3) that the Ginzburg-Landau equation exhibits twisted and untwisted scroll wave as well as scroll ring solutions for space dimensions d = 3 and that this parameter values satisfy our assumptions (A1)–(A8) for every $1 but not the spectral assumption (A9). But neither the scroll wave nor the scroll ring is not localized in the sense of Theorem 1.8, since condition (1.20) seems neither to be satisfied. In the <math>x_1$ - x_2 -plane both, the scroll wave and the scroll ring, seems in a certain sense to be Archimedean far away from the center of rotation, compare (9.16). This motivates that the approach for the computation of the essential spectrum for the spiral wave extends similarly to scroll waves and scroll rings. For the discussion about the spectrum of \mathcal{L} linearized at a scroll ring we know from Example 10.9(3), cf. (10.41) and (10.50)

(10.57)
$$\sigma(S_{\star}) = \{0, \pm \sigma_1 i\}, \quad \sigma_1 = \sqrt{(\mu^{(4)})^2 + (\mu^{(5)})^2 + (\mu^{(6)})^2} = 0.0006387$$

for G = SE(3) and, cf. (10.42) and (10.50)

(10.58)
$$\sigma(S_{\star}) = \{0, \pm \sigma_1 i\}, \quad \sigma_1 = \sqrt{(\mu^{(4)})^2 + (\mu^{(5)})^2 + (\mu^{(6)})^2} = 0.8934032$$

for G = SO(3). For the computation of the eigenvalue problem (10.48) we use again continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 1.6$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions on the side surfaces, periodic boundary conditions on the faces $x_3 = \mp 20$ and the same parameter values as in (10.54) for the eigenvalue solver. The profile v_* and the velocities (S_*, λ_*) come again from a simulation: First we solve the freezing system (10.37) until time 850, as explained in Example 10.9(3), then we solve the eigenvalue problem (10.48), where the profile v_{\star} and the velocities $(S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})$ are chosen as the solution of (10.37) at time t = 850, cf. Figure 10.4(b)-(e). This procedure we perform for both cases, G = SE(3) and G = SO(3). The values for $(S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})$ one also obtains from (10.41) and (10.42) in combination with (10.50).

Figure 10.13 shows an approximation of $\sigma^{\text{approx}}(\mathcal{L})$ of the spectrum $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ of \mathcal{L} linearized at a scroll wave v_{\star} for G = SE(3), see Figure 10.13(a), and G = SO(3), see Figure 10.13(b). In Figure 10.12 and 10.12 there are visualized the real parts of the first components of some eigenfunction v associated to different eigenvalues belonging to the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ for G = SE(3), see Figure 10.12, and for G = SO(3), see Figure 10.12. We now discuss the numerical results in more detail:

Since the parameters does not satisfy the assumption (A9) and the scroll wave does not satisfy the condition (1.20), we cannot apply Theorem 1.8, Corollary 8.1, Theorem 9.8, Corollary 9.9 and Theorem 9.10. Therefore, we can neither expect that the pattern v_{\star} and the eigenfunctions v (belonging to some eigenvalue $\lambda \in \sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$) decay exponentially nor that the essential spectrum has a zig-zag-structure. Nevertheless, since the scroll ring is at least in a certain sense Archimedean far away from the center of rotation, we can expect from the theory from Section 9.5, that also the essential spectrum for a scroll ring contains infinitely many parabolas that are opened to the left, compare (9.21).

Figure 10.13 shows an approximation $\sigma_{ess}^{approx}(\mathcal{L})$ of the essential spectrum at a scroll ring, represented by the red dots, for G = SE(3), see Figure 10.13(a), and G = SO(3), see Figure 10.13(b). As already motivated in Example 10.9(3), the scroll ring can either be considered as a rotating wave that rotates about the x_3 -axis or as a traveling wave that travels along the x_3 -axis. In case of G =SE(3) the freezing method yields a traveling wave, since the rotational velocities are almost zero, compare (10.41), and therefore Figure 10.13 can be considered as the spectrum at a traveling wave in three space dimensions. In case of G = SO(3)the freezing method yields a rotating wave, since the translational velocities are set to 0, compare (10.42). In case of a traveling wave with G = SE(3) the essential spectrum seems to contain only horizontal lines, see Figure 10.13(a). Contrary, in case of a rotating wave with G = SO(3) the essential spectrum contains infinitely many (filled) parabolas that are located in Re $\lambda \leq -0.1$. In particular, the distance of their turning points is approximatively σ_1 . An application of Theorem 9.4 yields informations about the part of the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ on the imaginary axis, that is due to the SE(3)-action. These eigenvalues are given by

$$\lambda_1 = i\sigma_1, \quad \lambda_2 = -i\sigma_1, \quad \lambda_3 = 0,$$

and have algebraic multiplicity 2, compare Corollary 9.5 and Figure 9.1. Their corresponding approximations are illustrated by the blue circles in Figure 10.13(a) for G = SE(3) and in Figure 10.13(b) for G = SO(3). In case of G = SE(3) there is only one zero eigenvalue on the imaginary axis, see Figure 10.13(a). In case of G = SO(3), Figure 10.13(b) can be considered as the spectrum at a rotating wave in three space dimensions and the blue circles corresponds the approximation of $\pm \sigma_1 i$ and 0. Since Theorem 9.4 does not yield a complete characterization of the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$, there can in general exist further eigenvalues belonging to $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$. In both cases, G = SE(3) and G = SO(3), the approximation $\sigma^{\text{approx}}(\mathcal{L})$



Figure 10.13: Essential and point spectrum of QCGL and λ - ω for an (untwisted) scroll ring with d = 3 and with respect to the Lie group G = SE(3) (a) and G = SO(3) (b)



Figure 10.14: Eigenfunctions of QCGL and λ - ω for an (untwisted) scroll ring with d = 3and with respect to the Lie group G = SE(3)



Figure 10.15: Eigenfunctions of QCGL and λ - ω for an (untwisted) scroll ring with d = 3and with respect to the Lie group G = SO(3)

of $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ contains in addition 5 complex-conjugated pairs of isolated eigenvalues, represented by the blue crosses in Figure 10.13. The approximation of the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$, denoted by $\sigma_{\text{point}}^{\text{approx}}(\mathcal{L})$, is compound by the eigenvalues visualized by the blue circles and by the blue crosses. In Figure 10.13 there are some isolated eigenvalues labled by a green square. Their associated eigenfunctions are visualized in Figure 10.12 for G = SE(3) and in Figure 10.12 for G = SO(3). As before, there are illustrated the real parts of the first components of the corresponding eigenfunction. In Figure 10.12, the first three eigenfunctions are approximations of the eigenfunctions belonging to the eigenvalue 0. All these eigenfunctions doesn't decay in space. In Figure 10.12, the first three eigenfunctions are approximations of the eigenfunctions from Theorem 9.4, see also Example 9.7. Since the algebraic multiplicity of the corresponding eigenvalues is equal 2, we expect three more eigenfunctions. It seems that they do not appear in our numerical results, since the spatial stepsize is indeed too large. Note that the first eigenfunction in Figure 10.12 is an approximation of the rotational term $\langle S_{\star}x, \nabla v_{\star}(x)\rangle$. In particular, also these eigenfunctions doesn't decay in space.

Example 10.13 (λ - ω system). Consider the eigenvalue problem for the real-valued version of the λ - ω system from Example 2.2 and Example 10.10

(10.59)
$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 & -\alpha_2 \\ \alpha_2 & \alpha_1 \end{pmatrix} \triangle v(x) + \langle S_{\star}x + \lambda_{\star}, \nabla v(x) \rangle + Df(v_{\star}(x))v(x) = \lambda v(x),$$

with $v : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}^2$, $d \in \{2, 3\}$ and $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ given by

$$f\begin{pmatrix}u_1\\u_2\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}u_1\lambda\,(u_1^2 + u_2^2) - u_2\omega\,(u_1^2 + u_2^2)\\u_1\omega\,(u_1^2 + u_2^2) + u_2\lambda\,(u_1^2 + u_2^2)\end{pmatrix},$$

where $\lambda, \omega : [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R}, u = u_1 + iu_2, \alpha = \alpha_1 + i\alpha_2 \text{ and } u_i, \alpha_i \in \mathbb{R} \text{ for } i = 1, 2$. The pattern v_* must be considered as a function $v_* : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^2$ instead of $v_* : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$.

(1): For the parameter values from (2.8) we have already seen in Example 2.2 and in Example 10.10 that the λ - ω system exhibits rigidly rotating spiral wave solutions for space dimension d = 2 and that this parameter values satisfy the assumptions (A1)–(A8) for every $1 with <math>v_{\infty} = (0,0)^T$, but neither condition (1.20) nor assumption (A9), since Df(0,0) contains the eigenvalue 1 with algebraic multiplicity 2. Therefore, the spiral wave is not localized in the sense of Theorem 1.8. But the spiral wave seems to be Archimedean far away from the center of rotation, i.e. v_{\star} satisfies (9.16). Recall the following values from Example 10.10 that are relevant to discuss the results concerning the linearization and its associated eigenvalue problem, cf. (10.44) and (10.49),

(10.60)
$$\sigma(S_{\star}) = \{\pm \sigma_1 i\}, \quad \sigma_1 = \mu^{(3)} = -0.9091.$$

In order to approximate solutions of the eigenvalue problem (10.59) we use continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.5$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions and the same parameters as in (10.54) for the eigenvalue solver. The profile v_{\star} and the velocities $(S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})$ come again from a simulation: First we solve the freezing system (10.43) until time 550, as explained in Example 10.10, then we solve the eigenvalue problem (10.59), where the profile v_{\star} and the velocities $(S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})$ are chosen as the solution of (10.43) at time t = 550, cf. Figure 10.5(b)-(e). The values for $(S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})$ can also be received from (10.44) and (10.49).



Figure 10.16: Essential and point spectrum of the λ - ω system for a spiral wave with d=2



Figure 10.17: Eigenfunctions of the λ - ω system for a spiral wave with d = 2

Figure 10.13 show an approximation of the spectrum $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ of \mathcal{L} linearized about the spiral wave v_{\star} . In Figure 10.13 there are visualized the real parts of the first component of some eigenfunctions associated to different eigenvalues belonging to the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$. Let us discuss the numerical results:

Since the spiral wave does not satisfy the condition (1.20), we cannot apply Theorem 1.8, Corollary 8.1, Theorem 9.8, Corollary 9.9 and Theorem 9.10. However, we can act on the assumption that the spiral wave is Archimedean far away from the center of rotation and therefore we can apply the theory from Section 9.5. We infer from (9.21) that

$$\{\lambda^l(ik) + i\sigma_1\mathbb{Z} \mid k \in \mathbb{R}, l = 1, 2\} \subseteq \sigma_{\text{ess}}(\mathcal{L}).$$

This means that the essential spectrum for a spiral wave contains infinitely many parabolas $\lambda^{l}(i \cdot)$ that are all opened to the left. The distance between two neighboring turning points of the parabolas equals σ_1 , that can easily be seen in (9.21).

Figure 10.13 shows an approximation $\sigma_{ess}^{approx}(\mathcal{L})$ of the essential spectrum at a spiral wave, represented by the red dots. On the left of the picture, there is illustrated the approximation of these infinitely many parabolas. In particular, the distance of two neighboring turning points is as expected approximatively σ_1 . In the middle we have against our theoretical knowledge infinitely many horizontal lines.

Using Theorem 9.4 we deduce informations about the part of the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ that is located on the imaginary axis and is due to the SE(2)-action. All these eigenvalues are given by

$$\lambda_1 = i\sigma_1, \quad \lambda_2 = -i\sigma_1, \quad \lambda_3 = 0,$$

and have algebraic multiplicity 1. Their corresponding approximations are illustrated by the blue circles in Figure 10.13. As everyone knows, Theorem 9.4 does not yield a complete characterization of the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$. This means that there maybe exist further eigenvalues belonging to $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$. The approximation of $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ contains no further isolated eigenvalues. The approximation of the point spectrum, denoted by $\sigma_{\text{point}}^{\text{approx}}(\mathcal{L})$, contains only the eigenvalues visualized by the blue circles. The three eigenfunctions belonging to the eigenvalues labeled by a green square in Figure 10.13, are visualized in Figure 10.13. These pictures show the real parts of the first component of the eigenfunctions. These three eigenfunctions are approximations of the eigenfunctions from Theorem 9.4, see also Example 9.6. In particular, the first eigenfunction is an approximation of the rotational term $\langle S_{\star}x, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle$, that obviously does not decay in space.

(2): For a discussion about the spectrum at a scroll ring in Figure 10.13, 10.12 and 10.12 we refer to Example 10.12(3).

Example 10.14 (Barkley model). Consider the eigenvalue problem for the Barkley model from Example 2.3 and Example 10.11

(10.61)
$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & D \end{pmatrix} \triangle v(x) + \langle S_{\star}x + \lambda_{\star}, \nabla v(x) \rangle + Df(v_{\star}(x))v(x) = \lambda v(x),$$

with $v: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}^2, d \in \{2, 3\}$ and $f: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ given by

$$f\begin{pmatrix}u_1\\u_2\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}\frac{1}{\varepsilon}u_1\left(1-u_1\right)\left(u_1-\frac{u_2+b}{a}\right)\\g(u_1)-u_2\end{pmatrix},$$

where $u = (u_1, u_2)^T \in \mathbb{R}^2$, $0 \leq D \ll 1$, $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$, $0 < a, b \in \mathbb{R}$, $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ and $v_\star : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^2$.

(1): For the parameter values from (2.10) we have already seen in Example 2.3 and Example 10.11 that the Barkley model exhibit rigidly rotating wave solutions for space dimension d = 2. In the following we consider also the case D = 0.1. Note that the Barkley model (2.9) is a mixed hyperbolic-parabolic system for D = 0 and a parabolic system for D = 0.1. The parameter values (2.10) with D = 0 satisfy only our assumptions (A1) and (A5)–(A7). If we choose D = 0.1 in (2.10), then the parameters even satisfy the assumptions (A1)–(A8) for every

$$1.2699 \approx \frac{22}{2\sqrt{10} + 11}$$

with $v_{\infty} = (0, 0)^T$, but neither condition condition (1.20) nor our assumption (A9), since (A9) requires that b < 0. Therefore, in both cases, D = 0 and D = 0.1, the spiral wave is not localized in the sense of Theorem 1.8. But in case of D = 0.1 the spiral wave seems to be Archimedean far away from the center of rotation, i.e. v_{\star} satisfies (9.16). In order to discuss the results concerning the linearization and its associated eigenvalue problem, we recall the translational and rotational velocities of the spiral wave: For D = 0 we have already observed in Example 10.11 that the velocities are given by (10.46). Repeating the computations from Example 2.3 and Example 10.11 with exactly the same setting but with D = 0.1 instead of D = 0 yields the following velocities

$$\mu^{(1)} = -3.195, \quad \mu^{(2)} = -1.570, \quad \mu^{(3)} = 1.957.$$

Thus, compare (10.49),

- (10.62) $\sigma(S_{\star}) = \{\pm \sigma_1 i\}, \quad \sigma_1 = \mu^{(3)} = 2.067, \text{ for } D = 0,$
- (10.63) $\sigma(S_{\star}) = \{\pm \sigma_1 i\}, \quad \sigma_1 = \mu^{(3)} = 1.957, \text{ for } D = 0.1.$

For the computation of the eigenvalue problem (10.61) we use in both cases, i.e. for D = 0 and D = 0.1, continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.5$, homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions and the same parameter values as in (10.54) for the eigenvalue solver. The profile v_{\star} and the velocities $(S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})$ come again from a simulation: First we solve the freezing system (10.45) until time 500, as explained in Example 10.11, then we solve the eigenvalue problem (10.61), where the profile v_{\star} and the velocities $(S_{\star}, \lambda_{\star})$ are chosen as the solution of (10.45) at time t = 500, cf. Figure 10.6(b)-(e) for the case D = 0.



Figure 10.18: Essential and point spectrum of the Barkley model for a spiral wave with d = 2 for the hyperbolic-parabolic case with D = 0 (a) and for the parabolic case with D = 0.1 (b)

Figure 10.18 shows an approximation of the spectrum $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ of \mathcal{L} linearized about the spiral wave v_{\star} for D = 0 (a) and D = 0.1 (b). In Figure 10.14 there are visualized the real parts of the first component of certain eigenfunctions associated to different eigenvalues belonging to the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ for D = 0. Analogously, Figure 10.14 contains the corresponding eigenfunctions for D = 0.1. We next discuss the numerical results in detail:

For both, D = 0 and D = 0.1, the spiral wave does not satisfied the condition (1.20). Therefore, Theorem 1.8, Corollary 8.1, Theorem 9.8, Corollary 9.9 and Theorem 9.10 are not applicable. Nevertheless, in the parabolic case with D = 0.1



Figure 10.19: Eigenfunctions of the Barkley model for a spiral wave with d = 2 (for D = 0)



Figure 10.20: Eigenfunctions of the Barkley model for a spiral wave with d = 2 (for D = 0.1)

the spiral wave is Archimedean far away from the center of rotation and therefore we can apply the theory from Section 9.5. This yields, cf. (9.21),

$$\left\{\lambda^{l}(ik) + i\sigma_{1}\mathbb{Z} \mid k \in \mathbb{R}, \ l = 1, 2\right\} \subseteq \sigma_{\mathrm{ess}}(\mathcal{L}).$$

meaning that the essential spectrum contains infinitely many parabolas $\lambda^{l}(i \cdot)$ that are all opened to the left. The distance between two neighboring turning points of the parabolas equals σ_1 , that can easily be seen in (9.21). In the hyperbolicparabolic case with D = 0, where the diffusion matrix is degenerated and doesn't have full rank, the situation much more involved. The parabolic part generates identically to the case above such a set of parabolas. But in case of D = 0 it is well known, that the hyperbolic part generates additionally a vertical line which is located in the left half-plane and belongs to the essential spectrum. Note that the theory from Section 9.5 does not cover the case for degenerated diffusion matrices.

Figure 10.18(a)-(b) shows the approximations $\sigma_{ess}^{approx}(\mathcal{L})$ of the essential spectrum at a spiral wave for D = 0 (a) and D = 0.1 (b), represented by the red dots. In both pictures we observe on the left an approximation of these infinitely many parabolas. In the left picture we additionally observe an approximation of the vertical line belonging to the essential spectrum that is due to the hyperbolic part. Both, for D = 0 and D = 0.1, the distance of their turning points is approximatively σ_1 . Furthermore, an application of Theorem 9.4 provides a certain part of the point spectrum $\sigma_{point}(\mathcal{L})$ that is located on the imaginary axis and is due to the SE(2)action. These eigenvalues are given by

$$\lambda_1 = i\sigma_1, \quad \lambda_2 = -i\sigma_1, \quad \lambda_3 = 0,$$

and have algebraic multiplicity 1. Their corresponding approximations are illustrated by the blue circles in Figure 10.18(a) for D = 0 and in Figure 10.18(b). Note that Theorem 9.4 does not yield a complete characterization of the point spectrum $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$, meaning that there can exist further eigenvalues belonging to $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$. The approximations of $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ contain in both cases, D = 0 and D = 0.1, one complex-conjugated pair of isolated eigenvalues, represented by the blue crosses in Figure 10.18(a)-(b). The approximation of the point spectrum, denoted by $\sigma_{\text{point}}^{\text{approx}}(\mathcal{L})$, is compound by the eigenvalues visualized by the blue circles and by the blue crosses. The eigenfunctions of the isolated eigenvalues, that are labled by a green square in Figure 10.18(a) and Figure 10.18(b), are visualized in Figure 10.14 and Figure 10.14, respectively. Similar as before, there are illustrated the real parts of the first components of the corresponding eigenfunction. The first three eigenfunctions in Figure 10.14 and Figure 10.14 are approximations of the eigenfunctions from Theorem 9.4, see also Example 9.6. The fourth eigenfunction belongs in both cases to the remaining eigenvalue, which is labeled by a green box. We notice that in both cases the first eigenfunction is an approximation of the rotational term $\langle S_{\star}x, \nabla v_{\star}(x) \rangle$. Finally, we observe that none of these eigenfunctions decay in space.

10.5 Decompose and freeze method for multi-structures

In this section we introduce the **decompose and freeze method**. This method can be considered as an extension of the freezing approach to multi-structures, e.g. multi-fronts and multi-pulses for d = 1 and multi-solitons for d = 2. For some literature about the decompose and freeze method we refer to [17] and [99] for one-dimensional multi-structures and to [16] for one- and two-dimensional multistructures.

Let E denote a module acting on the state space $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ via left multiplication,

$$\bullet: E \times X \to X, \quad (\varphi, u) \mapsto \varphi \bullet u.$$

Moreover, let

$$b: G \to GL(E), \quad \gamma \mapsto b(\gamma)$$

denote the action of the Lie group G on E. Considering the mapping

$$b(\cdot)\varphi: G \to E, \quad \gamma \mapsto b(\gamma)\varphi, \quad \varphi \in E,$$

we require that the actions a and b satisfy the identities

(10.64)
$$a(\gamma) (\varphi \bullet u) = (b(\gamma)\varphi) \bullet (a(\gamma)u), \quad \forall \gamma \in G \forall \varphi \in E \forall u \in X,$$

(10.65)
$$b(\gamma)(\varphi\psi) = (b(\gamma)\varphi)(b(\gamma)\psi), \quad \forall \gamma \in G \forall \varphi, \psi \in E.$$

In practice, given an explicit representation for the action a, one derives a representation for the action b from (10.64), which then must satisfy the property from (10.65). In particular, if we apply (10.65) with $\psi = \varphi^{-1}$ we obtain the equality $1_E = b(\gamma) (\varphi \varphi^{-1}) = (b(\gamma) \varphi) (b(\gamma) (\varphi^{-1}))$, where 1_E denotes the unit element of E. This yields the inverse

$$(b(\gamma)\varphi)^{-1} = b(\gamma) (\varphi^{-1}).$$

In the following we briefly explain the main concept of the decompose and freeze approach for multi-structures, [17], [99], [16]:

Consider a general equivariant evolution equation (10.9). We introduce new functions $\gamma_j(t) \in G$ and $v_j(t) \in Y$ for $j = 1, \ldots, m$ $(m \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and } m \ge 2)$ such that the solution u of (10.9) can be written as

(10.66)
$$u(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} a(\gamma_j(t)) v_j(t), \ 0 \le t < T.$$

Here, $\gamma_i(t) \in G$ denotes the time-dependent position of the pattern $v_i(t) \in Y$.

We now perform a time-dependent partition of unity. For this purpose, we assume $\varphi \in E$ such that the inverse of $\sum_{j=1}^{m} b(\gamma_j)\varphi \in E$ with respect to the multiplication in E exists for every $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_m \in G$ and we denote this inverse $\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} b(\gamma_j)\varphi\right)^{-1}$ by $\frac{1}{\sum_{j=1}^{m} b(\gamma_j)\varphi}$. Inserting the ansatz (10.66) into (10.9) and using the abbreviation $\gamma_i^k(t) = \gamma_j^{-1}(t) \circ \gamma_k(t)$ we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(a(\gamma_j(t))v_{j,t}(t) + d\left[a(\gamma_j(t))v_j(t)\right]\gamma_{j,t}(t)\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{d}{dt}\left[a(\gamma_j(t))v_j(t)\right] \\ &= \frac{d}{dt} \left[\sum_{j=1}^{m} a(\gamma_j(t))v_j(t)\right] = u_t(t) = F(u(t)) = F\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} a(\gamma_j(t))v_j(t)\right) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{m} F\left(a(\gamma_j(t))v_j(t)\right) + \left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} a(\gamma_k(t))v_k(t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} F\left(a(\gamma_k(t))v_k(t)\right)\right] \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{m} a(\gamma_j(t))F(v_j(t)) + a(\gamma_j(t))\left(\frac{\varphi}{\sum_{k=1}^{m} b(\gamma_j^k(t))\varphi}\right) \end{split}$$

•
$$\left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^{N}a(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right)-\sum_{k=1}^{N}F\left(a(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right)\right]\right),$$

where in the last equation we used the following relation

$$\begin{split} & F\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} a(\gamma_{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} F\left(a(\gamma_{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right) \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{m} b(\gamma_{j}(t))\varphi}{\sum_{k=1}^{m} b(\gamma_{k}(t))\varphi} \bullet \left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} a(\gamma_{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} F\left(a(\gamma_{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right)\right] \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{b(\gamma_{j}(t))\varphi}{\sum_{k=1}^{m} b(\gamma_{k}(t))\varphi} \bullet \left[F\left(a(\gamma_{j}(t))\sum_{k=1}^{m} a(\gamma_{j}^{-1}(t)\circ\gamma_{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} F\left(a(\gamma_{j}(t))a(\gamma_{j}^{-1}(t)\circ\gamma_{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right)\right) \\ &- \sum_{k=1}^{m} F\left(a(\gamma_{j}(t))a(\gamma_{j}^{-1}(t)\circ\gamma_{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right)\right] \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{b(\gamma_{j}(t))\varphi}{\sum_{k=1}^{m} b(\gamma_{k}(t))\varphi} \bullet a(\gamma_{j}(t))\left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} a(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} F\left(a(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right)\right] \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{b(\gamma_{j}(t))\varphi}{\sum_{k=1}^{m} b(\gamma_{k}(t))\varphi} \bullet a(\gamma_{j}(t))\left(\varphi \bullet \left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} a(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} F\left(a(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right)\right]\right) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} b(1)b(\gamma_{k}(t))\varphi\right)^{-1} \bullet a(\gamma_{j}(t))\left(\varphi \bullet \left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} a(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} F\left(a(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right)\right]\right) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(b(\gamma_{j}(t))\sum_{k=1}^{m} b(\gamma_{j}^{-1}(t)\circ\gamma_{k}(t))\varphi\right)^{-1} \bullet a(\gamma_{j}(t))\left(\varphi \bullet \left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} a(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} F\left(a(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right)\right\right]\right) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(b(\gamma_{j}(t))\sum_{k=1}^{m} b(\gamma_{j}^{-1}(t)\circ\gamma_{k}(t))\varphi\right)^{-1} \bullet a(\gamma_{j}(t))\left(\varphi \bullet \left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} a(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right)\right\right]\right) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(b(\gamma_{j}(t))\sum_{k=1}^{m} b(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^{m} F\left(a(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right)\right]\right) \end{split}$$

$$=\sum_{j=1}^{m}a(\gamma_{j}(t))\left(\frac{\varphi}{\sum_{k=1}^{m}b(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))\varphi}\bullet\left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m}a(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right)\right.\right.\right.\right.\\\left.\left.\left.-\sum_{k=1}^{m}F\left(a(\gamma_{j}^{k}(t))v_{k}(t)\right)\right]\right)$$

Requiring equality of the summands in $\sum_{j=1}^{m}$ and applying $a(\gamma_j^{-1}(t))$ on both sides in the *j*-th equation we obtain

(10.67)
$$v_{j,t}(t) = F(v_j(t)) - a(\gamma_j^{-1}(t))d\left[a(\gamma_j(t))v_j(t)\right]\gamma_{j,t}(t) + \frac{\varphi}{\sum_{k=1}^m b(\gamma_j^k(t))\varphi} \\ \bullet \left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^m a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^m F\left(a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(t)\right)\right]$$

for $j = 1, \ldots, m$. Next, we introduce $\mu_j(t) \in \mathfrak{g} = T_1 G$ via

(10.68)
$$\gamma_{j,t}(t) = dL_{\gamma_j(t)}(1)\mu_j(t), \ 0 < t < T$$

for every j = 1, ..., m. Using (10.15) once more, equation (10.67) can be written as

(10.69)
$$v_{j,t}(t) = F(v_j(t)) - d\left[a(\mathbb{1})v_j(t)\right] \mu_j(t) + \frac{\varphi}{\sum_{k=1}^m b(\gamma_j^k(t))\varphi}$$
$$\bullet \left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^m a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^m F\left(a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(t)\right) \right].$$

To compensate the extra variables $\mu_j(t)$ for $j = 1, \ldots, m$, we require as in the derivation of the freeze method for single structures $q = \dim \mathfrak{g}$ phase conditions $\Psi(v_j(t), \mu_j(t)) = 0$ for every $j = 1, \ldots, m$, where Ψ is defined by (10.17). Finally, we impose the initial conditions $\gamma_j(0) = \gamma_j^0 \in G$ for equation (10.68) and $v_j(0) = v_j^0$ such that

$$u_0(x) = \sum_{j=1}^m a(\gamma_j^0) v_j^0(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

This leads to the abstract formulation of the decompose and freeze method as a coupled nonlinear system of differential algebraic evolution equations (SDAE)

$$(10.70a) \ v_{j,t}(t) = F(v_j(t)) - d \left[a(1)v_j(t) \right] \mu_j(t) + \frac{\varphi}{\sum_{k=1}^m b(\gamma_j^k(t))\varphi}, \qquad v_j(0) = v_j^0, \\ \bullet \left[F\left(\sum_{k=1}^m a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^m F\left(a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(t)\right) \right] \\ (10.70b) \quad 0 = \Psi(v_j(t), \mu_j(t)), \\ (10.70c) \ \gamma_{j,t}(t) = dL_{\gamma_j(t)}(1)\mu_j(t), \qquad \gamma_j(0) = \gamma_j^0,$$

with abbreviation $\gamma_j^k(t) := \gamma_j^{-1}(t) \circ \gamma_k(t)$. The equations (10.70a) and (10.70c) must be satisfied for t > 0 and (10.70b) for $t \ge 0$. In applications (10.70a) is now a coupled PDE, (10.70b) are algebraic constraints and (10.70c) is an ODE. In contrast to the freezing method for single-structures, the system (10.70a) and the reconstruction equation (10.70c) are coupled, i.e. they must be solved simultaneously. The algebraic constraint can be substituted once more by one of the phase conditions, that we have discussed in Section 10.2.

Example 10.15 (Reaction diffusion systems, Part 4). We continue with Example 10.8. Let the Banach space $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be still given by $(L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N), \|\cdot\|_{L^p})$ for $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$ and $1 . Let <math>E = C_{ub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$, then the module $C_{ub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ acts on X via multiplication

• :
$$C_{\rm ub}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R}) \times X \to X$$
, $(\varphi, u) \mapsto \varphi \bullet u := \varphi u$

The representation for the SE(d)-action a on X and property (10.64) yields that the SE(d)-action b on $C_{ub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ must also be given by

$$b(\cdot)\varphi : \operatorname{SE}(d) \to C_{\operatorname{ub}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}), \quad \gamma = (R, \tau) \mapsto [b(\gamma)\varphi](\cdot) := \varphi(R^{-1}(\cdot - \tau)),$$

i.e. a and b formally coincide. Now, it is straightforward to check that (10.65) is satisfied. Further, let $\varphi \in C_{ub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ be a positive radial bump function such that the main mass is located near zero and $0 < \varphi(x) \leq 1$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, e.g.

 $\varphi(x) = \operatorname{sech}\left(\beta |x|\right)$, for some $\beta > 0$,

then the expression $\sum_{j=1}^{m} b(\gamma_j) \varphi \in C_{ub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ is invertible in $C_{ub}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$ for every $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_m \in SE(d)$.

We introduce new functions $\gamma_j(t) = (R_j(t), \tau_j(t)) \in SE(d)$ and $v_j(\cdot, t) \in Y$ for every $j = 1, \ldots, m$ such that the solution u of (10.10) can be written as

(10.71)
$$u(x,t) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} a(\gamma_j(t))v_j(x,t) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} v\left(R_j^{-1}(t)\left(x - \tau_j(t)\right), t\right),$$

for $t \ge 0$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ with $d \ge 2$. Inserting the freezing ansatz (10.71) into (10.10), using the partition of unity explained above and requiring equality for every summand, yields analogously to (10.67)

(10.72)
$$v_{j,t}(x,t) = A \triangle v_j(x,t) + f(v_j(x,t)) - a(\gamma_j^{-1}(t))d[a(\gamma_j(t))v_j(x,t)]\gamma_{j,t}(t) + \frac{\varphi(x)}{\sum_{k=1}^m b(\gamma_j^k(t))\varphi(x)} \left[f\left(\sum_{k=1}^m a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(x,t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^m f\left(a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(x,t)\right) \right],$$

for $t > 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, j = 1, ..., m and abbreviation $\gamma_j^k(t) := \gamma_j^{-1}(t) \circ \gamma_k(t)$. Introducing $\mu_j(t) = (S_j(t), \lambda_j(t)) \in \mathfrak{se}(d) = T_1 \operatorname{SE}(d)$ via (10.68), i.e.

$$\begin{pmatrix} R_{j,t}(t) \\ \tau_{j,t}(t) \end{pmatrix} = \gamma_{j,t}(t) = dL_{\gamma_j(t)}(\mathbb{1})\mu_j(t) = \begin{pmatrix} R_j(t)S_j(t) \\ R_j(t)\lambda_j(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} R_j(0) \\ \tau_j(0) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R_j^0 \\ \tau_j^0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\gamma_j(t) = (R_j(t), \tau_j(t)) \in SE(d)$, the v_j -equations (10.72) can be transformed into (10.69) with $d[a(1)v_j(x,t)]\mu_j(t)$ given by (10.11). To compensate the extra variables $\mu_j(t)$ we require once more $\frac{d(d+1)}{2} = \dim \mathfrak{se}(d)$ phase conditions $\Psi(v_j(\cdot,t),\mu_j(t)) = 0$ for every $j = 1, \ldots, m$, where Ψ is a function as in (10.25). Possibilities for the choice of phase condition were discussed in Example 10.7. Thus, the decompose and freeze method yields the **coupled nonlinear system of partial differential algebraic evolution equations (SPDAE)**

(10.73a)

$$v_{j,t}(x,t) = A \triangle v_j(x,t) + f(v_j(x,t)) + \langle S_j(t)x + I_d\lambda_j(t), \nabla v_j(x,t) \rangle$$

$$+ \frac{\varphi(x)}{\sum_{k=1}^m b(\gamma_j^k(t))\varphi(x)} \left[f\left(\sum_{k=1}^m a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(x,t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^m f\left(a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(x,t)\right) \right], \quad v_j(x,0) = v_j^0(x)$$

(10.73b)
$$0 = \Psi(v_j(\cdot, t), \mu_j(t)),$$

(10.73c)
$$\begin{pmatrix} R_{j,t}(t) \\ \tau_{j,t}(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R_j(t)S_j(t) \\ R_j(t)\lambda_j(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} R_j(0) \\ \tau_j(0) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R_j^0 \\ \tau_j^0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\gamma_j(t) = (R_j(t), \tau_j(t)) \in SE(d), \ \mu_j(t) = (S_j(t), \lambda_j(t)) \in \mathfrak{se}(d)$ and the argument $\gamma_j^k(t)$ is equal to

$$\gamma_j^k(t) := \gamma_j^{-1}(t) \circ \gamma_k(t) = (R_j(t), \tau_j(t))^{-1} \circ (R_k(t), \tau_k(t))$$

= $(R_j^{-1}(t), -R_j^{-1}(t)\tau_j(t)) \circ (R_k(t), \tau_k(t))$
= $(R_j^{-1}(t)R_k(t), R_j^{-1}(t)(\tau_k(t) - \tau_j(t))).$

10.6 Numerical examples of multi-solitons

In this section we apply the decompose and freeze method to investigate numerically the interaction of multi-solitons. To be more precise, we consider the cubic-quintic complex Ginzburg-Landau equation (QCGL) in two space dimensions and study interaction processes of several spinning solitons. For this purpose we analyze both the nonfrozen equation and the decompose and freeze system. Interaction processes of the QCGL in the nonfrozen case for d = 2 and d = 3 can be found in [78]. Let us briefly discuss the numerical settings.

Generation of initial data. Consider the QCGL from Examples 2.1, 10.9 and 10.12

(10.74)
$$\begin{aligned} u_t = \alpha \triangle u + u \left(\mu + \beta |u|^2 + \gamma |u|^4\right) \\ u(0) = u_0 \end{aligned}$$

with $u : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{C}, u_0 : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}, d \in \{2, 3\}, \alpha, \beta, \gamma, \mu \in \mathbb{C}$ and $\operatorname{Re} \alpha > 0$. For the parameter values (2.4) we already know from Example 2.1(1) and 10.9(1) that single spinning solitons exists, cf. Figure 2.1 for an illustration.

To investigate the interaction of several spinning solitons we need appropriate initial data, that come originally from a simulation. To generate the initial data we solve (10.74) on a circular disk of radius R = 20 until time t = 150. For the numerical computations we use the parameters from (2.4), continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.5$, the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance atol = 10^{-4} , relative tolerance rtol = 10^{-2} and maximal stepsize $\Delta t = 0.1$, homogeneous boundary conditions and initial data

$$u_0^{2D}(x_1, x_2) = \frac{1}{5} \left(x_1 + ix_2 \right) \exp\left(-\frac{x_1^2 + x_2^2}{49} \right).$$

To avoid confusions in the sequal we denote the corresponding solution by $u^{id}(x,t)$.

Computional settings for the nonfrozen system. Now we investigate the interaction of several spinning solitons in the nonfrozen system (10.74). For this purpose we start a second computation and solve (10.74) on a circular disk of radius R = 20 until time t = 150. For the numerical computations we use again the parameters from (2.4), continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.5$, the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance atol = 10^{-6} , relative tolerance rtol = 10^{-2} and maximal stepsize $\Delta t = 0.1$ as well as homogeneous boundary conditions. As initial data u_0 for (10.74) we take the sum of $m \ge 2$ such solitons, shifted a certain distance apart with a possibly shifted phase, i.e. we consider initial data of the form

(10.75)
$$u_0(x) = \sum_{j=1}^m u_j^0 \left(\tilde{R}_j^{-1} \left(x - \tilde{\tau}_j \right) \right), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

with $u_j^0(x) := u^{\mathrm{id}}(x, 150)$ for $|x| \leq R$ and $u_j^0(x) = 0$ for |x| > R, $j = 1, \ldots, m$. This means that $u_j^0(x)$ is the single spinning soliton that we have computed before and which is illustrated in Figure 2.1. The constants $\tilde{\theta}_j$ and $\tilde{\tau}_j$, that are needed to construct the initial data from (10.75) via

(10.76)
$$\tilde{R}_j := \tilde{R}(\tilde{\theta}_j) := \begin{pmatrix} \cos \tilde{\theta}_j & -\sin \tilde{\theta}_j \\ \sin \tilde{\theta}_j & \cos \tilde{\theta}_j \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2,2}, \quad \tilde{\theta}_j \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \tilde{\tau}_j \in \mathbb{R}^2,$$

are chosen explicitly in the examples below for every j = 1, ..., m. Now, the solution u(x, t) of (10.74) describes an interaction process of multi-solitons in the nonfrozen case.

In the numerical computations occur three different situations: If the distance of the centers of rotation $\tilde{\tau}_j$ is large enough and the phases are shifted identically, the solitons repel each other and a multi-structure consisting of m spinning solitons stabilizes. This behavior we call a **weak interaction**. If the distance is small and the phases are shifted identically, the solitons collide into a single spinning soliton. This behavior we call a **strong interaction**. If the phases are shifted differently and the distance of the centers of rotation is small enough, a permanent collision process will occur. This behavior we call a **phase shift interaction**.

Computational settings for the decompose and freeze system. We are now interested into that what happens with the shape of the profiles and their corresponding velocities during the interaction process of the spinning solitons. To investigate this numerically, we consider the coupled nonlinear system of partial differential equations for the QCGL

$$v_{j,t}(x,t) = A \triangle v_j(x,t) + f(v_j(x,t)) + \langle S_j(t)x + I_d\lambda_j(t), \nabla v_j(x,t) \rangle$$

(10.77a)
$$+ \frac{\varphi(x)}{\sum_{k=1}^m b(\gamma_j^k(t))\varphi(x)} \left[f\left(\sum_{k=1}^m a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(x,t)\right) - \sum_{k=1}^m f\left(a(\gamma_j^k(t))v_k(x,t)\right) \right], \quad v_j(x,0) = v_j^0(x)$$

(10.77b)
$$\begin{array}{l} 0 = \operatorname{Re} \left(v_j - \hat{v}_j, \left(x_k D_i - x_i D_k \right) \hat{v}_j \right)_{L^2}, \ i = 1, \dots, d-1, \ k = i-1, \dots, d \\ 0 = \operatorname{Re} \left(v_j - \hat{v}_j, D_l \hat{v}_j \right)_{L^2}, \ l = 1, \dots, d, \end{array}$$

(10.77c)
$$\begin{pmatrix} R_{j,t}(t) \\ \tau_{j,t}(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R_j(t)S_j(t) \\ R_j(t)\lambda_j(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} R_j(0) \\ \tau_j(0) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R_j^0 \\ \tau_j^0 \end{pmatrix},$$

for j = 1, ..., m, with parameters $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \mu \in \mathbb{C}$, $\operatorname{Re} \alpha > 0$ and nonlinearity

$$f: \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}, \quad f(v) = v \left(\mu + \beta |v|^2 + \gamma |v|^4 \right).$$

In the examples below we compute the solution of (10.77) on a circular disk of radius R = 20 that is centered at the origin. For the numerical computations we used the same settings as for the nonfrozen case above, i.e. we use the parameters from (2.4), continuous piecewise linear finite elements with maximal stepsize $\Delta x = 0.5$, the BDF method of order 2 with absolute tolerance atol = 10^{-6} , relative tolerance rtol = 10^{-2} and maximal stepsize $\Delta t = 0.1$ as well as homogeneous boundary conditions. Moreover, we equip (10.77) with initial data

(10.78)
$$v_j^0(x) = u_j^0(x), \quad R_j^0 = \tilde{R}(\theta_j^0), \quad \theta_j^0 = \tilde{\theta}_j \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \tau_j^0 = \tilde{\tau}_j \in \mathbb{R}^2$$

for every j = 1, ..., m. Finally, the bump function is given by

(10.79)
$$\varphi(x) = \frac{2}{e^{b|x|} + e^{-b|x|}} = \frac{1}{\cosh b|x|} = \operatorname{sech} b|x|, \quad b \in \mathbb{R},$$

with b = 0.5 and the reference functions $\hat{v}_j(x) = v_j^0(x)$ for j = 1, 2.

Let u(x,t) denote the solution of the nonfrozen system (10.74) and let v(x,t) denote the solution of the decompose and freeze system (10.77), then we can expect that the time evolution of the interaction process is approximatively

(10.80)
$$u(x,t) \approx \sum_{j=1}^{m} v_j \left(R_j^{-1}(t) \left(x - \tau_j(t) \right), t \right),$$

i.e. the right hand side, called the **superposition**, approximates the solution of (10.74), where $(v_j, (R_j, \tau_j))$ denotes the solution of (10.77). This will be checked in the examples below. For the numerical computations we use Comsol MultiphysicsTM, [1].

Example 10.16 (Weak interaction of two spinning solitons in 2D). In this example we investigate the weak interaction of two spinning solitions in two space dimensions. To make ourself familiar with the behavior of weak interaction involving

two spinning solitons we first discuss the results of the nonfrozen system (10.74). Afterwards we discuss the results of the decompose and freeze system (10.77).



Figure 10.21: Initial data for weak interaction of 2 spinning solitons in 2D



Figure 10.22: Time evolution for weak interaction of 2 spinning solitons in 2D

Figure 10.22 shows the real part of the time evolution for the weak interaction of two spinning solitons in \mathbb{R}^2 as the solution of (10.74) at time t = 12.6, 75.0 and 150.0 in (a)-(c). For the numerical computation we used (10.76) with m = 2 and

(10.81)
$$\tilde{\theta}_1 = \tilde{\theta}_2 = 0, \quad \tilde{\tau}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} -4\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\tau}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 4\\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

i.e. the initial data for (10.74) are the sum of two spinning solitons centered at $\pm(4,0)$ and without phase shift. Figure 10.21 shows the real part (a), imaginary part (b) and the absolute value (c) of the initial function u_0 from (10.75). The colorbars in Figure 10.21 and 10.22 are scaled from -1.65 (blue) to 1.65 (red). In Figure 10.22 we observe that the solitons repel from each other and they change their position clockwise. We next discuss the results obtained by the decompose and freeze method, cf. (10.77).

Figure 10.23 illustrates the corresponding results for the decompose and freeze method (10.77) in \mathbb{R}^2 for m = 2. For the numerical computation we used the initial data (10.78) with parameters from (10.81). Figure 10.23(d)-(e) shows the real parts of the single profiles v_1 in (d) and v_2 in (e) at time t = 150. We observe that each of these profiles possess the shape of a spinning soliton. Figure 10.23(f) illustrates the time evolution for the positions of these two profiles from t = 0 to t = 150. The



Figure 10.23: Weak interaction of 2 spinning solitons in 2D with decompose and freeze method

blue and the red line describes the curve for the position of v_1 and v_2 , respectively. The positions at the end time t = 150 are represented by the blue and the red circle. The pointers that are fixated at each circle represent the current phase position. We observe that the positions travel clockwise on a circle. Since the positions at time t = 150 are

$$p_1(150) = \begin{pmatrix} -4.155\\ 2.916 \end{pmatrix}, \quad p_2(150) = \begin{pmatrix} 4.265\\ -3.021 \end{pmatrix},$$

we deduce that $|p_1(150) - p_2(150)| = 10.3026$ and expect that the circle has approximatively the radius $R_{\text{circ}} = 5.1513$. Therefore, the distance of the solitons has grown up from 8 to 10.3026, meaning that the solitons repel. In particular, the phases seem to coincide. Figure 10.23(g)-(i) shows the velocities: the translational velocities in x_1 -direction (g) and in x_2 -direction (h) as well as the angular velocities in the x_1 - x_2 -plane (i). Note that $\mu_j = \left(\mu_j^{(1)}, \mu_j^{(2)}, \mu_j^{(3)}\right)^T$ are the velocities for

the *j*th profile v_j , j = 1, 2. We observe e.g. in Figure 10.23(g) that $\mu_1^{(1)}(t)$ and $\mu_2^{(1)}(t)$ are periodic in time with period $T_{x_1}^{2D} \approx 6.2$ and that $\mu_1^{(1)}(t)$ and $\mu_2^{(1)}(t)$ are shifted from each other by the value 3.1, which equals the half period length. A similar behavior we observe in Figure 10.23(h) for $\mu_1^{(2)}$ and $\mu_2^{(2)}$. In contrary to the translational velocities, the angular velocities $\mu_1^{(3)}$ and $\mu_2^{(3)}$ are just also periodic and their periods coincide but there seems to be no shift between their curves. Figure 10.23(a)-(c) shows the time evolution for the real part of the superposition, cf. (10.80), at time t = 12.6, 75.0 and 150.0. Since the superposition can be considered as an approximation for the solution of (10.74), we compare the results illustrated in Figure 10.22(a)-(c) with those from Figure 10.23(a)-(c). Here, we observe that the decompose and freeze method after long time yields a certain phase shift, but the centers of rotation are good approximated. Altogether, the decompose and freeze method after long time yields a certain phase shift, but the centers of rotation are good approximated. Altogether, the decompose and freeze method states long time yields a certain phase shift, but the centers of rotation are good approximated.

Example 10.17 (Strong interaction of two spinning solitons in 2D). In this example we investigate the strong interaction of two spinning solitons in two space dimensions. To establish a better understanding for the strong interaction of two spinning solitons we first discuss the results for the nonfrozen system (10.74) and then we discuss the results of the decompose and freeze system (10.77).



Figure 10.24: Initial data for strong interaction of 2 spinning solitons in 2D

Figure 10.25 shows the real parts of the time evolution for the strong interaction of two spinning solitons in \mathbb{R}^2 as the solution of (10.74) at time t = 4.2, 10.8, 11.7 in (a)-(c) and at time t = 15.3, 18.0, 35.1 in (d)-(f). For the numerical computation we used (10.76) with m = 2 and

(10.82)
$$\tilde{\theta}_1 = \tilde{\theta}_2 = 0, \quad \tilde{\tau}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} -3.75\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\tau}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 3.75\\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

i.e. the two spinning solitons are now centered at $\pm(3.75,0)$ and without phase shift. Figure 10.24 shows the real part (a), imaginary part (b) and the absolute value (c) of the initial function u_0 from (10.75). The colorbar is again scaled from -1.65 (blue) to 1.65 (red). In Figure 10.25 we observe that the clockwise rotating solitons collide and produce a single spinning soliton that rotates about the origin with the same velocity as each of these two solitons before the collision. We next discuss the results obtained by the decompose and freeze method, cf. (10.77).



Figure 10.25: Time evolution for strong interaction of 2 spinning solitons in 2D

Figure 10.26 illustrates the correspondig results of the decompose and freeze method (10.77) in \mathbb{R}^2 for m = 2. For the numerical computation we used the initial data (10.78) with parameters from (10.82). Figure 10.26(d)-(e) shows the real parts of the single profiles v_1 in (d) and v_2 in (e) at time t = 150. At first glance the profiles v_1 and v_2 look very strange but on closer inspection we observe that their sum equals the real part of a single spinning solition. This tells us that every profile v_1 and v_2 contains a certain portion of the single spinning soliton. Figure 10.26(f) illustrates the time evolution for the positions of these two profiles from t = 0 to t = 150. The blue and the red line describes the curve for the position of v_1 and v_2 , respectively. The positions at the end time t = 150 are represented by the blue and the red circle. The pointers that are fixated at each circle represent the current phase position. We observe, in contrast to the weak interaction, that the positions in case of strong interaction travel counter-clockwise on a circle. Since the positions at time t = 150 are

$$p_1(150) = \begin{pmatrix} -0.1013\\ -1.0114 \end{pmatrix}, \quad p_2(150) = \begin{pmatrix} 0.1250\\ 0.9204 \end{pmatrix}$$

we deduce that their distance is given by $|p_1(150) - p_2(150)| = 1.9450$. Therefore, we expect that the circle has approximatively the radius $R_{\rm circ} = 0.9725$. Note that the knowledge about the distance of the positions doesn't permit us to make any conclusions about the distance of the solitons and vice versa. In particular, the phases seem to coincide. Note that the lines forming the boundary of the circle are a little bit wavy. This seems to be caused by the homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions. In case of homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions these lines form a smooth circular curve. Figure 10.26(g)-(i) show the velocities: the translational



Figure 10.26: Strong interaction of 2 spinning solitons in 2D with decompose and freeze method

velocities in x_1 -direction (g) and in x_2 -direction (h) as well as the angular velocities in the x_1 - x_2 -plane (i). Recall that $\mu_j = \left(\mu_j^{(1)}, \mu_j^{(2)}, \mu_j^{(3)}\right)^T$ are the velocities for the *j*th profile v_j , j = 1, 2. Similar to the case of weak interaction, we observe e.g. in Figure 10.26(g) that $\mu_1^{(1)}(t)$ and $\mu_2^{(1)}(t)$ are periodic in time with period $T_{x_1}^{2D} \approx 6.0$ and that $\mu_1^{(1)}(t)$ and $\mu_2^{(1)}(t)$ approximatively satisfy the property $\mu_1^{(1)}(t) = -\mu_2^{(1)}(t)$. A similar behavior can be discovered in Figure 10.26(h) for $\mu_1^{(2)}$ and $\mu_2^{(2)}$. Note that the collision process that takes time from t = 0 to $t \approx 35$ can also be observed in the curves of the velocities. Figure 10.26(a)-(c) shows the time evolution for the real part of the superposition, cf. (10.80), at time t = 10.8, 15.3 and 35.1. A comparison of the results illustrated in Figure 10.26(a)-(c) with those from Figure 10.25(b),(d),(f) shows that the decompose and freeze method yields a very good reproduction of the collision process. **Example 10.18** (Phase shift interaction of two spinning solitons in 2D). In the following example we analyze the phase shift interaction of two spinning solitons in two space dimensions. Similar as in the examples above, we first discuss the results for the nonfrozen system (10.74), then the results for the decompose and freeze system (10.77).



Figure 10.27: Initial data for phase shift interaction of 2 spinning solitons in 2D



Figure 10.28: Time evolution for phase shift interaction of 2 spinning solitons in 2D

Figure 10.28 illustrates the real parts of the time evolution for the phase shift interaction of two spinning solitons in \mathbb{R}^2 as the solution of (10.74) at time t = 23.7, 26.4, 27.9 in (a)-(c) and at time t = 72.6, 75.3, 77.1 in (d)-(f). For the numerical computation we used (10.76) with m = 2 and

(10.83)
$$\tilde{\theta}_1 = 0, \quad \tilde{\theta}_2 = \pi, \quad \tilde{\tau}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} -4 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\tau}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 4 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

i.e. the first soliton is centered at $\pm(-4,0)$ without phase shift and the second soliton is centered at (4,0) and rotated by 180 degrees. Figure 10.27 shows the real part (a), imaginary part (b) and the absolute value (c) of the initial function u_0 from (10.75). The colorbar reaches from -1.65 (blue) to 1.65 (red). In Figure 10.25 we observe that each soliton rotates clockwise about its respective center of rotation. Moreover, the real part, imaginary part and absolute value of the complete structure rotates additionally about the origin. This is in strong contrast to the examples of weak and strong interaction above. In particular, the phase shift seems to prevent the collision of the solitons. We next discuss the results obtained by the decompose and freeze method, cf. (10.77).



Figure 10.29: Phase shift interaction of 2 spinning solitons in 2D with decompose and freeze method

Figure 10.29 visualizes the numerical results of the decompose and freeze method (10.77) in \mathbb{R}^2 for m = 2. For the numerical computation we used the initial data (10.78) with parameters from (10.83). Figure 10.29(d)-(e) show the real part of the single profiles v_1 in (d) and v_2 in (e) at time t = 150. Even though we have a phase-

shift interaction without interruption, we observe, similarly to the case of weakly interacting solitons, that both profiles coincide with each other. Figure 10.29(f) illustrates the time evolution for the positions of these two profiles from t = 0 to t = 150. The blue and the red line describes once more the curve for the position of v_1 and v_2 , respectively. The positions at the end time t = 150 are represented by the blue and the red circle. The pointers that are fixated at each circle represent the current phase position. Similar to the case of strong interaction, the positions travel counter-clockwise on a circle. The positions at time t = 150 are

$$p_1(150) = \begin{pmatrix} 2.845\\ 1.324 \end{pmatrix}, \quad p_2(150) = \begin{pmatrix} -2.854\\ -1.327 \end{pmatrix}$$

and hence their distance is given by $|p_1(150) - p_2(150)| = 6.2854$. Consequently, we expect that the circle has approximatively the radius $R_{\text{circ}} = 3.1427$. In particular, as indicated by the pointers the time evolution preserves the initial shift. Figure 10.29(g)-(i) show the velocities: the translational velocities in x_1 -direction (g), in x_2 -direction (h) and the angular velocities in the x_1 - x_2 -plane (i). Recall that $\mu_j =$ $\left(\mu_j^{(1)}, \mu_j^{(2)}, \mu_j^{(3)}\right)^T$ are the velocities for the *j*th profile v_j , j = 1, 2. The velocities $\mu_1^{(1)}(t)$ and $\mu_2^{(1)}(t)$ are again periodic in time with period $T_{x_1}^{2D} \approx 5.8$, but in contrast to the strong interaction, the translational velocities in x_1 -direction now satisfy approximatively $\mu_1^{(1)}(t) = \mu_2^{(1)}(t)$, i.e. with positive sign. Figure 10.29(a)-(c) show the time evolution for the real part of the superposition, cf. (10.80), at time t =26.4, 72.6 and 77.1. Note that the colorbar is now scaled from -1.7 (blue) to 1.7 (red). A comparison of the results from Figure 10.29(a)-(c) with those from Figure 10.28(b),(d),(f) shows that the decompose and freeze method provides us a good reproduction of the phase-shift collision process but admits a certain phase difference, that develops over long time.

Example 10.19 (Weak interaction of three spinning solitons in 2D). We now expand the investigations from Example 10.16 and analyze the weak interaction of three spinning solitons in two space dimensions. As usual, we first discuss the results for the nonfrozen system (10.74) and afterward we discuss the results of the decompose and freeze system (10.77)



Figure 10.30: Initial data for weak interaction of 3 spinning solitons in 2D



Figure 10.31: Time evolution for weak interaction of 3 spinning solitons in 2D

Figure 10.31 shows the real part of the time evolution for the weak interaction of three spinning solitons in \mathbb{R}^2 as the solution of (10.74) at time t = 15.0, 75.0 and 150.0 in (a)-(c). For the numerical computation we used (10.76) with m = 3 and

(10.84)
$$\tilde{\tau}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} r \cos \frac{\pi}{2} \\ r \sin \frac{\pi}{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\tau}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} r \cos \frac{7\pi}{6} \\ r \sin \frac{7\pi}{6} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\tau}_3 = \begin{pmatrix} r \cos \frac{11\pi}{6} \\ r \sin \frac{11\pi}{6} \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\tilde{\theta}_1 = \tilde{\theta}_2 = \tilde{\theta}_3 = 0, \quad r = \frac{2 \cdot 5}{\sqrt{3}},$$

i.e. as initial data for (10.74) we use the sum of three not phase shifted spinning solitons that are put on the vertices of an equilateral triangle. The numerator of r, that equals 10, describes the distance of two different $\tilde{\tau}_j$. The constant $r = \frac{2\cdot5}{\sqrt{3}} \approx 5.7735$ itself denotes the radius of the circumcircle, which is known to be the circumradius. In complex notation the centers $\tilde{\tau}_j$ are located on the circle $re^{i\varphi}$ with $\varphi = \frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{7\pi}{6}, \frac{11\pi}{6}$. Figure 10.30 shows the real part (a), imaginary part (b) and the absolute value (c) of the initial function u_0 from (10.75). The colorbars in Figure 10.30 and 10.31 are scaled from -1.65 (blue) to 1.65 (red). Similar to the case of two weakly interacting solitons from Example 10.16, we observe that the solitons repel of each other and that they change their positions clockwise. We next discuss the results obtained by the decompose and freeze method, cf. (10.77).

Figure 10.32 illustrates the corresponding results for the decompose and freeze method (10.77) in \mathbb{R}^2 for m = 3. For the numerical computation we used the initial data (10.78) with parameters from (10.84). Figure 10.32(d)-(f) shows the real parts of the single profiles v_1 in (d), v_2 in (e) and v_3 in (f) at time t = 150. We observe that each of these profiles possess the shape of a spinning soliton. Figure 10.32(j) illustrates the time evolution for the positions of these three profiles from t = 0 to t = 150. The blue, the red and the green line describes the curve for the position of v_1 , v_2 and v_3 , respectively. The positions at the end time t = 150 are represented by the blue, red and green circle. The pointers that are fixated at each circle represent the current phase position. We observe that the positions at time t = 150are

$$p_1(150) = \begin{pmatrix} 2.331\\ 5.625 \end{pmatrix}, \quad p_2(150) = \begin{pmatrix} -6.050\\ -0.832 \end{pmatrix}, \quad p_3(150) = \begin{pmatrix} 3.734\\ -4.862 \end{pmatrix},$$



Figure 10.32: Weak interaction of 3 spinning solitons in 2D with decompose and freeze method.

we deduce that $|p_i(150) - p_j(150)| = 10.58$ for every $i, j \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ with $i \neq j$. Therefore, the distance of two different centers has grown up from 10 to 10.58, meaning that the solitons repel. In particular, we observe that the circumradius increases from 5.7735 to $R_{\text{circ}} \approx \frac{\sqrt{3}}{3} \cdot 10.58 = 6.10$. Figure 10.32(g)-(i) shows the velocities: the translational velocities in x_1 -direction (g) and in x_2 -direction (h) as well
as the angular velocities in the x_1 - x_2 -plane (i). Note that $\mu_j = \left(\mu_j^{(1)}, \mu_j^{(2)}, \mu_j^{(3)}\right)^T$ are the velocities for the *j*th profile v_j , j = 1, 2, 3. We observe e.g. in Figure 10.32(g) that $\mu_1^{(1)}(t), \mu_2^{(1)}(t)$ and $\mu_3^{(1)}(t)$ are periodic in time with period $T_{x_1}^{2D} \approx 6.1$, which is approximatively 2π , and that $\mu_1^{(1)}(t), \mu_2^{(1)}(t)$ and $\mu_3^{(1)}(t)$ are shifted from each other by the value 2.03, which is approximatively $\frac{2\pi}{3}$, i.e. one third of the period length. The same behavior we observe in Figure 10.32(h) for $\mu_1^{(2)}, \mu_2^{(2)}$ and $\mu_3^{(2)}$. The angular velocities $\mu_1^{(3)}, \mu_2^{(3)}$ and $\mu_3^{(3)}$ are periodic with period $T_{(x_1,x_2)}^{2D} \approx 3.0$, that could be π , approximatively. But in contrast to Example 10.16, their curves are also shifted from each other by the value 1.0, which is approximatively $\frac{\pi}{3}$, i.e. one third of the period length. Figure 10.32(a)-(c) shows the time evolution for the real part of the superposition, cf. (10.80), at time t = 15.0, 75.0 and 150.0. Since the superposition can be considered as an approximation for the solution of (10.74), we compare the results illustrated in Figure 10.22(a)-(c) with those from Figure 10.32(a)-(c). Here, we observe that the decompose and freeze method after long time yields a certain phase shift, but the centers of rotation are good approximated.

Example 10.20 (Strong interaction of three spinning solitons in 2D). In the last example we expand the investigations from Example 10.17 and investigate the strong interaction of three spinning solitons in two space dimensions. We again first discuss the results for the nonfrozen system (10.74) and then we discuss the results of the decompose and freeze system (10.77).



Figure 10.33: Initial data for strong interaction of 3 spinning solitons in 2D

Figure 10.34 shows the real part of the time evolution for the strong interaction of three spinning solitons in \mathbb{R}^2 as the solution of (10.74) at time t = 2.1, 5.1, 8.4 in (a)-(c) and at time t = 12.0, 19.8, 50.1 in (d)-(f). For the numerical computation we used (10.76) with m = 3 and

(10.85)
$$\tilde{\tau}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} r \cos \frac{\pi}{2} \\ r \sin \frac{\pi}{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\tau}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} r \cos \frac{7\pi}{6} \\ r \sin \frac{7\pi}{6} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\tau}_3 = \begin{pmatrix} r \cos \frac{11\pi}{6} \\ r \sin \frac{11\pi}{6} \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\tilde{\theta}_1 = \tilde{\theta}_2 = \tilde{\theta}_3 = 0, \quad r = \frac{2 \cdot 3.75}{\sqrt{3}},$$

i.e. as initial data for (10.74) we use the sum of three not phase shifted spinning solitons that are put on the vertices of an equilateral triangle. The distance of two different $\tilde{\tau}_j$ is chosen to be 7.5 and thus the circumradius equals $r = \frac{2 \cdot 3.75}{\sqrt{3}} \approx 4.3301$.



Figure 10.34: Time evolution for strong interaction of 3 spinning solitons in 2D

Figure 10.33 shows the real part (a), imaginary part (b) and the absolute value (c) of the initial function u_0 from (10.75). The colorbars in Figure 10.33 and 10.34 are scaled from -1.65 (blue) to 1.65 (red). Similar to the case of two strongly interacting solitons from Example 10.17, we observe that the solitons collide into a single spinning soliton that rotates about the origin with the same velocity as each of these three solitions before the collision. We next discuss the results obtained by the decompose and freeze method, cf. (10.77).

Figure 10.35 illustrates the corresponding results for the decompose and freeze method (10.77) in \mathbb{R}^2 for m = 3. For the numerical computation we used the initial data (10.78) with parameters from (10.85). Figure 10.35(d)-(f) shows the real parts of the single profiles v_1 in (d), v_2 in (e) and v_3 in (f) at time t = 150. Similar as in Example 10.17 the profiles look very strange. But their superposition (10.80) that is depicted in Figure 10.35(c) shows the real part of a single spinning soliton. This tells us one more that every profile v_1 , v_2 and v_3 contains a certain portion of the single spinning soliton. Figure 10.35(j) illustrates the time evolution for the positions of these three profiles from t = 0 to t = 150. The blue, the red and the green line describes the curve for the position of v_1 , v_2 and v_3 , respectively. The positions at the end time t = 150 are represented by the blue, red and green circle. The pointers that are fixated at each circle represent the current phase position. We observe that the positions travel clockwise on a circle, which is in contrast to the strong interaction of two spinning solitons from Example 10.17. Their phases are equal at the end time. Since the positions at time t = 150 are

$$p_1(150) = \begin{pmatrix} -1.1520 \\ -0.3108 \end{pmatrix}, \quad p_2(150) = \begin{pmatrix} 0.8207 \\ -0.8348 \end{pmatrix}, \quad p_3(150) = \begin{pmatrix} 0.2992 \\ 1.1330 \end{pmatrix},$$



Figure 10.35: Strong interaction of 3 spinning solitons in 2D with decompose and freeze method

we deduce that $|p_i(150) - p_j(150)| = 2.04$ for every $i, j \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ with $i \neq j$. This shows that the distance of two different centers has plummeted from 7.5 to 2.04. In particular, we observe that the circumradius decreases from 4.3301 to $R_{\text{circ}} \approx \frac{\sqrt{3}}{3} \cdot 2.04 = 1.1778$. The boundary of the circle is wavy again, which is similar to the case of two strongly interaction solitons from Example 10.17. Figure 10.35(g)-(i) shows the velocities: the translational velocities in x_1 -direction (g) and in x_2 -direction (h) as well as the angular velocities in the x_1 - x_2 -plane (i). Note that $\mu_j = \left(\mu_j^{(1)}, \mu_j^{(2)}, \mu_j^{(3)}\right)^T$ are the velocities for the *j*th profile v_j , j = 1, 2, 3. Similar to the previous examples we observe in Figure 10.35(g) that $\mu_1^{(1)}(t), \mu_2^{(1)}(t)$ and $\mu_3^{(1)}(t)$ are periodic in time with period $T_{x_1}^{2D} \approx 6.0$, which is approximatively 2π , and that $\mu_1^{(1)}(t), \mu_2^{(1)}(t)$ and $\mu_3^{(1)}(t)$ are shifted from each other by the value 2.0, which is approximatively $\frac{2\pi}{3}$, i.e. one third of the period length. The same behavior we observe in Figure 10.35(h) for $\mu_1^{(2)}, \mu_2^{(2)}$ and $\mu_3^{(2)}$. The angular velocities $\mu_1^{(3)}, \mu_2^{(3)}$ and $\mu_3^{(3)}$ converge to 1.027. Moreover, we observe that their graphs are congruent with each other and that they are not periodic in time. Note that the collision process that takes time from t = 0 to t = 70 which can also be observed in the velocity diagrams from Figure 10.35(g)-(i). Figure 10.35(a)-(c) shows the time evolution for the real part of the superposition, cf. (10.80), at time t = 5.1, 12.0 and 50.1. Finally, comparing the results illustrated in Figure 10.25(b),(d),(f) with those from Figure 10.35(a)-(c), we realize that the decompose and freeze method gives a good reproduction of the strong interaction process of three spinning solitons.

Bibliography

- [1] COMSOL MULTIPHYSICS 3.5A, 2008. http://www.comsol.com.
- [2] MATHEMATICA 8, 2011. http://www.wolfram.com/mathematica/.
- [3] J. Aarão. A transport equation of mixed type. J. Differential Equations, 150(1):188-202, 1998.
- [4] J. Aarão. Fundamental solutions for some partial differential operators from fluid dynamics and statistical physics. SIAM Rev., 49(2):303–314, 2007.
- [5] H. Abou-Kandil, G. Freiling, V. Ionescu, and G. Jank. *Matrix Riccati equations*. Systems & Control: Foundations & Applications. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2003. In control and systems theory.
- [6] V. V. Afanasjev, N. Akhmediev, and J. M. Soto-Crespo. Three forms of localized solutions of the quintic complex ginzburg-landau equation. *Phys. Rev. E*, 53:1931–1939, Feb 1996.
- [7] H. W. Alt. *Lineare Funktionalanalysis*. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2006.
- [8] H. Amann and J. Escher. *Analysis. III.* Grundstudium Mathematik. [Basic Study of Mathematics]. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2001.
- [9] M. Bär and M. Eiswirth. Turbulence due to spiral breakup in a continuous excitable medium. *Phys. Rev. E*, 48:R1635–R1637, Sep 1993.
- [10] D. Barkley. A model for fast computer simulation of waves in excitable media. *Phys. D*, 49(1-2):61–70, Apr 1991.
- [11] D. Barkley. Euclidean symmetry and the dynamics of rotating spiral waves. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 72:164–167, Jan 1994.
- [12] D. Barkley. Barkley model. *Scholarpedia*, 3(10):1877, 2008.
- [13] H. Bauer. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie. de Gruyter Lehrbuch. [de Gruyter Textbook]. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, fifth edition, 2002.
- [14] R. Beals. A note on fundamental solutions. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 24(1-2):369–376, 1999.
- [15] W.-J. Beyn and J. Lorenz. Nonlinear stability of rotating patterns. Dyn. Partial Differ. Equ., 5(4):349–400, 2008.

- [16] W.-J. Beyn, D. Otten, and J. Rottmann-Matthes. Stability and computation of dynamic patterns in pdes. In *Current Challenges in Stability Issues for Numerical Differential Equations*, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 89– 172. Springer International Publishing, 2014.
- [17] W.-J. Beyn, S. Selle, and V. Thümmler. Freezing multipulses and multifronts. SIAM J. Appl. Dyn. Syst., 7(2):577–608, 2008.
- [18] W.-J. Beyn and V. Thümmler. Freezing solutions of equivariant evolution equations. SIAM J. Appl. Dyn. Syst., 3(2):85–116 (electronic), 2004.
- [19] W.-J. Beyn and V. Thümmler. Phase conditions, symmetries and PDE continuation. In *Numerical continuation methods for dynamical systems*, Underst. Complex Syst., pages 301–330. Springer, Dordrecht, 2007.
- [20] W.-J. Beyn and V. Thümmler. Dynamics of patterns in nonlinear equivariant PDEs. GAMM-Mitt., 32(1):7–25, 2009.
- [21] P. Boily. Spiral waves and the dynamical system approach. ArXiv 0601033, 2006.
- [22] O. Calin, D.-C. Chang, K. Furutani, and C. Iwasaki. *Heat kernels for elliptic and sub-elliptic operators*. Applied and Numerical Harmonic Analysis. Birkhäuser/Springer, New York, 2011. Methods and techniques.
- [23] S. Chandresekhar. Stochastic problems in physics and astronomy. Rev. Modern Phys., 15:1–89, 1943.
- [24] C. Chicone. Ordinary differential equations with applications, volume 34 of Texts in Applied Mathematics. Springer, New York, second edition, 2006.
- [25] P. Chossat and R. Lauterbach. Methods in equivariant bifurcations and dynamical systems, volume 15 of Advanced Series in Nonlinear Dynamics. World Scientific Publishing Co. Inc., River Edge, NJ, 2000.
- [26] A. Cialdea and V. Maz'ya. Criterion for the L^p-dissipativity of second order differential operators with complex coefficients. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 84(8):1067–1100, 2005.
- [27] L.-C. Crasovan, B. A. Malomed, and D. Mihalache. Stable vortex solitons in the two-dimensional ginzburg-landau equation. *Phys. Rev. E*, 63:016605, Dec 2000.
- [28] L.-C. Crasovan, B. A. Malomed, and D. Mihalache. Spinning solitons in cubic-quintic nonlinear media. *Pramana-journal of Physics*, 57:1041–1059, 2001.
- [29] G. Da Prato and A. Lunardi. On the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator in spaces of continuous functions. J. Funct. Anal., 131(1):94–114, 1995.

- [30] G. Da Prato and J. Zabczyk. Second order partial differential equations in Hilbert spaces, volume 293 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002.
- [31] C. Davis. Extending the kantorovič inequality to normal matrices. *Linear Algebra and its Applications*, 31(0):173 177, 1980.
- [32] M. Dowle, R. M. Mantel, and D. Barkley. Fast simulations of waves in threedimensional excitable media. *Internat. J. Bifur. Chaos Appl. Sci. Engrg.*, 7(11):2529–2545, 1997.
- [33] A. Durán and J. M. Sanz-Serna. The numerical integration of relative equilibrium solutions. The nonlinear Schrödinger equation. *IMA J. Numer. Anal.*, 20(2):235–261, 2000.
- [34] K.-J. Engel and R. Nagel. One-parameter semigroups for linear evolution equations, volume 194 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2000. With contributions by S. Brendle, M. Campiti, T. Hahn, G. Metafune, G. Nickel, D. Pallara, C. Perazzoli, A. Rhandi, S. Romanelli and R. Schnaubelt.
- [35] B. Fiedler, editor. Handbook of dynamical systems. Vol. 2. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2002.
- [36] B. Fiedler and R. M. Mantel. Crossover collision of scroll wave filaments. Doc. Math., 5:695–731 (electronic), 2000.
- [37] B. Fiedler, B. Sandstede, A. Scheel, and C. Wulff. Bifurcation from relative equilibria of noncompact group actions: skew products, meanders, and drifts. *Doc. Math.*, 1:No. 20, 479–505 (electronic), 1996.
- [38] B. Fiedler and A. Scheel. Spatio-temporal dynamics of reaction-diffusion patterns. In *Trends in nonlinear analysis*, pages 23–152. Springer, Berlin, 2003.
- [39] M. J. Field. Dynamics and symmetry, volume 3 of ICP Advanced Texts in Mathematics. Imperial College Press, London, 2007.
- [40] D. Gilbarg and N. S. Trudinger. *Elliptic partial differential equations of second* order. Springer, Berlin [u.a.], 2010.
- [41] B. Goldys. On analyticity of Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroups. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. Rend. Lincei (9) Mat. Appl., 10(3):131– 140, 1999.
- [42] G. Golub and C. Van Loan. *Matrix Computations*. Johns Hopkins Studies in the Mathematical Sciences. Johns Hopkins University Press, 2012.
- [43] M. Golubitsky and I. Stewart. The symmetry perspective, volume 200 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2002. From equilibrium to chaos in phase space and physical space.

- [44] M. Grillakis, J. Shatah, and W. Strauss. Stability theory of solitary waves in the presence of symmetry. I. J. Funct. Anal., 74(1):160–197, 1987.
- [45] M. Grillakis, J. Shatah, and W. Strauss. Stability theory of solitary waves in the presence of symmetry. II. J. Funct. Anal., 94(2):308–348, 1990.
- [46] O. Gronau. Einfrieren von raumzeitlichen Mustern in dreidimensionalen anregbaren Systemen mit Quaternionen. Diploma thesis, Universität Bielefeld, 2008.
- [47] K. Gustafson. The angle of an operator and positive operator products. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 74:488–492, 1968.
- [48] K. Gustafson. Antieigenvalue analysis : with applications to numerical analysis, wavelets, statistics, quantum mechanics, finance and optimization. World Scientific, Hackensack, NJ [u.a.], 2012.
- [49] K. Gustafson and M. Seddighin. Antieigenvalue bounds. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 143(2):327–340, 1989.
- [50] K. Gustafson and M. Seddighin. A note on total antieigenvectors. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 178(2):603-611, 1993.
- [51] J. K. Hale. Ordinary differential equations. Robert E. Krieger Publishing Co. Inc., Huntington, N.Y., second edition, 1980.
- [52] D. Henry. Geometric theory of semilinear parabolic equations, volume 840 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1981.
- [53] R. A. Horn and C. R. Johnson. *Matrix analysis*. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge [u.a.], 2. ed. edition, 2013.
- [54] L. Hörmander. Hypoelliptic second order differential equations. Acta Mathematica, 119:147–171, 1967.
- [55] O. Kallenberg. Foundations of modern probability. Probability and its applications. Springer, New York [u.a.], 2. ed., [nachdr.] edition, 2010.
- [56] I. Karatzas and S. E. Shreve. Brownian motion and stochastic calculus, volume 113 of Graduate texts in mathematics ; 113. Springer, New York, NY, 2. ed., springer study ed., [nachdr., publ. on demand] edition, 2010.
- [57] P. E. Kloeden and E. Platen. Numerical solution of stochastic differential equations, volume 23 of Applications of mathematics; 23. Springer, Berlin [u.a.], corr. 3. print. edition, 1999.
- [58] A. Kolmogoroff. Zufällige Bewegungen (zur Theorie der Brownschen Bewegung). Ann. of Math. (2), 35(1):116–117, 1934.
- [59] M. G. Kreĭn. The angular localization of the spectrum of a multiplicative integral in Hilbert space. Funkcional. Anal. i Priložen., 3(1):89–90, 1969.

- [60] Y. Kuramoto. Chemical oscillations, waves, and turbulence, volume 19 of Springer Series in Synergetics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984.
- [61] Y. Kuramoto and S. Koga. Turbulized rotating chemical waves. Progress of theoretical physics, 66(3):1081–1085, 1981.
- [62] O. A. Ladyzenskaja, V. A. Solonnikov, and N. N. Ural'ceva. Linear and quasilinear equations of parabolic type, volume 23 of Translations of mathematical monographs; 23. American Mathematical Soc., Providence, R.I., 1968.
- [63] E. Lanconelli, A. Pascucci, and S. Polidoro. Linear and nonlinear ultraparabolic equations of Kolmogorov type arising in diffusion theory and in finance. In Nonlinear problems in mathematical physics and related topics, II, volume 2 of Int. Math. Ser. (N. Y.), pages 243–265. Kluwer/Plenum, New York, 2002.
- [64] L. D. Landau and V. L. Ginzburg. On the theory of superconductivity. Journal of Experimental and Theoretical Physics (USSR), 20:1064, 1950.
- [65] G. J. Lord and V. Thümmler. Computing stochastic traveling waves. SIAM J. Sci. Comput., 34(1):B24–B43, 2012.
- [66] L. Lorenzi and M. Bertoldi. Analytical methods for Markov semigroups, volume 283 of Pure and Applied Mathematics (Boca Raton). Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 2007.
- [67] A. Lunardi. Analytic semigroups and optimal regularity in parabolic problems. Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications, 16. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1995.
- [68] A. Lunardi. On the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator in L² spaces with respect to invariant measures. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 349(1):155–169, 1997.
- [69] A. Lunardi and V. Vespri. Optimal L[∞] and Schauder estimates for elliptic and parabolic operators with unbounded coefficients. In *Reaction diffusion systems (Trieste, 1995)*, volume 194 of *Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math.*, pages 217–239. Dekker, New York, 1998.
- [70] X. Mao. Stochastic differential equations and their applications. Horwood, Chichester, 2. ed. edition, 2008.
- [71] G. Metafune. L^p-spectrum of Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operators. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4), 30(1):97–124, 2001.
- [72] G. Metafune, D. Pallara, and E. Priola. Spectrum of Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operators in L^p spaces with respect to invariant measures. J. Funct. Anal., 196(1):40–60, 2002.
- [73] G. Metafune, D. Pallara, and V. Vespri. L^p -estimates for a class of elliptic operators with unbounded coefficients in \mathbb{R}^N . Houston J. Math., 31(2):605–620 (electronic), 2005.

- [74] G. Metafune, D. Pallara, and M. Wacker. Feller semigroups on R^N. Semigroup Forum, 65(2):159–205, 2002.
- [75] G. Metafune, J. Prüss, A. Rhandi, and R. Schnaubelt. The domain of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator on an L^p-space with invariant measure. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5), 1(2):471–485, 2002.
- [76] A. Mielke. The Ginzburg-Landau equation in its role as a modulation equation. In *Handbook of dynamical systems*, Vol. 2, pages 759–834. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2002.
- [77] D. Mihalache, D. Mazilu, L.-C. Crasovan, B. A. Malomed, and F. Lederer. Three-dimensional spinning solitons in the cubic-quintic nonlinear medium. *Phys. Rev. E*, 61:7142–7145, Jun 2000.
- [78] D. Mihalache, D. Mazilu, F. Lederer, H. Leblond, and B. A. Malomed. Collisions between counter-rotating solitary vortices in the three-dimensional Ginzburg-Landau equation. *Phys. Rev. E* (3), 78(5):056601, 6, 2008.
- [79] J. D. Moores. On the ginzburg-landau laser mode-locking model with fifthorder saturable absorber term. *Optics Communications*, 96(1–3):65–70, 1993.
- [80] J. Murray. Mathematical Biology II: Spatial Models and Biomedical Applications. Interdisciplinary Applied Mathematics. Springer, 2003.
- [81] F. W. J. Olver, D. W. Lozier, R. F. Boisvert, and C. W. Clark, editors. *NIST handbook of mathematical functions*. U.S. Department of Commerce National Institute of Standards and Technology, Washington, DC, 2010. With 1 CD-ROM (Windows, Macintosh and UNIX).
- [82] A. Pascucci. Kolmogorov equations in physics and in finance. In *Elliptic and parabolic problems*, volume 63 of *Progr. Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl.*, pages 353–364. Birkhäuser, Basel, 2005.
- [83] J. Prüss, A. Rhandi, and R. Schnaubelt. The domain of elliptic operators on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with unbounded drift coefficients. *Houston J. Math.*, 32(2):563–576 (electronic), 2006.
- [84] N. Rosanov, S. Fedorov, and A. Shatsev. Motion of clusters of weakly coupled two-dimensional cavity solitons. *Journal of Experimental and Theoretical Physics*, 102:547–555, 2006.
- [85] J. Rottmann-Matthes. Computation and stability of patterns in hyperbolicparabolic Systems. PhD thesis, 2010.
- [86] J. Rottmann-Matthes. Stability and freezing of nonlinear waves in first order hyperbolic pdes. Journal of Dynamics and Differential Equations, 24(2):341– 367, 2012.
- [87] J. Rottmann-Matthes. Stability and freezing of waves in non-linear hyperbolic-parabolic systems. IMA Journal of Applied Mathematics, 77(3):420– 429, 2012.

- [88] J. Rottmann-Matthes. Stability of parabolic-hyperbolic traveling waves. Dyn. Partial Differ. Equ., 9(1):29–62, 2012.
- [89] C. W. Rowley, I. G. Kevrekidis, J. E. Marsden, and K. Lust. Reduction and reconstruction for self-similar dynamical systems. *Nonlinearity*, 16(4):1257– 1275, 2003.
- [90] W. Rudin. Functional analysis. International Series in Pure and Applied Mathematics. McGraw-Hill Inc., New York, second edition, 1991.
- [91] B. Sandstede. Evans functions and nonlinear stability of traveling waves in neuronal network models. *Internat. J. Bifur. Chaos Appl. Sci. Engrg.*, 17(8):2693–2704, 2007.
- [92] B. Sandstede and A. Scheel. Absolute versus convective instability of spiral waves. *Phys. Rev. E* (3), 62(6, part A):7708–7714, 2000.
- [93] B. Sandstede and A. Scheel. Superspiral structures of meandering and drifting spiral waves. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 86:171–174, Jan 2001.
- [94] B. Sandstede, A. Scheel, and C. Wulff. Bifurcations and dynamics of spiral waves. J. Nonlinear Sci., 9(4):439–478, 1999.
- [95] M. Seddighin. On the joint antieigenvalues of operators in normal subalgebras. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 312(1):61–71, 2005.
- [96] M. Seddighin. Approximations of antieigenvalue and antieigenvalue-type quantities. Int. J. Math. Math. Sci., pages Art. ID 318214, 15, 2012.
- [97] M. Seddighin and K. Gustafson. On the eigenvalues which express antieigenvalues. Int. J. Math. Math. Sci., (10):1543–1554, 2005.
- [98] S. Selle. Approximation von relativen Gleichgewichten auf endlichen Intervallen. Diploma thesis, Universität Bielefeld, 2006.
- [99] S. Selle. *Decomposition and stability of multifronts and multipulses*. PhD thesis, Universität Bielefeld, 2009.
- [100] M. Shub. Global stability of dynamical systems. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1987. With the collaboration of Albert Fathi and Rémi Langevin, Translated from the French by Joseph Christy.
- [101] J. M. Soto-Crespo, N. Akhmediev, and A. Ankiewicz. Pulsating, creeping, and erupting solitons in dissipative systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 85:2937–2940, Oct 2000.
- [102] O. Thual and S. Fauve. Localized structures generated by subcritical instabilities. J. Phys. France, 49(11):1829–1833, 1988.
- [103] V. Thümmler. Numerical bifurcation analysis of relative equilibria with Femlab. in Proceedings of the COMSOL Users Conference (Comsol Anwenderkonferenz), Frankfurt, Femlab GmbH, Goettingen, Germany, 2006.

- [104] V. Thümmler. The effect of freezing and discretization to the asymptotic stability of relative equilibria. J. Dynam. Differential Equations, 20(2):425– 477, 2008.
- [105] V. Thümmler. Numerical approximation of relative equilibria for equivariant PDEs. SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 46(6):2978–3005, 2008.
- [106] S. Trillo and W. Torruellas. Spatial Solitons. Springer Series in Optical Sciences. Springer, 2010.
- [107] G. E. Uhlenbeck and L. S. Ornstein. On the theory of the brownian motion. *Phys. Rev.*, 36:823–841, Sep 1930.
- [108] J. M. A. M. van Neerven and J. Zabczyk. Norm discontinuity of Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroups. Semigroup Forum, 59(3):389–403, 1999.
- [109] W. van Saarloos and P. C. Hohenberg. Fronts, pulses, sources and sinks in generalized complex Ginzburg-Landau equations. *Phys. D*, 56(4):303–367, 1992.
- [110] A. I. Volpert, V. A. Volpert, and V. A. Volpert. Traveling wave solutions of parabolic systems, volume 140 of Translations of Mathematical Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1994. Translated from the Russian manuscript by James F. Heyda.
- [111] G. N. Watson. A Treatise on the Theory of Bessel Functions. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England, 1944.
- [112] M. I. Weinstein. Modulational stability of ground states of nonlinear Schrödinger equations. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 16(3):472–491, 1985.
- [113] C. Wulff. Theory of meandering and drifting spiral waves in reaction-diffusion systems. PhD thesis, Freie Universität Berlin, 1996.
- [114] S. Zelik and A. Mielke. Multi-pulse evolution and space-time chaos in dissipative systems. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 198(925):vi+97, 2009.

List of Symbols

set of numbers set of positive integers, $\mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ \mathbb{N} 39 \mathbb{Z} set of integers 39 \mathbb{Q} set of rational numbers 39set of real numbers, $\mathbb{R}^*_+ =]0, \infty[$ set of complex numbers, $\mathbb{C}_- = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Re} z < 0\}$ $\mathbb R$ 39 \mathbb{C} 39 \mathbb{K} can be either ${\mathbb R}$ or ${\mathbb C}$ 6

scalars, vectors and matrices

d	space dimension, $d \ge 2$	1
e_l	<i>l</i> th unit vector	164
i	imaginary unit or an index	41
t	time variable	7
x,y,ξ,ψ	state space variables, $x, y, \xi, \psi \in \mathbb{R}$	7
N	system dimension, $N \ge 1$	1
A	diffusion matrix $A \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$	6
В	constant coefficient matrix, $B \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$	13
Ι	identity, I_N identity matrix in $\mathbb{K}^{N,N}$	39
I_{ij}	$I_{ij} = e_i e_i^T$, zero matrix with value 1 at (i, j)	40
P	orthogonal transformation matrix, $P \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$	41
R	rotational matrix, $R \in SO(d)$ or radius, $R > 0$	39
S	real skew-symmetric matrix $S \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}, S \in \mathfrak{so}(d)$	7
U	unitary matrix, $U \in \mathbb{C}^{d,d}$	41
Y	transformation matrix, $Y \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$	13
$\operatorname{GL}(X, X)$	general linear group	188
$\mathfrak{se}(d)$	Lie group of $SE(d)$	39
$\operatorname{SE}(d)$	special Euclidean group	39
$\mathfrak{so}(d)$	Lie group of $SO(d)$	39
SO(d)	special orthogonal group	39
$\mu_1(A)$	first antieigenvalue of A	8
$\sigma(A)$	spectrum of A	9
$\rho(A)$	spectral radius of matrix A	9
s(A)	spectral abscissa, spectral bound of A	9
$\Phi_{\mathbb{R}}(A)$	(real) angle of A ,	8
diag	diagonal matrix	14
$\lambda_1^A,\ldots,\lambda_N^A$	eigenvalues of matrix $A \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$	14
$\pm i\sigma_1,\ldots,\pm\sigma_k$	nonzero eigenvalues of $S \in \mathfrak{so}(d), \sigma_j \in \mathbb{R}$	41
Λ_A	$\Lambda_A = \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_1^A, \dots, \lambda_N^A)$ diagonal matrix in $\mathbb{C}^{N,N}$	14
$\Lambda^S_{\mathrm{block}}$	block diagonal matrix, $\Lambda^{S}_{\text{block}} \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$	41

$\arg z$	argument of $z \in \mathbb{C}$	39
$\operatorname{Re} z$	real part of $z \in \mathbb{C}^N$	39
$\operatorname{Im} z$	imaginary part of $z \in \mathbb{C}^N$	39
\detA	determinant of matrix A	39
$\exp(A)$	exponential mapping, matrix exponential	40
$\operatorname{Tr}(A)$	trace of a matrix $A \in \mathbb{C}^{N,N}$	48

differential operators

$A \triangle v(x)$	diffusion term for $A \in \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$	13
$\langle Sx, \nabla v(x) \rangle$	drift term, rotational term for $S \in \mathfrak{so}(d)$	6
$\langle Sx + I_d \lambda, \nabla v(x) \rangle$	drift and translation term	161
\mathcal{L}	linearized differential operator	159
$\mathcal{L}_0^{\mathrm{diff}}$	diffusion operator	13
$\mathcal{L}_0^{\mathrm{drift}}$	drift operator	13
$\mathcal{L}_0,\mathcal{L}_{ m OU}$	Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator, $\mathcal{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_0^{\text{diff}} + \mathcal{L}_0^{\text{drift}}$	67
\mathcal{L}_{∞}	constant coefficient perturbation of \mathcal{L}_0	123
$\mathcal{L}_{Q_arepsilon}$	small variable coefficient perturbation of \mathcal{L}_{∞}	136
\mathcal{L}_Q	variable coefficient perturbation of \mathcal{L}_{∞}	131
$\frac{d}{dt}$	time derivative	7
\triangle	Laplacian, Laplace operator, $\triangle = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i^2}$	6
$x_j D_i - x_i D_j$	angular derivative in x_i - x_j -plane	7
D_i	partial derivatives w.r.t. $x, D_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$	7
Df	total derivative of $f : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^N$	9
$\ \cdot\ _{\mathcal{L}_0}$	norm on $\mathcal{D}^p_{\max}(\mathcal{L}_0)$	121

heat kernels and Green's functions

$G(x,\xi)$	complex Green's matrix function of \mathcal{L}_{∞}	130
$H(x,\xi,t)$	complex heat kernel matrix of \mathcal{L}_{∞}	45
$H_0(x,\xi,t)$	complex Ornstein-Uhlenbeck kernel, heat kernel	70
	matrix of \mathcal{L}_0	
$H_{\infty}(x,\xi,t)$	complex heat kernel matrix of \mathcal{L}_{∞}	125
$K(x-\xi,t)$	complex heat kernel matrix of $\mathcal{L}_0^{\text{diff}}$	114
$K(\psi, t)$	complex integral kernels, K, K^i, K^{ji}	56
$\tilde{K}(\psi, t)$	complex integral kernels, \tilde{K} , \tilde{K}^i , \tilde{K}^{ji}	56

function spaces and norms

$\theta \in C(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$	weight function (of exponential growth rate)	10
p, q	index for the $W^{k,p}$ -spaces, $1 \leq p \leq \infty$	42
Ω_T	space-time domain for $T > 0$, $\Omega_T = \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, T]$	42
$L^p(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	Lebesgue spaces with exponent $1 \leq p \leq \infty$	42
$W^{k,p}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	Sobolev spaces of order $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ with exponent	42
	$1 \leqslant p \leqslant \infty$	
$L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	exponentially weighted L^p -spaces	42
$W^{k,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	exponentially weighted $W^{k,p}$ -spaces	42
$W^{(2l,l),p}(\Omega_T,\mathbb{K}^N)$	space-time Sobolev spaces of order $(2l, l)$ with ex-	42
	ponent p	

I^p (O $\mathbb{Z}N$)	$\log \log L^p$ and $\log Q$ \mathbb{D}^d on Q	19
$L_{\rm loc}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^n)$	local L^r -spaces, $M = \mathbb{R}^n$ of $M = M_T$	45
$W^{\kappa,p}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	local Sobolev spaces	43
$W^{2,p}_{\operatorname{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	Euclidean Sobolev space	193
$C^k_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	space of bounded continuous functions	43
$C^k_{\mathrm{b},\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	exponentially weighted space of bounded continu-	43
	ous functions	
$C^k_{\mathrm{ub}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	space of bounded uniformly continuous functions	43
$C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	space of smooth functions	44
$C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	space of bump functions	44
$C_{\mathrm{rub}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	subspace of $C_{\rm ub}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	43
$\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	Schwartz space	44
$\operatorname{supp}(u)$	support of a function $u: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{K}^N$	44
$\ \cdot\ _{L^p},\ \cdot\ _{L^p_ heta}$	norm on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ and $L^p_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$	42
$\ \cdot\ _{W^{k,p}}, \ \cdot\ _{W^{k,p}_{\rho}}$	norm on $W^{k,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ and $W^{k,p}_{\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$	42
$\ \cdot\ _{W^{(2l,l),p}}$	norm on $W^{(2l,l),p}(\Omega_T, \mathbb{K}^N)$	42
$\ \cdot\ _{W^{2,p}_{\mathrm{Eucl}}}$	norm on $W^{2,p}_{\text{Eucl}}(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{K}^N)$	193
$\ \cdot\ _{C_{\mathbf{b}}^{k}}^{\mathbf{b}}, \ \cdot\ _{C_{\mathbf{b}}^{k}}$	norm on $C^k_{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ and $C^k_{\mathrm{b},\theta}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$	43
$\left \cdot\right _{\alpha,\beta}$	seminorm on $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$	44

special semigroups

$(G(t,0))_{t \ge 0}$	diffusion semigroup, semigroup of $\mathcal{L}_0^{\text{diff}}$	114
$(G(t,s))_{t\geq s}$	evolution operator of diffusion semigroup	114
$(R(t))_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$	rotation group, group of $\mathcal{L}_0^{\mathrm{drift}}$	115
$(T_0(t))_{t \ge 0}$	Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup, semigroup of \mathcal{L}_0	70
$(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$	perturbed semigroup, semigroup of \mathcal{L}_{∞}	123
$(T_{Q_{\varepsilon}}(t))_{t\geq 0}$	perturbed semigroup, semigroup of $\mathcal{L}_{Q_{\varepsilon}}$	136
$\left(T_Q(t)\right)_{t \ge 0}$	perturbed semigroup, semigroup of \mathcal{L}_Q	133

notations for semigroup theory

f	nonlinearity, $f : \mathbb{K}^N \to \mathbb{K}^N$	6
g	inhomogenity, $g: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{K}^N$	78
u, v	maps either $\mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty[$ or \mathbb{R}^d into \mathbb{K}^N	6
A_p	infinitesimal generators of $(T_0(t))_{t\geq 0}$	76
B_p	infinitesimal generators of $(T_{\infty}(t))_{t\geq 0}$	125
C_p	infinitesimal generators of $(T_Q(t))_{t\geq 0}$	134
$\mathcal{D}(A_p)$	domain of generator or differential operator A_p	76
E_p	constant coefficient perturbation	123
F_p	variable coefficient perturbation	131
$Q, Q_{\varepsilon}, Q_{c}$	variable coefficient func., $Q, Q_{\varepsilon}, Q_{c} : \mathbb{R}^{d} \to \mathbb{K}^{N,N}$	131
$R(\lambda, A_p)$	resolvent of A_p , cp. Def. 7.8	77
$\rho(A_p)$	resolvent set of A_p , cp. Def. 7.8	77
$\sigma(A_p)$	spectrum of A_p , cp. Def. 7.8	77
$\sigma_{\text{point}}(A)$	point spectrum of A , cp. Def. 7.8	141
$\sigma_{\rm ess}(A)$	essential spectrum of A , cp. Def. 7.8	141
$\sigma_{\mathrm{point}}^{\mathrm{part}}(\mathcal{L})$	part of $\sigma_{\text{point}}(\mathcal{L})$ due to $\text{SE}(d)$ -action	169

$\sigma_{\mathrm{ess}}^{\mathrm{part}}(\mathcal{L})$	part of $\sigma_{\rm ess}(\mathcal{L})$	144
$\ \cdot\ _{A_p}$	graph norm of A_p	77
·····		
notations for evo.	iution equations and freezing $(Q = V_{1}) = (Q = V_{1})$	100
$a(\gamma)v$	group action of G on A, $a(\cdot)u : G \to A$ for $u \in A$	188
1(with derivative $a[a(\gamma)u]$	020
$b(\gamma)\varphi$	group action of $\varphi \in E$ in G	232
g	Lie algebra associated with $G, \mathfrak{g} = I_1 G$	188
q	dimension of Lie group (G, \circ)	188
u_{\star}	rotating wave, $u_{\star} : \mathbb{R}^{d} \times [0, \infty[\rightarrow \mathbb{R}^{N}]$	7
v_{\star}	profile of rotating wave, $v_{\star} : \mathbb{R}^{n} \to \mathbb{K}^{n}$	7
Ŷ	reference function, template function, $v \in Y$	197
x_{\star}	fixed point under rotation, $x_{\star} \in \mathbb{R}^{d}$ from rotating wave $v_{\star}(e^{-tS_{\star}}(x-x_{\star}))$	194
E	E module that acts on X	231
F	operator for the evolution equation	188
(G, \circ)	Lie group with group operation \circ	188
H_v	isotropy group of an element $v \in Y$	198
L_{γ}	left multiplication with derivative $dL_{\alpha}(q)$	188
$\mathcal{N}^{'}$	kernel, null space	202
$\mathcal{O}_G(v)$	group orbit of $v \in Y$ in G	190
\mathcal{R}	range	202
S_{\star}	skew-symmetric matrix $S_{\star} \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ from rotating	194
^	wave $v_{\star}(e^{-tS_{\star}}(x-x_{\star}))$	
X, Y	state spaces, e.g. $X = L^p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$ and $Y = W_{\mathbb{R}^{d,1}}^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{K}^N)$	188
$T_{\gamma}G$	tangential space of G at $\gamma \in G$	188
$\gamma, \gamma_1, \gamma_2$	elements of Lie group (G, \circ)	188
γ_{∞}	asymptotic phase	191
μ	$\mu \in \mathfrak{q}$, translational and angular velocities	189
$\sigma^{\operatorname{approx}}(\mathcal{L})$	numerical spectrum of \mathcal{L}	218
$\sigma_{\text{noint}}^{\text{approx}}(\mathcal{L})$	numerical point spectrum of \mathcal{L}	220
$\sigma_{\rm approx}^{\rm approx}(\mathcal{L})$	numerical essential spectrum of \mathcal{L}	218
$\Psi(v(t), \mu(t))$	functional for phase conditions	196
$\Psi_{\text{orth}}(v(t), \mu(t))$	orthogonal phase condition	198
$\Psi_{\text{fix}}(v(t), \mu(t))$	fixed phase condition	197
1	unit element of Lie group (G, \circ)	188
special constants		
$a_{\rm rot}^{3D}$	axis of rotation for $d = 3$	205

$a_{\rm rot}^{3D}$	axis of rotation for $d = 3$	205
a_{\min}	$a_{\min} = (\rho(A^{-1}))^{-1}$ from (1.18)	9
a_{\max}	$a_{\max} = \rho(A)$ from (1.18)	9
a_0	$a_0 = -s(-A)$ from (1.18)	9
b_0	$b_0 = -s(Df(v_\infty))$ or $b_0 = -s(-B)$ from (1.18)	9
$c_{\rm rot}$	center of rotation	202
v_{∞}	constant asymptotic state, zero of $f, v_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}^{N}$	9

 $\mathcal{N}_d(x,Q)$

 $_{1}F_{1}(a;b;z)$

 $_{2}F_{1}(a_{1},a_{2};b_{1};z)$

 $\begin{aligned} \delta_x(\xi) \\ \Gamma(z) \end{aligned}$

$x_{ m dv}$	direction vector of axis of rotation	203
$x_{\rm sv}, x_{\rm sv}^{3D}$	support vector of axis of rotation	203
$C_1(t), C_2(t), C_3(t)$	constants from Lemma 4.6	57
$C_4(t), C_5(t), C_6(t)$	constants from Section 4.3	63
C_{7}, C_{8}	constants from Lemma 4.8	64
$C_9(t), C_{10}(t)$	constants from Theorem 5.23	117
$C_{ m diff}$	constant from Section 5.6	114
C_{θ}	constant belonging to the weight function	10
${\mathcal D}^p_{ m loc}({\mathcal L}_0)$	maximal domain of \mathcal{L}_0 , local version from Theo- rem 5.19	112
$\mathcal{D}^p_{ ext{max}}(\mathcal{L}_0)$	maximal domain of \mathcal{L}_0 , maximal version from	119
	Theorem 5.25	
K_1	threshold constant from (8.2)	154
M	constant from Lemma 4.6	57
M_0	constant from (5.11)	77
M_{∞}	constant from (6.10)	128
T^{2D}, T^{3D}	temporal period of rotation for $d = 2$ and $d = 3$	204
η	growth rate $\eta \ge 0$, decay rate	10
κ	constant from Lemma 4.6	57
ω_0	growth constant from (5.11)	77
ω_{∞}	growth constant from (6.10)	128
other expressions	s, functions and symbols	
${\cal F}$	Fourier transform	89
E(X)	$E(X) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{X^n}{(n+1)!}, X \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$	201
$I_n(z)$	modified Bessel function of the first kind	20
$K_n(z)$	modified Bessel function of the second kind	20

 \mathcal{N}_d *d*-dimensional Gaussian measure, $Q \in \mathbb{R}^{d,d}$ covariance matrix, $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ mean value vector

Kummer confluent hypergeometric function

generalized hypergeometric function

Dirac delta function

Gamma function

35

46

51

57

58

Index

\mathbf{A}

Abelian translation group $\dots \dots 191$
accretivity constant 103
advection equation
forward 32
algebraic constraint 197, 235
angle of a matrix103
angular Fourier decomposition 143
antieigenvalue
antieigenvector103
Archimedean spiral wave177
asymptotic phase191, 195
asymptotic profile177
axis of rotation204f
direction vector $\dots 204$
support vector $\dots 205$

В

Barkley model
spiral wave $\dots 29, 215$
center of rotation 216
profile
spectrum and eigenfunctions229
temporal period $\dots 216$
velocities215
Bloch wave transform
Bloch wavenumber

\mathbf{C}

Cauchy problem	
abstract11	5
center of rotation 202, 20	4
Chapman-Kolmogorov formula $\dots 5$	4
co-rotating frame	7
compatibility conditions17	7
cone condition 104, 10	6

conic section	106
core	. 80
cosine of a matrix	103

D

DAE196
decompose and freeze method 231f
deviation of a matrix103
diagonalizable
simultaneously14
diffusion matrix
diffusion semigroup 73, 89, 114
direction vector
dispersion relation
for $\mathcal{L}_Q \dots \dots$
for Archimedean spiral waves. 181
for exp. localized waves 176
dissipativity constant 103
drift term $\dots \dots \dots 6$

\mathbf{E}

evolution operator
exponential decay
nonlinear problem $\dots 10, 156$
of eigenfunctions $\dots \dots 172$
of rotational term $\dots 174$
Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator 78
exponential mapping $\dots \dots 40$

\mathbf{F}

far-field operator $\dots 143, 178$
Floquet boundary conditions $\dots 179$
Floquet boundary value problem . 179
Floquet exponent 180
Floquet multiplier 180
Floquet theory $\dots \dots 180$
Fourier transform
angular $\dots 143$
radial179
temporal $\dots 143, 179$
freezing method196

G

14
6,
23
23
12
11
12
11
17
)9
)7
44
)6
18
49
41
)7
)9
)6
46
21
)9
)9

н

heat kernel $\dots 46$	j
for $\mathcal{L}_0 \dots \dots \dots 70$)
for $\mathcal{L}_{\infty} \dots \dots 46 - 53$	5
matrix 46	j
heat semigroup $\dots \dots \dots$	Ł

Ι

identification problem	112
infinitesimal generator	. 76
maximal domain	. 76
interaction	
phase shift $\dots 237$,	244
strong $\ldots 237, 241, $	249
weak 237f,	246

Κ

\mathbf{L}

λ - ω system
scroll ring $\dots 28$
scroll wave $\dots 28$
spiral wave
center of rotation $\dots \dots 213$
profile
spectrum and eigenfunctions227
temporal period $\dots 213$
velocities213
Lagrange function109

Lagrange multiplier 109
Lagrangian 109
Langevin equation
least squares problem
rank-deficient 203
Lebesgue spaces
exponentially weighted \dots 10, 42
local
left multiplication 188, 192, 231
Lie algebra188
Lie group
linearization
far-field

\mathbf{M}

matrix
accretive $\dots \dots \dots$
antieigenvalue $\dots \dots \dots 103$
antieigenvector $\dots \dots 103$
dissipative $\dots \dots \dots$
negative102
skew-symmetric
stable
strongly accretive
strongly dissipative102
matrix exponential
$determinant \dots \dots 40$
maximal extension $\dots \dots \dots 112$
maximal realization
maxtrix
positive 102
method of Lagrange multipliers 108
minimizer
monodromy matrix 180

Ν

normal	point		 							 141
null spa		•••	 •••	 •	•	•				 202

0

operator	
perturbed $123, 131$	
Ornstein-Uhlenbeck kernel 35, 45f, 70	
properties54	
Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operator13, 35,	
45, 67	

\mathbf{P}

PDAE
periodic map181
perturbation 123, 131
compactly supported 138
phase condition 197
fixed 197, 199
orthogonal 198, 200
phase shift interaction
phase-rotating wave21
point spectrum 141
of the linearization 164, 169
for $d = 2170$
for $d = 3171$
polar coordinates
d-dimensional 60

planar 14	42
-----------	----

\mathbf{R}

\mathbf{S}

classical $9, 116, 160$
$fundamental \dots see heat kernel$
mild
of evolution equation188
solution flow
space of
bump functions $\dots \dots 44$
continuous functions $\dots \dots 43$
exponentially weighted $\ldots 43$
continuously-differentiable functions
43
exponentially weighted $\dots 43$
skew-symmetric matrices $\dots 192$
smooth functions $\dots \dots 44$
uniformly continuous functions 43
SPDAE
special Euclidean group 39, 191
group action $\dots 161, 192$
group operation $\dots 39, 192$
inverse element $\dots 39$
Lie algebra of $\dots 39, 192$
unit element $\dots 39, 192$
special orthogonal group 39, 191
Lie algebra of $\dots 39$, 192
spectral abscissa
spectral bound9, $77, 129, 135$
spectral condition number104
spectral radius9
spectrally stable 161
strongly161
spectrum
of a matrix9
of an operator $\dots \dots \dots$
Stability
spectral
strong spectral
strong interaction
superposition
support
support vector

\mathbf{T}

tangent space	188
transition semigroup	
of a SODE	. 33
of an ODE	. 31

Index

traveling wave	 	 176
profile	 	 176

W

wavenumber
wavetrain
asymptotic 177
periodic176
weak interaction
weight function
non-decreasing 10
of exponential growth rate10
radial10